

From the Library of (Professor William Miller (Parton, D.D., LL.D. (presented by Mrs. (parton to the Library of (princeton Theological Seminary SCC 1218

2.28.12.

# SERMONS

O N

# IMPORTANT SUBJECTS,

BY THE LATE REVEREND AND PIOUS

SAMUEL DAVIES, A.M.

Sometime Prefident of the College in New-Jerfey.

IN THREE VOLUMES ΤΗΕ FIFTH EDIT

TO WHICH ARE NOW ADDED

THREE OCCASIONAL SERMONS,

NOT INCLUDED IN THE FORMER EDITIONS ;

MEMOIRS AND CHARACTER OF THE AUTHOR ;

AND

# TWO SERMONS ON OCCASION OF HIS DEATH,

By the Rev. Drs. Gibbons and Finley.

VOL. III.

# CONTENTS

O F

VOLUME III.

### SERMON XLIII.

# The Veffels of Mercy and the Veffels of Wrath delineated.

Rom. ix. 22, 23. The veffels of wrath fitted to defiruction; and—the veffels of mercy which he had afore prepared unto glory. Page 1-21

### SERMON XLIV.

### The Nature and Neceffity of true Repentance.

Acts xvii. 30. And the times of this ignorance God winked at ; but now commandeth all men every where to repent. 21-38

# SERMON XLV.

# The tender Anxieties of Ministers for their People.

Gal. iv. 19, 20. My little children, of whom I travail in birth again, until Christ be formed in you, I defire to be present with you now, and to change my voice, for I stand in doubt of you. 39-60

# SERMON XLVI.

# The wonderful Compafiions of Chrift to the greateft of Sinners.

Matt. xxiii. 37. O Jerufalem, Jerufalem! thou that killeft the prophets, and floneft them that are fent unto thee, how often would I have gathered thy children together, even as an hen gathers her chickens under her wings, and ye would not! 61-80

### SERMON XLVII.

1

The Nature of Love to God and Chrift opened and enforced.

John xxi. 17. He faith unto him the third time, Simon, fon of Jonas, lovest thou me? Peter was grieved because he faid unto him the third time, Lovest thou me. And he faid unto him, Lord, thou knowest all things; thou knowest that I love thee. Jesus faith unto him, Feed my sheep. Page 80-108

### SERMON XLVIII.

The Nature and Author of Regeneration.

John iii. 7. Marvel not that I faid unto thee, Ye must be born again. 108-128

### SERMON XLIX.

### The divine Life in the Souls of Men confidered.

Gal. ii. 20. I am crucified with Chrift, neverthelefs I live; yet not I, but Chrift that liveth in me: and the life which I now live in the flefh, I live by faith of the Son of God. 128–142

#### SERMON L.

On the fame Subject. 143–160

### SERMON LI.

### The Ways of Sin hard and difficult.

Acts ix. 6. It is hard for thee to kick against the pricks. 161-173

### SERMON LII.

### The Characters of the Whole and Sick, in a fpiritual Senfe, confidered and contrasted.

Matt. ix. 12. But when Jefus heard that, he faid unto them, They that be whole need not a phylician but they that are fick. 174-197

# CONTENTS.

### SERMON LIII.

A Sight of Chrift the Defire and Delight of Saints in all Ages.

John viii. 56. Your father Abraham rejoiced (earneftly defired) to fee my day; and he faw it, and was glad. Page 197-214

## SERMON LIV.

#### The Law and Gofpel.

Gal. iii. 23. But before faith came, we were under the law, that up unto the faith which thould afterwards be revealed.

215-240

### SERMON LV.

### The Gospel-Invitation.

Luke xiv. 21-24. Then the mafter of the houfe, being angry, faid to his fervant, Go out quickly into the fireets and lanes of the city, and bring in hither the poor, and the maimed, and the halt, and the blind. And the fervant faid, Lord, it is done as thou haft commanded, and yet there is room. And the Lord faid unto the fervant, Go out into the highways and hedges, and compel them to come in, that my houfe may be filled. For I fay unto you, that none of those men that were bidden shall taste of my supper. 240-256

### SERMON LVI.

### The Nature of Justification, and the Nature and Concern of Faith in it.

Rom. i. 16, 17. For I am not afhamed of the gofpel of Chrift, for it is the power of God unto falvation, to every one that believeth; to the Jew first, and also to the Greek; for therein the righteoufness of God is revealed from faith to faith—or, therein is the righteousness of God by faith revealed to faith. 256—284

#### SERMON LVII.

# The Succefs of the Ministry of the Gofpel owing to a divine Influence.

1 Cor. iii. 7. So then neither is he that plants any thing, neither he that waters; but God that gives the increase. 284-308

### CONTENTS.

## SERMON LVIII.

# The Rejection of Gofpel-Light the Condemnation of Men.

John iii. 19. And this is the condemnation, that light is come into the world, and men loved darknefs rather than light, becaufe (or, for) their deeds are evil. 308-323

#### SERMON LIX.

### A New Year's Gift.

Rom. xii. 11. And that, knowing the time, that now it is high time to awake out of fleep; for now is our falvation nearer than when we believed. 324-343

### SERMON LX.

On the Death of his late Majesty King George II. 2 Sam. i. 19. How are the mighty fallen ! 344-363

### SERMON LXI.

### Religion and Patriotifm the Conftituents of a good Soldier.

2 Sam. X. 12. Be of good courage, and let us play the men for our people, and for the cities of our God. And the Lord do that which feemeth him good. 363-387

### SERMON LXII.

# The Crifis : or, the uncertain Doom of Kingdoms at particular Times.

Jonah iii. 9. Who can tell if God will turn and repent, and turn away from his fierce anger, that we perifh not. 387-411

#### SERMON LXIII.

The Curfe of Cowardice.

Jer. xlviii. 10. Curfed be he that doth the work of the Lord deceitfully; and curfed be he that keepeth back his favord from blood. 412-430

Specimen of the Author's Poetry.

431

# SERMON XLIII.

## THE VESSELS OF MERCY AND THE VESSELS OF WRATH DELINEATED.

Rom. ix. 22, 23.—The veffels of wrath fitted to deftruction; and—the veffels of mercy, which He had afore prepared unto glory.

'HE true notion of the prefent world is, that it is a ftate of preparation for another; and, therefore, fuch as we habitually are here, fuch shall we be for ever. Mankind are now forming, like clay in the potter's hands, fome for honour and fome for difhonour; fome for wrath and fome for glory. And as the potter does not put his veffels to their refpective uses until they are finished and prepared for them, fo neither are men removed from the prefent ftate, and fixed in their refpective refidences in the eternal world, until they are prepared, finished and completely fitted for them. The veffels of mercy are prepared before-hand for that glory with which they fhall be filled. And, on the other hand, the veffels of wrath are fitted to destruction, and fit for nothing elfe, before they are dashed to pieces by the iron rod of divine juffice.

It is a criticifin worthy to be mentioned, even in this folemn place, where I never chufe to make a parade of ufelefs learning, that the apoftle ufes a different form of expression, when speaking of these different forts of perfons. The preparation of the vessels of mercy for glory, he ascribes to God, as his work. Hence he ufes an active verb, referring expressly to God as the agent—the vessels of mercy, Vol. III. B which he had afore prepared unto glory. But the fitting or preparing the veffels of wrath for deftruction, he does not afcribe to God, but intimates, that it is their own work. Hence he ufes a paffive particle—the veffels of wrath fitted to deftruction—fitted by their own wilful fin and impenitence, during the long-fuffering of God towards them, which had a tendency to lead them to repentance.

Veffels of wrath—How terribly emphatical is this phrafe! Veffels dreadfully capacious of divine wrath! to be filled to the brim with that burning liquid! But how beautifully fignificant is the metaphor veffels of mercy! veffels formed, prepared, finished, adorned by the gentle and skilful hand of divine mercy! veffels capacious of mercy, and to be filled, to overflow, with glory!

The gracious and fovereign God, who might juftly have dafhed thefe veffels of wrath to pieces as foon as ever they became marred clay in his plaftic hands, endures or bears with them with much longfuffering, as well as with the veffels of mercy : Bears with them, as he has with you, for days, for months and years, notwithftanding their daring provocations, and ungrateful abufe of his patience ; which nothing but divine patience could bear with fo long. But all this time, they contracted more and more filth and pollution ; they became every day lefs fit for their mafter's ufe, and rendered themfelves more and more fit for deftruction, and fit for nothing elfe.

And fhall thefe veffels of wrath anfwer no valuable ufe in the great houfé of the univerfe? Will they ferve to furnifh out no apartment of this vaft building? Will they be of no ufe in this numerous family of reafonable creatures? Yes, they will furnifh out the regions of hell, a place as neceffary and ufeful in the univerfe, as it is now conflituted, as prifons and bedlams upon the earth. They will ferve as public and terribly illuftrious monuments of the divine power and juffice, and the righteous refentments of heaven heaven against fin. They will ferve as loud warnings to all worlds, to deter them from that deftructive evil. And thus they will answer a valuable, and even a benevolent end in the creation, and contribute to the public good; as the execution of criminals tend to guard the laws from violation, and fo promote the good of fociety. They will ferve, as my text informs you, "to fhew the wrath and make known the power" of God: Their deftruction will illustriously display the glory of these perfections. The flames of hell will burn dreadfully bright, to reflect a terrible and yet amiable fplendor upon. them : And it is for this terrible but righteous end, among others, that God now endures them with fo much long-fuffering; that his perfections and thehonour of his government may be the more illuftrioufly difplayed in the execution of deferved punishment upon them.

But the veffels of mercy are intended and prepared for nobler ufes. On them God intends to difplay the glory, the riches of the glory of his more gentle attributes, his love and grace. With them he intends to furnifh out the many manfions of his heavenly houfe. By them he intends to let all worlds fee what glorious veffels he can form, not only of the duft, but of the fhattered and polluted fragments of human nature, broken and polluted by the fall of Adam, and by their own.

The view in which I now confider my text, leads me to confine myfelf to this practical inquiry,

Wherein does preparation for glory, and wherein does fitnefs for destruction confift?

Some of you, perhaps, when you heard the text, were ftruck with horror, and ready to blefs yourfelves at the found : For "now, you thought within yourfelves, we fhall have a fermon upon the horrible doctrine of predefination." But you fee I propofe to confider the text intirely in a practical view; and therefore your fears are imaginary. Nor do I chufe chufe to confider it in this view, to let you fee with what dexterity I can evade the genuine fenfe of it, and make a mental refervation of a doctrine fo unpopular; but becaufe, whatever elfe the text in its connection may mean, it does naturally lead me to this grand inquiry; and becaufe my prefent defign is to fpeak to your hearts, about an affair which you. are all concerned and capable to know, and not to perplex your minds with a controverfy, of which not many of you are competent judges. I must own, indeed, I am not altogether a fceptic in that doctrine. It is not an entire blank in my creed; nor am I at all ashamed to declare my fentiments . in a proper time and place. At prefent I shall only tell you, that I cannot be perfuaded God has made fuch a world as this, without first drawing the plan of it in his own omniscient mind. I cannot think He would produce fuch a numerous race of reafonable and immortal creatures, without first determining what to do with them. I cannot think the events of time, or the judicial process of the last day, will furnish Him with any new intelligence to enable Him to determine the final flates of men more juftly than He could from eternity .--- But away with all controverfial thoughts at prefent; and let an object of more importance engrofs all your attention : For you will find, I am not now going to plunge and drown you in this unfathomable depth. This you may be fure of, that, if you have not made yourfelves fit for deftruction, and fit for nothing elfe, by your own wilful fin, you fhall never be doomed to it by virtue of any decree of God. And, on the other hand, you may be equally fure, that he never decreed to admit you into heaven, unlefs you are prepared for it; nor to exclude you, if you are fo. I now proceed to the grand inquiry,

Wherein does preparation for glory, and wherein does fitnefs for deftruction confift? This will naturally lead me to inquire into your habitual difpofitions

4

# Serm. 43. the Veffels of Wrath delineated.

tions and behaviour : For it is by comparing thefe to the nature and quality of the regions of heaven and hell, that you can difcover which you are fit for. If your temper and dispositions be heavenly and divine, you may be fure that you shall be admitted into those bleffed mansions. But if, on the other hand, your temper and dispositions be infernal and diabolical; if they be fuch as are prevalent and univerfal in hell, you may be equally fure, that, unlefs they are changed, you will be doomed for ever to that difinal region. This muft, methinks, appear quite evident to common fense. The righteous Judge of all the earth will always invariably do that which is fit. If you are fit for the enjoyments and fervices of heaven, you need not fear but he will admit you; never yet has fuch a foul been excluded. And what can you reafonably defire more? Would you have heaven encumbered with fuch as could not be happy, even in the very regions of happinefs, for want of a proper relish for the enjoyments there? But, if you are fit only for the infernal prifon, is there not a propriety, as well as juffice, in your being confined there? The fame propriety, as that madmen fhould be fhut up in bedlam, or notorious criminals in a dungeon. Therefore,

I. Are you fit for heaven? Do you love and delight in God—in a God of infinite purity? If not, the enjoyment of his prefence, and the beatific vision of his face, which is the principal ingredient of heavenly happinefs, could afford no happinefs to you. Do you delight in the fervice of God, in contemplating his glories, in celebrating his praifes, and in the humble forms of worfhip in his church on earth? Do thefe afford you the most exalted pleafure? If not, heaven is no place for you; for thefe are the eternal exercises there: And to fuch of you as have no pleafure in them, the heavenly flate would be an eternal drudgery. Do you delight in holinefs? If not, what would you do in the region of holinefs? Alas! Alas! to you it would be an unnatural element. Are the faints, those whom the world perhaps calls fo with a fneer, becaufe they make it their great bufinefs to be holy in all manner of converfation, are these your favourite companions? Is their fociety peculiarly delightful to you? And are they the more agreeable to you, by how much the more holy they are? If not, what would you do among the holy inhabitants of heaven ? With what pleafure could you mingle in fociety with them, while your temper and theirs are fo directly contrary? Are your hearts full of ardent love and benevolence to mankind? If not, how would you breathe in the pure element of perfect love ?--- Without fuch dispositions as these, you are no more fit for heaven than a fick man for a feaft, a fwine for a palace, or a blind man to view the fplendors of the fun; and, therefore, you may be certain, that God, who will never do any thing that is unfit, will not admit you there, while you continue fuch as you now are.

You must also confider, that if you are sit for those pure and bleffed regions, it is God that has made you fo, by his own almighty power; He that hath wrought you for this felf-fame thing is God, 2 Cor. v. 5. and you have been deeply fenfible that the work was indeed his, was divine and godlike, and beyond the utmost efforts of your degenerate nature. You are able indeed to fit yourfelves for deftruction; that you can eafily do; and that, I am afraid, fome of you have effectually done already. But it is God alone that can make you fit for the inheritance of the faints in light. And have you ever been the fubjects of this divine operation? Have you ever felt the power of almighty grace opening your blinded minds -breaking your itony hearts, and melting them into floods of ingenuous forrow, under the warm beams of a Saviour's love, like fnow before the fun ? Have you ever felt it fubduing your favourite fins, and making them more bitter to you than death, and implanting

implanting and cherifhing every grace and virtue in your fouls? Has the Holy Spirit turned the prevailing bent of your fouls towards holinefs, fo that you efteem it the principal ornament of your nature, and make it the object of your eager defires, and moft vigorous purfuit? Does holinefs appear to you amiable in itfelf, and not only a pre-requifite to your happinefs, but the principal ingredient of it? And is heaven itfelf the more endeared to you by this confideration, that it is the region of pure, unmingled holinefs, that no unclean thing can enter there, and that even the way that leads to it is holy? If thefe things are not matters of experience with you, you may be fure you are not *efore prepared for glory*.

Let us now take a view of the opposite dispositions and we fhall make the fame difcovery :-- Suppofe your hearts are fet upon the enjoyments of this life, as your principal happiness; fuppose you are chiefly folicitous and laborious to heap up riches, or to indulge your fenfual lufts and appetites; fuppofing this be the ruling pallion of your fouls, are you fit for heaven? In heaven there are none of these low and fordid enjoyments : And what pleafure would you ' have there, who have a tafte only for thefe things? You are indeed fit to dig in the earth, like moles, and fteal the ferpent's food : You are fit to fcrape up riches; fit to wallow in the mire of guilty and debauched pleafures; fit to live in this world, could you always make your refidence in it : This grofs, impure, earthly clement fuits your depraved conftitutions. But can you once imagine you are fit for heaven; fit to breathe in that pure falubrious air; fit to fhare in those refined and spiritual enjoyments; fit to join in the exalted employments of feraphs, while this is your prevailing temper? Surely, no. And what then will become of you? The impure and grofs region of this world, fo agreeable to you, will not always laft, and you will not probably live in it as long as it does laft; but death, ere long, will tear you

you away from all that is dear to you under the fun. And, alas! whither then fhall you go? where then fhall you take up your eternal refidence?—I leave you to paufe and think about it.

Suppose the fervice of God be a weariness to you, and the thoughts of Him unwelcome to your minds : fuppose your hearts are full of angry malignant paffions : in fhort, fuppose you love fin more than holiness, can you flatter yourselves you are fit for heaven ? Alas ! it would be as unnatural an element to you as for a fish to live out of water, or you to live in it.—But the farther illustration of this will fall under the next head ; therefore,

2. Inquire, Whether your temper and difpolition be not infernal and diabolical, and fuch as renders you fit for deftruction, and for nothing clfe ? Are your hearts destitute of the love of God? " No, you anfwer; we thank God we have never been fo bad as that comes to." But if you love God, whence is it that you have fo few affectionate thoughts of Him? that you do not fludy to pleafe Him in all things, and delight in his fervice? If you love God, how comes it that you do not keep his commandments, which is the grand decifive teft of love ? Alas! inftead of loving him, are not your hearts difaffected to him? As evidences of this, may I not produce vour diflike to ferious thoughts of him, your averfion to his fervice, your difregard to his will as the rule of your conduct, and your headlong propenfity to follow your own pleafure ? Do not the murmurings and infurrections of your hearts against him and his difpenfations, your uneafy rebellious spirit under his providences, your averfion to his fervice, do not these shew that you are really difaffected to him? Now this is the very temper of hell; this is the conflituent of a devil; the very worft ingredient in that infernal composition ; and therefore, unlefs this temper be changed, you must dwell with devils for ever: It is fit all the enemies of God fhould be

8

# Serm. 43. the Veffels of Wrath delineated.

be flut up together in one vaft prifon. It is unfit that rebels and traitors flould always run at large, or mingle with loyal fubjects. Alas! firs, a foul without the love of God is devilized already, ripe for defiruction, and fit for nothing elfe.

Again, Are there not fome of you who have no pleafure in devotion, no delight in conversing with God in his ordinances? The pofture of humble worfhippers at the throne of grace is not eafy and agreeable to you ; and hence that you have prayerlefs families and prayerlefs clofets; and if you join in public worfhip once a week, it is a mere cuftomary formality. You cannot bear to wean your thoughts and tongues from temporal affairs in the few hours devoted to the fervice of God, though they make up but one day in feven ; you do not delight in religious converfation, but it strikes you dumb, like the man without the wedding garment. Well, in the infernal regions you will have as little of this exercife as you could wifh. The patient will then be hopelefs and incurable, and therefore no farther means will be used with him. Then you will be no more troubled with prayers, bibles, fermons, religious conversation, or the tedious hours of the Lord's Day. And, fince you have no tafte for fuch exercifes, is it not fit you fhould be fent into those ungodly regions, where you shall never be employed in them?

Again, Are not the minds of fome of you defiled with all manner of fin and moral pollutions? And do not thefe render you fit only for that region of corruption and impurity? Do you not indulge an angry, contentious, unforgiving, malicious temper? Well, that is the very temper of hell, and renders you fit for it. Nay, thefe outrageous paffions, when broke loofe from refiraint, will create a hell in your own breafts, and not only expofe you to punifhment, according to juffice, but become the ingredients of your punifhment, according to the courfe of nature. Do not fome of you indulge yourfelves in backbiting, Vol. III. C and OF

and all the bafe malignant arts of defamation, and perhaps are firebrands in the neighbourhood where you live ! Well, in hell you shall have enough of this work; and, while you indulge this fpirit, you are preparing yourfelves for that land of univerfal hoftility and revenge. Is not curfing and fwearing the familiar language of fome of you ? Well, this is the language of hell; and you are now practifing the infernal dialect, and preparing to converse with the ghofts below in their own ftile, in the region of imprecation and blasphemy. Do not some of you live in the practice of the works of the devil; that is, of those works to which he tempts you, and in which he has perfifted, who was a finner from the beginning? Are you not then fit for that everlafting fire, prepared for the devil and his angels? Even the gentle lips of Jefus himfelf would tell you, as he did the Jews, that You are of your father the devil, John viii. 44. fince you habitually do his works. And is it not fit you fhould be doomed to the fociety of your infernal father?

Do you not find your hearts are habitually hard and infenfible ? or if you have fome kind of repentance, it is only a fervile horror, extorted remorfe, and involuntary pangs of defperate agony. This is the very kind of repentance in hell, where they ftill love fin, and yet cannot but upbraid and torment themfelves, becaufe they have ruined themfelves by indulging it. Confcience tortures them with the keeneft reflections; but they feel no kindly ingenuous relentings; no generous forrows, proceeding from a fenfe of the intrinfic vilenefs and bafenefs of fin, and from a fincere difinterefted love to God and holinefs. Hence their repentance is only a punifhment, but has no tendency to their reformation. And is not this the very nature of your repentance at prefent?

But I need not dwell long upon this inquiry. It is enough to tell you, in fhort, that if you are fill

in your natural state; if you still retain that temperwhich is natural to you as the degenerate fons of Adam, without any fupernatural change; that estrangement from God; that difaffection to him; that carnality and earthly-mindednefs; that blindnefs and infenfibility about divine things; that prefumption, fecurity and love of lawlefs pleafure; I fay, if this be ftill your prevailing temper, you are not meet for the heavenly inheritance; for, in order to be heirs of that, you must be born again of God. But you are fitted for deftruction; for by nature you are children of wrath, Eph. ii. 3. and while you continue fuch, you must be veffels of wrath. Therefore bring the matter to a fhort iffue, by this decifive inquiry : " Have I ever been born again? Have I ever experienced fuch a mighty change in the temper of my mind, as may, with propriety, be called a new birth, or a new creation? For, if any man be in Chrift, he is a new creature ; old things are paffed away, and all things are become new. 2 Cor. v. 17. Have I thus been renewed in the fpirit of my mind? or am I ftill the fame old man, with my old affections and lufts ?--- This, my brethren, is the grand decifive inquiry ; for if you have been begotten again, St. Peter tells you, it is to an inheritance incorruptible, and that fadeth not away; referved in the heavens for you. I Pet. i. 4. But Jefus, the friend of finners; Jefus, who never pronounced a harfh fentence, and who never will exclude from heaven one foul that is fit for it, nor doom to deftruction one foul that is fit for any thing elfe; even Jefus himfelf has ftrongly affured you with his own gracious lips, that except you be born again, born of the Spirit, as well as of water, you cannot fee the kingdom of heaven : for that which is born of the flesh is flesh, John iii. 3, 5, 6. carnal, corrupt, unholy, and utterly unfit for that fpiritual, pure and holy kingdom.

Here I would enlarge a little upon an obfervation, which I just hinted at before, namely, That thefe corrupt

### The Veffels of Mercy and

corrupt dispositions are not only criminal, and therefore will bring upon you the penalty of the divine law, according to juffice, but that they are, in their own nature, destructive, and therefore, according to the course of nature, will be your ruin. Suppose God had made no politive conflitution to exclude you from heaven; yet while you have no relifh for the employments and enjoyments of that flate, it is impoffible, in the nature of things, you fhould be happy there. As you must have animal fenses to render you capable of animal pleafures, fo you muft have fpiritual fenfes to render you capable of the pure fpiritual pleafures of paradife; and without these you can no more be happy there than a ftone can cnjoy the pleafures of an animal, or a beaft those of reafon : You would be miferable wretches in paradife itfelf. Do but confider in what things the blifs of heaven confifts, and methinks you will rather fear, than hope and defire admission there. Is religion fo pleafing a thing to you, that you might expect you fhould be completely happy if it were but perfected in you? Alas! are there not a thoufand things more agreeable to fome of you? But in heaven there are none of thefe things, and how do you expect to be happy there? There must be another heaven created for you, a Mahometan paradife of fenfual pleafures, or elfe your temper must be changed. The paradife of faints and angels does not fuit your vitiated tafte.

Farther, Suppofe God fhould not inflict any pofitive punifhment upon you with his own immediate hand, but only fuffer the courfe of nature to run on, and let your corrupt difpofitions have full fcope and range without reftraint, would not thefe difpofitions alone create a hell within you ! Anger, malice, envy, and every wicked and turbulent paffion againft God and his creatures, will break out into outrageous hurricanes, when the kind reftraints under which they now lie are taken off, and they will agitate and diffract your fouls for ever, and render you incapable of

# Serm. 43. the Veffels of Wrath delineated.

of all peace, ferenity and joy. Then alfo, all temporal enjoyments, the objects of your love and defire, and the only things you have now to allay your raging thirst for happines, will be for ever torn from you, and leave you to famifh in a difinal void; and then you will pine away with eager, impatient, infatiable defires, which will gnaw your hearts, and prey upon your fpirits like hungry vultures. Suppose you were now fiript naked of every enjoyment, and nothing left you but bare being, with your ufual capacity of enjoyment; fuppofe you were deprived of the light of the fun, the products of the earth, the comforts of fociety, and every imaginable bleffing, and doomed to wander, forlorn and hungry, in fome difmal defert, how confummately miferable would this privation alone render you! But this will be the doom of the ungodly, as foon as death breaks their connections with this world. They must leave all their enjoyments behind them, and yet carry their eager defires, their infatiable avarice of happinefs, along with them ; and thefe will make them capacious veffels of pain; for a capacity of enjoyment not fatisfied is a dreadful capacity of politive milery. Thus, you fee your defiruction comes upon you according to

the courfe of nature; and you will die eternally, though the hand of the executioner fhould never touch you, as the unavoidable refult of your prefent temper, the deadly difeafe under which you labour.

And hence you may fee, by the way, that it is no act of cruelty or injuffice in the Supreme Judge, to fhut you up in the prifon of hell; for what elfe thould he do with you, when you are fit for no other place? Is it cruel to exclude the fick from entertainments, or perfons infected with the plague from the fociety of the found and healthy? Is it cruel to confine madmen in bedlam, or criminals in prifon? Certainly no. Therefore God & his throne will be guiltlefs for ever.

And now, my dear brethren, have any of you been convinced that this is really your cafe? That your

### The Veffels of Mercy and

Serm. 43.

temper and conduct is fuch as at once renders and proves you utterly unfit for heaven, and, as it were, naturalizes and feafons you for the infernal regions? Alas! this is a fhocking and alarming difcovery indeed: but, bleffed be God, you have made it in time: you have made it while in the land of hope, and in a ftate of trial; and therefore there is reafon to hope, that, if you now take the alarm, and earneftly use the means of grace, your condition, bad as it is, may be happily altered; and you, who are now fit for nothing but destruction, may yet be made meet for the inheritance of the faints in light. It is becaufe there is fome reafon for this hope, that I have honeftly expofed thefe alarming and unpopular things to your view. You must know them fooner or later : and if you flould not know them until you fall into deftruction, alas! it will be then too late. Believe me, my brethren, these things do not proceed from a morose malevolent heart, nor are they intended to drive you into defpair. I fpeak to you with melting pity and affectionate benevolence; and inftead of driving you into defpair, my defign is to fave you from it for ever, and bring you to have a good hope through grace. And as the evidence of what I have offered is fo plain to common fenfe, do not pretend you cannot underftand me, and do not know what I would aim at. I am only inculcating upon you this felf-evident truth, that unlefs you are prepared for heaven, you shall not be admitted; and that, if you are fit for nothing but destruction, you must be destroyed. Can any mathematical demonstration be more plain than this? And are any of you fo void of fenfe, reafon and faith, as not to understand and believe it.

I now prefume, that fuch of you as have made this difcovery with regard to yourfelves, are alfo convinced, that you cannot poffibly efcape deftruction, unlefs your prefent temper be changed, and quite a new frame of fpirit given you.

And

And who, do you think, can work this happy change in your hearts! If you are fo vain and ignorant as to flatter yourfelves that you can effect it in your own firength, make the trial, and you will foon be undeceived. It is God alone that can work in you both to will and to do. My text tells you, it is He that prepares the veffels of mercy for glory : It is his Holy Spirit alone that is equal to the arduous work.

But in what way is this influence to be expected ? Is it in a courfe of impenitent finning ? of prefumption and fecurity ? of floth and negligence? No; to expect it in that way, is to tempt the Lord your God. But fuch of you as would effcape the damnation of hell; fuch of you as have any defire to be for ever happy, hear me, ferioufly hear me, and I will tell you, in a few plain words, what you must do, if you would expect the aids of divine grace to prepare you for glory.

You muft immediately think ferioufly of your condition : you muft labour impartially to know the truth of your cafe : pry into the dreadful fecrets of wickednefs in your hearts : review your finful lives : reflect upon the purity and juffice of God and his law, and what you have deferved for a whole life of unnatural rebellion againft him : read and hear the word of life with folemnity and attention, and ufe all proper means to furnifh your minds with religious knowlege. It may pain you at firft to confine your minds to fuch objects ; but it muft be done : and there is no difputing againft neceflity : befides, the pain is medicinal ; it will contribute to the recovery of your dying fouls.

Again, You mult accuftom yourfelves to frequent importunate prayer. If ever you be faved, or prepared for falvation, it will be in anfwer to prayer: therefore engage in it, perfevere in it, and never give over until you obtain your requeft.

Further, You must guard against every thing that tends to divert your minds from this grand concern; as excessive hurries and cares about earthly things, vain vain and vicious company, and every avoidable temptation.

Finally, You must perfevere in this courfe, if you hope to fucceed; and never reft until you feel the difpolitions of heaven wrought in your fouls. A pang of remorfe, a ferious fit, a transient prayer, will not fuffice, but you must hold on your way to the laft. You may expect difficulties in this new courfe, and you will probably meet with more than you can now forefee or expect. But you must break through all; for your immortal intereft, your all is at ftake.

This is the courfe I would advife you to. if ever you hope to be prepared for glory. I cannot give you any the leaft encouragement in any other way. If any other can fhew you a more eafy, and yet fafe courfe, and produce fufficient authority for it, you may take it: but, for my part, if I teach you what I learn in my bible, I can give you no other directions; nor do I expect to be faved in any eafier way myfelf. And therefore, if you will chufe another, you muft be anfwerable for it. Remember I warn you againft it and would not be acceflary to it for ten thoufand worlds.

Now, if this courfe muft be taken, I afk when, do you think, muft it be begun? Will you appoint tomorrow, or next year, or old age, or a fick-bed, for that purpofe? Alas! you may never live to fee that time. Before then you may drop into deftruction, as rotten fruit fall to the ground by their own weight. Therefore now, this prefent fleeting now, is the only time you are fure of; and confequently, this is the only proper time to begin this courfe. Now then, now, while my voice is founding in your ears, form the refolution, and carry it into immediate execution. Bear it home upon your hearts to your houfes, and there let it dwell until the great work is done. O! that you did but know its importance and neceflity! then you could not delay it one moment longer.

And now, if you have any regard for the God that made you, for the Lord that bought you, or for your own everlafting happinefs, take this courfe immediately.—If you have any need of excitements, take the following.

1. Confider your prefent dangerous fituation. You hang over the pit of deftruction by the flender thread of life, held up only by the hand of an angry God, as we hold a fpider, or fome poifonous infect, over a fire, ready to throw it in. You are ripe for deftruction, and therefore in danger every day, every hour, every moment of falling into it. You are as fit for deftruction as a murderer for the gallows, or a mortified limb to be cut off. Such polluted veffels of wrath muft be thrown out of the way into fome dark corner in hell, that they may no more incumber or difgrace the more honourable apartments of the univerfe. And is this a fituation in which it becomes you to be merry, and gay, and thoughtlefs, and eager after the trifles of time? O! does it not become you rather to be on your knees at the throne of grace, and vigoroufly preffing into the kingdom of God?

2. Reflect with how much long-fuffering God has endured you, notwithftanding all your audacious and repeated provocations. One would think one day's finning againft fo holy and gracious a God, by a creature fo deeply obliged to him, would make your cafe defperate, and that the evening of fuch a day would be the hour of your execution. But he has patiently borne with you for days, for months, for years, perhaps for fcores of years. And all this time he has followed you with his bleflings every moment, and granted you the means of preparation for glory. And yet you have been thoughtlefs, difobedient, ungrateful, rebellious ftill. How juftly then may he inflict punifhment upon you ! And how induftrioufly will his goodnefs and feverity, his mercy and juftice, be difplayed in his treatment of you ! What could you have defired more, in point of time, opportunity, perfuafives, than you have enjoyed ? Will it not then appear evident, that your defiruction is entirely of yourfelf, Vol. III. D and and that, as I told you before, God and his throne, will be guiltlefs for ever?

3. Confider how dreadful will be your punifhment, if you fhould perifh at laft by your prefent wilful negligence. My text tells you what will be the defign of your punishment ; it will be to shew the wrath of God, and make his power known. Such will be your punifh-. ment, as will be fit to fhew that it is almighty power that inflicts it, and that it is an almighty God who is angry with you. It will be his profeffed defign to difplay the dreadful glory of his vindictive attributes upon you, particularly his justice, as the supreme Magistrate of the universe: and even his justice deferves to be difplayed; for justice is not that ugly, grim, horrible thing, which criminals imagine. In a ruler, especially in the supreme and universal Ruler, justice is not only a majestic and terrible, but it is a lovely, amiable, ingratiating attribute, effential to his character, and to the public good, and fo it appears to all competent judges; that is, to all who are, not self-flattering criminals, and therefore parties. The difplay of this attribute, therefore, upon proper objects, is neceffary to give a full view of the Deity to the world; to reprefent him as he is.

Now, whatever attribute of his he intends to difplay in any of his works, he always does it in a manner worthy of himfelf. When his defign was to difplay and glorify his creative power, wifdom, and goodnefs, fee! what a ftately, well-furnifhed univerfe he fpoke into being! What a magnificent, Godlike building! When his defign was to fhew the riches of his grace towards our guilty race, what wonders did he perform! What inimitable exploits of condefcenfion and love! His only begotten Son muft become a man, muft ftruggle with all the calamities of life for three-and-thirty long and painful years, muft expire in torture upon an ignominious crofs, and redeem the guilty with the blood of his heart. This was Godlike love and grace indeed, beyond all example. Serm. 43. the Veffels of Wrath delineated.

ample. O! Who is a God like unto thee, that pardoneth iniquity? Micah vii. 18. He is as much diftinguished from all other beings by the wonders of his love and grace as by the eternity of his exiftence, or by that wildom which planned the universe, or that power which produced it out of nothing. When, in profecution of the fame defign, he intends to give a farther difplay of the riches of his glorious grace upon the veflels of mercy, what Godlike provisions hath he made for them! Eye bath not feen nor car beard, nor bas it entered into the beart of man to conceive, the things he hath prepared for them. He hath prepared for them a city, fuch a glorious refidence, that he is not ashamed to be called their God. He is not ashamed to own the relation, because he has acted up to the character, and worthy of himfelf. Heb. xi. 16. And when his defign is to fhew his avenging wrath, and make his punitive power known ; when it is to fhew what Godlike punifirments he can inflict, fuch as may, by their terror, declare him to be the Author, and ferve as loud warnings to all prefent, and, perhaps, future creations, to deter them from the breach of his facred laws; and when the fubjects of the punifhment are ftrong capacious veffels of wrath, fit for nothing but destruction; I fay, when this is the cafe, what Godlike vengeance will he execute! what fignal, unexampled punifhment will he inflict! The defign of punishment, which is not the reformation of the criminal, but the benefit of others, and the difplay of his perfections, require that he give a loofe to all the terrors of his power. And what miracles of mifery, what terrible illustrious monuments of vengeance will that perform and erect! As far furpassing all the punishments inflicted by mortals, as the creation of the world out of nothing exceeds all the works of human art.

And are you proof against the energy of such confiderations as these? Then you are dreadfully sitted for destruction indeed! For the strongest perfuasives

to

to deter you from it, which God himfelf can reveal, or the human mind conceive, have no weight upon you!

But may I hope that I fhall fucceed at leaft with fome of you this day to fly from this tremendous deftruction, into which you are this moment ready to fall? Alas! it is hard, if even a ftranger cannot prevail with fo much as one foul, in fo large an affembly, and in a point fo reafonable, and fo ftrongly enforced by your own intereft. But I muft leave this warning with you, and if you do not remember it now, you will remember it millions of ages hence, when the remembrance of it will torment you with intolerable anguifh.

There are fundry in this affembly, I doubt not, who, by comparing their difpositions with the nature of heavenly happines, may make the welcome difcovery, that they are, in fome measure, prepared for it. To fuch happy fouls I have time only to fay, that if this be your character, you may be sure that immense happiness shall be yours: your present heavenly temper is a certain pledge and earness of it. You may be fure God would never make you fit for it, and then exclude you from it.

And, on the other hand, if you find that the difpolitions of hell are fubdued in you, affure yourfelves God will not doom you to it. Can you think he would gain your hearts and allure your love, and then bid you depart from him, to languish and pine away with the eager anxious paintings of difappointed bereaved love? Will he doom you to refide for ever among those whose works you detest, and whose fociety you abhor? No; he will thoroughly prepare you, and make you holy, and then advance you to dwell for ever in that prefence which you love, in the element of holinefs; to breathe in that clear refined air; to live in that wholefome climate, fo agreeable to your conftitution; to be employed in those fervices in which you delight; to enjoy that fublime and delicate

## Serm. 44. Necessity of true Repentance.

cate happines which you relifh, and to converse in that fociety which you affect, and which is of the fame temper and spirit with you.—And for that bleffed region may we all be prepared, and there may we all meet at last, to enjoy that endless felicity which awaits those who firmly put their confidence in God, through Jefus Chrift ! Amen.

# SERMON XLIV.

THE NATURE AND NECESSITY OF TRUE REPENTANCE.

ACTS XVII. 30. And the times of this ignorance God winked at; but now commandeth all men every where to repent.

W E here find St. Paul in as learned an affembly as perhaps he ever appeared in. We find him in Athens, a city of Greece, famous all over the world for learning; a city where Socrates, Plato, and the most illustrious philosophers of antiquity, lived and taught. We find him in the famous court of Areopagus, or Mars-Hill, where the wifest men and best philofophers of this wife and philofophical city were met together ; in the fame court where Socrates, the moft likely candidate in all the heathen world for the honours of martyrdom, had been accufed and condemned, and for very much the fame crime, namely, introducing a foreign religion, and bringing the gods of the country into contempt. And how does the apostle conduct himself in these critical circumstances ? Why, inftead of amufing them with a learned harangue ; inftead of confirming them in their idolatry, and vindicating himfelf, by publicly professing, with poor Socrates, that he worshipped the gods of the country, and facrificed at the established altars; inftead

### The Nature and Necessity

Serm. 44.

ftead of this, I fay, the apoftle boldly, though in a very handfome and genteel manner, expofes their fuperftitions, calls them off from their idols to the worfhip of the one true God, the Maker and Ruler of heaven and earth ; and, having afferted thefe fundamental articles of natural religion, he introduces the glorious peculiarities of revelation, and preached Jefus Chrift to them, as the Saviour and Judge of the world.

In my text he inculcates the great gofpel-duty of repentance as binding upon all mankind (philofophers and judges, as well as the illiterate vulgar, in Athens) as well as in the most barbarous countries of the earth.

The times of this ignorance God winked at. By the times of ignorance, he means the times previous to the propagation of the gofpel in the heathen world, who for many ages were funk into the most grofs ignorance of the true God, and into the most abfurd and impious fuperfition and idolatry, notwithftanding the loud remonstrances of the light of reason, and the various leffons of the book of creation, fo legible to all. When it is faid that God winked at these times of ignorance, it may mean, as our translators feem to have underftood it, that God feemed to connive at, or not to take notice of this univerfal ignorance that had overfpread the world, fo as to fend his prophets to them for their reformation. In this view, there is a ftrong antithefis between the first and the laft parts of my text. q. d. "God once feemed to connive at the idolatry and fuperfition of mankind, and to let them go on, without fending his meffengers to call them to repentance; and in thefe dark times their impenitence was the lefs inexcufable. But now the cafe is altered; now he has introduced a glorious day, and he plainly and loudly calls and commands all men every where to repent ; and therefore, if you now continue impenitent, you are utterly inexcufable." Or the word may be rendered, God overlooked thefe times of ignorance : he overlooked them by way of difpleafure : he would not favour fuch guilty times with a gracious

gracious glance of his eye; and in righteous difpleafure, he did not fo much as give them an explicit call to repentance: or he overlooked them by way of forbearance. Ignorant and idolatrous as the world was, he did not deftroy it, but bore it from age to age, with a defign to publifh a more explicit command to repent: and now that time is come; that time, for the fake of which a long-fuffering God had borne with a guilty world fo long. Now he commands all men every where to repent; all men, Gentiles as well as Jews: every where, in the dark heathen lands, as well as in the enlightened fpot of Judea.

Repentance is indeed a duty enjoined by our natural reafon, and ftrongly enforced by the Jewifh religion; but it is the gofpel that affords the ftrongent motives and allurements, and the beft helps and advantages for repentance. The gofpel was first introduced by a loud call to repentance: Repent, for the kingdom of heaven is at hand, was the united cry of John the Baptist, of Christ, and his difciples. And St. Paul fums up the fubstance of his preaching in these two articles, Repentance towards God, and faith towards our Lord Jefus Christ. Acts xx. 21.

Repentance is univerfally acknowledged to be an effential ingredient in the religion of a finner. They who deny the chriftian religion, and particularly the neceffity of Chrift's death to make atonement for fin, they deny it upon this fuppolition, that the light of nature teaches us the neceffity of repentance, and that alone is a fufficient atonement. Thus, even Infidels, Jews, Pagans and Mahometans, agree in afferting the neceffity of repentance. It is this grand catholic uncontroverted duty, and not the little difputable peculiarity of a party, that I am now about to inculcate upon you: And *be that bath an car to hear, let him hear.* 

But here, I hope, you are ready to requeft me, "Pray let us know what repentance is, before you exhort us to it. How may we know what it is to repent, and whether we have truly repented or not?"

TF

If this be your defire, it directly coincides with my main defign : and I fhall endeavour, with the utmoft plainnefs and faithfulnefs, to tell you what gofpel-repentance is, and help you to determine whether ever you have been the fubjects of it.

Now it is evident, both from fcripture and common fense, that every pang of forrow for fin, and every instance of reformation, is not that repentance which we have now under confideration. If horror of confcience, and fears of hell, could conftitute true repentance, then Judas was a true penitent; for his horror and fear was fo great, that he could not live under it. If fudden pangs of terror and remorfe, with fome refolutions to amend, could conftitute true repentance, then Felix, the heathen governor, was a true penitent ; for we are told, that, while Paul reasoned before him, concerning temperance, righteousness, and the judgment to come, he trembled, Acts xxiv. 25. and feemed refolved to give him another hearing on these fubjects. If a reformation in many inftances were the fame thing with repentance, then Herod, the murderer of John the Baptist, was a true penitent; for we are told, he heard John gladly, and did many things at his exhortation. Mark vi. 20. These knew nothing of repentance unto life; and therefore we may feel what they felt, and yet remain impenitent.

I fcarcely think there are any of you fo hardy and reprobated of God, as never to have experienced any fort of repentance. It is likely there is not one in this affembly but has fometimes been fcared with dreadful apprehenfions of death, hell, and the confequences of fin ; and perhaps you have cried and wept to think of your finful life, and trembled to think what would be the end of it. You have alfo prayed to God to forgive you, and refolved and promifed you would reform. Nay, it is poflible, the terrors of the Lord and a fenfe of guilt, may have almost overwhelmed and diffracted you, haunted you from day to day, and diffurbed your nightly flumber's. On these accounts you conclude, perhaps,

perhaps, that you are true penitents: but, alas! after all this, you may be but impenitent finners. True evangelical repentance has the following diftinguishing characteristics; by which I request you to examine yourfelves.

I. It extends to the heart as well as to the practice. Every true penitent, indeed, has an affecting fenfe of the many fins and guilty imperfections of his life; but then his repentance does not ftop there, but he looks into the horrid arcana, the fecrets of wickednefs within. He traces up thefe corrupt ftreams to the more corrupt fountain in his heart, from which they flow. A blind mind, a stupid heart, a heart disaffected to God, that could live content for months, for years, without loving God, a heart dead to his fervice, a heart infenfible of eternal things, a heart exceffively fet upon things below, a fecure confcience, a ftubborn ungovernable will; thefe, to the true penitent, appear the greateft crimes, while, by a thoughtlefs world, they are hardly noticed as flight imperfections. Hence when his walk in the eyes of men is unblameable, and even imitable, he still finds daily occasion for repentance and humiliation before God. For O! his heart, or his inward temper, is not fuch as it fhould be : he does not love God nor man as he knows he fhould : he does not delight in the fervice of God as he fhould : every thought, every motion of his heart towards forbidden objects alarms him, like a fymptom of the plague, or the ftirring of an enemy in ambufh; and he is immediately in arms to make refistance. The world in general are very well pleafed if the matter of their actions be good, and if they abftain from what is materially evil: but this does not fatisfy the true penitent : he narrowly infpects the principles, the motives, and the ends of his actions; and there he finds fufficient caufe for mortification and forrow, even when his actions in themfelves are lawful and good. In fhort, every true penitent is a critic upon his own VOL. III. E heart;

25

heart ; and there he finds conftant caufe for repentance while in this imperfect flate.

The proof of this is fo evident, that I need hardly mention it. Can you fuppose it will fatisfy a true lover of God and goodness, just to have a clean outfide, while his heart is a mere mass of corruption? Will it content fuch a one, that he performs all the outward duties of religion, if there be no life or fpirit in them? Will God account that man truly penitent, who thinks it enough that he is not guilty of open acts of wicked-nefs, though he indulges it, and loves it in his heart? No; fuch repentance is a fhallow, fuperficial thing, and is good for nothing. David's repentance reached his heart. Hence, in his penitential pfalm (li.) he not only confesses his being guilty of the blood of Uriah, but that he was shapen in iniquity, and conceived in fin, and earnestly prays, Create in me a clean heart, O God, and renew a right spirit within me. Pfalm li. 5, 6, 10. And he is deeply fenfible of the want of truth or integrity in the inward parts.

Now, my brethren, if this be an effential ingredient in true repentance, do not fome of you fee that you are deflitute of it? and, confequently, that you are ftill impenitent finners, and ready to perifh as fuch? A dreadful conviction! But do not fhut your eyes againft it; for, until you fee your error, you cannot correct it. II. In evangelical repentance there is a deep fenfe of

II. In evangelical repentance there is a deep fenfe of the intrinfic evil of fin, and a hearty forrow for it as done againft God.

Many that think they repent of fin have no proper forrow upon the account of fin againft God, but only on account of the punifhment it is like to bring upon themfelves. It is not fin they hate, but hell. Were it poflible for them to enjoy their fins, and yet be happy, they would never think of repenting; and hence repentance is really an hardfhip in their view. Need I tell you that fuch a fervile, forced repentance, is good for nothing. If the criminal is very forry, not becaufe he has offended, but becaufe he is to be executed for it,

it, would you call him a true penitent? If your flave cries and trembles, not from a fenfe of his offence againft you, but for fear of the lafh, do you think he truly repents of it? No; it is felf-love, and not the love of duty; it is fear of the punifhment, and not hatred of the crime, that is the principle of this fervile, ungenerous repentance.

Hence you may fee you may be very forry for your fin, becaufe it may fix a fcandal upon your character, becaufe it may have injured your temporal eflate, or becaufe it may ruin you in the eternal world : I fay, you may be very forry for fin on fuch fervile reafons as thefe, and yet know nothing of true repentance. True repentance is a more kindly, generous thing; it proceeds from an affecting fenfe of the bafenefs and malignity of fin in itfelf. Sin appears to the true penitent, as fome forts of poifon to us; that is, not only hateful becaufe it is deadly and deftructive, but hateful and naufeous in itfelf. I do not mean that the fear of punifhment is no ingredient in true repentance : the love of God and felf-love are very confiftent, if the latter is kept in a due fubordination to the former; and therefore the fear of punishment hasgreat weight even with the evangelical penitent. But I mean the fear of punifhment is not the principal, much lefs the only fpring and motive of true repentance : the true penitent hates fin, even when he is not thinking of heaven or hell, but only viewing it in its own nature. Though it were allowed him to go to heaven in the ways of fin, he would by no means chufe it. Heaven itfelf would be the lefs acceptable to him, if it were the end of fuch a courfe.

He is alfo deeply forry for fin, as againft God, or as contrary to him. As rebellion againft his authority, as a contrariety to his holinefs, as an oppofition to his will and pleafure, as a moft bafe, ungrateful return for all his goodnefs, and as the caufe of all the agonies of the bleffed Jefus; he hates it, he mourns over it with ingenuous and kindly relentings of heart. It was fin

### The Nature and Necessity

Serm. 44.

fin in this view, as againft God, that lay heavieft upon David's heart. He feems to have forgotten the injury he had done to Uriah and his wife, while all his attention was engroffed by the horror of his crime, as againft God. Againft thee, thee only have I finned, and done this evil in thy fight. Pfalm li. 4. It was this view of fin that armed Jofeph, in the heat of youth, with power to refift the folicitations of his miftrefs. How fhall I do this great wickednefs, and fin againft God? Gen. xxxix. 9. O! the thought of finning againft God, againft fo glorious, fo gracious and excellent a Being, pierced him to the heart, and he could not bear it. Thus it is with every true penitent. It wounds him to the heart to think that he fhould treat fo good and holy a God fo bafely. This thought would break his heart, even though fin fhould be attended with no danger to himfelf; and it does in fact grieve him, and melt down his foul into generous forrows, even when he has not one thought of his own danger.

Nay, of fo generous a nature is evangelical repentance, that the penitent foul never melts to freely, nor burfts out into fuch a flood of ingenuous forrows, as when it has reafon to hope that a gracious God has freely forgiven it. Then it fees the bafe ingratitude and complicated vileness of fin, as committed against fo gracious a God. God's forgiving the penitent is a reason to him why he should never forgive himself. If God had concealed the glory of his grace, and ren-dered himfelf lefs lovely, he would be lefs fentible of the evil of finning against him, and lefs forry for it. But O! that he fhould fin against a God who is fo gracious as to forgive him after all! This thought cuts him to the heart. Hence the evidences of pardon, and the hope of falvation, do not put an end to true repentance, but, on the other hand, promote it. This bleffed hope indeed abates the terrors of a flave, and mixes many fweets in the bitter cup of repentance; but it is fo far from putting a ftop to the flow of generous, filial forrows, that it opens new fprings for

for them, and caufes them to gufh out in larger ftreams!

How different is this from the general temper of the world! If they repent, it is while hell flands open before them, and the load of guilt oppreffes them. But could they believe that God has forgiven their fin, and that they shall notwithstanding be faved, they would be very eafy about it; nay, they would most-ungenerously, from this very confideration, take encouragement to fin the more boldly! This is more than the fecret fentiment, it is the avowed profession of multitudes. Afk them how they can go on impenitent in fin, and be eafy in fuch a courfe? their an-fwer is, God is merciful; and they hope he will forgive and fave them after all. What is this but an explicit purpose to fin against God, because he is good ? and to abufe his mercy, if he will be merciful? Nothing but the lash can keep fuch fordid, flavish fouls in awe. Their hearts are dead to gratitude and every generous paffion. If God will have them to repent, he muft give them no hope of pardon and happines; for, as this hope rifes, their repentance ceafes, and fin appears. a harmlels inoffenfive thing. But how different is this from the generous temper of the true penitent! It wounds him more to offend a fin-pardoning than a finpunishing God. And never does his heart melt fo kindly, as when under the warm beams of divine love; never does he repent fo heartily as with a pardon in his hand, and with the prospect of heaven open before him. Do not think this is an excellive refinement of repentance, for common fenfe may tell you, that God will never accept of that repentance which has the punifhment and not the crime for its object : and this generous temper is affigned to the true penitent in the facred feriptures. See Ezek. xvi. 63. After God has promifed many bleffings to the Jews, this is mentioned as the confequence, Thou fhalt remember and be confounded, and never open thy mouth any more, because of thy flume, when I am pacified towards thee for all that thou

Serm. 44.

thou haft done, faith the Lord God. So (Ezek. xxxvi. 31.) after many promifes of rich bleffings, it is faid, *Then fhall ye remember your own evil ways, and your do*ings that were not good, and *fhall lothe yourfelves in your* own fight, for your iniquities and your abominations. You fee this fhame and confusion, this penitential remembrance and felf-lothing, are the effect of God's being reconciled. When he is pacified, then they are afhamed, confounded, and lothe themfelves.

Brethren, does your repentance ftand this teft? Examine and fee; for if it does not, it is only a repentance to be repented of.

III. True repentance extends to all known fin, without exception.

If fin, confidered in itfelf, or fin as done against God, be the object of true repentance, then it follows, that whatever is fin in itfelf, or against God, must be the object of it. Every fin, whether it confifts in neglecting what is commanded, or doing what is forbidden; whether it be immediately against God, against our neighbour, or ourfelves; whether it be fashionable, conftitutional, pleafing, or painful; every fin, without exception, as far as it is known, is hated and lamented by the true penitent. He fhould indeed regard them according to their different degrees of aggravation; but he flould not except any of them, even the fmalleft. They are all forbidden by the fame divine authority; all contrary to the holy nature of God; all opposite to the obl'gations of duty and gratitude we are under to him; and, therefore, they must be all repented of. This was the character of David, That he hated every falfe way. Pfalm cxix. 128.

Now, does not this confideration prove fome of you impenitent finners? Do you not except fome fins out of your repentance, and plead for an indulgence to them? If fo, you may be fure your hearts are not right with God.

IV. True repentance always includes reformation. There are many whofe whole life feems to be one continued

continued ftruggle between the ftrength of fin and confcience; and they run round in a circle of finning and repenting, repenting and finning, all their days. Sin is fo ftrong that it will prevail, in fpite of all the ftruggles of confcience; and confcience remains fo vigorous, that it still continues to struggle, though without fuccefs. They commit fin, then are forry for it; then commit it again : and in this viciflitude they fpend their lives. Nay, the repentance of fome is fo far from reforming them from fin, that it rather encourages them to return to it; for now, they think, they have cleared off the old fcore, and they may venture upon a new one; till that also fwells very high, and then they have another fit of repentance to clear off this new account.

Alas! brethren, is this repentance unto life? What does that forrow for fin avail, which leaves the heart as much in love with it as ever? The only reafon why forrow is a neceflary ingredient in repentance, is, becaufe we will not, we cannot forfake fin, till it be made bitter to us; and, therefore, when our forrow has not this effect, it is altogether ufelefs. Can that repentance fave you, which is fo far from being an ingredient of holinefs, that it is a preparative to fin? A repentance that anfwers no other end but to make confcience eafy after a debauch, and prepare it for another furfeit!

Is this the nature of true repentance? No; it is the character of every true penitent, that fin has not an habitual dominion over him. Rom. vi. 14. Remember that maxim of the wife man, *He that covereth his fins fhall not profper*; *but whofo confeffeth and forfaketh them, fhall have mercy*. Prov. xxviii. 13. Obferve, not only confeffing, but alfo forfaking them, is neceffary to the obtaining of mercy. The fame thing appears from the various exprefiions ufed in fcripture to defcribe repentance. To repent, in the language of the Bible, is to depart from our evil ways; to ceafe to do evil, and learn to do well; to cleanfe our hands, and purify our hearts : which expressions fignify not only forrow

Scrm. 44.

forrow for fin, but especially reformation from it. In vain, therefore, do you pretend you repent, if you ftill go on in the fins you repent of. If you indulge yourfelves in any one known fin, however fmall you may think it, you are utter ftrangers to true repentance. I do not mean by this, that true penitents are perfectly free from fin in this life : alas! their painful experience makes the best of them fensible of the contrary. But I mean two things, which deferve your notice; the one is, that every true penitent has an habitual do-minion over fin : the principles of religion and virtue are prevailingly uppermost in his foul, and habitually regulate his behaviour. As for groß, overt acts of fin, he is habitually free from them, and, indeed, generally this is no great difficulty. To him it is no fuch mighty exploit to abftain from drunkennefs, fwearing, injuffice, or the like. And as to his daily infirmities, they are contrary to the habitual prevailing bent of his foul, and the matter of his daily lamentation. And this introduces the other remark I had in view ; which is this, that it does not appear a kind of privilege to the true penitent that he cannot be perfect in this life; but it is the daily grief and burden of his foul that he is not. Many feem well pleafed, that this is an imperfect state, because, they think it furnishes them with a plea or an excufe for their neglect of the fervice of Cod, and for their finful indulgences. In fhort, fin is their delight, and, therefore, freedom from it would be a painful bereavement to them; and they are glad they are in fuch a frate as will admit of their retaining it. Now fuch perfons, as I obferved, do really efteem it a privilege to be imperfect, and they rejoice in it as their happinefs, that they are able to fin : but it is quite the reverse with the true penitent. Perfection in holinefs, and an entire freedom from fin, is the object of his eager defire and most vigorous pursuit ; and he can never be eafy until he enjoys it. If he cannot enjoy the pleafure of ferving God as he would in the prefent state, he must, at least, enjoy the pleasure of grieving

ing over, and lamenting his guilty imperfections. If he cannot get free from fin, his old enemy, he will, at leaft, take a kind of pleafing revenge upon it, by hating and refifting it, and lothing it and himfelf, upon the account of it. In fhort, the remains of fin, all things confidered, and taking one time with another, afford him more uneafinefs, perplexity and forrow, than all other things in the world. O! if he were but delivered from this body of death he would be happy, however opprefled with other burdens; but while this lies upon him, all the world cannot render him eafy and happy.

From the whole, you fee that reformation is an effential ingredient of true repentance; and in vain do you pretend that you repent of fin, if you ftill indulge yourfelves in it. You may try to excufe yourfelves from the frailty of your nature, the imperfection of the prefent ftate, or the ftrength of temptation; but in fpite of all your excufes, this is an eternal truth, that, unlefs your repentance reforms you, and turns you from the outward practice or fecret indulgence of those fins you are forry for, it is not repentance unto life.

V. and laftly. Evangelical repentance implies a believing application to God for pardon only through. Jefus Chrift.

Evangelical repentance does not confift in defpairing agonies and hopelefs horrors of confcience, but is attended with an humble hope of forgivenefs and acceptance; and this hope is founded entirely upon the merits of Jefus, and not of our repentance and reformation.\*

How opposite to this is the prevailing spirit of the world! If they repent, it is to make amends for their fins, and procure the divine favour by their repentance: and thus, even their repentance becomes a fnare to them, and one caufe of their deftruction. In this fense, a bold faying of one of the Fathers may be true :

Vol. III.

F

\* See the foregoing Sermon.

" That

" That more fouls are deftroyed by their repentance than by their fin;" that is, fin is evidently evil, and they are in no danger of trufting in it to recommend them to God. But even their fuperficial, fervile repentance has the appearance of goodnefs, and therefore they make a righteoufnefs of it; and upon this quickfand they build their hopes, until they fink into remedilefs ruin.

Thus I have endeavoured to open to you the great gofpel-duty of repentance, as diffinguifhed from all counterfeits and delufive appearances. I hope you have all underftood me; for I have laboured to make myfelf underftood, and fpoke as plainly as I could. If you have experienced fuch a generous, evangelical repentance as has been defcribed, you may venture your fouls upon it, that it is repentance unto life; but if you are ftrangers to it, I may leave it to yourfelves to determine, whether you can be faved in your prefent condition.

I have only two or three remarks more to make for the farther illustration of this fubject. The first is, that all the principles of degenerate nature can never produce this generous and thorough repentance, but that it is the peculiar work of the Holy Spirit. Selflove, and the other low and flavifh principles of nature, may produce a fervile, mercenary repentance, proceeding from the fears of punifhment; but only the love of God, and the noble principles of the new nature, can bring you to a kindly, ingenuous repentance, from noble motives; and it is the Holy Spirit alone that can shed abroad the love of God in your hearts, and implant these generous principles of the new nature.-The fecond remark is, that this generous, fupernatural repentance, is not the first repentance of an awakened finner. No; he is first alarmed with terror and dreadful apprehenfions of punishment; and all the fprings of nature are put in motion before thefe nobler principles are infused, and he is brought to a genuine, evangelical repentance .- Therefore, thirdly, The

## of true Repentance.

#### Serm. 44.

The only way to attain to this fupernatural repentance is, to ufe all proper means to excite the fprings of natural repentance, particularly, to reflect upon your fins, upon their number and aggravation, and your dreadful danger. While you are deflitute of the love of God, let felf-love excite you to be forry for your fins. While you cannot fee the intrinfic evil of fin as againft God, fee at leaft the infupportable mifery it is like to bring upon you. If you have not fuch generous fouls as to mourn over fin as againft a fin-forgiving God, at leaft mourn over it as againft a fin-punifhing God. And while the principles of nature are thus exerted, who knows but God may work in you diviner principles, and give you repentance unto life ! My fubject is now ripe for an application ; and this

My fubject is now ripe for an application ; and this fhall be nothing elfe but a fhort illustration of the other parts of my text.

Let me then, in the first place, publish the royal edict of the King of Heaven in this affembly : God command-eth all men to repent ; he commands you in various ways; commands you with the motions of his Spirit. ftriving with you, and by the voice of your own con-fciences, which is the voice of God! commands you by his providence, which tends to lead you to repentance, and especially by his gospel, which he has fent to you for this end. He now commands you by my mouth; for while I fpeak what his word authorifes, it does not lofe its efficacy, nor ceafe to be his word by paffing through my lips. Remember, he commands you, he lays his authority upon you, to repent. You are not left to your difcretion in the cafe. Dare you reject the known, express command of the divine Majefty ? Should a voice now break from the excellent glory, directed to each of you by name, faying, Repent ! repent ! would it not ftartle you ? would it not fhock you, to fet yourfelves in opposition to fo express and immediate a command of the God that made you ? Well, his command to you in the gofpel is as real, as authoritative and binding, as an immediate voice from heaven.

heaven. And dare you difobey it ? Dare you go home this day with this additional guilt upon you, of difobeying a known command of the fupreme Lord of. heaven and earth ? Dare you provoke him to jealoufy ? Are you ftronger than he ? Can you harden yourfelves againft him, and yet profper ? I again proclaim it aloud in your hearing, The King of kings, my Mafter, has iffued out his royal mandate, requiring you, by thefe prefents, to repent, upon pain of everlafting damnation. This day it is proclaimed in your ears, therefore, this day repent. If you refufe to repent, let this conviction follow you home, and perpetually haunt you, that you have this day, when you were met together under pretence of worfhipping God, knowingly difobeyed the great gofpel-command. And to the great God you muft anfwer for your difobedience. In the next place, my text tells you, he commands all men to repent : all men, of all ranks and characters.

In the next place, my text tells you, he commands all men to repent : all men, of all ranks and characters. This command, therefore, is binding upon you all. The great God cries to you all, *Repent* ! Repent, young and old, rich and poor, white and black, free and bond :—Repent, ye young finners, now, while your hearts are foft and tender, and your paffions eafily moved, and you are not hardened by a long courfe of habitual finning :—Repent, ye grey-headed veteran finners, now at laft repent, when the load of fins, heaped up for fo many years, lies fo heavy upon you, and you are walking every moment on the flippery brink of eternity :—Repent, ye rich men ; ye are not above this command :—Repent, ye poor ; ye are not beneath it :—Repent, ye poor flaves ; your colour, or low ftate in life, cannot free you from this command :— Repent, ye mafters, for your fins againft your Mafter, who is in heaven. In fhort, God commandeth all men, kings and fubjects, the higheft and the loweft, and all the intermediate ranks, to repent. To render the call ftill more pointed and univerfal,

To render the call ftill more pointed and univerfal, it is added, *He commandeth all men, every where, to repent.* Every where, in city and country; in palaces and

### Serm. 44.

of true Repentance.

and cottages; in Europe, Afia, Africa and America, wherever the trumpet of the gofpel founds the alarm to repent; in Virginia, in this very fpot, where we now ftand. Here the command of God finds you out, and calls you to repent. Repentance is not a local duty, but it extends as far as human nature, as far as the utmost boundaries of this guilty world. Wherever there are finners under a difpensation of grace, there this command reaches. It reaches to the bufy merchant in his ftore, to the laborious planter in the field, and to the tradefinan in his fhop; to the failor toffing on the waves, and to the inhabitant of folid ground; to the man of learning in his fludy, and to the illite-rate peafant; to the judge upon the bench, as well as to the criminal in the dungeon; to the man of fobriety, to the unthinking rake, and to the brutish debauchee; to the minifter in the pulpit, and to the people in their pews; to the diffenter in the meeting-houfe, and to the conformift in church; to hufbands and wives; to parents and children; to mafters and fervants; to all the fons of men, whatever they are, wherever they dwell, whatever they are doing ; to all thefe the command reaches. And do you not find yourfelves included in it ? If you are men, if you dwell any where upon this guilty globe, you are included; for let me tell you once more, God commandeth all men, every where, to repent.

Nor are you allowed to delay your compliance. Repentance is your prefent duty: For now he commandeth all men, every where, to repent: Now, when the times of ignorance are over, and the gofpel fheds heavenly day among you: Now, when he will no longer wink, or connive at your impenitence, but takes frict notice of it with juft indignation: Now, while the day of grace lafts, and there is place left for repentance: Now, before you are hardened through the deceitfulnefs of fin, and while his fpirit is ftriving with you: Now, while his judgments are in the earth, and your country is furrounded with the terrors of war: Now, The Nature and Neceffity, &c. Serm. 44.

Now, while he is publishing his command to a guilty country to repent, by the horrid found of trumpets and cannon : \* Now, while you have time, which may be taken from you the next year, the next week, or perhaps, the very next moment : Now, while you enjoy health of body, and the exercise of your reason ; and your attention is not tied down to pain and agony: Now, and not to-morrow; not upon a fick bed; not in a dying hour : Now is the time, in which God commands you to repent : he does not allow you one hour's delay; and what right have you to allow it to yourfelves? Therefore, now, this moment, let us all repent; all, without exception. Why fhould there not be one affembly of true penitents upon our guilty globe? And, O! why thould it not be this? Why fhould not repentance be as univerfal as fin? And, fince we are all finners, O! why fhould we not all be humble penitents? Repent you muft, either in time or eternity, upon earth, or in hell. You cannot pofibly avoid it. The queftion is not, Shall I repent? for that is beyond a doubt. But the queftion is, " Shall I repent now, when it may reform and fave me? or shall I put it off to the eternal world, when my repentance will be my punifhment, and can anfwer no end but to torment me?" And is this a hard queftion! Does not common fense determine it in favour of the prefent time? Therefore, let the duty be as extensively obferved as it is commanded : Let all men every where repent. Bleffed God! pour out upon us a fpirit of grace and fupplication, that there may be a great mourning among us, that each of us may mourn apart, and our wives apart ; that we may mourn, as one that mourneth for an only fon ; and be in bitternefs, as one that is in bitterness for a first born. Zech. xii. 10. Grant this, for Jesus's fake! Amen.

#### SERMON

\* This Sermon is dated New-Kent, May 22, 1757.

38

# SERMON XLV.

THE TENDER ANXIETIES OF MINISTERS FOR THEIR. PEOPLE.

GALAT. iv. 19, 20. My little children, of whom I travail in birth again, until Chrift be formed in you, I defire to be prefent with you now, and to change my voice; for I ftand in doubt of you.

for that lover God and the second sec fpirit that loves God and mankind, than to be fully fatisfied of the real goodness and happiness of his fellow-creatures; and nothing is more painful than an anxious jealoufy and fear in a matter he has fo much at heart. Some profess themselves very easy in this refpect, and they glory in this eafinefs as a high pitch of charity and benevolence. They hope well of allexcept, perhaps, their perfonal enemies, who, for that very reafon, must be very worthlefs and execrable creatures. Though fcripture and reafon do jointly declare, that men of bad lives, who habitually indulge themfelves in fin, and neglect the known duties of religion and morality, are no objects of rational charity at all, but must be judged destitute of true piety by all that would judge according to evidence; " yet, God forbid, fay they, that they fhould judge any man. They are not of a cenforious spirit, but generous and benevolent in their hopes of all." They can venture to hope that the tree is good, even when the fruit is corrupt; that is, that a good man may lead a bad life. But this temper ought not to be honoured with the noble name of Charity. Let it be called ignorance, groß ignorance of the nature of true religion; or infidelity

## The tender Anxieties of

delity and avowed difbelief of what the fcripture determines concerning the character of a good man; or let it be called indifferency, an indifferency whether men be now good or bad, and whether they fhall be happy or miferable hereafter. Where there is no love or affectionate concern, there will be no uneafy jealoufy. Or let it be called a mere artifice for felf-defence. Men are often cautious of condemning others, not from benevolence to them, but out of mercy to themfelves, not being willing to involve themfelves in the fame condemnation; fince they are confcious they are as bad as others, they muft be fparing to others, in order to fpare themfelves. Thefe are the true names of what paffes current under the name of Charity in the world.

St. Paul, whofe heart was capable of the kindeft fentiments to mankind, could not enjoy the pleafure of this promifcuous charity. He could not thus conclude well of all, not even of all under the chriftian name; not of all whom he once hoped were his fpiritual children; no, not of all the members of the once flourifhing churches of Galatia, where he met with fo friendly a reception, and had fo much promifing appearance of fuccefs. *I ftand in doubt of you*, fays he.

The ftate and character of these churches, we may partly learn from this epistle. A confiderable number of Galatians had been converted from heathenism to christianity by St. Paul's ministry; and in the transports of their first zeal they made a very promising appearance: hence he puts them in mind that they had begun in the fpirit (ch. iii. 3.) that when they first ftarted in the christian race, they had run well (ch. v. 7.) that they had fuffered many things in the cause of the gospel; (ch. iii. 4.) and as to their affection to him, it was very extraordinary. *Te received me*, fays he, *as an angel of God, even as Jejus Christ.*—I bear you record, that if it had been possible, you would have plucked out your own eyes, and have given them to me. (ch. iv. 14, 15.) But alas! how naturally do the most flourishing churches churches tend to decay! How frail and fickle is man! How inconftant popular applause! These promising churches of Galatia soon began to decline; and their favourite, St. Paul, their apostle and spiritual father, appeared in quite another light, appeared as their enemy, becaufe he told them the truth. There was a fpurious fet of preachers in that age, who corrupted the pure gospel of Christ with Jewish mixtures. The ceremonies of the law of Mofes, and the traditions of their elders, they held as of perpetual and univerfal obligation; and as fuch they imposed them even upon the christian converts from among the Gentiles, who never had any thing to do with them. Had they been recommended to their obfervance as indifferences or prudentials, it would not have had fuch bad influence upon christianity. But they continued to impofe them as abfolutely neceffary to falvation, and re-prefented the rightcoufnefs revealed in the gofpel as infufficient without thefe additions. Thus they laboured to corrupt the great doctrine of a finner's juftification by faith alone, through the righteoufnefs of Jefus Chrift, that grand article upon which the church flands or falls, according to an old obfervation of Luther. These judaizing teachers had artfully infinuated themfelves into the Galatian churches, and fpread the poifon of their legal doctrines. This funk St. Paul in the effect of his converts, and they exchanged his pure gofpel for another, more adapted to their tafte. In confequence of this, religion was declining fast among them; and St. Paul is alarmed left he flould have beftowed labour in vain upon them.

This epiftle is an affectionate attempt to recover them. It is for the most part argumentative; for its author was not fond of moving their passions without enlightening their understandings. But fometimes he melts into the most pathetic strains, and gives the most affecting touches to the heart. Such a tender, passionate address is this in my text. My little children, of whom I travail in birth again, till Christ be formed in you, I de-Vol. III. fire to be prefent with you now, and to change my voice; for I stand in doubt of you. What a tender, moving, paternal address is this !

My little children-This is a fond affectionate appellation; the language of a tender father. It ftrongly expresses his paternal love and folicitude for the Galatians. The fame ftyle he uses to the Thesalonians-You know, how we exhorted and comforted, and charged every one of you, as a father doth his children, 1 Theff. ii. 11. He may also call them his children, to imitate that he had begotten them by the gofpel as fpiritual children to God: or rather, as the following words fuggeft, he alludes to the ficknefs and anxiety of a mother in conception, and the pangs and agonies of child-bearing; and by thefe he illustrates the pangs and agonies of zeal, and the affectionate folicitude he had felt for them while Chrift was forming in them under his ministry, and they were in the critical hour of the new-birth. He might well call them his children, becaufe he had fuffered all the pains of a mother for them. He adds the epithet little, my little children, because the fond language of a parent affects such di-minutives, or perhaps to intimate their small progress in christianity. They were but little children in grace ftill.

My little children, of whom I travail in birth again-I have just observed, this is an allusion to the painful diforders and pangs of conception and birth; \* by which the apolle ftrongly reprefents the agonies of affectionate zeal, and tender anxieties he felt for the Galatians. But what rendered them doubly painful to him, was, that he was obliged to feel them more than once-Itravail of you in birth again. He had cheerful hopes that Chrift was indeed formed in them, and that they were born from above, and confequently that he fhould have no more occasion to feel those agonies and throes he had fuffered for them. But alas! he had

· Critics observe, that the word adire is expressive of the sickness of conception, as well as the pangs of birth.

had now reafon to fear the contrary, and, therefore, he must again feel the fame pangs and agonies: he must *travail in birth again*,

Until Chrift be formed in you;—that is, until they are made new creatures after the image of Chrift; until the facred foctus be formed in their hearts; until the heavenly embryo grow and ripen for birth, or until they be conformed to Jefus Chrift in heart and practice; till then he can never be eafy. Though they fhould retain the chriftian name, though they fhould make great proficiency in other attainments, though they fhould become as much attached to him as ever, yet he must ftill feel the pangs of birth for them, till Chrift be really formed in them.

I defire to be prefent with you now—In his abfence they had been corrupted by the judaizing teachers; and he hoped his prefence might have fome happy influence to recover them. He was impatient of the reftraints of a literary correspondence, and longed to pour out all his heart to them in a free address.

I defire to be prefent with you now, and to change my voice-When he left them, they were in a flourishing ftate, and therefore he took his leave of them in the warmest language of affection, approbation and confidence. But now, fays he, I will to be prefent with you, that I may alter my addrefs; that I may change my voice into more fevere and alarming ftrains; and inftead of congratulating you upon your happy ftate, warn you of your danger." Or his meaning may be, " I find myfelf obliged to use fevere language with you in this epiftle, which is by no means agreeable to me. I therefore defire to be prefent with you, that I may in perfon ufe means for your recovery, that thereupon I may change my voice, and fpeak to you in a foft, approving ftrain, which is always most pleasing to me, as it would be to you. It is quite contrary to my inclination to use such chiding language to my dear little children." Or perhaps he may mean, " I defire to be prefent with you, that I may know the different characters

characters of your members, and that I may be able to change my voice, and addrefs them accordingly; that I may warn, admonifh, exhort, or comfort you, as your refpective cafes may require. I would willingly fpeak comfortably to you all promifcuoufly, but this I cannot now do."

For I fland in doubt of you—When I parted with you laft I had great confidence in you, and hoped that you would perfevere; but now I fland in doubt of you, and therefore muft alter my voice to you if I were prefent with you. While I am thus doubtful of you, I cannot fpeak comfortably to you all promifcuoufly; but I muft honeftly tell you my fufpicions of you, and, until there appear a change in you, I cannot change my voice into more pleafing ftrains.

My dear hearers, the charge is intrufted to me by the great Shepherd, for which I must give an account: you and I are too nearly concerned in this text to confider it merely as a piece of hiftory, referring only to St. Paul and the Galatians 1700 years ago: I must bring it nearer home in a particular application. God forbid fo vain and proud a thought fhould ever find place in my heart, as to fet myfelf upon the footing of equality with St. Paul, the chief of the apoftles. I will not tell you how much and how often I have been mortified, especially of late, at the thoughts of my vast inferiority, not only to him, but to the ordinary ministers of Chrift of a lower class. You feldom hear a fermon from me but what fills me with fhame and confusion in the review; and I almost cease to wonder that the gofpel has fo little fuccefs among you, while managed by fo unskilful a hand. Yet I hope I may truly profess fo much fincere affection and concern for you, as to warrant me to borrow the words of the apoftle, though in a much lower fenfe: My little children, of whom I travail in birth, till Christ be formed in you, I defire to be present with you, and to change my voice, according to the variety of your cafes; for I am in doubt of fome of you. And I hope you are disposed to give me a ferious

## Serm. 45. Ministers for their People.

ferious hearing, and a ferious hearing is juftly expected from you; for, remember, the day of death and the day of judgment will come, and that you must die, you must be judged, you must be doomed to your everlasting state.

I ftand in doubt of fome of you. I am jealous over you with a godly jealoufy. And if there be no ground for it, you will forgive me; for if it be an error, it is the error of love. Though I was an entire ftranger to you all I might juftly harbour this jealoufy of fome of you, upon this general principle, that there never yet was fo pure a church met in one place, as not to have one infincere, hopocritical professor in it. Even the apoftles, the most felect fociety that ever was formed, had a Judas among them. And can we expect more than apostolic purity in fuch a large promifcuous crowd as generally frequents this houfe? In every church there are, alas! fome fufpicious characters; and my prefent defign is to defcribe fuch characters, and then leave it to yourfelves to judge whether there be not fuch among you.

Forgive me, if I fuppose fome of you live in the greateft neglect of family-religion. You lie down and rife up, perhaps, for weeks, months and years, and yet never call your families together morning and evening to worfhip the great God who has placed you in families. If this be the character of any of you, then I must plainly tell you, I stand in doubt of you. I really doubt you have no relifh for the worfhip of God; for if you had, how could you, as it were, excommunicate yourfelves from the precious privilege of drawing near to God with your dear families, and devoting yourfelves and them to him? I really doubt you have no deep affecting concern for the falvation of your domeftics, nor confequently for your own, otherwife how could you neglect a duty that has fo direct, a natural tendency to make religious impressions upon their minds? Can any thing more naturally tend to make them fenfible of their obligations, their fins, their wants and mercies, than to hear you folemnly mention

mention these things every day, in the presence of the great God ? Your character in this is opposite to that of good men in all ages. You will find in the history of the patriarchs, particularly of Abraham, Ifaac and Jacob, That wherever they had a dwelling for themfelves, they had an altar for God. You find David returning from the folemnities of public worthip-to blefs his houfe, 2 Sam. vi. 20. and faying, Evening, morning, and at noon, will I pray. Pfalm Iv. 17. You find Daniel praying, as he was wont, three times a day, even when the penalty was not only the lofs of his place at court, but his being thrown as a prey to hungry lions. You find St. Paul faluting fome of the primitive christians, with the church that was in their boufc. Rom. xvi. 5. 1 Cor. xvi. 19. Coloff. iv. 15. Philemon 2. which is a strong intimation that they made their families little churches by celebrating the worship of God in them; for a church, without the worfhip of God, would be an abfurd fociety indeed. I had almost forgotten the example of Joshua, who bravely refolved, That whatever others should do, he and his house would ferve the Lord. Joshua xxiv. 15. You fee then, your character in this important inftance is opposite to that of the faints in all ages. And have I not reafon to ftand in doubt of you, especially as you cannot now plead ignorance; fince you have been so often inftructed in your duty on this head? You may plead your incapacity or hurry of bufinefs, or that your neighbours would point at you as oftentatious Pharifees. But this is fo far from clearing you, that it renders you still more sufpicious. If these be the reasons of your neglect, I greatly doubt you love your reputation and the world more than the honour of God, more than his fervice, and more than the immortal interest of your children and fervants. How would it flock you if God flould authoritatively lay that restraint upon you which you voluntarily put upon yourfelves? Suppose he should fay, " I will allow all the families around you to worfhip me every day, but

I lay your family under an interdict; from them I will receive no worfhip:" how would this flock you? And will you of your own accord take this curfe upon yourfelves? O! think of it, and this very evening confectate your houfes to God.

Again, I will fuppofe fome of you generally obferve the outward duties of religion : you pray in fecret and in your families; you attend upon public worfhip; you receive the facraments, and you fometimes fait : but generally this is but a dull round of lifeless formalities. Even a judicious christian may fuspect that your whole hearts are not engaged, that the vigour of your fpirits is not exerted, and that there is no fpiritual life in your devotions. This man may fuspect ; and He who fearches the heart may fee it is fo in fact. Now if this be your character, I must tell you, I stand in doubt of you. If you are really luke-warm Laodice-ans, the cafe is quite plain : it is not a matter of doubt but of fure belief, that you are the most odious creatures upon earth to Jefus Chrift. He could wifh you were cold or hot, or any thing rather than what you are. And where the appearances of fuch formality are found, where there is a dull uniformity in all your devotions, without any figns of those divine changes which the gracious presence of God produces, your case looks very suspicious, even to men. I really stand in doubt of you; and you have great need to look to yourfelves, left the fufpicion should be well grounded.

Some of you perhaps think you can eafily clear yourfelves from the fufpicion of formality, for you have often had your hearts melted, your paffions raifed, and you find a great change in your difpolitions in devotion: fometimes you are cold and dull, and at other times all zeal and ecftafy: but notwithftanding this, there may be great reafon to doubt concerning fome of you. I doubt these are only warm flights of the paffions, under the influence of a heated imagination, and not fuch rational emotions of the heart as proceed from a well-enlightened mind, that fees the nature, importance,

### The tender Anxietics of

Serm. 45.

portance, and excellency of divine things. I fear thefe warm paffions have no effectual tendency to make you better; that is, to fubdue your favourite fins in heart and life, to make you more watchful against them, and to long and labour after univerfal holinefs. I am afraid they have no tendency to humble you, to degrade you in your own cyes, and make you appear mean and vile to yourfelves, but on the other hand, that they tend to fet you off to advantage in your own view, and to make you think highly of yourfelves. I am afraid they are fhallow and fuperficial, and never reach deep enough to transform the fettled temper of the whole foul, and give it a prevailing, habitual bent towards God. I am afraid, among your various exercifes of heart, you have none of those humbling heart-breaking sensations which a poor believer often feels, when lying helplefs before God, and cafting his guilty foul upon Jefus Chrift. I am afraid your exercifes are of a more felfifh, haughty and prefumptuous kind. I am afraid of fome of you, my dear people, in this refpect, becaufe this has been, in fact, the cafe of multitudes, and therefore it may be yours.

I also ftand in doubt of fome of you, that you have worn off your religious impressions before they ripened to a right iffue. This is a very common cafe in the world, and therefore it may be yours. I am afraid fome of you are farther from the kingdom of God today, than you were fome months or years ago. Formerly you were ferious and thoughtful, but now you are light and vain; formerly you had fome clear, affecting convictions of your fin and danger, which made you penfive and uneafy, fet you upon the ufe of the means of grace with unufual earneftnefs and diligence, and made you more watchful against fin and temptation. Had you but perfevered in this courfe, your cafe would have been very hopeful; nay, you might ere now have been fincere christians, happy in the favour of God, and the joyful expectation of a bleffed immortality. But, alas! now you are become more

Serm. 45. Ministers for their People.

more thoughtlefs and fecure, more negligent and carelefs, more worldly-minded, more bold and venturous as to temptation, and particularly enfnaring company; lefs fenfible of your fin and danger, lefs afraid of the divine difpleafure, lefs folicitous for a Saviour, and lefs affected with eternal things. I fland in doubt of you that this is 'the cafe of fome of you ; and if it be, it is very difinal : the last state of that man is worse than the first. Perhaps your religious impressions went fo far, that yourfelves and others too began to number you in the lift of fincere converts. But, alas ! you have relapfed, and now your cafe is difinally dark; it is very doubtful whether ever you had one fpark of true piety. Like the Galatians, you did once run well; but the corruptions of your own hearts, the cares of the world, the influence of bad company, and the temptations of the devil have hindered you, and made you turn back, and now you are got into the eafy, flippery, defcending road of apoftacy; from whence, as from a precipice, your feet will, ere long, flide, and let you fall into the fiery gulph below. You are every day running farther and farther from God and heaven, and fo much nearer to the chambers of eternal death. Your confciences, by repeated violences, will be ftunned into infenfibility, your hearts will harden more and more, like moiftened clay in the fun. Your corruptions are gaining the victory in repeated con-flicts, will grow more flrong and infolent, like veteran troops inured to war and conqueft. In fhort, your cafe grows every day more and more difcouraging; and I ftand in doubt of you, left you fhould never recover your religious impressions, nor enter into the kingdom of God.

I am alfo in doubt of fome of you, that the world has your hearts : your thoughts feem to be engroffed by it, and your affections fixed upon it as your fupreme good, and hence your mouth is full of it; for out of the abundance of the heart the mouth fpeaketh. Now if any man love the world, the love of the Father is not in Vol. III. H *him.* Covetoufnefs is idolatry; and you know that no idolater has eternal life. I fear this is the character of fome of you.

Is there not alfo reafon to doubt of fome of you, from the difcoveries you give of an unchriftian fpirit towards mankind? You may perhaps make a fpecious profeffion of religion, and punctually attend upon divine ordinances; but do you not difcover infufferable pride, and unchriftian refentment, and an unforgiving fpirit under injuries, a difposition to over-reach and take the advantage in your dealings? Such a temper, when predominant, is utterly inconfistent with the fpirit of chriftianity, and proves you entirely deftitute of it; and the appearances of the prevalence of fuch a temper render your cafe very fufpicious.

Let me add farther, \* Suppose that in this day of blood and flaughter, when the Lord of Hosts calls you to weeping, and mourning, and girding with fackcloth; when the wounds of your bleeding country, and the ftreams of blood that are running by fea and land, call for your forrowful fympathy; when your everlafting ftate ftands in a dreadful fufpenfe, and you know not whether heaven or hell will be your refidence, if you fhould die this night; or, when the evidence lies a-gainft you, and you have good proof, that you are utterly unprepared for eternity in your prefent conditi-on, when the fpirit of God feems withdrawn from us; and confequently but few are prefling into the king-dom of God, and general languor and inefficacy run through the ministrations of the gospel; when your conduct may encourage others to run into extravagancies, and forget God and their fouls, as well as throw yourfelves caufelefsly into the way of temptation, and cherifh that levity of mind which directly tends to wear off your religious imprefilons; when at a time in which you pretend to commemorate the birth of the holy Jefus, who came to deftroy the works of the devil and the flefh, and particularly revellings, and to make

\* This Sermon is dated Hanover, January 8, 1758.

Serm. 45. Ministers for their People.

make you fober and watchful to prayer, and to fhun all appearances of evil; when in your transition from the old year to the new, in which you may dic, and never fee the clofe of it; and when one would think it would better become you folemnly to recollect how you have fpent the year past, and devote yourfelves to God for the future with new vows and refolutions ;-Suppofe, I fay, that at fuch a time, and in fuch circumftances, you indulge you felves in feafting and caroufing, that perhaps you profecute and chace the diver-fion from house to house, in order to prolong it, and guardagainft the returns of ferious, retired and thoughtful hours; as if laughing, dancing and frolic, were proper expressions of gratitude for the birth of a Saviour, and as if there was nothing in time or eternity of fufficient moment to make you ferious, and check your growing levity-What shall I fay of fuch a practice ? The mildeft thing I can fay is, that I ftand in doubt of you, who promote or willingly tolerate, or join in fuch entertainments. I have no bufinefs at prefent to determine, whether mufic, dancing and feafting be lawful in themfelves. Granting them to be as lawful as you could wifh, I am fure that, at fuch a time and in the circumftances that generally attend them, they are utterly unlawful to every chriftian, and have a natural tendency to banifh all ferious religion from among us. You are but little acquainted with me if you think I fay this as a four afcetic, or an enemy to the lawful pleafures of mankind, or that I place religion in morofe, mopifh, melancholy aufterities. Such of you as are acquainted with me must know the contrary. But after all I must declare, I shall have very little hopes of the fuccefs of the gofpel among you, if once I fhould have a congregation of dancing, frolicking christians. Alas! they are not like to dance and frolic themfelves into heaven .- It is with great reluctance I touch upon fuch a fubject, though with a gentle hand ; but duty commands, and I must obey : and I wish the admo-nition may be fo effectual, as to prevent all occasion to repeat it in time to come. Thus

Thus I have delineated fundry dubious characters, and now I leave you to judge whether there be not many fuch among you. Examine yourfelves thoroughly, that you may have the judgment of God in your favour; for by that you must ftand or fall. Some of you, perhaps, may think it strange I have

omitted fo many characters that are frequent among us. I have faid nothing of the profane finner, the drunkard, the fwearer, the whoremonger, the thief, the knave confeffed: I have faid nothing of the infidel and fcoffer, who affect to difbelieve the religion of Jefus, and relapfe into heathenifm; and who openly make a mock of things facred : I have faid nothing of the carelefs creature, who lives in the general neglect of even the forms of religion : I have faid nothing of the flupid, thoughtlefs creature, who never troubles his head, as he may affect to fpeak, about religion; and whole heart has hardly ever received any impreffions from it; but who lives like a brute, merely for the purposes of the present life : I have faid nothing of fuch as thefe, becaufe they do not come under the clafs of doubtful characters : I have no doubt at all about fuch; I am fure they are utterly deftitute of all true religion, and must perish for ever, if they continue in their prefent condition. If you would know how I come to be fure as to them, I answer, Because I believe my reafon and my Bible; for both put the character and the doom of fuch beyond all doubt. Common fense is fufficient to convince me, that fuch are unholy impenitent finners; and I am fure, both from reafon and revelation, that an unholy impenitent finner, while fuch, can never enter into the kingdom of heaven. Let fuch as harbour a wider charity for them, point out the grounds of it. Indeed there is one thing la-mentably doubtful as to fuch; it is very doubtful whether ever their prefent condition will be changed for The most promising period of life is over the better. with them; and even in that period they continued impenitent under all the means of grace they enjoyed;

cd; and is it not more likely that they will continue fo in time to come? O! that they would take the alarm, and lay their danger to heart in time, that they may use proper means for their deliverance !

Nothing can turn the full evidence against them in their favour, and nothing can render the doubtful cafe, of the former class clear and fatisfactory, but the formation of Christ within them. This alone can put it beyond all doubt that they are christians indeed, and prove their fure title to everlashing happines. This shall be the fubject of the remainder of this difcourse.

Here you would afk me, I fuppofe, what it is to have -Chrift formed within us?

I have already told you briefly, that it fignifies our being made conformable to him in heart and life, or having his holy image ftamped upon our hearts. I his is essential to the character of every true christian. Christ dwells in the heart of fuch by fuith, Eph. iii. 17. and if any man have not the fpirit of Ubrift, he is none of his. Rom. viii. 9. He that faith he abideth in him, ought himself also so to walk even as he walked, faith St. John, 1 John, ii. 6. Let the fame mind be in you, faithr St. Paul, which was alfo in Christ Jefus. Phil. ii. 5. Whom he foreknew, he alfo did predeftinate to be conformed to the image of his Son. Rom. viii. 29. The temper of a chriftian has fuch a refemblance to Chrift's, that it may be called Chrift in embryo, fpiritually formed within us. It is indeed infinitely fort of the all-perfect Original, but yet it is a prevailing temper, and habitually the governing principle of the foul. That filial temper towards God, that humble veneration and fubmission, that ardent devotion, that ftrict regard to all the duties of religion, that felf-denial, humility, meeknefs and patience, that heavenly-mindednefs and noble fuperiority to the world, that generous charity, benevolence and mercy to mankind, that ardent zeal and diligence to do good, that temperance and fobriety which fhone in the bleffed Jefus with a divine incomparable fplendor ; thefe and the like graces and virtucs

#### The tender Anxieties of

Serm. 45.

tues fhine, though with feebler rays, in all his followers. They have their infirmities indeed, many and great infirmities; but not fuch as are inconfiftent with the habitual prevalency of this Christ-like disposition. You may make what excuses you please, but this is an eternal truth, that unless you have a real refemblance to the holy Jefus, you are not his genuine difciples. Pray examine critically into this point. Have you a right to take your name Christian from Christ, by reason of your conformity to him?

Again, if Chrift be formed in your hearts, he lives there. The heavenly embryo is not yet complete, not yet ripe for birth into the heavenly world, but it is quickened. I mean, those virtues and graces above mentioned are not dead, inactive principles within you, but they operate, they flew themfelves alive by action, they are the governing principles of your practice. You are not like him in heart, unlefs you are like him in life too; and if your life be conformed to his, it will plainly diftinguish you from the world, while it continues fo wicked. If you are like to him, you will certainly be very unlike to the generality of mankind; and they will acknowledge the difference, and point you out, and hate you, as not belonging to them. 'They will flare at you as an odd unfafhionable ftranger, and wonder you do not copy their example.

er, and wonder you do not copy their example. If we were of the world, fays Chrift, the world would love its own: but becaufe ye are not of the world, but I have chosen you out of the world, therefore the world hateth you. John xv. 19.

I hope you now know what it is to have Chrift formed within you. And in what heart among you is this holy thing conceived and growing? Where are the followers of Jefus? Surely they are not fo like the men of the world, the followers of fin and Satan, as to be undiftinguifhable. O! how many impoftors does this inquiry difcover, falfe pretenders to chriftianity, who are the very reverfe of its great Founder! And as many of you as continue unlike to Him now in holinefs, linefs, must continue unlike to him for ever in happinefs. All Christ's heavenly companions are Christ-like; they bear his image and superscription.

Before I difmits this head I muft obferve, that the production of this divine infant, if I may fo call it, in the heart, is entirely the work of the holy Spirit. It is not the growth of nature, but a creation by divine power. It is the hand of God that draws the lineaments of this image upon the heart, though he makes ufe of the gofpel and a variety of means as his pencil. But you would inquire farther, "In what manner

But you would inquire farther, "In what manner does this divine agent work; or how is Chrift formed in the hearts of his people?"

I anfwer, The heart of man has a quick fenfation. Nothing can be done there without its perceiving it, much lefs can Chrift be formed there, while it is wholly infenfible of the operation. There is indeed a great variety in the circumftances, but the fubftance of the work is the fame in all adults. Therefore, if ever you have been the fubjects of it, you have been fenfible of the following particulars.

1. You have been made deeply fenfible of your being intirely defitute of this divine image. Your hearts have appeared to you as a huge, fhapelefs mafs of corruption, without one ingredient of true goodnefs, amidft all the flattering appearances of it. In confidence of this difcovery your high conceit of yourfelves was mortified, your airs of pride and felf-confequence lowered, and you faw yourfelves utterly unfit for heaven, that region of purity, and ready to fall, as it were, by your own weight into hell; that fink of all the pollutions of the moral world. This is the firft ftep towards the formation of Chrift in the foul. And have you ever gone thus far? If not, you may be fure you have never gone farther.

2. You have hereupon fet yourfelves in earnest to the use of the means appointed for the renovation of your nature. Prayer, hearing the gospel, and other divine ordinances, were no more lifeles, customary formalities formalities to you; but you exerted all the vigour of your fouls in them. You alfo guarded against every thing that tended to cheriss your depraved disposition, and hinder the formation of Chriss within you. Then you durst not play with temptation, nor venture within its reach. This is the fecond step in the process. And have you ever gone thus far? If not, you have never gone farther; and if you have never gone farther, you can never reach the kingdom of God in your prefent condition.

2. You have been made fenfible of your own weaknefs, and the inefficacy of all the means you could ufe to produce the divine image upon your hearts; and that nothing but the divine hand could draw it there. When you first begun your endeavours you had high hopes you would do great things; but, after hard ftrivings and ftrugglings, after many prayers and tears, after much reading, hearing and meditation, you found no great effect followed; nay, the corruption of your heart appeared more and more, and hence you con-cluded you were growing worfe and worfe. Thus the bleffed Spirit convinced you of your own weaknefs, and the neceffity of his influence to work this divine change. He cleared away the rubbish of pride and felfrighteoufnefs from your hearts, in order to prepare them, as a clean canvafs, to receive the image of Chrift. And have you ever been thus humbled and mortified ? Have you ever been reduced into this medicinal felf-defpair? It is the humble heart alone that is fufceptive of the image of the meek and lowly Jefus. Pride can never receive its lineaments, nor can it be carved on an infenfible ftone.

4. Hereupon the Holy Spirit enlightened your minds to view the glory of God in the face of Jefus Chrift, and of the method of falvation revealed in the gofpel. The bright beams of the divine perfections fhining in that way of falvation, the attractive beauties of holinefs, and all the wonders of the gofpel, flruck your minds with delightful aftonifhment; and you viewed them

them in a light unknown before. Hereupon you were enabled to caft your guilty, corrupt, helplefs fouls upon Jefus Chrift, whom you faw to be a glorious, all-fufficient Saviour; and with all your hearts you embraced the way of falvation through his mediation. The view of his glory proved transformative : while you were contemplating the object, you received its likenefs; the rays of glory beaming upon you, as it were, rendered your hearts transparent, and the beauties of holinefs were ftamped upon them. Thus St. Paul reprefents the matter, We all with open face beholding, as in a glafs, the glory of the Lord in the gofpel, are trans-formed into the fame image from glory to glory by the Spirit of the Lord. 2 Cor. iii. 18. Thus your hearts retained the image of his glory, like the face of Mofes after he had been conversing with God in the Mount. You contracted the temper of Jefus Chrift, and imbibed his fpirit: he was formed in your hearts, and began to live and act there. The life you lived in the flesh, you lived by the faith of the Son of God. Now your minds took a new turn, and your life a new caft; and the difference began to appear even to the world. Not knowing the divine original, they knew not whofe image you bore. Therefore the world knoweth us not, faith St. John, becaufe it knew him not. I John iii. I. This, however, they knew, that you did not refemble them; therefore they looked upon you as odd fort of creatures, whofe tempers and manners were as different from theirs as if you were foreigners : you foon became as fpeckled birds among them, and they were weary of your fociety, and you of theirs. Brethren, have you ever been the fubjects of this divine operation? Has Chrift ever been thus formed in your hearts? I ftand in doubt of fome of you, though, bleffed be God! there are others who give good grounds for a charitable hope concerning them, by their apparent likenefs to Chrift.

5. If Chrift has ever been formed in you, it is your perfevering endeavour to improve and perfect this di-Vol. III. I vine

vine image. You long and labour to be fully conformed to him, and, as it were, to catch his air, his manner and fpirit, in every thought, in every word, and in every action. As far as you are unlike to him, fo far you appear deformed and loathfome to yourfelves. While you feel an unchriftian fpirit prevail within you, you feem as if you were possessed with the devil. And it is the labour of your life to fubdue fuch a fpirit, and to brighten and finish the features of the divine image within you, by repeated touches and retouches.

By this fhort view, my brethren, you may be affifted in determining whofe image you bear ; whether Christ's or Satan's, whether Christ's or the world's, whether Chrift's or your own. And let me tell you, if you cannot determine this, you know not but you may be in hell the next hour; for none fhall ever find admittance into heaven who are not formed after the image of Chrift. The glorious company upon Mount Sion are all followers of the Lamb : they are like him, for they fee him as he is. A foul unlike to him would be a monster there; a native of hell broke into heaven; a wolf among lambs; a devil among angels. And can you hope for admiffion there while you are unlike him? The two grand apartments of the eternal world are under two opposite heads; the holy Jefus prefides in the one-and the Prince of Devils, the prime offender and father of fin, in the other. Both apartments are thick fettled with colonies from our world; and the inhabitants of both are like their refpective heads. Therefore, if ye refemble the Prince of Heaven, with him you fhall dwell for ever ; but if you refemble the tyrant of hell, you must for ever be his miserable vallals. Therefore push home the inquiry, is Chrift formed in my heart, or is he not?

If he be, then rejoice in it, as a fure earnest of the heavenly inheritance. None ever went to hell that carried the image of Chrift upon their hearts; but the heavenly regions are peopled with fuch. His image is

is the grand paffport into that country, a paffport that was never difputed; and, if you bear it, the celestial gates will be flung wide open for your reception, and your human and angelic brethren, who have the fame looks, the fame manner, the fame fpirit, will all hail your arrival, and fhout your welcome; will own you as their kindred, from your visible refemblance to them; and you will immediately and naturally commence a familiarity with them, from the conformity of your difpolitions. The Father of all will also own the dear image of his Son, and the bleffed Jefus will acknowledge his own image, and confess the relation. Bleffed moment ! when wilt thou arrive, when all the followers of the Lamb shall appear upon Mount Sion, in his full likenefs, without fpot or wrinkle, or any fuch thing? When no ftranger of another countenance and another fpirit shall mingle among them, but all be caft in the fame mould, and all be clothed in uniform, with the beauties of holinefs, and the robes of falvation ! O! my brethren, must not your eager hearts fpring forward to meet that day !

But amid all the joy which that transporting profpect affords, it muft humble you to think, that though Chrift be really formed in your hearts, it is but very imperfectly, as an unfinished embryo. His image as yet is but very faint ; you ftill carry the traces of some infernal features about you. Let this confideration conftrain you to put yourfelves daily under the operation of the bleffed Spirit, till he finish the heavenly picture by repeated touches, and diligently attend upon all the means which he is pleafed to use as his pencil. Guard against every thing that may deform the divine draught, or delay its perfection. Go on in this way, and the glorious picture will daily catch more and more the likeness of the divine original, and foon come to complete perfection.

But I muft fpeak a concluding word to fuch of you in whom Chrift has never yet been formed. Pray turn your eyes upon yourfelves, and furvey your own deformity.

# The tender Anxieties, &c. Serm. 45.

formity. Do not you fee the image of the devil upon you? Have you not forgotten God, and refufed to love him, like a devil? Have you not loved and practifed fin like a devil? or have you not wallowed in fenfual pleafures, and confined all your concern to the prefent life, like a beaft, and thus made yourfelves the moft horrid monfters, half beaft, half devil? And can you love yourfelves while this is your character? Can you flatter yourfelves fuch can be admitted into heaven?

Since it is poffible your deformed fpirits may yet receive the image of Chrift, will you not use all poffible means for that purpose while there is hope? This day begin the attempt, resolve and labour to become new men in this new year.

But, alas ! exhortation is but feeble breath, that vanishes into air between my lips and your ears; fomething is wanting to give it force and efficacy. We have the gofpel, we have preaching, we have all the means of falvation; but fomething is wanting to give them life, to make them efficacious, and bear them home upon the hearts of finners with that almighty energy which they have fometimes had. Something, alas! is wanting for this purpofe : and what is it? It is Thou, Eternal Spirit! Thou, the Author of all good in the hearts of the children of men; thou, the only former of Chrift within; thou art abfent, and without thee neither he that planteth is any thing, nor he that watereth; they are all nothing together. Come, thou life of fouls ! thou fpirit of the gofpel ! thou quickener of ordinances! thou afliftant of poor ministers! thou opener of their hearers hearts! Come vifit this congregation. Come to-day : O ! come this moment ! and Chrift shall be formed in us, the hope and the earneft of glory !

SERMON

# SERMON XLVI.

THE WONDERFUL COMPASSIONS OF CHRIST TO THE GREATEST SINNERS.

MATT. XXIII. 37. O Jerufalem, Jerufalem! thou that killest the prophets, and stonest them that are fent unto thee, how often would I have gathered thy children together, even as a hen gathereth her chickens under her wings, and ye would not!

THERE is not, perhaps, a chapter in the whole Bible fo full of fuch repeated denunciations of the most tremendous woes as this. Certainly there is none like it, among all the difcourfes of Chrift, left upon record. Here the gentle Jefus, the inoffenfive Lamb of God, treats the unbelieving Scribes and Pharifees with the most pungent feverity. Woe, woe, woe, breaks from his lips like repeated claps of thunder. He exposes them with an afperity and indignation not ufual in his mild addreffes. He repeatedly calls them hypocrites, fools, and blind, blind guides, whited fepulchres, children of hell, ferpents, a generation of vipers, who could not efcape the damnation of hell. But in my text he melts into tendernefs, even in this vein of terror, and appears the fame compaffionate, gentle Saviour we are wont to find him. His most terrible denunciations were friendly warnings, calculated to reform, and not to deftroy. And while denouncing the most terrible woes against Jerufalem, in an abrupt flow of paffion, he breaks out into the moft moving lamentation over her; O Jerufalem, Jerufalem ! thou that killest the prophets, and stonest them that are fent unto thee, how often would I have gathered thy children children together, as a hen gathereth her chickens under her wings, and ye would not!

This is one of those tender cases which requires a familiar and moving, rather than a grand illustration; and that which Jefus has here chosen is one of the most tender, familiar and moving, that could be devifed. How often would I have gathered thee, O Jerufalem, as a hen gathereth her chickens under her wings .---As much as to fay, " As the parent-bird, when she fees fome bird of prey hovering over her helplefs young, gives them the fignal, which Nature teaches them to understand, and spreads her wings to protect them, refolved to become a prey herfelf rather than her tender brood ; or, as fhe fhelters them from the rain and cold, and cherifhes them under her friendly feathers, fo fays the compaffionate Redeemer; fo, O Jerufalem! I fee thy children, like heedlefs chickens, in the most imminent danger; I see the judgments of God hovering over them; I fee the Roman Eagle ready to feize them as its prey; I fee ftorms of vengeance ready to fall upon them; and how often have I invited them to fly to me for fhelter, and give them the fignal of their danger ! how often have I fpread the wings of my protection to cover them, and keep them warm and fafe as in my bofom! But, O! lamentable! O! aftonifhing! ye would not! I was willing, but ye would not! The filly chickens, taught by Nature, underftand the fignal of approaching danger, and immediately fly for shelter; but ye, more filly and prefumptuous, would not regard my warnings; would not believe your danger, nor fly to me for protection, though often, O how often, warned and invited !"

His compafion will appear the more furprifing, if we confider the object of it. " Jerufalem! Jerufalem! thou that killeft the prophets, and ftoneft them that are fent to thee, though upon the kind defign of reforming and faving thee, and who wilt, in a few days, crucify that Saviour who now laments thy doom, how

# Serm. 46. Christ to the greatest Sinners.

how often would he have gathered even thy ungrateful children and received them under his protection, with an affection and tendernefs, like the inftinctive fondnefs and folicitude of the mother-hen for her brood! Here is divine compafilon indeed, that extends itfelf even to his enemies, to his murderers! Strange! that fuch generous benevolence fhould meet with an ungrateful repulfe! that the provoked Sovereign fhould be willing to receive his rebellious fubjects into protection, but that they fhould be unwilling to fly to him for it !"

The important truths which my text fuggefts are fuch as thefe :—That finners, while from under the protection of Jefus Chrift, are in a very dangerous fituation—that they may obtain fafety by putting themfelves under his protection—that he is willing to receive the greateft finners under his protection—that he has often ufed means to prevail upon them to fly to him, that they may be fafe—that, notwithftanding all this, multitudes are unwilling to fly to him, and put themfelves under his protection—that this unwillingnefs of theirs is the real caufe of their deftruction —that this unwillingnefs is an inftance of the moft irrational and brutal ftupidity—and, that it is very affecting and lamentable.

1. The text implies, that finners, while from under the protection of Jefus Chrift, are in a very dangerous fituation. As the hen does not give the fignal of danger, nor fpread her wings to fhelter her young, except when fhe fees danger approaching, fo the Lord Jefus would not call finners to fly to him for protection, were they not in real danger. Sinners, you are in danger from the curfe of the divine law, which is in full force againft you, while you have no intereft in the righteoufnefs of Chrift, which alone can anfwer its demands : You are in danger from the dread arreft of divine juftice, which guards the facred rights of the divine government, and will avenge itfelf upon you for all the infults you have offered it : You are in danger

## The wonderful Compassions of Serm. 46.

danger from the various judgments of God, who is angry with you every day, and whofe judgments are hovering over you, and ready to feize you, like hungry birds of prey : You are in danger from your own vile corruptions, which may hurry you into fuch courfes as may be inconvenient, or, perhaps, ruinous to you in this world, may harden you in impenitence, and at length deftroy you for ever : You are in danger from your own confcience, which would be your best friend; but it is now ready to rife up in arms against you, and, like an infatiable vulture, prey upon your hearts for ever: You are in danger from the arrest of death, which is ready every moment to ftretch out its mortal hand, and feize you: You are in danger from the malice and power of devils, who, like hungry lions, - are ready to fnatch away your fouls, as their helplefs prey. In fhort, you are furrounded with dangers on every hand, and dangers rife ftill more thick and dreadful before you. You are not fure of an hour's enjoyment of one comfort; nay, you are not fure there is fo much as one moment betwixt you and all the miferies of the damned. This minute you are upon earth, thoughtlefs, fecure and gay; but the next may be-I tremble to tell you where-in the lake that burneth with fire and brimftone, tormented in flames. Yes, finners, one flying moment may ftrip you entirely naked of all the enjoyments of earth, cut you off from all hope of heaven, and ingulph you in remedilefs defpair. Some of you, whose very case this is, will not, probably, believe me, nor take the alarm. But here, alas! lies your principal danger. If you would take warning in time, you might efcape; but you will not believe there is danger until it becomes inevitable.-Had Lot's fons-in-law taken warning from him, they might have efcaped ; but they faw no fenfible appearances of the impending judgment, and, therefore, they continued blindly fecure, regarded the good old man as a mocker, and, therefore, perifhed in Sodom. Had Jerufalem been apprehensive of its danger in time, it might

# Serm. 46. Christ to the greatest Sinners.

might have flourifhed to this day; but it would not be warned, and, therefore, became a ruinous heap: and this will be your doom, finners, unlefs you be apprehenfive of it before it breaks upon you like a whirlwind. Indeed it may make one fad to think how common this danger is, and how little it is apprehended, to fee crouds thoughtlefs and merry on the brink of ruin; fecure and carelefs, while hanging over the infernal pit by the frail thread of life. This is fad; but, alas! it is a common cafe in the world, and I am afraid, it is too common among you, my hearers. And whither fhall you fly for fafety? Is the danger inevitable? If fo, where is the friendly arm that can guard you? where the wing that can fhelter you from thofe judgments that are hovering over you, like ravenous birds, to make a prey of you? Bleffed be God, I can fhew you a place of fafety; for,

2. The text implies, that if finners fly to Chrift, and put themfelves under his protection, they fhall obtain fafety.

The beautiful allusion to the protection a hen affords her young under the shelter of her wings, implies thus much, as we may learn from the meaning of the fame allusion in other places. So in that beautiful paffage, Pfalm. xci. 1-4. He that dwelleth in the fecret place of the Most High, shall abide under the shadow of the Almighty. I will fay of the Lord, he is my refuge, and my fortrefs—Surely he shall deliver thee from the share of the fowler-He shall cover thee with his feathers, and under his wings shalt thou trust; that is, he shall protect thee in fafety, and thou fhalt truft in his guardian care. This is David's meaning, when he prays, Lord hide me under the shadow of thy wings. Pfalm xvii. 8. And when he refolves, yea, in the shadow of thy wings will I make my refuge, until these calamities be over-past; just as the hen's helpless brood hide under her wings until the ftorm be blown over, or the bird of prey has difappeared. Pfalm lvii. 1. I will trust, fays he, in the covert of thy wings. Pfalm Ixi. 4. Becaufe thou haft been Vol. III. K 711 Y

my help, therefore in the shadow of thy wings will I rejoice. Pfalm Ixiii. 7. \*

How great and feemingly inevitable your dangers; yet, if you place yourfelves under the protection of Jesus Christ, you are fafe for ever; fafe from the de-luges of divine wrath, that are ready to rush down upon you; fafe from the fword of juffice, and the, thunders of Sinai! fafe from the inteffine infurrections of your own confcience, and from the power and malice of infernal fpirits; fafe from the oppression of fin, and you shall be gloriously triumphant over death itself, the king of terrors. These may disturb and alarm you, they may give you a flight wound, and put you in great terror; but none of them can do you a lafting, remedilefs injury; nay, the very injuries you may receive from them in this life, will, in the iffue, turn out to your advantage, and become real bleffings to you. If ye are Chrift's, then, faith the apoftle, all things are yours, whether life or death, or things prefent, or things to come, all are yours. I Cor. iii. 21. that is, you have a kind of property in all things that you have any connection with, fo that they fhall work together for your good, as if they were all your own by a private right. Brethren, if we are covered with the righteouineis of Chrift, the fword of divine juffice cannot reach us. All its demands are answered, and justice itself becomes our friend. If we are sheltered under the wings of his guardian care, the most threatening dangers of time or eternity cannot affect us with real injury. How happy then, how fafe are fuch of you as have put yourfelves under his protection ! Now every bleffing is yours, and nothing can do you a real injury. You fhall never fall a prey to your various enemies, but fhall at length obtain an illustrious victory over them all, through the blood of the Lamb. To you I may apply those fublime words of Moses, As an eagle

\* See the fame metaphor, used in much the fame fense, in Pfalm xxxvi. 7. Exod. xix. 4. Deut. xxxii. 11. though, in the two last places, it includes conduct as well as protection.

#### Serm. 46. Chrift to the greatest Sinners.

eagle flirreth up her neft, fluttereth over her young, fpreadeth abroad her wings, taketh them, beareth them on her wings, fo the Lord alone does and will lead you, Deut. xxxii. 11, 12. defend you, cherifh you, and bear you along to your eternal home. You have, therefore, reafon, with David, amidft all the peculiar dangers of his life, to rejoice under the fhadow of his wings. The name of the Lord is a ftrong tower, and you have fled to it, and are fafe. Amidft all your fears and terrors, have you not fome fecure and delightful hours, when you, as it were, feel yourfelves gathered under the wings of your Redeemer ? In fuch hours, do not even fuch weaklings as you dare to brave all your enemies, and bid defiance to earth and hell? O how happy, how fecure is your fituation !

But here a grand queftion rifes in the minds of fome of you, "How may I know whether I have fled to Jefus for protection? How may I know whether I have placed myfelf under his guardian wings?" This is a queftion of the utmost importance; and I must offer a word or two in answer to it. Observe then, If ever you have fled to Jefus for fafety, you have been made deeply fenfible of your danger. If ever you have fought fhelter under his wings, you have feen your fins, the curfes of the law, and the powers of hell, as it were, hovering over you, and ready to feize and devour you as their prey. You have also been made deeply fensible, that Jefus alone was able to fave you. You found you could not fhelter yourfelves under the covert of your own righteoufnefs, and were conftrained to give up all hopes of faving yourfelves by any thing you could do in your own ftrength. Hereupon, as perifhing, helplefs creatures, you have caft yourfelves entirely upon the protection of Jefus Chrift, and put your fouls into his hands, to be faved by him in his own way : And you have alfo fubmitted freely to his authority, willing to be ruled and difpofed of entirely according to his pleafure. These few things must fuffice to determine this grand inquiry; and I hope you will make use of them for

for that purpofe : If they help you to difcover, that you have fled to Jefus for refuge, rejoice in your happy lot, and let your mouths be filled with praife. But alas! are there not fome of you that have made the contrary difcovery, and, confequently, that you are expofed to all the dreadful dangers of a finner without Chrift? And is there no place of fafety for you? Yes, under those wings where believers have fheltered themfelves. In Jefus Chrift there is fafety, if you fly to him : but you may perhaps enquire, "What encouragement have I to fly to him? I, who am fo vile a finner; I, who have nothing at all to recommend me! Can I hope that he will ftretch out the wings of his mercy, and receive me into protection?" Yes, poor trembling creature, even yon may venture; for remember what my text farther implies, viz.

3. That the compafiionate Jefus is willing to receive the very greatest finner under his protection. Can you question this, after this moving lamentation of his over Jerufalem! Jerufalem, that killed the prophets, and ftoned them that were fent unto her, though upon meffages of grace; Jerufalem, upon whom fhould come all the righteous blood of the prophets, through a length of near 4000 years, from the blood of Abel to the blood of Zacharias; Jerufalem, the den of those murderers, who, he well knew, would in a few days imbrue their hands in his own blood; Jerufalem, that had abufed fo many mercies, been incorrigible under fo many chaftifements, deaf to fo many invitations ; yet, of this very city, the compaffionate Saviour fays, How often would I have gathered thy children under the wings of my protection; thy children, obftinate and ungrateful as they are ! O what gracious encouragement is here to the greatest finners among us! Jefus is the fame yesterday, to-day, and for ever; the fame compassionate, all-fufficient Saviour. He did not lofe his pity for Jerufalem after he had fuffered death by her bloody hands; but after his refurrection he orders his apoftles to make one trial more with her obstinate children: Go.

Go, fays he, and preach repentance and remiffion of fins to all nations, beginning at Jerufalem, Luke xxiv. 41. as much as to fay, "Though Jerufalem be the ungrateful city, where fo much pains have been taken in vain, and where I have just been crucified with cruel hands, yet do not give them up; try once more to gather them under my wings; yea, let them have the very first offer of grace under this new difpensation; make the first offer of pardon through my blood to the wretches that shed my blood; invite them to me as a Saviour, who nailed me to the crofs as a malefactor and a flave." O what melting overpowering mercy ! What overflowing and free grace are here! This exemplifies his own declaration, that he came not to call the righteous, but finners to repentance ; and finners of the vileft characters are welcome to him. He took care, at the first introduction of the gospel, to select fome of the most daring finners, and make them the monuments of his grace to all ages, that their hiftory might give the ftrongeft affurance of his grace to finners of the like character, from that time to the end of the world. Such an inftance was the famous St. Paul. This is a faithful faying, fays he; a faying that may be depended upon, and worthy of all acceptation; worthy to be received as true, and embraced with joy by all the fons of men, that Christ Jefus came into the world to fave finners, of which I am the chief. I Tim. i. 15. This chieftain, this king of finners, was made a happy fubject of Jefus Chrift. And for this caufe, fays he, I ob-tained mercy, that in me first, or in me the chief, \* Jefus Christ might shew forth all long-fuffering, for a pattern to them which should hereafter believe on him. Bleffed be God, there are many fuch inftances now in heaven, in the glorious company of angels! " There, as one ob-ferves, is murderous and idolatrous Manafleh among the true worfhippers of God; there is opprefling Zaccheus

\* The fame word in the fame fenfe is thus translated two or three words before— ων [feil. αμαβωνών] σερώθες έμμι έγω—and then follows εν εμοί σερώθω, 1 Tim. i. 15, 16.

# .The wonderful Compassions of Serm. 46.

cheus among the fpirits of juft men made perfect; there is Mary Magdalen, pofleffed by feven devils, among the faints of the Moft High, filled with the Holy Spirit of God. In a word, there are the betrayers and murderers of our bleffed Lord and Saviour, receiving eternal life and happiness from that precious blood which their own guilty hands did shed." + And what

† Dr. Grofvenor, in a Sermon, intitled, "The Temper of Jefus Chaift towards his Enemics, and his Grace to the chief of Sinners, in his commanding the Gofpel to begin at Jerufalem," has the following very lively and ftriking paffage:—"It is very affecting that the first effers of grace should be made to those who, of all people in the world, had done it the most defpite! That the heavenly gift should be tendered to those firsts who least deferved it : not that any can deferve it at all, for then it were not grace; but they of all people had most deferved the contrary! That they, who had abused Christ to a degree beyond the most pitiful defeription, should yet lie uppermost in his care, and shand foremost in his pity, and find for much mercy from one to whom they showed none at all i

"One would rather have expected the apofiles fhould have received another kind of charge, and that Chrift fhould have faid, Let repentance and remiffion of fins be preached, but carry it not to Jerusalem, that wicked city, that has been the flaughter-house of my prophets, whom I have often fent. After them I fent John the Baptift, a burning and a fining light; him they killed in prifon. Last of all, I myself, the Son, came also; and me, with wicked hands, they have crucified and flain. They may do the fame by you; the disciple is not like to be better (treated) than his Lord: let not the gospel enter those gates, through which they led me, its author, to crucifixion.

" I have been preaching there myfelf thefe three years, I have mingled my tears with my fermons, I have fupported my pretenfions and character from the fcriptures of Mofes and the prophets, I have confirmed them by divine miracles, and fealed all with my blood, yet they would not give ear: O *Jerufalem ! Jerufalem !* all that I have left for thee now is, what I have before dropt over thee, viz. a compaffionate tear and wift, that thou, hadft known in this thy day the things that belonged to thy peace ! but now they are hid from thy eyes; and fo let them remain; for I charge you, my apofiles, to preach repeatance and remiffion of fins to all other nations, but come not near that wicked city.

"But God's thoughts are not as ours, neither are his ways as our ways; but as far as the heavens are above the earth, fo are his thoughts and ways above ours. Our way is, to make the chief offenders examples of jultice, to avenge ourfelves upon those who have done us perfonal injury and wrong; but Chrift chooses out these to make examples of mercy, and commands the first offer of eternal life to be made to them, and all the world are to wait till they have had the first refusal of the gospel-falvation.

" As

# Serm. 46. Chrift to the greatest Sinners.

what farther arguments need I produce of the willingnefs of Jefus Chrift to receive the vileft finner among you, upon your coming to him? I might prove the fame joyful truth from his repeated declarations, from his indefinite invitations, and effectially from that kind affurance which has kept many a foul from finking : him that cometh unto me I will in nowife caft cut. John vi.

" As if our Lord had faid, It is true my fufferings are an univerfal remedy, and I have given my life a ranfom for many, that the Gentiles afar off might be brought nigh, and all the ends of the earth might fee the falvation of God, and therefore go into all nations and offer this falvation as you go; but, left the poor house of Ifrael should think themfelves abandoned to defpair, the feed of Abraham, mine ancient friend, as cruel and unkind as they have been, go, make them the first offer of grace, let them have the first refusal of gospel mercy; let them that flruck the rock, drink first of its refreshing flreams; and they that drew my blood, be welcome to its healing virtue.

"Tell them, that as I was fent to the *loft freep of the house of Ifrael*, fo, if they will be gathered, I will be their Shepherd ftill. Though they defpifed my tears, which I fhed over them, and imprecated my blood to be upon them, tell them it was for their fakes I fhed both, that by my tears I might fosten their hearts towards God, and by my blood I might reconcile God to them.

" Tell them I live; and because I am alive again, my death shall not be their damnation; nor is my murder an unpardonable sin, but that the blood of Jesus cleanseth from all sin, even the sin by which that blood was drawn.

"Tell them, you have feen the prints of the nails upon my hands and feet, and the wound of the fpear in my fide, and that those marks of their cruelty are fo far from giving me vindictive thoughts, that every wound they have given me speaks in their behalf, pleads with the Father for remifion of their fins, and enables me to bestow it; and by those sufferings which they may be ready to think have exasperated me against them, by those very wounds, court and persuade them to receive the falvation they have procured.

" Nay, if you meet that poor wretch that thruft the fpear into my fide, tell him, there is another way, a better way of coming to my heart, even my heart's love, if he will repent, and look upon him whom he has pierced, and will mourn, I will cherifh him in that very bofom he has wounded; he fhall find the blood he fhed an ample atonement for the fin of fhedding it. And tell him from me, he will put me to more pain and difpleafure by refufing this offer of my blood, than when he first drew it forth. In fhort,

"Though they have gainfayed my doctrine, blafphemed my divinity, and abufed and tormented my perfon, taken away my life, and, what is next valuable to every honeft man, endeavoured to murder my reputation vi. 37. But this argument from matters of fact is fufficient. Therefore come, finners, fly to Jefus, however deep your guilt. Had you been murderers of fathers, or murderers of mothers; nay, had you come hither this day with hands reeking in the blood of the Son of God, yet, if you repent and believe, he is willing to receive you under the fhadow of his wings. I may therefore invite you in the language of the following lines : \*

> Outcails of men, to you I call, Harlots, and publicans, and thieves; He fpreads his arms t' embrace you all; Sinners alone his grace receives.

Come, all ye Magdalens in luft : Ye ruffians fell, in murders old, Repent and live ; defpair and truft ! Jefus for you to death was fold.

Come, O my guilty brethren, come, Groaning beneath your load of fin ! His bleeding heart fhall make you room, His wounded fide fhall take you in. He calls you all, invites you home : Come, O my guilty brethren, come !

To encourage you the more, and even to conftrain you, confider what my text implies farther, viz.

4. That the Lord Jefus has often ufed means to prevail upon you to fly to him for fafety. What he fays to Jerufalem may be applied to you: how often would I have gathered thy children together ! How often has he given you the fignal of danger, that you might fly from it ! how often has he fpread out a friendly wing to fhelter you ! as often as the law has denounced his curfes againft you; as often as the gofpel has invited and

on too, by making me an imposter, and imputing my miracles to a combination with Beelzebub; however, go to Jerusalem, and by beginning there, show them such a miracle of goodness and grace, that they themfelves must confess too good for the Devil to have any hand in, too Godlike for him to be assisting to; that may convince them of their fin, and at the same time, that nothing can be greater than their fin, except this mercy and grace of mine, which, where their fin has abounded does thus much more abound, beginning at Jerusalem."

\* Mr. Wefley.

# Serm. 46. Chrift to the greatcft Sinners.

and allured you; as often as confcience has checked and warned you, or prompted you to your duty; as often as the Holy Spirit has moved upon your hearts, and excited fome ferious thoughts and good purpofes and inclinations; as often as providence has allured you with its profusion of bleffings, or chastened you with its afflictive rod ; as often as you have feen a good example, or heard a pious word dropt in converfation; in fhort, as often as any means of any kind have been ufed with you, that had a tendency to make you fenfible of your danger, or your need of Jefus Chrift, fo often has he used means with you to engage you to fly to the shelter of his wings for protection. O! how frequently, and by what a great variety of means, has he called you in this congregation ! This is the very bufinefs of one day in feven, when you are called away from the noife and buffle of the world to liften to the voice of his invitation. But this is not the only time when he calls you. While you are at home, or following your business through the rest of the week, you have a Bible, a Providence, a confcience, and the Holy Spirit, ftill with you; and thefe are ftill urging you to fly to Jefus, though their voice may be difregarded, and loft in the din and confusion of the world around you. The gracious call of a compassionate Saviour has followed you ever fince you were capable of hearing it to this day. But alas! does not the next remark hold true as to fome of you, viz.

5. That, notwithftanding all this, multitudes are unwilling to fly to him for protection! It was not of Jerufalem alone that he had reafon to fay, *I would have* gathered you, but ye would not! I was willing, but ye were unwilling. This is ftrange indeed, and might feem incredible, were it not a most notorious fact. That the Judge should be willing to pardon, but the criminal unwilling to receive a pardon—that the offended Sovereign should be ready to take a perishing rebel under his protection, but the rebel should stand off, and rather perish than fly to him—this is a most Vol. III. I. aftonishing

# The wonderful Compassions of Serm. 46.

aftonishing thing; and it is the hardest thing in the world to convince finners that this is their conduct towards the Lord Jefus. They are generally more fuf-picious of his willingness to fave them, than of their own to come to him. Were he but as willing to fave them as they are to be faved by him, they think there would be no danger of their falvation; but the cafe is directly the reverfe; the unwillingnefs lies entirely upon their fide. To convince them of this, let it be confidered, that we are not truly willing to be faved by Chrift at all, unlefs we are willing to be faved by him in his own way, or upon his own terms. We are not willing to be faved, unlefs the nature of the falvation offered be agreeable to us. Now one principal part of the falvation which we need, and which Chrift offers, is deliverance from fin ; deliverance from the power, the pleafures, the profits of fin, as well as from the destructive confequences of it in the world to come. And are finners willing to accept of fuch a falvation as this from Chrift? No, this appears no falvation to them; this feems rather a confinement, a lofs, a bereavement. They are willing to indulge themfelves in fin, and therefore it is impossible they should, in the mean time, be willing to be reftrained from it, or deprived of it. This is the thing they ftruggle againft, and to which all the means used with them cannot bring them. To tear their fins from them is to rob them of their pleafures; and they rife up in arms against the attempt. And are these willing to be faved by Chrift, who abhor the falvation he offers them? The truth of the matter is, the conduct of finners in this cafe is the greatest abfurdity: they are willing to be happy, but they are not willing to be holy, in which alone their happiness confists : they are willing to be faved from hell, but they are not willing to be faved from those dispositions which would cre-ate a hell within them, even according to the nature of things : they are willing to go to heaven when they can live no longer in this their favourite world; but thev

74

they are unwilling to be prepared for it in their temper and difpolition. An eternity fpent in holy exercifes would be an eternal drudgery to them, unlefs they have a relifh for holinefs. Freedom from fin would be a painful bereavement to them while they take pleafure in fin, and how then could they be happy, even in the very region of happinefs, fince the fordid pleafures of fin never mingle with those pure rivers of living water? In fhort, they act as abfurdly as if they were willing to recover their health, and yet were unwilling to part with their ficknefs, or to be reftrained from those things which are the causes of it. They are willing to go to heaven, but it is in their own way; that is, in the way that leads to hell. The only way of falvation, according to the divine appointment, is the way of holinefs. Indeed Chrift came into the world to fave finners; but thefe finners must be made faints before they can enter into his kingdom : and he makes them holy in order to be happy. And this is not an arbitrary appointment, but neceffary, in the very nature of things; for, as I obferved, till they are made holy, it is impoffible in the nature of things they fhould be happy in heaven, becaufe the happinefs of heaven confifts in the perfection of holinefs. To be faved without holinefs is as impoffible as to be healthy without health, or faved without falvation. Therefore, for God to gratify the finner, and gratify him in his own way; that is, in his fins, is an impoffibility; as impollible as for a phyfician to heal an obftinate patient in his own way; that is, to heal him by letting him retain and cherish his difease; letting him cool a fever with cold water, or drink poifon to cure a confumption. God is wife in all his conftitutions, and therefore the way of falvation through Chrift is agreeable to the nature of things; it is in itfelf confiftent and poflible : and if finners are not willing to be faved in this poffible way, they are not willing, in reality, to be fayed at all.

75

Again,

Again, The way of falvation by Chrift is all through grace. It is adapted to itain the glory, and mortify the pride of all flesh, and to advance to the mercy of God, and the honour of Chrift, without a rival. Now haughty, felf-righteous finners are unwilling to be faved in this humbling, mortifying way, and therefore they are unwilling to be faved by Chrift. If they would be faved by him, they must be faved entirely upon the footing of his merit, and not their own; they must own that they lie at mercy, they must feel themselves felf-condemned, they must utterly renounce all dependance upon their own righteoufnefs, and receive every bleffing as the free unmerited gift of grace. And it is the hardeft thing imaginable to bring a proud finner fo low as this; but till he is brought thus low, he cannot be faved upon the gospel-plan. Nor is this part of the conflitution arbitrary any more than the former. It would be inconfiftent with the honour of the great God, the Supreme Magistrate of the universe, and with the dignity of his government, to receive a rebel into favour, on any other footing than that of mere grace. If after finning fo much, the finner still has merit enough to procure a pardon, in whole or in part, or to render it cruel or unjust for God to condemn and punish him, certainly he must be a Being of very great importance indeed; and fin against God must be a very fmall evil. To fave a finner in a way that would give any room for fuch infinuations as thefe, would be inconfistent with the honour of God and his government; and therefore the plan he has conftituted is a method of grace, of pure rich grace, in all and every part. Now, while finners are not willing to be faved in this way, they are not willing to be faved at all. Here lies their grand miftake : Becaufe they have a general willingness that Chrift should fave them from hell, they, therefore, conclude they are really willing to come to him according to the gospel-constitution, where-as there is nothing in the world to which they are more averfe. There are many that think, and perhaps declare.

clare, they would give ten thoufand worlds for Chrift, when, in reality, they are not willing to receive him as a free gift : they are not yet brought to that extremity as to fly to him. No, the finner is brought low indeed before he is brought to this. He is entirely cut off from all hope from every other quarter; particularly, he fees that he cannot fhelter himfelf any longer under the covert of his own righteoufnefs, but that he will be overwhelmed with a deluge of divine vengeance, unlefs he hides himfelf under the wings of Jefus.

I beg you would examine yourfelves impartially on this point, my brethren, for here lies the grand delufion that ruins thoufands. If you are really willing to fly to Jefus, and be faved by him in his own way, you may be fure he is infinitely more willing than you are ; nay, your willingnefs is the effect of his, for he firft made you fo. But if, when you examine the matter to the bottom, you find, that, notwithftanding all your pretenfions, you are really unwilling to fly to him, confider your dangerous fituation; for,

6. The text implies, that this unwillingnefs of finners is the real caufe of their deftruction.

Sinners complain of the want of ability; but what is their inability but their unwillingnefs? Coming to Chrift is an act of the will, and, therefore, to will it heartily, is to perform the act. To be unable to come to him is to be fo perverfe, fo difaffected to Jefus Chrift, as not to have power to will to come to him. This, by the way, flews the vanity of that popular excufe, " I am not able to fly to Chrift, and therefore it is not my fault if I do not." That is, you are fo wicked that you can do no good thing; you are fo difaffected to Jefus Chrift that you have no will, no inclination, to choofe him for your Saviour; you are fuch an obftinate enemy to him, that you would rather perifh than take him for your Friend; therefore your not coming to him is no crime. Is this confiftent reafoning? Is it not all one, as if a rebel fhould think to excufe himfelf by pleading, " I have fuch an inveterate hatred to my fovereign,

fovereign, that I cannot love him :" Or a robber, "I have fuch an averfion to honefty, that I cannot poffibly help ftealing?" Would not this be an aggravation of the crime rather than an excufe? Is the invincible ftrength of your difaffection to Chrift a vindication of it? Are you the more excufable, by how much the more you hate him?—Sinners, give up this foolifh reafoning, for the matter is too important to be trifled with. Your inability in this cafe is nothing elfe but your unwillingnefs; and your unwillingnefs is the effect of nothing elfe but your difaffection to Jefus Chrift; therefore own that this is the true caufe of your deftruction.

In fhort, whatever pleas and excufes you make, you will find at last that your destruction is entirely the effect of your own perverse choice. Ye will not come unto Chrift that ye might have life, John v. 40. and therefore you must perish without it. This reflection will for ever torment you, that you wilfully deftroyed yourfelves, and were guilty of the most unnatural felf-murder. Jefus was willing, but you would not. God has even fworn that he has no pleasure in the death of the wicked, but that he turn and live. To you therefore I may properly address that expostulation, Why will ye die? Why will ye? why do ye most wilfully destroy yourselves? why do ye ruin yourselves by your own free choice ? why will you die ? you, whom Jefus is willing to fave, whom he has fo often invited, why will you, above all men in the world, caufelefsly die by your own act? Are you capable of fo much fupi-dity? It is a flupidity that is a dreadful peculiarity of your own, for,

7. Unwillingness to fly to Jesus is the most irrational, and worse than brutal stupidity.

This is implied in my text. No fooner does the hen give the fignal of danger, than her little family, taught by inftinct to underftand the alarm, immediately fly under her wings. "So, fays Chrift, I gave you the alarm, but you would not regard it; fo I fpread Serm. 46. Christ to the greatest finners.

fpread out the wing of my guardian care to defend you, but you would not fhelter under it." What more than brutal ftupidity is this? In this light, the conduct of finners is frequently exposed in the facred writings. The ox knoweth his owner, fays Ifaiah, and the afs his mafter's crib, but Ifrael doth not know, my people doth not confider. Ifaiah i. 3. Every one turneth to his courfe, fays Jeremiah, as the horfe rusheth into the battle ; yea, the fork in the heavens knoweth her appointed times ; and the turtle, and the cranc, and the fwallow, observe the time of their coming ; but my people, more flupid than they, know not the judgment of the Lord. Jer. viii. 6, 7. To refuse the offer of eternal falvation, when proposed upon the most reasonable terms-to rush into hell, rather than be faved by the friendly hands of Jefus Chrift-to fuffer the most terrible execution, rather than accept a free pardon-to reject all the blifs of heaven when freely propofed-to choofe the pleafures of fin for a feafon, rather than an eternity of the most exalted happinefs-to refift the calls of redeeming love, and all the friendly efforts of divine grace, to fave a finking foul-Is this the conduct of a reafonable creature? No; fhew me the brute, if you can, that would act fo flupid a part in things that come within the fphere of his capacity. Would it not be better for you to be a cat or dog (to ufe the language of the Earl of Rochefter) than that animal Man, who is fo proud of being rational, if you make fo irrational a choice? Let me endeavour to make you fenfible,

8. And laftly, That this conduct is extremely affecting and lamentable.

It is on this account, that Jefus laments over Jerufalem in fuch pathetic ftrains in my text. He knew the truth of the cafe; his all-feeing eye took it in all its extent, and viewed it in all its circumftances and confequences. And fince he, who knew it beft, deeply laments it, we may be fure it is lamentable indeed, and it cannot but appear fo even to us who know fo little of it. An immortal foul loft! loft for ever! loft by its

#### The Nature of Love to God and Serm. 47.

its own obfinacy! loft amidft the means of falvation! how tragical a cafe is this ?—God difhonoured! Jefus rejected! his love defeated! his blood trampled upon! his fpirits grieved! how lamentable is this ?—And yet are there not fome of you in this lamentable condition in this affembly? It was over fuch as you that Jefus wept and mourned. And fhall he weep alone? fhall not our tears keep time with his, fince we are fo much more nearly concerned? O that our heads were waters, and our eyes fountains of tears, that we might weep along with the Saviour of men! But, alas! our tears are too much referved for dying friends, or fome lefs affecting object, while immortal fouls perifh around us, unpitied, unlamented!

# S E R M O N. XLVII.

THE NATURE OF LOVE TO GOD AND CHRIST OPENED AND

ENFORCED.

JOHN XXI. 17. He faith unto him the third time, Simon, fon of Jonas, lovest thou me? Peter was grieved because he faid unto him the third time, Lovest thou me? And he faid unto him, Lord, thou knowest all things; thou knowest that I love thee. Jesus faith unto him, Feed my sheep.

THERE is nothing more effential to religion, or of more importance in it, than divine love. Divine love is the fole fpring of all acceptable obedience in this life, and the grand prerequifite for complete happinefs in the enjoyment of God in the world to come; and without it, all our religion, all our gifts and improvements, however high and miraculous, are vain.

And

80

# Serm. 47. Christ opened and enforced.

And as it is of the utmost importance in reality, it is confessed to be fo by all mankind, who acknowledge the existence of a Deity. Whatever be the religion, or whatever be the object, still it is univerfally acknowledged, that love is an effential part of it. And indeed the evidence for this is fo very glaring, that it is no wonder mankind have not been able to shut their eyes against it. Religion without love, is as great a contradiction as friendship without love. To worship a God whom we do not love, to adore excellences which we disaffect, to profess a religion founded by an enemy, this is the greatest absurdity imaginable. Such a religion must appear abominable to God and man.

Now divine love is the fubject of my text, which I have chofen for your prefent meditation; and you fee I have not chofen a fubject that is trifling in itfelf, or the difputed peculiarity of a party. You need not, therefore, be under apprehenfions, that I would profelyte you to any thing but the fincere love of God and Jefus Chrift. However, I would not have you judge of my defign by my verbal declarations, but by the apparent tendency of my difcourfe, of which you will be able to form a judgment when I have done.— Therefore entertain no prejudices or fufpicions till you fee reafon, left you deprive yourfelves of that benefit you might otherwife receive from your prefent attendance.

There is fo little folicitous inquiry among men concerning the fincerity of their love to God, that it would feem felf-evident, and beyond all difpute.— Whatever fins they indulge themfelves in, however much they practically neglect God and religion, yet ftill they infift upon it, they love him fincerely. This piece of merit they all claim, as belonging to them beyond difpute. But is divine love indeed a thing fo common, fo univerfal? We read that the carnal mind is enmity again/t God. Rom. viii. 7. And is there no fuch thing as a carnal mind now to be found upon Vol. III. M

# The Nature of Love to God and Serm. 47.

earth? We are told of fome that were haters of God. Rom. i. 30. - enemies in their minds by wicked works. Col. i. 21. And are there none fuch to be found among us? The heart-fearching Jefus, while converfant among mortals, told the Jews, who made fo great a profession of their love to God, and suspected their own fincerity as little as any of us, I know you, that you have not the love of God in you. John v. 42. And were he now to pass fentence upon us, would he not make the fame declaration with regard to fundry of us, who, perhaps, are leaft apprehenfive of it? Is it a needlefs thing for us to enter into a ferious conference with our own hearts, and afk them, "Do I indeed love the ever bleffed God, and the only Saviour ? Will my love ftand the teft ? What are its properties and effects ?" Is this, my brethren, a fuperfluous or impertinent inquiry ? I am fure it did not feem fo to Chrift, who put Peter to the trial upon this point no lefs than thrice.

Our Lord made a meal with his difciples, to convince them of the reality of his body after his refurrection. When it was finifhed, he turns to Peter, and afks him a very ferious quefion, Simon, fon of Jonas, loveft thou me? The very propofal of the quefion feems to fuppofe that Peter had given fome reafon to fufpect his love to him, as he had really done, a few days before, by denying him thrice, with flocking aggravations; and with this reference the inquiry was very cutting to Peter, and no doubt made him think thus with himfelf: "Ah! it is no wonder my Lord flould call my love in quefiton, who fo lately moft ungratefully denied him." The quefiton is put to him openly, before the whole company, which might perhaps increafe his confufion; but it was prudently ordered, that he might declare his love to Jefus as openly as he had denied him, and that his brethren might be fatisfied of his fincerity, and recovery from his late fall.

The first form of the question implies a comparifon: Simon, fon of Jonas, lovest thou me more than these? that Serm. 47. Chrift opened and enforced ..

that is, more than thefe thy fellow-difciples? " It is not long fince, Peter, that thou didft declare, Though all fhould forfake thee, yet will not I; though all my fellow-difciples fhould prove treacherous, yet I am determined to adhere to thee, come what will; and art thou ftill of the fame mind? Peter modeftly replies, *Lord thou knoweft that I love thee* : as much as to fay, " Lord, I own that I have fallen more foully than any of my brethren, and I dare not fay I love thee more than they do; I dare fay nothing of the high degree of my love, in comparison with others; but, Lord, I muft affert the fincerity of my love, weak as it is, and I humbly adventure to appeal to thee, who knoweft all things, and canft not be deceived with fair pretenfions, for the truth of my profession." \*

Peter, no doubt, hoped this declaration would fatisfy his Lord. But Jefus, after a paufe, puts the queftion to him again, Simon, fon of Jonas, lovest thou me? And Peter infifts upon his former answer, Yea, Lord, thou knowest that I love thee.

Now he hoped to efcape all future queftions upon this point. But Jefus, as though he were ftill fufpicious of him, puts it to him a third time, Simon, fon of Jonas, loveft theu me? Peter was grieved that this inquiry fhould be put to him fucceflively no lefs than thrice; it cut him to the heart with the remembrance of his bafe denial of his Mafter as often, and perhaps with a fear that he would not now be convinced of his fincerity, but was about to expofe him as a traitor, and difcard him. Upon this he grows warm, and replies with the moft paffionate vehemence, Lord, thou knowcft all things, thou knoweft that I love thee. As much as

\* Or the comparison in the question may refer to the provision they had just fed upon, and the employment they had just been in. Q. D. "Lovest thou me more than thou lovest these fish and thy fishing trade? Peter replies, Yea, Lord, thou knowess that I lowe thee. Well, fays Christ, if thou dost really love me, leave this employment, and feed my sheep; let that be thy business for the future, and shew thy love to me by thy tender care of my sheep; that is, of my church." to fay, "Lord, why doft thou try me fo often upon this point? Look only into my heart, which lies all open to thy view, and be thou judge thyfelf, whether I do not fincerely love thee. I muft confefs my late conduct looked very fufpicious; and I reflect upon it with fhame and forrow : I am unworthy to be ranked by thee among thy friends. But, Lord, unworthy as I am, and bafe and fufpicious as my conduct was, I muft infift upon it, that I do love thee; and it wounds me to the heart that thou flouldft feem fo jealous of me. I cannot give up this point; and I appeal to thyfelf for the truth of it." Jealoufy in love, my brethren, fufpicion among friends, is a very painful and anxious pafiion; and never fo much fo to a pious heart, as when the fincerity of our love to God is the object of it. Such a perfon cannot be eafy while a matter of fo much importance lies under fufpicion, but muft put it beyond all doubt.

And let me tell you, firs, this is a queftion in which we are all most nearly concerned. Are our conduct and temper towards God fo entirely and uniformly friendly and dutiful, as to put it beyond all doubt that we do truly love him ? Alas! are there not many things that look very fufpicious in our cafe? Should Jefus now call each of us by our names, as he did Peter, and afk us, one by one, Lovest thou me? what could we anfwer? Could we honeftly defire him to look into our hearts, that he might fee that facred principle there? and could we produce the genuine evidences of it in our lives? My brethren, if there be an inquiry within the compass of human knowledge that deferves the most folicitous attention, certainly this does. And it is my prefent defign to affift you to come to a determination upon it. I fay, we are now going upon this fearch, " Do I really love the Lord Jefus ?" Come, firs, let us all join in it; let us all refolve to be determined in this point before we leave this place. For this purpofe I shall point out fome plain marks of genuine love, and then, fuppofing that you will have -iscovered

84

# Serm. 47. Christ opened and enforced.

difcovered your real character in this refpect, I fhall addrefs you as divided into two different claffes; the friends, and the enemies of Jefus. And as love to God, and love to Jefus Chrift, who is God as well as man, are fubftantially the fame, and cannot be feparated, I fhall not nicely diftinguifh between them, but fpeak upon the one or the other, as may be most conducive to my defign.

1. I am to point out fome plain, genuine marks of divine love; and thefe I fhall derive either from plain fcripture, or from the apparent nature and infeparable properties of that paffion.

I need hardly tell you, that while there is fo much hypocrify, flattery, and compliment in the world, a man's profeffing the Chriftian Religion, and a fupreme regard to its Founder, is no certain evidence of divine love. Infincerity and treachery, which have done fo much mifchief in private friendships, and betrayed fo many kingdoms, has diffufed itfelf, like a malignant poifon, into the affairs of religion; and men dare to compliment and flatter even the heart-fearching God. Judas betrayed his Lord with an Hail, Master, and a kils; and his conduct before that had the appearance of friendship, otherwife the disciples would have fufpected him for the traitor upon the first hint. Therefore there must be something more substantial to evidence the truth of our love, than a mere profession, or the external forms of religion.

Nor does true love confift in a fpeculative, languid efteem, or a carelefs, unaffecting good opinion of Jefus Chrift. We may think and fpeak highly of him, and believe very great things concerning him, while the heart is dead and cold towards him; yea, full of enmity againft him. All this may be the effect of education, or cool reafoning, and may hover in the head, without finking deep into the heart, and becoming a governing principle in practice. It is this fpeculative good opinion of him which, I am afraid, the generality miftake for divine love. They cannot but know that

# The Nature of Love to God and Serm. 47.

that their hearts are habitually carelefs and indifferent towards God, that they do not feel those affectionate emotions and firong tendencies of foul towards him, which they feel towards all other objects of their love. However, when they happen to think of him, it is fometimes with a kind of high efteem; and this they take to be a genuine love to him, though it has no correfpondent effects upon their temper or conduct.

I may add farther, That fome may love God upon a miftake; that is, they love him upon fuppofition that he is quite another kind of being than he really is; and did they conceive of him as he is, he would appear to their depraved hearts rather an object of terror and abhorrence, than of love and delight. For example, they may fuppole him fo foft, eafy, and paffive a being, as not to refent their rebellious conduct; fo merciful, as hardly ever to execute juffice upon finners; fo carelefs of the honour of his law and government, as to pafs by all their difobedience; and fo foolifhly fond of his creatures, as to advance them to happines promifcuoufly without any regard to their moral character, or the honour of his perfections. Such a Deity as this is formed exactly according to their tafte, to encourage them in fin, and relieve them from horrors of confcience and the fears of futurity; and no wonder they fhould love fuch a Being as this, fo like themfelves : even criminals would love a judge of this character. But this is not the true God, but the creature of their own foolifh imaginations. This is not that God before whom the celeftial armies cry, Holy, holy, holy; who is of purer eyes than to behold iniquity ; who is a God of truth and without iniquity ; just and right is he ; who turns the wicked into hell, and all the nations that forget God; and who will not admit one foul into heaven but what is made holy in temper and practice beforehand. And did they view him in this light, they would be fo far from loving him, that their carnal minds would rife in enmity against him. Now to love God upon fuch a supposition, is not to please him, but

to

86

to reproach and affront him; and he refents it as the higheft indignity. How would you take it, if a rake or a villain fhould love you upon a miftaken notion, that you were a libertine, a thief, or a liar, like himfelf? Would you thank him for fuch a friendfhip? No; you would efteem it the bafeft affront. And when you had convinced him of his miftake, his love would be turned into hatred. My brethren, we muft love God for what he is, otherwife we do not love him at all. We muft, therefore, know him in fome meafure as he is, before we can rationally love him; and particularly, we muft know and delight in thofe perfections which are moft unacceptable to guilty and depraved creatures, his juftice, holinefs, and infinite hatred of fin, before we can truly love him.

Having cautioned you againft thefe plaufible and popular miftakes, I now refume my purpofe, and fhall point out fome undoubted marks of genuine and fincere love. And that I may not perplex you with too many particulars, I fhall only mention thefe four: That it is of a divine and fupernatural original—and that it produces frequent and affectionate thoughts of its object—A delight in communion with him—And an earneft ftudy and endeavour to pleafe him, by a life of univerfal obedience.

I. If you would determine this important inquiry, "Do I really love the Lord Jefus Chrift?" you muft previoufly inquire how you came by your love? whether it be the mere effect of nature, of education, or any thing within the power of man? or whether it was wrought in your hearts by the almighty power of God, after many rebellious ftruggles and infurrections, and a full conviction of the innate enmity of your carnal minds againft him? If it be the fpontaneous production of your own hearts, or of natural caufes, if you have always been poffeffed of it, and never found it difficult to obtain or cherifh it? If you have not been fenfible of a fupernatural power working it in you, you may be fure it is all delufion. For though the

the paffion of love be innate in our nature, and is eafily excited by a thousand created beauties, yet, alas ! it has no natural tendency towards God. Human na-ture in its prefent ftate is ftrangely indifpofed and difaffected in this respect, as experience has abundantly convinced us, unless we have been flupidly unobfervant with regard to ourfelves. A ftate of nature is uniformly reprefented in fcripture as a ftate of enmity against God. That which is born of the flesh is flesh, John iii. 6. and therefore, by nature, we are all flefh in the fcripture ftyle. Now they that are in the field cannot pleafe God, fays St. Paul, becaufe the carnal mind is enmity against God, &c. Rom. viii. 7, 8. The fcriptures every where represent us as being faved in the way of reconciliation; now reconciliation fuppofes a previous variance and enmity. Nay, St. Paul expressly tells us, that we were enemies when we were reconciled to God by the death of his Son. Rom. v. 10. By nature we are children of wrath, Eph. ii. 3. and furely we cannot be children of wrath and lovers of God at one and the you were once enemies to God. It is fufficient conviction against you that you are men, and belong to a race univerfally difaffected. And now have you'ever been brought out of that ftate ? if not, you are enemies to God still. You could not pass from death unto life in a dream, or an entire infenfibility; for you must have experienced a great change, and you must have been fensible of, and may now recollect a great many deep and affecting fenfations that attended it. You must have feen and been shocked at your difaffection : you must have been brought to cry in the most importunate manner to God to give you a better tem-per, and to fhed abroad his love in your hearts by the Holy Ghoft. Rom. v. 5. In fhort, you are made new creatures; old things are paffed away, and all things are become new; and all thefe new things are of God, who hath reconciled you to himfelf. 2 Cor. v. 17, 18. Now

Now if this be the teft, what would you fay to this queftion, Loveft thou me? Some of you, I truft, could anfwer, " Lord, I am afraid of the truth of my love; but this I am fure of, a great change hath been wrought in my foul. Whether I am now a fincere lover of God or not, I am fure I am not what I once was; not only my outward practice, but the inward temper of my heart towards thee is vaftly altered; it is more filial, affectionate and dutiful." If any of you can advance thus far in your anfwer, my brethren, it looks comfortable, though you should still be jealous of yourfelves. But, firs, let confcience now deal honeftly with you; Are there not many of you who are ftill in your natural ftate? All your religion is an earth-born, felf-fprung thing. You have never been the fubjects of a fupernatural work of divine grace, nor felt fuch a great change in the temper of your minds; and if this is your cafe I must pronounce, that, however many amiable qualities you may be poffeffed of, and however fair a profession you make of religion, you have not the love of God in you; for how thould you have it, when it is not natural to you, and when it has not been implanted in you by an operation above nature? Indeed, my brethren, if this be your cafe, you are plainly convicted this day of being deftitute of the very first principle of all religion; and pray admit the conviction : you may as well expect to be men with-out being born, as to love God without being born again. But,

2. If we love the Lord Jefus Chrift in fincerity, we frequently and affectionately think of him. This you know is the genius and tendency of love in general, to fix our thoughts upon its object; and the Pfalmift often mentions this as an attendant of his love to God. How precious are the thoughts of thee unto me, O God! how great is the fum of them ! if I fhould count them, t.ey are more in number than the fand; when I awake I am ftill with thee. Pfal. cxxxix. 17, 18. I remember thee upon my bed, and meditate on thee in the night-watches. Vol. III. N Pfal.

Pfal. lxiii. 6. My meditation of him shall be sweet. Pfal. Ifaiah reprefents the whole church as faying, civ. 34. The defire of our foul is to thy name, and to the remembrance of thee : with my foul have I defired thee in the night ; yea, with my spirit within me will I seek thee early. Ifa. xxvi. 8, 9. This you fee is the character of the lovers of God. And on the other hand, his enemies are characterized as perfons who do not like to retain him in their knowledge, Rom. i. 28. who forget God; Pfal. ix. 17. and l. 22. God is not in all their thoughts, Pfal. x. 4. but they practically fay unto the Almighty, depart from us ; we defire not the knowledge of thy ways. Job. xxi. 14. The thoughts of an enemy are always ungrateful, especially if he is unable to avenge himself of his adverfaries; and the mind will turn every way to avoid them. But the thoughts of one we love, how fweet, how welcome, how often do they return ! How often does the dear image of an abfent friend rife to the mind ! and with what affectionate endearments ! Unlefs you are entire ftrangers to this generous paffion, you know, by experience, this is the nature and tendency of love.

And do not thefe things enable fome of you to give a comfortable answer to this question, Lovest thou me? You are often jealous of your love; but if you love him not, why do your thoughts make fo many eager fallies to him? Once your thoughts could dwell within the compass of created nature, and fly from vanity to vanity, without attempting a flight to heaven. But now do they not often break through the limits of creation, in eager fearch after God as that fupreme good ? And with what affectionate eagerness do they at times dwell there ! How do your fouls delight to furvey and gaze at his perfections, and contemplate the wonders of his works! And how often do your thoughts hover round a crucified Jefus, and, as it were, cling and clufter to his crofs, like the bees round the hive ! You do not indeed think of him fo frequently, or with fuch affectionate endearments as you should. But can you

90

#### Serm. 47. Christ opened and enforced.

you not appeal to himfelf, that the thoughts of him are welcome to your minds; that you do at times dwell with pleafure in the delightful contemplation, even when your hands are bufy about other things; and that it is your daily forrow that your hearts are not more intimate with him, and pay him more frequent vifits? Does not your experience tell you, that you cannot always let your thoughts grovel in the duft, or run out in an endlefs chace of things below, but that, in fome happy hours, they rife on the wings of love, and most affectionately cleave to your dear Redeemer? And your thoughts are not the cold speculations of a philosopher, but the warm, passionate and heart-affecting thoughts of a chriftian. If this be your cafe, my brethren, take courage. You love the Lord Jefus Chrift, and you may be fure he loves you, and will treat you as his friends.

But are there not many of you who may be convinced by those things, that you have not the love of God in you? For are you not confcious that your affectionate thoughts are profituted to fome trifle in this lower world, and hardly ever afpire to him ? Nay, are not the thoughts of God, and things divine and eternal, unwelcome to you ? and do you not caft them out of your minds as you would shake a spark of fire from your bofoms? Do not you find yourfelves fly of him, and alienated from him? Do not those things give you pain which would turn your thoughts towards him ? You do not affect fuch fubjects of meditation or conversation, and you foon grow weary and uneafy when your minds are tied down to them ! And what can be the caufe of this, but a ftrong difaffection to God, and a fecret confcioufneis that he is your enemy on this account ! O, firs, what can be more aftonishing, or what can be a stronger evidence of enmity to God, than that men fhould live in fuch a world as this, and yet hardly ever have one affectionate thought of their great Author, Preferver and Benefactor ! His glory flines upon them from all his works, and

and meets their eye wherever they look; his word exhibits him to their view in a ftill more bright and amiable light. It reprefents the Lord Jefus in all the love and agonies of his crucifixion, and in all the glories of his exaltation; they are receiving mercies from him every moment of their lives; for, in him they live, and move, and have their being: their own reafon and confciences tell them that he is the moft excellent and lovely being, and worthy of fupreme and univerfal love, and they profefs to believe it; and yet he cannot, after all, gain fo much as their frequent and affectionate thoughts! Their thoughts, those cheap and eafy things, are ungratefully denied to him, who gave them a power of thinking! O what ftupid indifferency about the fupreme good, or rather what prevailing ennity is here! Can you pretend to be lovers of Jefus Chrift while this is your cafe? Can you excuse or extenuate this under the foft name of infirmity? No, it is rank, inveterate, fullen ennity; and a righteous God refents it as fuch. But,

3. If you love God and the Lord Jefus Chrift, you delight in communion with them. Friends, you know, delight to converfe together, to unbofom themfelves to one another, and to enjoy the freedoms of fociety. They are fond of interviews, and feize every opportunity for that purpofe; and absence is tedious and painful to them. If you are fo happy as to have a friend, you know by experience this is the nature of love. Now, though God be a fpirit, and infinitely above all fenfible converfe with the fons of men, yet he does not keep himfelf at a diftance from his people. He has accefs to their fpirits, and allows them to carry on a fpiritual commerce with him, which is the greateft happiness of their lives. Hence God is so often faid, in the fcripture, to draw near to them, and they to him, James iv. 8. Heb. vii. 19. Pfalm lxix. 18. and lxxiii. 28. Heb. x. 22. Lam. iii. 57. and St. John, fpeaking of himfelf and his fellow-chriftians, fays, Truly our fellowship is with the Father, and with his Son Tefus

### Serm. 47. Christ opened and enforced.

Jefus Chrift. 1 John i. 3. This divine fellowship is promifed by Chrift to all his friends, John xiv. 21, 23. He that loveth me, shall be loved of my Father, and I will love him, and will manifest myself to him ;--- we will love him, and we will come unto him, and make our abode with him. This myftical fellowship is peculiar to the friends of God; and others know nothing of it. They are reprefented as poor ftrangers and aliens, that have no communication with God. Eph. ii. 12. Col. i. 21. He is fhy of them and they of him : they keep at a distance from one another, like perfons disaffected .--This communion on God's part confifts in his communicating to his people the influences of his grace, to quicken them, to inflame their love, to give them filial boldnefs in drawing near to him, in affuring them of his love to them, and reprefenting himfelf to them as reconciled and acceffable. And on their part it confifts in a liberty of heart and fpeech in pouring out their prayers to him, a delightful freedom of fpirit in all exercifes of devotion, in returning him love for love, and dedicating themfelves to him. Thus there is a kind of interchange of thoughts and affections, mutual freedoms and endearments, between them. And O! how divinely fweet in fome happy hours of facred intimacy ! This indeed is heaven upon earth : and, might it but continue without interrup-tion, the life of a lover of God would be a conftant feries of pure, unmingled happinefs. But, alas! at times their Beloved withdraws himfelf, and goes from them, and then they languish, and pine away, and mourn, like the mourning turtle that has lost his mate. This intercourfe with God may be a ftrange thing to fome of you; and to vindicate the want of it, you may give it fome odious name; enthufiafm, fanaticifin, or heated imagination. But I must tell you, if you know nothing of it, your temper and experience is entirely different from all the friends of God, and, therefore, you cannot rank yourfelves in that happy number.

Now

#### The Nature of Love to God and Serm. 47.

Now the ordinances of the gospel are, as it were, the places of interview, where God and his people meet, and where they indulge those facred freedoms. It is in prayer, in meditation, in reading or hearing his word, in communicating at his table; it is in these and the like exercifes that God communicates, and, as it were, unbofoms himfelf to those that love him; and they enjoy the freedom of children and friends with him : and on this account they delight in those ordinances, and take pleafure in attending upon them. The workings of their hearts in this refpect, you may difcover in David, when, by the perfecution of Saul, or the rebellion of his fon Abfalom, he was banifhed from the ftated ordinances of public worfhip. Pfal. xlii. 1, 2, 4. and lxxxiv. throughout, and xxvii. 4.

And now, my brethren, to come nearer home, have not fome of you experienced the facred joys of communion with God? And were not those the fweetest hours of your life? Have you not found it good for you to draw near to him? And when he has withdrawn his prefence, how have you languished and mourned, and could never be easy till he was pleased to return to you? Do you not also find a facred pleasure in the inflitutions of the gospel, because there you hope to meet your God, and enjoy communion with him? Is this the principle that prompts you to pray, to hear, and perform every religious duty? Then you may appeal to a heart-fearching God, Lord, thou knowes? that I love thee.

But does not this view of the matter give the confcience of fome of you reafon to condemn you. You have neither known nor defired this fellowfhip with the Father, and his Son Jefus Chrift. Alas! you know nothing of those freedoms of divine friendfhip: and you have no prevailing pleafure in devotion. You either neglect the duties of religion, or elfe you perform them from cuftom, education, conftraint of confcience, or fome other fuch principle. Let me point out one inftance as a fpecimen; and that is fecret prayer and closet-

94

clofet-devotion. Nothing can be more expressly commanded than this is by Chrift, Matt. vi. 6. and is this your daily practice? Is this the most pleafant exercife of your life? Or is it a mere formality, or a weariness to you? My brethren, inquire honessly into this matter.

4. And laftly, If you love the Lord Jefus Chrift, you earneftly ftudy and endeavour to pleafe him by a life of univerfal obedience. Love is always defirous to pleafe the perfon beloved; and it will naturally lead to a conduct that is pleafing. This, then, you may be fure of, that if you love Jefus, it is the labour of your life to pleafe him. The grand inquiry with you is not, Will this or that pleafe men? will it pleafe myfelf? or will it promote my intereft? but, will it pleafe my God and Saviour? If not, I will have nothing to do with it. This is the standing rule of your practice: Let others confult their own inclinations, or the taste of the age; let them confult their own fecular intereft, or the applaufe of mortals; you confult what is the good, and acceptable, and perfect will of God. Rom. xii. 2. See alfo Eph. vi. 6. i Pet. iii. 17. Heb. xiii. 21. and if you may but pleafe him, it is enough. But are there not fome of you who are hardly ever concerned with this dutiful folicitude? If you can but pleafe yourfelves, and those whose favour you would court, if you can but promote your own interest, you are not folicitous whether you pleafe God, or not. This proves you deftitute of his love.

The only way to pleafe God, and the beft teft of your love to him, is obedience to his commandments. This is made the decifive mark by Chrift himfelf. If a man love me, he will keep my words—He that loveth me not, keepeth not my fayings. John xiv. 23, 24.—He repeats it over and over in different forms: He that hath my commandments, and keepeth them, he it is that loveth me. ver. 21. If ye love me, keep my commandments. ver. 15. Ye are my friends, if ye do whatfoever I command you. John xv. 14. This is the love of God, fays St. John; that that is, it is the fureft evidence, and the natural, infeparable effect of your love of God, that you keep his commandments; and his commandments are not grievous, I John v. 3. that is, they will not feem grievous to one that obeys them from the generous principle of love.

Here then, you that profess to love the Lord Jefus, here is an infallible teft for your love. Do you make it the great fludy of your life to keep his commandments? Do you honeftly endeavour to perform every duty he has enjoined, and that becaufe he has enjoined it? And do you vigoroufly refift and ftruggle againft every fin, however conftitutional, however fashionable, however gainful, becaufe he forbids it ? And is the way of obedience pleafant to you? Would you choofe this way to heaven rather than any other, if it were left to your election? What does confcience anfwer to this? Do not fome of you ftumble and hefitate here? If you fhould fpeak the truth, you muft fay, "I cannot but confess that I do wilfully indulge myfelf in fome things which Jefus has forbidden, and leave unattempted fome duties which he has commanded?" Alas! is this the cafe? Then his love does not dwell in you : you are undeniably his enemies, whatever be your pretensions. But if you can fay, " Lord, I own that in many things I offend; in many things I come fhort of my duty; but, if I know myfelf, I think, I can honeftly declare, that it is my fincere and earneft defire to do thy will, and that it is my real endeavour in every inftance in which it is made known to me;" I fay, if you can make this declaration, your cafe looks encouraging : this is the dutiful temper and modeft language of genuine love.

And now, my brethren, if Jefus fhould put this queftion to each of you, *Loveft thou me?* Are you prepared to anfwer him? Can you defire more plain, or more certain evidences than have been given? Surely, no; and therefore, if you are ftill quite undetermined, it is owing to the real obfcurity and perplexity of your cafe, cafe, or to your careleffnefs and inattention, or to your wilfully fhutting your eyes against conviction. My brethren, if you have these characteristics of love to Jefus, away with your painful jealoufies, and believe that your hearts are upright before him. But if you are destitute of them, be assured you are equally deftitute of his love. Love can never be feparated from its natural fruits and effects; and therefore, without thefe, it is the greatest abfurdity to pretend to it. Can you rife up now, and tell the Lord Jefus to his face, "Lord, it is true, I have not the fruits and evidences of love, but I love thee notwithftanding; I love thee above all, though I have no frequent affectionate thoughts of thee; I love thee, though I hate to think of thee; though I have no pleafure in converfing with thee, nor any concerns to pleafe thee, and keep thy commandments ; that is, I love thee, though my temper and conduct towards thee be those of an enemy !" Alas ! firs, will you prefume to impose upon an omniscient God, with fuch abfurd contradictory pretentions as thefe? Would fuch a love as this pafs current among men: Offer it now to your governor, your father, or your friend, and fee if they will accept of it. Tell your friend, "I most fincerely love you, though I do not love to think of you, or converfe with you : I love you, though I care not whether I pleafe you !" would he not difcard you from his friendship, as an inconfiftent pretender, and highly refent it, that you fhould think to impofe upon him by fuch abfurd pretenfions? And fhall that pass for fincere, fupreme love to God, which would not be accepted as common friendship among men? Shall enmity, difguifed under hypocri-tical pretenfions, be offered to him, under the name of friendfhip? With horror I mention it; and yet I muft mention it, that you may be flocked at your conduct? do you think he wants underftanding to be thus impofed upon? It is a plain cafe you have not the leaft fpark of true love to him; you are ene-mies to him in your minds, by wicked works, there-Vol. III.  $\mathbf{O}$ fore

### The Nature of Love to God and Serm. 47.

fore pass fentence upon yourfelves; "Here is a foul fo perverfe and wicked, that it has never yet loved its divine Parent and the fupreme excellency; has never loved the bleffed Jefus, the Friend of finners." And now, fhould all the enemies of God in this affembly walk to one fide, and crowd together by themfelves, how thin would they leave this congregation? How. few would be left behind! Well, the day is coming, when you must be feparated, as a shepherd divides the fheep from the goats. To the left hand, finners, to the left hand of your Judge, you must go, who continue destitute of his love. Then you will know the truth of your cafe; but alas! it will be too late to correct it. But now the difcovery of it is the first step towards the amendment of it : and therefore, let your confciences now anticipate the proceedings of the great judgment-day, and draw a line of feparation betwixt you, that I may addrefs you according to the claffes in which you are found. This leads me, purfuant to my propofed method,

II. To addrefs myfelf to you who have now difcovered that you are fincere lovers of Jefus Chrift, notwithstanding your many imperfections. And my time will allow me to offer only two things to you.

The one is, your heaven is fure! I repeat it again, your heaven is fure! as fure as the fincerity of your Love is the grand qualification for the enjoylove. ment of God. You can be happy in his prefence, becaufe you love him : happy in his fervice, becaufe you love him : happy in the contemplation of his glories, becaufe you love him. In fhort, love renders you fit. for heaven, and all its employments and fruitions, and therefore you shall certainly be admitted there; for God never will exclude one foul that is fit for it, or that could relish the happiness there. Love is the fubftance of all religion and obedience : love is the fulfilling of the law; and that love you have in your hearts. O happy fouls, " rejoice in hope of the glory of God :" for, as the apostle reasons, your hope will not make you ashamed,

a fbamed, becaufe the love' of God is fbed abroad in your hearts by the Holy Ghoft. Rom. v. 4, 5. Love is an immortal principle. Charity, or love, never faileth. 1 Cor. xiii. 8. It is therefore, not only your privilege, but your duty to rejoice : and how can you refrain, when in a few years, at most, you will be with that Jefus whom you love unfeen, in all the glories, and in all the felicities of the heavenly world!

The other thing I would mention to you is, alas! how faint, how imperfect is your love! And what great reason have you to cherish it, and labour to raise it into a vigorous flame? I need not offer much for your conviction on this head; for alas! you cannot but be fenfible your love bears no fuitable proportion to the excellency of the divine nature, the dying love of Jefus, and your obligations to him. Alas! it is but a feeble fpark, and fometimes fo buried and fuffocated under the weight of your corruptions, that you can hardly difcern it at all, and fear it is entirely extinguished. O then, I befeech you, love your God more; love your dear Redeemer more. Do not affront him with fuch a languid love : think over his excellencies, his relations to you, his unbounded love and grace to you; and thefe confiderations may fire your hearts, cold as they are. Cry to him to kindle the facred flame in your breaft, and avoid every thing that tends to damp it: guard against the friendship of this world, which is enmity againft God; and againft all the workings of fin : avoid all caufes of variance and distance between God and you, and labour to maintain a fettled peace and a conftant correspondence. But the other clafs of my hearers ftand in greater need of immediate relief, and therefore,

III. I fhall addrefs myfelf to fuch of you as may have difcovered, by this day's trial, that you are deftitute of the love of Chrift : and what I have to fay to you, my dear fellow mortals, may be reduced under two heads, your fin and danger—and the most proper means of deliverance. To convince you of your fin and danger in not loving God and his Son Jefus Chrift, confider,

1. It is the fupreme excellency that you have refu-fed to love. The most venerable Majesty, the most confummate wifdom, the most rich goodness and grace, the most amiable justice; these are the things you dif-affect, while you are difaffected towards God; for these are his very nature. You neglect and disgust faithfulness, candour, veracity, mercy, benevolence, and every moral beauty in the highest perfection. You are enemies to the origin, the fum total of all excellency. Now this may ftrike you with conviction in various views-as first, how depraved and corrupt must your fouls be, that can be difaffected to fuch a glorious object? How must your taste be vitiated, that cannot relish the supreme good? You can love the faint shadows of these perfections in your fellow-creatures; you can love generofity, benevolence, mercy, justice, and fuch virtues, in mortals, and may you not fall down overwhelmed with aftonishment, and cry out, " Lord, what is this that has befallen my foul, that I cannot love thee? that I can love any thing elfe that is lovely, and yet cannot love thee? O! what a perverfe, depraved, abominable foul is this!" Sirs, must you not be shocked to think you have such fouls within you? If your bodies were all over-run with rotten ulcers; if your features were all convulfed and diftorted into the most hideous forms; if your limbs were all fhattered and diflocated; if your tafte were fo vitiated that you loathed all healthful food, and you fhould crawl upon the earth, feeding on its mire and dirt; all this would not render you half fo odious and horrible a monster as a foul difaffected towards God. Again, What an aggravated wickednefs must this be? Your obligations to love him are just in proportion to his lovelinefs and excellency; and the wickednefs of breaking thefe obligations is in exact proportion to their firength. And as his excellency and your obligations are infinite, your wickednefs

nefs in not loving him must be fo too. What illustration shall I use to represent this crime in its proper infernal colours? If you should commence an enemy to the whole creation; profecute men and angels with implacable abhorrence; deteft the father that begat you, and the breafts that gave you fuck; nay, if you fhould commence a direct enemy to yourfelf, be per-petually plotting against your own life, all this would not equal the crime of hating the ever-bleffed God; for all thefe beings together have no excellency compared to him, and your obligation to love him is prior and fundamental to all others. Here your love fhould begin, here it fhould centre, and then extend its lines to all parts of the circle of creation; therefore, no more plead your innocence. If you had ne-ver committed one fin befide in all your life, this one of not loving God is fufficient to condemn you for ever to the loweft hell.-Further, This fin will appear more aggravated, if you confider that, by not loving God, you do in the strongest manner declare, that he has not thefe excellencies, but is a worthlefs Being, undeferving of your love. When you do not love him, after all the difcoveries he has made of himfelf to you, it is plain that this is the habitual fenfe of your hearts, that he has no excellency worthy of your love. This is the language of your hearts; and this language is much more ftrong and expreflive than that of your lips. You may fpeak things inadvertently, which your fecond thoughts would retract; but by being all your life deftitute of the love of God, you have all your life been declaring that you look upon him as a worthlefs Being, far inferior to a thoufand things upon earth, to which you have given your love. Now you would not dare to utter fuch blafphemy as this, and how can you dare to declare it, much more ftrongly by the temper of your hearts, and ftand to it as a truth? O! will you never retract it by becoming a lover of God? My brethren, can you imagine a more flocking, infolent wickednefs than this?

this? And what an hateful foul muft that be that has been guilty of it all its days! What is this but to fay, with the atheiftic fool, No God? for he is not God, if he be not fupremely excellent and amiable? and if you wifh there were no God, what do you do but wifh univerfa! defolation, and imprecate deftruction to yourfelf, and every other being? for were there no God, there could be nothing elfe; there would not have been one fpark of being through infinite fpace in any point of duration.

2. Your not loving God is a most unnatural wickednefs. He is your Father ; and that in a higher fenfe than your earthly parents can be. He is the Author of your bodies, becaufe it was he that first established, and ftill continues in force, those laws of generation, by which they were produced; and had it not been for this, men could no more produce one another than a ftone or a clod of carth. As to your fouls, the nobler part of your perfons, they are his immediate offspring, produced by him without the inftrumentality of fecondary caufes, of any pre-existent materials. Thus he is your Father in the highest sense; and yet you have not loved him! You have not loved him who gave you the power of love! You have not loved him from whofe creative hands you came a few years ago! What an unnatural wickednefs is this! What were you an hundred years ago ? You were nothing ; and you would have continued fo to all eternity, had he not fpoke you into being. And yet you have not fincerely loved him to this moment ! Most aftonishing ! Muft you not tremble at and abominate yourfelves as the vileft and most unnatural monsters? Should the child that received his being from you in a fubordinate fenfe, the child you dandled upon your knees, and for whom you are now laboriously making provision, fhould he hate the fight of you, fhun your company, and do nothing to pleafe you, how would you take it? Would you not think the unnatural miscreant unworthy of life? And yet thus you have treated your heavenly

102

## Serm. 47. . . . Ghrift opened and enforced.

103

heavenly Father, to whom you were under much higher, and more endearing obligations. You have treated him as only a defpifed broken idol, in whom you could take no pleafure. And are you pleafed with vourfelves notwithstanding ? shall not fuch a shocking prodigy, at which angels gaze with horror, be ftruck with horror at itfelf ?-Should all the world treat God as you have done, what would be the confequence? Why, there would not be one lover of God to be . found among all the numerous race of man. And yet, if you have a right to hate him, they have too. Have you any peculiar indulgence in this cafe? Can you produce an exemption from that universal law, Thou fhalt love the Lord thy God with all thy heart ? &c. You fee then whither your conduct leads, and do you not fhudder to think of it? And can you imagine yourfelves innocent ftill? Do you think you have tolerably good hearts for all? I am fure your reafon, if it be not entirely loft, will not allow you to think fo. -

3. This is a most ungrateful wickedness. Think what God has done for you; how many mercies he has given you, as many mercies as moments; think how many deliverances he has wrought for you; fee! what a well-furnished world he has formed for your) accommodation .- Think, O think, of the love and fufferings of Jefus; fee the abafement, the labours, the hardfhips of his life; fee the agonies of his crucifixion; fee the crown of thorns, the mangled vifage, the difjointed limbs, the flowing blood, the burfting heart, the dying pangs of your bleffed Redeemer. O! think upon, and view thefe things, and then fay, what do you think of your enmity against him after all this? Can ingratitude rife to a higher pitch? O! is this your return for all the kindness of God? for all the love of Jefus? There was fomething very cutting in his queftion to the Jews, Many good works have I done among you. I have never provoked you by any thing but good works; and for which of thefe do you ftone me? John x. 32. This may be cafily accommodated to you.

you. Many kind actions has he done to you, many grievous fufferings has he undergone for you; and for which of these do you hate him? O must not fuch an expostulation wound you to the heart, and melt you down at his feet in the deepest repentance? O! can you continue enemies to the very cross of Christ? Must not that difarm your refertment, and diffolve your hearts, hard as they are, into the most tender love?

4. This is a most comprehensive wickedness. You are repeatedly told, that love is the fulfilling of the law. Rom. xiii. 8, 10. James xi. 8. The first and great commandment upon which (with a like precept with regard to our neighbour) the whole law and the prophets depend, is, Thou Shalt love the Lord thy God with all thy heart, &c. that is, love is the root, the principle, the fubftance of all obedience, becaufe it constrains a man to a cheerful observance of every divine precept, and naturally difpofes him to a dutiful conduct. Now if love be the fulfilling of the whole law, it follows, that the want of love is the breach of the whole law: it is dashing the two tables of the law in pieces at once. As love is the principle of all obe-dience, fo enmity is the principle of all difobedience; and while this reigns in your hearts, it diffufes a deadly poifon through every thing you do; and you cannot perform one action acceptable to God. All your endeavours are but the treacherous flattery of an enemy, or the forced homage of a rebel obliged to feign fubmiffion. In fhort, the want of love to God is the want of every thing that is morally good : it is the root of all evil ; it is a complication of all wickednefs; a fummary, nay, I may fay, the fum total of all difobedience and rebellion. And can you any longer build your hopes on the fewnefs or fmallnefs of your fins? Alas! while you are possefield of this temper, your hearts are full of every evil. This renders not only your actions, your words, and thoughts of every kind, guilty and vile, but the ftated, fettled bent and difpolition

104

pofition of your minds, most wicked and abominable.\* And must you not fall on your faces before your injured Sovereign, and cry, Guilty, guilty ?—But,

5. This is a most inexcufable wickedness. Your mouth muft be ftopped, and you have no plea left to excufe or extenuate it. You cannot plead here, as you do in fome other things, "There are fo many different denominations in the world, fo many different opinions about religion, that I know not what to choofe ;" 'for here, as I told you, all are agreed. They are all unanimous in this, that love to God is effential to religion. Not only all denominations of Chriftians, but Jews, Mahometans, Heathens, and all that believe the existence of a God, confess this. And are you of a religion that does not include the love of God in it? It is the religion of devils, or rather it is the most diabolical irreligion. I infift the more boldly upon this point, because it is a catholic truth, free from all fufpicion of party. You cannot plead that you have no time for the exercise of love to God; for love is not the work of the hands, but of the heart ; and may be performed while you are engaged in other bufinefs. Can you not think affectionately of a friend behind a counter, or over a plough? So you might love God, and yet follow your daily employments.---Nor can you excufe yourfelves from your inability; for God has implanted the paffion of love in your nature, and you find it eafy to love other things : you can love the world, you can love a child or a friend, and why cannot you love God ? The act of love is the fame in both cafes, and one would think it would be an eafier thing for you to love him who is the Supreme Excellence, than imperfect creatures, whofe excellency is limited, or mingled with many hateful qualities .---Whence then is your inability in this cafe? It is nothing elfe but the ftrength of your enmity ; that is, Vol. III. you

\* When the omnifcient God views you afleep, when all the powers of action are fufpended, what can he fay of you but this, "Here lies an enemy of God?".

### The Nature of Love to God and Serm. 47.

you are fo difaffected to the ever-bleffed God, that you cannot love him; and does this leffen your crime? Do the inveteracy and rancour of your enmity excufe it ? Alas! that is its most dreadful aggravation. O! how wicked must you be when you are fo difaffected to the God that made you, and the Saviour that died for you, that you cannot prevail upon your hearts to love him! Farther, Have you tried what can be done to root out and fubdue this enmity by the power of the Holy Spirit? Have you cried to God in earnest prayer, and used all means for that end ? If not, it is plain you are an enemy to God, and love to continue fo: you hate him, and practically infift upon it you do right. Nor can you pretend ignorance in this cafe; for your own confcience tells you, it is your duty to love God. In fhort, you are intirely inexcufable : you fin against the full conviction of your own minds, and you must join with God, angels and men, in your own condemnation.

106

6. This temper, if it continue, will certainly exclude you from the kingdom of heaven. Alas! what would you do there with your difaffected hearts ?---Heaven would be an enemy's country to you. What pleafure could you have in the fociety or fervice of that God whom you hate ? in those exercises and enjoyments for which you have no relifh? Could you be happy in the practice of eternal flattery, bowing and finging infincere complimental praifes to an enemy? Could you affect the fociety there? There is not one like you in all that innumerable affembly : they all love that God whom you difguft. And with what pleafure could you mingle among them ? How could you live in a country where the laws, the cuftoms, the employments, the difpolition of the inhabitants, are all contrary to your temper? O! you need no fentence from your Judge to exclude you, you would exclude yourfelves, and choofe to mingle with your fellow-devils :--- Which leads me to add,

7. This

7. This temper, if it continue, will certainly lead you to hell. You are fit for no other place. Where fhould the enemics of God be, but in an infernal prifon? There is the fame propriety in it as in fhutting up madmen in bedlam, or rebels in a dungeon. Why, you are devilized already; you have the very temper of devils : enmity to God is the grand conflituent of a devil ; the worft ingredient in that infernal compofition ; and this you have in your hearts, and, as it were, incorporated with your habitual temper. And what do you think will become of you? Judge yourfelves, muft you not be doomed to that everlafting fire, which was prepared for the devil and his angels, whom you refemble?

Here I muft fubjoin, that if ever you are brought to love God, it muft be in this world. In heaven and hell no new difpolitions are planted; but those that are found prevalent in the foul will ripen and grow to perfection. None begin to grow wicked in hell, or to love God in heaven: the feeds are all fown in the prefent state, which then spring up to maturity. Therefore, if you would ever have the love of God sched abroad in your hearts, now, now is the time; now or never.

But, "What means (you will fay) fhall I ufe for this purpofe?"—Here I muft be but fhort: but if you are really in earneft, you will cafily underftand the fhorteft hints.

1. Labour to be deeply fentible of the aggravated finfulnefs and danger of your prefent flate. Deeply imprefs your minds with this. Check the levity of your minds, and indulge a ferious, anxious, forrowful temper; for your cafe really requires it.

2. Be deeply fenfible of the neceffity of divine grace to change your hearts, and infpire you with divine love. The difcafe is fo far gone, you cannot heal yourfelves; but, bleffed be God, He is able, He is able to make fuch an enemy as you his hearty friend and dutiful fubject. Therefore,

3. Betake

3. Betake yourfelves to earneft prayer; and confefs your guilt, your vilenefs, your liablenefs to divine difpleafure: cry for his Spirit to fhed abroad his love in your hearts: here let your petitions centre; for this is the main thing. Endeavour to devote yourfelves to him, to give up your difaffected hearts to him, to bow that rebellious foul at his feet.

4. Meditate upon the glory of God, his kindnefs to you, the love and fufferings of Chrift, and fuch fubjects as tend to beget and inflame your love to him.

5. Be not weary in the ufe of thefe means, but perfevere, hold on, until you find a thorough change produced in your hearts. Your eternal All is concerned; therefore be not remifs and carelefs; be not foon tired or difcouraged. Never give over until your laft breath; and who knows but that hoftile fpirit of yours may foon become the friend of God, and at length fhine among His celeftial friends in all their transcendent glories and ineffable and eternal felicity ! Amen.

# SERMON XLVIII.

THE NATURE AND AUTHOR OF REGENERATION.

### JOHN iii. 7. Marvel not that I faid unto thee, Ye must be born again.

THOSE doctrines are not always most abfurd in themfelves, nor firange to a well-informed mind, which are most wondered at in the world. Ignorance is apt to wonder, where knowledge difcovers nothing amazing or unaccountable. To fupport our obfervations, proofs might be given; but it is to my prefent purpofe to take notice of only one, one that excited from from Nicodemus wonder, about 1700 years 2g0, and is flill wondered at; nay, more, is ridiculed in an ignorant world: I mean the doctrine of Regeneration, or the New Birth.

Nicodemus comes to Chrift with a conviction of his high character as a Teacher from God, who attefted his commission by the strong and popular evidence of miracles. From fuch a Teacher he expects fublime instructions; and from his own improvements in Jewifh learning, he, no doubt, flatters himfelf he fhall be able to comprehend them : but when, inftead of gratifying his curiofity by telling him ftrange and great things of the kingdom of the Mefliah, as a fecular Prince, and a mighty Conqueror, as he and his coun-trymen expected, or difcourfing like a Rabbi on the Jewifh law; I fay, when, inftead of this, Jefus opens the conference by a folemn and authoritative declaration of the neceffity of fomething under the name of another birth, how is Nicodemus furprized! This he cannot understand. This feems strange, new doctrine to him; and he has an objection ready against it, as an abfurdity and an impossibility: How can a man be born when he is old? Can he enter the second time into his mother's womb and be born? This objection, which was altogether impertinent, and founded upon a grofs mistaken notion of the doctrine, may ferve as a fpecimen of all the objections that have been made againft this doctrine ever fince; they have all proceeded from ignorance, or from groß miftaken notions of an evident truth ; and hence men have imagined, like this mafter of Ifrael, that they reafoned ftrongly against it, when in reality they were faying nothing at all to the purpofe, and did not fo much as understand the cafe.

Our condefeending Lord took a great deal of pains to give Nicodemus right notions of this doctrine. For this purpofe he prefents it before him in various views. He tells him, he did not mean a fecond natural birth, but a birth of water and of the fpirit—a birth that renders a man fpiritual, and confequently fit for that fpiritual

#### The Nature and

fpiritual kingdom he was about to erect; and that the free and fovereign Spirit of God, the Author of this new birth, operated like the wind, which bloweth where it lifteth. Nicodemus ftill continues gazing at him, and wondering what he fhould mean. He is puzzled, after all, and afks, How can thefe things be? Jefus tells him the wonder did not lie in the doctrine, but in his ignorance of it, when he was a teacher of the law: Art thou a mafter in Ifrael, and knoweft not thefe things !

Art thou a mafter in Ifrael, and knowest not these things ! The connection of my text is this: That which is born of the flesh is field; and that which is born of the fpirit is spirit : therefore marvel not that I faid unto thee, ye must be born again. That is to fay, "The doctrine you are fo much furprized at, is not at all abfurd, fo as to make you wonder to hear it from my mouth. You cannot but know, that all mankind are born of the flefh; that is, propagated in a way that communi-cates a depraved nature to them; and hence, they are flefh; that is, corrupt and carnal, and therefore wholly unfit to be admitted into my kingdom, which is pure and fpiritual. But that which is born of the Spirit is fpirit; that is, fpiritual and holy; and therefore fit for that fpiritual and holy kingdom which I am come to fet up. Now, if this be the cafe, you have certainly no need to marvel at this doctrine : can it feem firange to you, that impure, unholy creatures must be changed, before they can be fit members of fo holy a fociety? Can you marvel at this? No; you would have more reafon to marvel at the contrary."

It is one part of my defign to-day to inquire, whether the doctrine of the new birth be indeed fuch a ftrange, abfurd, or impoffible thing in itfelf, as to deferve that amazement, and indeed contempt, which it generally meets with in the world : or whether it be not rational, neceffary, and worthy of univerfal acceptance? But before I enter upon this, it will be proper to inquire,

What the new birth is? And,

Who is the author of it?

And in what way does he generally produce it ? Remove

IIO

Remove your prejudices, my hearers, against this doctrine, fuspend your difbelief, and cease to wonder at, or ridicule it, till these points be explained, less you be found to speak evil of the things you know not.

I. Let us inquire, What it is to be born again ?

To gain your attention to this inquiry, I need only put you in mind, that whatever be meant by the new birth, it is not an infignificant fpeculation, not the difputed peculiarity of a party, not the attainment of a few good men of the first class, but it is effential to every good man, and abfolutely neceffary to falvation. You cannot doubt of this, if you look upon Jefus Chrift as a perfon of common veracity, and worthy of credit in his most folemn declarations; for he has declared, over and over again, with the utmost folemnity, that *Except a man be born again, he cannot fee the kingdom of heaven.* John iii. 3, 5, and 7. Attend then, if you think your eternal falvation worthy of your attention.

The phrafe, to be born again, like most other expreffions used upon divine fubjects, is metaphorical, and brings in natural things, with which we are familiarly acquainted, to affift our conceptions of divine things, which might otherwife be above our comprehension. We all know what it is to be born; and our knowledge of this may help us to understand what it is to be born again. As by our first birth we become men, or partake of human nature ; fo, by our fecond birth we become chriftians, and are made partakers of a divine and spiritual nature. As our first birth introduces us into this world, and into human fociety, fo our fecond birth introduces us into the church of Chrift, and makes us true members of that holy fociety. As by our first birth we refemble our parents, at least in the principal lineaments of human nature; fo by our fecond birth we are made partakers of the divine nature; that is, we are made to refemble the bleffed God in holinefs; or, as St. Paul expresses it, we are renewed after his image in knowledge, rightcoufnefs, and true holiness. Eph. iv. 24. Col. iii. 10. The effect is like

#### The Nature and

like its caufe; the child like the parent. That which is born of the flesh is flesh; and that which is born of the spirit is spirit. \* In our first birth we are endowed with child-like and filial difpofitions towards our human parents; and when we are born of God, we are infpired with a child-like and filial temper towards him, as our heavenly Father. By our natural birth we are placed in an imperfect, but growing flate. We have all the powers of human nature, though none of them in perfection; but from that time they grow and improve, till they at length arrive to maturity. In like manner, in our fecond birth, all the principles of virtue and grace are implanted; but their growth and improvement is the work of the chriftian life; and from that time they continue gradually growing, tho' with many interruptions, till at death they arrive at maturity and perfection. In our natural birth we pass through a very great change. The infant that had lain in darknefs, breathlefs and almoft infenfible, and with little more than a vegetative life, enters into a new state, feels new sensations, craves a new kind of nourishment, and discovers new powers. In like manner, in the fecond birth, the finner paffes through a great change; a change as to his view of divine things; as to his temper, his practice, and his flate; a change fo great, that he may with propriety be denominated. another man, or a new creature. As I shall adjust my discourse to the narrow limits of an hour, I must pass over, or but flightly touch upon all the particulars fuggested by the metaphor in my text, except the last, which is the most comprehensive and instructive; namely, That the new birth implies a great change in the views, the temper, the practice, and the flate of the finner; and under this head, fundry of the other par-

ticulars may be reduced. The various forms of expression, which the fcripture uses to represent what is here called a second birth,

\* Flesh of flesh, and spirit of spirit. This is according to the established laws of generation, by which every thing begets its like. birth, all confpire to teach us, that it confifts in a great change. It is reprefented as a refurrection, or a change from death to life : You hath he quickened, faith St. Paul, who were dead in trefpaffes and fins. Eph. ii. 1. It is reprefented as a new creation : If any man be in Christ, fays the fame infpired author, he is a new creature : old things are past away ; and behold, all things are become new. 2 Cor. v. 17. Put on, fays he, the new man, which, after God, is created in righteoufnefs and true holinefs. Eph. iv. 24. Thefe and like expressions fignify a very great change : and fuch forms of fpeech are very commonly used in the fame fense; which fhews they are fo far from being ridiculous, that they are agreeable to the common fenfe of mankind. When we fee a man that we once knew, look, and fpeak, and act as he used to do, it is customary to fay, " He is the old man still." But if we see a great alteration in his appearance, his temper, or behaviour, we are apt to fay, "He is a new man;" or, "He is quite another creature." When we fee a rugged, boifterous man become meek and inoffenfive, we are apt to fay, "He is become a mere child." Thefe forms of fpeech are fo fignificant and popular, that they have even paffed into proverbs, and that in various countries and languages; and hence they are used in the scriptures as plain and familiar reprefentations of this great truth. And hence we are bold to use them, in spite of that fenfelefs ridicule and contempt, which fome would caft upon them; but which rebounds upon themfelves, for cenfuring modes of expression that are not only facred, but agreeable to common fenfe.

Now, fince it is evident the new birth fignifies a great change, you are impatient, by this time, I hope, to know more particularly what it is. It is the change of a thoughtlefs, ignorant, hard-hearted, rebellious finner, into a thoughtful, well-informed, tender-hearted, dutiful fervant of God. It is the implantation of the feeds or principles of every grace and virtue in a heart that was entirely defitute of them, and full of fin. Vol. III. Q The

The finner that was wont to have no practical affectionate regard for the great God, is now made to revere, admire, and love him, as the greatest and best of Beings; to rejoice in him as his supreme happines, and cheerfully to fubmit to him as his Ruler. Formerly his temper and conduct would better agree to the infidelity of an atheift than to the faith of a chriftian : but now, he thinks, and fpeaks, and acts, as one that really believes there is a God; a God who infpects all his ways, and will call him to an account. The heart that was wont to difguft the holinefs of the divine law, and murmur at the firiciness of its precepts, now loves it; loves it for that very reafon for which it was wont to hate it; namely, becaufe it is fo holy. This was the temper of the Pfalmist : Thy word is very pure ; therefore (that is, on that very account) thy fervant loveth it, Pfal. cxix. 140. and of St. Paul, The law is holy, and the commandment is holy-and what follows ? I delight, fays he, in the law of God after the inner man. And I confent unto the law, that it is good. Rom. vii. 12, 16, 22. The haughty, flubborn, deceitful heart, is now made humble, pliable, fimple, and honeft, like that of a little child. Hence Chrift fays, Except ye be converted, and become as little children, ye shall not enter into the kingdom of Heaven. But whofoever shall humble himself as a little child, the fame is greatest in the kingdom of Heaven. Matt. xviii. 3, 4. This was also the temper of David : Lord, my heart is not haughty—furely I have behaved my-felf as a child that is weaned of his mother : my foul is even as a weaned child. Pfal. cxxxi. 1, 2. The heart that used to have no delight in communion with God, but lived as without God in the world, now feels a filial defire to draw near to him, and addrefs him with the humble boldnefs and freedom of a child. Becaufe ye are fons, fays St. Paul, God hath fent forth the Spirit of his Son into your hearts, crying Abba, Father. Gal. iv. 6. that is, Father, Father : the repetition of fo tender a name intimates the greatest endearment and affecti-onate freedom. The heart that had no realizing affecting

114

fecting views of a future flate, now feels the energy of that doctrine, and looks upon heaven and hell as indeed the most important realities. The heart that was once earthly and fenfual, eagerly fet upon things below, as its main purfuit, is now taught to afpire to heaven ; in heaven is its treafure, and there it will be. The thoughts that were once fcattered among a thoufand trifles, are now frequently collected, and fixed upon the great concerns of religion. Now alfo the heart is remarkably altered towards the Lord Jefus: formerly it feemed fufficient to wear his name, to profefs his religion, to believe him to be the Saviour of the world, to infert his name in a prayer now and then, and to give a formal attendance upon the inftitutions of his worship; but O! now he appears in a more important and interesting light. Now the finner is deeply fenfible that he is indeed the only Saviour, and he most eagerly embraces him under that endearing character, and intrusts his eternal all in his hands. Now he appears to him all lovely and glorious, and his heart is for ever captivated with his beauty. Now he prays, and longs, and languishes for him, and feels him to be all in all. O! now the very thought of being without Chrift, kills him. Thus, God, who first commanded light to fine out of darknefs, bath fined into his heart, to give him the light of the knowledge of the glory of Ged, in the face of Jefus Chrift, 2 Cor. iv. 6. in that face where it fhines with the faireft beams. Now also the man has very different views of himfelf: he fees himfelf to be a guilty, depraved, vile creature, all over-run with fin, and destitute of all goodness, but, as it is wrought in him by divine grace, how different is this from the proud felf-righteous effimate he was wont to form of himfelf! His views of fin are alfo quite different from what they used to be: he used to look upon it as a flight excufable evil, except when it broke out into fome groß acts. But now he fees it to be unfpeakably vile and bafe, in every inftance and degree. An evil thought, a corrupt motion of defire, an indifpofed heart

heart towards God, appears to him a flocking evil, fuch as nothing but the infinite mercy of God can forgive, and even that mercy, upon no other account but that of the righteoufness of Jefus Christ. He fees it does most justly deferve everlasting punishment; and he is often loft in wonder that the gofpel fhould open a door of hope even for him, who has been fo deeply guilty. It breaks his heart to think that he indulged fo bafe a thing fo long; and he can never be fully reconciled to himfelf, while he feels the remains of it. within him. His repentance now takes a new turn. Formerly he was entirely under the influence of felflove, and therefore, when he had any concern for his fin, it entirely proceeded from the fervile principle of fear; fear of the punishment, and not hatred of the crime. But now his foul is ennobled with more generous principles : now he can mourn over fin, as a bafe ungrateful evil, even when he has no thoughts of the punishment : now he can mourn over fin as against God, and not only as against a fin-punishing, but as against a fin-pardoning God. Now he mourns with generous forrow over pardoned fin ; and God's being to good as to forgive him, is fo far from leffening the evil of fin in his view, that this very confideration peculiarly affects him. O! that he should be so base as to fin against a God who is fo gracious as to forgive him after all! This thought breaks his heart; and God's forgiving him, is a reafon why he can never forgive himfelf. The heart has alfo a new temper in the duties of religion : it can no more indulge an habitual coldnefs or luke-warmnefs in them, but exerts its powers to the utmoft; and, when it has a languifhing interval, it cannot be eafy in that condition, but tries to roufe itfelf again. Experience teaches that it is good to draw near to God; and the ordinances of the gofpel are not tirefome formalities, as they were wont to be, but the means of life and refreshment; and they are its happieft hours which are fpent in attending upon them. Now the gofpel is not that dull, ftale,

#### Serm. 48.

stale, neglected tale it once was, but the most joyful tidings that ever came from heaven. As a new-born babe, the regenerate foul defires the fincere milk of the word, that it may grow thereby, 1 Pet. ii. 2. and it is effeemed more than neceffary food. Now the carelefs, fecure foul, that was always cautious of overdoing in religion, and flattered itfelf there was no need of being fo much in earneft, is effectually roufed, and ftrives in earnest to enter in at the strait gate, convinced both of the difficulty and neceflity of entering. Now religion is no longer a matter by the by, but a ferious bufinefs; and every thing that comes in competition with it must give way to it. The man is refolved to fave his foul at all adventures; and this, he is now convinced, is no eafy work. To fum up the whole, for I can only give a few fpecimens of particulars, the regenerate foul is changed univerfally in every part. I do not mean the change is perfect in any part : alas! no; fin ftill lives, and fometimes makes violent ftruggles, though crucified. The old man dies hard. But I mean, the change does really extend to every part. The foul is in no refpect the fame it was wont to be, as to the concerns of religion. It has new views, new fenfations, new joys, new forrows, new inclinations, and averfions, new hopes and fears : in fhort, as the apostle tells us, all things are become new, 2 Cor. v. 17. and according to his infpired prayer, the whole man, foul, body and spirit, is sanctified. i Thef. v. 23. By way of confirmation, let me add a few charac-

By way of confirmation, let me add a few characters of a regenerate man, which are expressly fcriptural. Every one that loveth, is born of God, faith St. John, I John iv. 7. That is, every new-born foul is possefield with a generous love to all mankind, which prompts it to observe the whole law in its conduct towards them (for love is the fulfilling of the whole law) and reftrains it from doing them any injury; (for love worketh no evil to his neighbour) Rom. xii. 10. This love extends not only to friends, but also to ftrangers, and even to enemies. It is a friendship to human nature in in general; it fpreads over the whole earth, and embraces the whole race of man. But as the righteous are the more excellent ones of the earth, it terminates upon them in a peculiar degree : and the reafon is obvious; they are, in a peculiar fenfe, the faints brethren, the children of the fame heavenly Father; and they bear a refemblance to him : and if he loves the Original, he must also love the Copy. Thus, fays St. John, Every one that loveth him that begat, loveth him alfo that is begotten of him. I John v. I.

Another character of regeneration the fame apoftle gives you, I John v. 4, 5. and that is, victory over the world by faith. Every one that is born of God overcometh the world : and this is the victory that overcometh the world, even our faith. That is, Whatever temptations may arife from the riches, honours, or pleafures of the world, or from the fociety of mankind, the man that is born of God has fuch believing views of eternal things, as conftrains him to conflict with them, and overcome them. He has not fuch a mean, daftardly foul, as to yield to oppofition. He is enabled, by divine grace, to brave dangers, and encounter difficulties in fo good a caufe : he dares to be wife and happy, though all the world fhould turn against him. O what a change is this from his former temper !

Another diffinguishing characteristic of the new birth, is, univerfal holinefs of practice, or a confcientious observance of every known duty, and an honest, zealous refiftance of every known fin. There is no known duty, however unfafhionable, difagreeable, or dangerous, but what the true convert honeftly endeavours to perform; and there is no known fin, however cuftomary, pleafing, or gainful, but what he honeftly refifts, and from which he labours to abstain. This necefiarily follows from what has been faid; for when the principles of action are changed within, the courfe of action will be changed too. When the heart is made holy, it will infallibly produce habitual holinefs of practice. A good tree must bring forth. good

Serm. 48.

good fruit. This St. John afferts in the ftrongeft manner, and in various forms. We know, fays he, that every one that doth righteoufnefs; that is, that habitually practifeth righteousness, is born of God, 1 John ii. 29. We know that whofoever is born of God finneth not ; that is, he finneth not habitually, fo as he may be denominated a finner by way of diffinction ; but he that is begotten of God keepeth himself; that is, keepeth himfelf from the infection of fin; and that wicked one toucheth him not. 1 John v. 18. Little children, fays he, let no man deceive you : he that doth righteousness is righteous -But he that committeth fin is of the devil. Whofoever is born of God doth not commit fin ; i. e. as I explained it before, he does not habitually fin in the general tenor of his practice, fo as to make fin his diffinguifhing character ; for his feed remaineth in him ; that is, the principles of grace, implanted in him in regeneration, are immortal, and will never fuffer him to give himfelf up to fin, as formerly; and he cannot fin becaufe he is born of God : his being born of God happily difables him for ever from abandoning himfelf to fin again .---In this the children of God are manifest; and the children of the devil; that is, this is the grand diffinguishing characteristic existing between them, Whosever doth not rightcousnefs, is not of God. 1 John iii. 7-10. You fee then a holy practice is one of the most certain figns of regeneration; and, therefore, in vain do fuch pretend to it, or boaft of high attainments in inward experimental religion, who are not holy in all manner of conversation, and do not live righteously, foberly, and godly in the world.

By this time, I hope, my brethren, you understand what it is to be born again. And now, upon a review of the fubject, there are feveral things of importance, which I would fubmit to your confideration.

First, I leave you now to confider, whether baptifin be the fame thing with regeneration, or the new birth, in the feripture fense. I grant that baptifin is a facramental fign of regeneration, just as the Lord's Supper is

is a facramental fign of the body and blood of Chrift; and, therefore, baptism may be called regeneration, by the fame figure which Chrift uses when he fays of the bread, This is my body. In this metonymical fenfe, this method of fpeaking has been ufed by many great and good men; and when they call baptifm regeneration, they only mean, that it is an outward fign of it, just as the facramental bread, for the fame reafon, is called the body of Chrift. Were it always ufed in this fenfe, it would hardly be worth while to take notice of it as an impropriety; though, I must confess, I cannot find the fame form of fpeech indifputably ufed concerning baptifm in the Bible. But when men are taught that the whole of that regeneration, or new birth, which the fcripture requires as abfolutely neceffary to falvation, means no more than just being baptized; and when they that have been baptized, begin to think that they have no more to do with the new birth, the error is too dangerous to be paffed over in filence. I shall just lead you into a track of thought, by which you may eafily make yourfelves judges in this controverfy. If baptifm be regeneration in the fcripture fenfe, then, whatever the fcripture fays concerning perfons regenerated, born again, or created anew, will also hold true concerning perfons baptized. This is fo plain a principle, that it is hard to make it plainer; for if baptifm be the fame with regeneration, the new birth, or the new creation, then the fame things may be faid of it. Proceeding upon this obvious principle, let us make the trial in a few inftances. It may be truly faid of him that is born of God, in the fcripture fenfe, that he does not habitually fin, &c. Now fubftitute baptized, inftead of born of God, and confider how it will read, " Every one that is baptized linneth not; but he that is baptized keepeth himfelf; and the evil one toucheth him not." Has this the appearance of truth ? Do not all of you know fo much of the conduct of many who have been baptized, as to fee this is most notoriously false? for where can we find

120

find more audacious finners upon earth, than many who have been baptized! Let us make another trial. Whofoever is born of God, in the fcripture fenfe, overcometh the world. But will it hold true, that whofoever is baptized, overcometh the world? If any man be in Chrift, in the fcripture fenfe, he is a new creature ; old things are past away, and all things are become new. But how will it found if you read, If any man be baptized, he is a new creature ; old things are past away, and all things are become new? Does baptifm univerfally make fuch a change in the fubject, as that it may, with any tolerable propriety, be called a new creation ?- I might eafily make the fame experiment with many other paffages of fcripture; but thefe may fuffice as a fpecimen. And now, must it not be as evident as any mathematical demonstration, that regeneration, or the new birth, in the fcripture-fenfe, is fomething elfe, fomething more divine, more intrinfical, more transformative of the whole man, than baptifm ? That man must labour to be deceived, who can work up himfelf to believe, after fuch a reprefentation of the cafe, that if he has been baptized, he has all that regeneration which is neceffary to his admiffion into the kingdom of heaven. I know no abfurdity parallel to it, except the doctrine of transubstantiation, the characteristical absurdity of the church of Rome. Becaufe Chrift, in the diftribution of the elements in the Eucharist, faid of the bread, This is my body, putting the fign for the thing fignified, therefore Papifts conclude, the bread is fubftantially the very fame with the body of Chrift fignified by it, though it still retains all the fensible properties of bread. Some Protestants have fallen into the fame error as to the other facrament of baptifm, and that with lefs plaufibility. I can find no fcripture that fays of baptism, "This is regeneration :" and yet, they infift upon it, that it is the very thing; and make the fign and the thing fignified one and the fame.

Let me borrow a very plain and popular, and yet fubftantial argument from Limborch. "The great Vol. III. R defign

#### The Nature and

defign of Chrift's coming into the world was to renew and regenerate men : this is a work worthy of his own immediate hand." And yet we are told Jefus baptized not, but his difciples, John iv. 2. "A plain evidence that he made a diffinction between baptifm and regeneration. St. Paul, writing to the Corinthians, fays, I thank God that I baptized none of you, but Crifpus and Gaius. 1 Cor. i. 14. "But if baptifm be regeneration, his meaning muft be, I thank God that I regenerated none of you .- But is this caufe of thankfgiving? Could he give thanks to God that he had not regenerated any of them ? Chrift, fays he, fent me not to baptize :--- " but can we think Chrift did not fend the chief of the apoftles to promote the great work of regeneration? He, elfewhere, calls himfelf their fpiritual father," for, fays he, in Christ Jesus I have begotten you through the gospel. 1 Cor. iv. 15. "But if baptism be the new birth, he could not have been their father, or begotten them, unlefs he had baptized them. From which it is evident, that St. Paul made a great differ-ence between baptifin and regeneration."

Therefore, let no man deceive you with vain words. Baptifm is an ordinance of Jefus Chrift, which you fhould think highly of; but do not put it out of its place, by fubfituting it for quite another thing. Believe it, this is not that kind of regeneration which you muft be the fubjects of, if you would enter into the kingdom of God.

Another thing which I would now leave to your confideration, is, Whether regeneration, or the new birth, in the fenfe I have explained it, be not a rational, noble thing ? And whether fo great a change in a man's temper and conduct may not emphatically be called a new birth ? When a man is born again, the ruins of his nature are repaired, and every noble and divine grace and virtue are implanted in his heart. His heart is made capable of generous feufations; his underftanding has fuitable views of the moft interefting and fublime objects; and his temper and behaviour are are rightly formed towards God and man. In fhort, the mean, depraved, earth-born creature, is made an infant-angel'; nay, St. Peter tells you, *he is made partaker of the divine nature.* 2 Pet. i. 4. What a glorious and furprifing change is this! Should you fee a clod of earth rifing from under your feet, and brightening into a fun, it would not be fo glorious a transforma-

tion. This change gives a man the very temper of heaven, and prepares him for the enjoyments and employments of that facred region.

Therefore, marvel not that I fay unto you, ye must be born again. Do not gaze and wonder at me, as if I told you fome ftrange, new, abfurd thing, when I tell you, you must be regenerated in the manner I have explained, if ever you would enter into the kingdom of heaven. Confult your own reafon and experience -and they will tell you, that as heaven is the region of perfect holinefs, and as you are indifputably corrupted, depraved creatures, you must be so changed, as to be made holy; or in other words, you must be born again, before you can enjoy the happiness of that holy place: or confult the Bible, which you must own to be true, or own yourfelves to be the most gross hypocrites in professing the christian religion; confult your Bible, I fay, and you will find the abfolute necessity of being born again afferted in the ftrongeft terms. Need I remind you of the folemn affeveration of Chrift in my context, Verily, verily, I fay unto thee, except a man be born again, he cannot fee the kingdom of heaven ! The fame blefled lips have affured us, that, except we be converted, and become as little children, we cannot enter into his kingdom. Matt. xviii. 2. St. Paul fpeaks in the fame ftrain: If any man be in Chrift, as we all must before we can be faved by him, he is a new creature, &c. We are bis workmanship, fays he, created in Christ Jefus to good works. Eph. ii. 10. In Chrift Jefus, neither circumcifion availeth any thing, nor uncircumcifion, but the new creature. All external forms of religion, whether Jewilh or christian, are of no avail, without this new creation.

tion. Gal. vi. 15. This is alfo more than intimated in that comprehenfive promife of the Old Teftament (Ezek. xxxvi. 25, 26.) A new heart will I give you; and a new fpirit will I put within you, &c. And are not thefe repeated declarations fufficient to convince you of the neceffity of this great change! Will you any more marvel, when you are told, you muft be born again! No, rather marvel to hear the contrary: it may make you wonder indeed, to be told, that an unholy finner, without any change, is fit for the prefence of a holy God; fit to relift the holy enjoyments of heaven; and capable of being happy in what is directly contrary to his nature. This would be ftrange, abfurd doctrine indeed; and wherever you hear it, you may juftly wonder at it, and defpife fuch nonfenfe.

Now if this be true, that except a man be born again, be cannot enter into the kingdom of God, then it will follow, that juft as many perfons in this affembly as have been born again, juft fo many are in a flate of favour with God, and prepared for the happinefs of heaven. And, on the other hand, juft as many as are unregenerate, juft fo many lie dead in fin, under the wrath of God, and liable to everlafting mifery. Let each of you particularly admit this conviction : " If I am not born again, I have not the leaft ground to hope for happinefs in my prefent flate."

Upon this follows another inquiry, of the utmoft importance; and that is, Whether you have ever experienced the bleffed change of the new birth? Have your views, your difpolitions, and your conduct been changed in the manner deferibed? and can you lay claim to those diffinguishing characters of a regenerate foul, which have been mentioned? Pause, and think feriously; recollect your past experiences; look into your own hearts; observe the tenor of your practice; and from the whole, endeavour to gather an honest answer to this grand question, "Have I ever been born again?"

#### Serm. 48. Author of Regeneration.

If you can anfwer this in your favour, St. Peter will tell you the happy confequence; and I fhall only defire you to read those most comfortable verses, 1 Pet. i. 3-6. Bleffed be the God and Father of our Lord Jefus Christ, who, according to his abundant mercy, hath begotten us again to a lively hepe—to an inheritance incorruptible, and undefiled, and that fadeth not away, referved in heaven for you, who are kept by the power of God, through faith unto falvation, ready to be revealed in the last time; wherein ye greatly rejoice, though now for a season (if need be) ye are in heaviness through manifold temptations. But if, on the other hand, you find you have never

But if, on the other hand, you find you have never been born again, what is to be done? Muft you lie ftill in that condition? or fhould you try to get out of it? I am fure my defign in endeavouring to let you fee your condition, is, that you may efcape out of it, and be happy; and if you are fo kind to yourfelves as to concur with me in this defign, I hope, through divine grace, we fhall fucceed. This introduces the next inquiry, namely,

II. Who is the Author of this divine change, called the new birth?

The change is fo great, fo noble, and divine, that from thence alone we may infer it can be produced only by divine power. And the nature of man, in its prefent flate, is fo corrupt and weak, that it is neither inclined nor able to produce it. It is alfo uniformly afcribed to God in the facred writings. The regenerate foul is repeatedly faid to be born of God; born, not of blood, nor of the will of the fleft, nor of the will of man, but of God. John i. 13. All things are become new, fays St. Paul, and all things (that is, all thefe new things) are of God. 2 Cor. v. 17, 18. Every good gift, and every perfect gift, fays St. James, is from above, and cometh down from the Father of lights—who of his own will bath begotten us with the word of truth. James i. 17, 18. 'I he fpirit is repeatedly mentioned as the author of the new birth, in the chapter where my text lies. This may fuffice for the proof of fo plain a point.

125

Here

Here then, finners, you fee to whom you muft look for this bleffing. You can no more regenerate yourfelves, than you could beget yourfelves at firft. And this you muft be deeply fenfible of. But he that made you at firft is able to new-make you, and to repair his own workmanfhip, which you have demolifhed. And it is He who has actually changed many a heart in our guilty world.—Here the next inquiry comes in very feafonably, namely,

III. In what way does this divine agent produce this change?

He is pleafed to use fuch variety, as to circumflances, that I cannot take time to defcribe them. But as to the fubftance of the work, which is the fame in all adults, he generally carries it on in the following manner. The first step is, to convince the finner of his need of this change, by difcovering to him his guilt and danger, and particularly the universal corruption of his nature. He is roufed out of a flate of flupid fecurity by an affecting view of the holinefs of God, of the purity of his law, of the terror of its penalty, of the great evil of fin, and of his own exposedness to the divine difpleafure upon the account of it. Upon this he becomes fad and ferious, uneafy in his mind, and anxious about his condition. He endeavours to reform his life; he prays, and uses the other means of grace with earneftness unknown before. And when he has gone on in this courfe for fome time, he begins perhaps to flatter himfelf, that now he is in a fafe con-But alas! he does not yet know the worft dition. of himfelf. Therefore the holy Spirit opens his eyes to fee the inward univerfal corruption of his whole foul, and that a mere outward reformation is far from being a fufficient cure of a difeafe fo inveterate. Hereupon the awakened finner betakes himfelf to the ufe of the means of grace with redoubled vigour and earneftnefs, and ftrives to change the principles of action within. But alas! he finds his heart is a stubborn thing, and altogether unmanageable to him; and after

#### Serm. 48.

ter repeated ftrivings to no purpofe, he is effectually convinced of his own inability, and the abfolute neceffity of the exertion of divine power to make him truly good. Therefore he lies at the throne of grace, as a poor, helplefs, anxious finner, entirely at mercy, and unable to relieve himfelf. It would take up more time than I can allow, to defcribe the various exercifes, the anxious fears, and eager pantings, the ftrong cries and tears of a foul in this condition. What I have hinted may put fuch of you in mind of them, as have never been the fubjects of them. While the finner lies in this defponding fituation, it pleafes God to pity him. Now the important hour is come, when the old man must be crucified ; when the divine and immortal principles must be implanted in a heart full of fin; and when the dead finner must begin to live a holy and divine life. The Great God inftantaneoufly changes the whole foul, and gives it a new, a heavenly turn. In fhort, now is wrought that important change, which I have already defcribed, which is called the new birth, and denominates the man a new creature.

Here again you may furnish yourselves with materials for felf-examination. If you have been born again, you have thus felt the pangs of the new birth, and seen your guilty, finful, and dangerous condition in a true light. And can you put your hand upon your heart, and fay, "Here is the heart that has been the subject of this operation?"

Hence also may be gathered fome proper directions for fuch as are in a flate of nature, how to attain the new birth.

Endeavour to be thoroughly acquainted with the corruption of your nature: it is from this that, the neceflity of a new birth proceeds.

Be fully convinced of the indifpentiable necessity of this change to your falvation.

Break off from, and forfake whatever tends to obftruct the new birth; as exceffive worldly cares, bad company, and in fhort, all fin.

Serioufly

Serioufly use all the means of grace; as, earneft prayer, attentive hearing of the word, &c.

Perfevere in fo doing, till your endeavours are crowned with fuccefs. And particularly, do not grow impatient of those anxieties and fears that will at first attend your pursuit.

These short hints may suffice by way of direction, if you are fincerely defirous of being directed... And what do you determine to do? Will you not refolve to feek after this important change, upon which your eternal All depends? O! let us part to-day fully determined upon this, that we will implore the power and mercy of God to create in us clean hearts, and renew within us right spirits.

# SERMON XLIX.

THE DIVINE LIFE IN THE SOULS OF MEN CONSIDERED.

GAL. ii. 20. I am crucified with Christ, neverthelefs I live; yet not I but Christ that liveth in me: and the life I now live in the flesh, I live by the faith of the Son of God.

HE principal defign of St. Paul in this Epiftle, is to affert his divine miffion, in oppofition to the infinuations of the judaizing feducers that had intruded into the Galatian church; and to prove the juftification of a finner to be only through the merit of Chrift's righteoufnefs, and the inftrumentality of faith. To confirm the latter, he argues, Gal. ii. 15, 16, from the cafe of the apoftles and Jewish chriftians in general: We who are Jews by nature, and not finners of the Gentiles, knowing that a man is not juftified by the works of Serm. 49.

of the law, but by the faith of Jefus Chrift, even we have believed in Jefus Chrift, that we might be justified by the faith of Christ, and not by the works of the law. And, Gal. ii. 19. he explicitly declares his own cafe in particular, as agreeing with theirs. I through the law am dead to the law, that I might live unto God; that is, by the knowledge of the perfection of the law, as to its extent and fpirituality; I am utterly unhinged and thrown off from all dependance on the works of the law for justification, and from expecting ftrength to yield obedience to be conveyed, according to the covenant of works;—and God's defign in bringing me off from this dependance, and mine in relinquishing it, is not that I may turn libertine, and caft off all obligations to obedience, but that I may, by ftrength derived from Chrift, devote myfelf wholly to him, and make my life a feries of obedience to his will.

He goes on relating his own cafe in the text; in which you may obferve thefe truths:

First, " That believers are endowed with spiritual activity; or, That they are enabled to ferve God, and perform good works." This is intimated by two expreffions, I am crucified, and, I live ; which, though they feem contradictory, do really meanthe fame thing. I am crucified, fignifies the mortification of indwelling fin, the fubduction and extirpation of corrupt principles and inclinations : and he calls the mortification of thefe the crucifixion of himfelf (I am crucified ) becaufe of their intimate inhesion with his very nature; they were a fort of felf to him. We have a like expression used, and explained by himself in Rom. vi. 6. Our old man is crucified with him, that the body of fin might be destroyed, that henceforth we should not serve fin. Now the mortification of fin is a part of the fervice of God, at least a necessary pre-requisite. So the apostle reafons in Rom. vi. 2, 6, 11. How shall we that are dead to fin, live any longer therein? Reckon yourfelves to be dead indced unto fin, but alive unto God. The other expreffion, I live, fignifies spiritual activity; a vigorous, Vol. III, perfevering perfevering ferving of God; a living unto God (as it is explained v. 19. and Rom. vi. 11.) Life, as afcribed to a rational being, imports not only a continuance in exiftence, in which fenfe inanimate things may be faidto live, but efpecially a power of rational operation frequently exercifed;—and when attributed to a morally upright being, as fuch, it imports more than fome kind of power of operation, namely, a vital principle of fpiritual and holy operation, and the frequent, perfevering exercife of it. Such a principle or power is very fignificantly called Life, to denote its intimacy in the foul, its vivacity, and permanency.

Secondly, We may observe, that " the vital principle of holinefs in believers, whereby they are enabled to ferve God, is communicated to them through Chrift only as a Mediator." This is intimated by that expression, I am crucified with Christ; that is, fin is crucified in me by virtue of the crucifixion of Chrift; from the merits of his death my firength to fubdue fin refults; and the mortification of it is the certain confequent of his fufferings, becaufe thereby divine grace was purchased and infured for his chosen, to be communicated at the time appointed. To the fame purpose he speaks in Gal. vi. 14. Far be it from me that I should glory, save in the cross of our Lord Jesus Christ, by whom [or by which \*] the world is crucified to me, and I unto the world. This is also afferted in the emphatical epanorthofis, I live; yet not I, but Christ liveth in me : that is, spiritual life is formally in me, but it is not felf-originated; it does not refult from my natural principles (which are fo effential to me, that I may represent them under the perforal pronoun I) but was first implanted, and is still supported and cherifhed by the power and grace of God through Chrift; and it is in every refpect fo dependent upon him, and his influence is fo intimately diffused through my foul, that

\* The relative may be referred to savey, or to 'Inov Xgire; and either way the fense is much the fame. the Soul confidered.

#### Serm. 49.

that I may fay, Christ liveth in me. A like expression is used in Col. iii. 3, 4. Christ is our life.

Thirdly, We may take notice, "that believers receive fupplies from Chrift for the maintenance and nourifhment of their fpiritual life." The life which I now live (or, as it might be rendered more fignificantly, what I now live) in the flefb, I live by the faith of the Son of God.

So that the fubftance of the text is exhaufted in thefe three doctrines, "That all true believers are endowed with an ability to ferve God: That this ability was first communicated, and is still maintained through Christ only: and, That it is by faith they derive supplies from him, for the support and nourishment thereof."

You may observe I here reason from a particular to an universal, and infer, that because these doctrines are true with respect to St. Paul, therefore they are true with refpect to believers in general; and the fcope of the text warrants this method of reafoning in this inftance, which is confeffedly fallacious in other cafes ; for St. Paul here introduces his own cafe with a defign to reprefent and illustrate the cafe of believers in common; which he could not reafonably have done, had not theirs been fubftantially the fame with his in thefe refpects. Befides, he declares thefe things of himfelf, not upon the account of any circumftances peculiar to himfelf, which might appropriate them to him ; and therefore, though fo eminent a faint might have peculiar degrees of them, yet as to their reality and kind, they equally belong to all true chriftians.

Nothing can be more profitable, nothing more neceffary, than right notions about fpiritual life. It is the main bufinefs of thofe that have it not to feek it, and of thofe that have it to cherifh it; but how can they do either, if they know not what it is? Without it our religion is vain; we cannot ferve the living God here, nor enjoy him hereafter; we are expofed to the eternal agonies of the fecond death, and our fouls

fouls are pining under a fpiritual decay, that will at length confume our vitals. How neceffary then is fpi-ritual life ! And the neceffity of the thing infers the neceffity of the knowledge of it. The profession of it is the fource of all vital religion ; it is the health of the fpirit; the ornament and perfection of the human nature; the grand pre-requifite to everlaiting happinefs; the dawn of celeftial glory; is it not then in-comparably profitable? And muft not the right knowledge of it be fo too? Yet fome are entirely ignorant of it; others, who fay they fee, are widely miftaken about its nature, the time and manner of its communication, its fubjects, the author and meritorious caufe of it, and the way in which it is fupported and cherifhed : and therefore, for the inftruction of the ig-norant, the rectification of wrong fentiments, and the confirmation of our minds in the truth, it may be expedient briefly to attempt the folution of the following inquiries :

I. Wherein spiritual life confists ?

II. When it is communicated ?

III. Whether it be inftantaneously communicated, or gradually acquired by repeated acts? IV. Who are the fubjects of it? or, in what extent

is it communicated?

V. In what fenfe is it communicated and fupported through Chrift?

VI. How faith derives fupplies from him for its fupport and nourifhment ?

I. " Wherein does fpiritual life confift?" This inquiry, though neceffary both to inform your minds and to repel the charge of unintelligiblenefs, fo frequently alledged against this doctrine, yet is exceeding difficult, both because of the mysteriousness of the thing in itself, and because of the blindness of the minds of those that are not endowed with it. It is mysterious in itself, as every kind of life is. The effects and many of the properties of animal life are plain, but what animal life is in itfelf is an inquiry too fublime

fublime for the most philosophic and soaring mind. Now fpiritual life ftill approaches nearer to the life of the divine Being, that boundlefs ocean of incomprehenfible mysteries, and confequently exceeds our capa-city more than any other. But besides, such is the blindnefs of unregenerate fouls, that they cannot receive or know the things of the fpirit of God, 1 Cor. ii. 14. and therefore what is knowable by enlightened. minds concerning fpiritual life, cannot be apprehended with fuitable clearness by them. The power of understanding it feems to be the effect of the thing understood, and cannot exist separately from it. So it is in other kinds of life. Nothing but reafon can in-form what is a rational life. Let the faculties of the most fagacious animal be ever fo must polished, it can receive no ideas of it. So he that believeth, hath the witnefs in himfelf, 1 John v. 10. and none but himfelf can bear its testimony. \* But suppose we could form clear ideas, we should still be at a loss for clear expressions. I have a clear idea of many of the appetites, paffions, and motions of animal life; but words may fail me to express them intelligibly to another, especially if he has no experience of them himfelf. It need not, therefore, afford you any furprize, if, after all that shall be faid to illustrate this point, it still remains obscure. To defign any more than to give you fome faint glimmerings, fome half-formed, inadequate conceptions of it, would be a piece of arrogant vanity.

Now fpiritual life fuppofes a living fpiritual principle, and it implies a difpolition and a power to ferve God, or of holy operation.

1. It fuppofes a living fpiritual principle. There can be no life, no vital actions, without a vital principle, from whence they flow: *e.g.* there can be no animal life, no animal

\* I do not mean that the unregenerate have the fame degree of incapacity in the one cafe as beafts have in the other, but only that the one is as really incapable as the other. Reafon in the unregenerate approaches nearer to fpiritual life than the powers of animal life do to reafon, and yet comes entirely flort of it. animal fenfations and motions, without a principle of animal life. By a vital principle I mean that from which life and its actions and passions immediately proceed : e.g. in the formation of our fouls a principle of reason is concreated with them, which is the fource, the immediate caufe of their life and rational operations. I call this a principle, becaufe it is the beginning of life. Now fpiritual life must suppose a principle of holinefs. A principle of life of any kind will not fuffice; it must be particularly and formally a holy principle; for life and all its operations will be of the fame kind with the principle from which they proceed. Now a holy principle is fomething diffinct from and fuperadded to the mere natural principle of reafon. By virtue of this a man can think and will; but experience affures us, that thinking and willing, abstractedly confidered, or under fundry modifications which they are capable of, are very different from thinking and willing in a holy manner, or with those peculiar modifications which fpiritual operations bear. I can will an indifferent or evil object, if it appears to me as good ; but my willing that which is morally good as fuch, is a very different act; and the principle from which the former act with its modification proceeds, may not be capable of producing the latter fo modified. This may be illustrated by the cafe of the devils and their aflociates of the human race. They fill retain the principle of reafon, and are capable of thinking and willing; otherwife they would be incapable of torment, for without confciousness there could be no fenfe of mifery, and confcioufnefs implies thinking ; and without willing there can be no defire of happinefs, or abhorrence of penal evil; but yet they are utterly incapable of thinking and willing in a manner morally good, and therefore a principle of holinefs must be fomething distinct from a mere rational principle.

It may be urged, "That all the acts of fpiritual life may be refolved into the acts of reason, namely, thinking

#### the Soul confidered.

Scrm. 49.

thinking and willing in a holy manner; and therefore the principle of the former is the fame with that of the latter. In anfwer to this, I grant that the principle of reason; when it implies a power of putting forth fuch acts, and about fuch objects, as holinefs includes; when it implies a power of knowing and choofing those things which the divine law requires us to know and choofe, that then it is the fame with a principle of fpiritual life; and this is the cafe of fuch reafonable beings as still continue in their original uprightnefs: but the principle of reafon may be fo maimed as to lofe this power, and yet not lofe its nature; that is, it may become incapable of that manner of operation which spiritual life produces, and yet continue a principle of reafon still. This is evident from the cafe of infernal fpirits, formerly mentioned. Now the principle of fpiritual life fupplies this moral defect; it adds to reafon a capacity of exercifing itfelf fuitably about fgiritual things. Such a capacity is a feparable adjunct of reason, and by the corruption of our natures it is actually feparated from it; and confequently, till it be fuperadded to our rational powers, we are incapable of fpiritual operation; I mean fuch a manner of fpiritual operation as is morally good and acceptable to God. Our rational powers indeed can ftill exercife themfelves about divine things, but then it is not in a fit manner : and therefore when a finner is quickened by efficacious grace, a power of acting in a fit manner with respect to these things is superadded to his rational powers; and before this there is nothing in him out of which fuch a power may be educed.

To illuftrate this matter, let us fuppofe a man deprived of the faculty of memory, and yet to continue rational (as he might in a low degree) according to this fuppofition, he will be always incapable of an act of memory, however firong his powers of perception, volition, &c. may be, till the power of exercifing his reafon in that particular way which is called remembering, be conferred upon him. So let a finner's merce natural

natural powers be ever fo much refined and polifhed, yet, if there be no principle of fpiritual life diffinct from them infused, he will be everlaftingly incapable of living religion. This gracious principle is called the feed of God, 1 John iii. 9. to intimate, that as the feed of vegetables is the first principle of the plant, and of its vegetable life, so is this of spiritual life, and all its vital acts.

2. Spiritual life implies a difposition to holy operation; an inward propenfity, a fpontaneous inclinati-on towards holines; a willing that which is good. Romvii. 18. Every kind of life has fome peculiar innate tendencies, fympathies, and antipathies : fo animal life implies a natural inclination to food, to move at proper seasons, &c. There is a favour, a relish for divine things, as effential to fpiritual life as our natural gusts and relishes are to natural life. Hence gracious defires are often fignified in fcripture under the metaphors of hungering and thirfting; and to this St. Peter expressly alludes ; as new-born babes, defire the fincere milk of the word, that ye may grow thereby. I Pet. ii. 2. By virtue of this difpolition, believers fet their affections on things above, Col. iii. 2. they relifh, they favour, they affect things above. This is the fpiritualmindednefs, the favour of the fpirit, which is fpiritual life; and flands in opposition to the relish and propenfions of mere nature. Rom. viii. 6. By virtue of this the ftrongeft bent of their fouls is God-ward ; they tend, they gravitate towards him as their proper centre. Their desire is unto him, and to the remembrance of his name. Ifa. xxvi. 8. Their foul follows hard after bim. Pfal. 1xiii. 8. By virtue of this they incline to keep all God's commandments ; they have an inward tendency to obedience; they love God's law; they delight in it after the inner man, Pfal. cxix. 97. Rom. vii. 22. and their love and delight will habitually fway them to observe it : religion is their element, their choice. It is not in them forced and unnatural, as all those operations are which do not proceed from an intrinfic

trinfic principle; and that reluctancy and indifpofednels which they fometimes unhappily feel in themfelves to religious duties, is preternatural with refpect to this fpiritual difpolition; as the loathing of healthful food is to the human body: it proceeds from a diforder, a weaknefs in their spiritual life, occasioned by the ftrugglings and transient prevalency of contrary principles : it is owing to the luftings of the flefh against the fpirit. Again, Their obedience is not fervile and mercenary, refulting merely from the apprehension of the mifery which will ensue upon difobedience; but it is generous and filial, proceeding from a convictive view of the intrinsic reasonableness, congruity, and amiableness of the duties of holiness; from the pleafure and fatisfaction which the performance of them, under this view, naturally produces ; (fo a man is excited to eat, not merely by his apprehension of the necessity of it for the support of his body, but also by the pleafure he finds in the very action) and from a fense of the divine authority enjoining those duties. By this the genuine acts of fpiritual life are infallibly diftinguished from that low and ignoble devotion which flows from cuftom, education, horrors of confcience, and all the principles of mere nature.

It is true, indeed, fome perfons by nature, and confequently without this fupernatural difpolition, may incline to and delight in fundry things that, as to the matter of them, are religious duties. So (c.g.) fome are naturally averfe to temperance; and fobriety is inwrought in their very conflitutions. Yet still, this gracious difpolition is diftinguished from such a natural inclination by thefe two marks : The first implies a diftinct reference to and a fenfe of the authority of the divine Lawgiver as enjoining those duties, and prompts a perfon to obferve them formally as duties, as acts of obedience; but the latter prompts to the observance of them, confidering them as things agreeable to the perfon's natural temper, without any d'ftinct reference to God; and fo they are rather ads of VOL. III. felf-T

#### Divine Life in

felf-gratification than of obedience to the divine authority; and the perfon would incline to them, if they were not commanded at all. They are duties materially, in themfelves, but not formally, as performed by him: a regard to the authority of God, which is the conftitutive form of obedience, is left out. A generous temper may incline to give alms; for the Lord's fake, is omitted. (2.) Spiritual life difpofes to all du-ties of religion and acts of holinefs univerfally. It delights in holinefs as fuch, and regards the authority of the law for itfelf; and confequently, whatever has the nature of holinefs, whatever has the fanction of divine authority, it cannot but affect and relifh, even though it fhould be very contrary to a man's natural inclinations and temporal advantage. But a natural propenfion is always partial and limited, inclines to fome duties only, neglecting others of equal or greater importance, which thwart the man's corrupt propenfions. In a word, fuch a one's religion proceeds from the very fame difpolition that his fins proceed from, namely, a difposition to please himself. Hence it is always a maimed, imperfect, half-formed thing ; it has not that amiable fymmetry and uniformity, that congruous proportion and connection of parts, which are the or-nament and diffinguishing characteristic of that religion which flows from a heart universally disposed to holinefs.

3. Spiritual life implies a power of holy operation. A heavenly vigour, a divine activity animates the whole foul. It implies more than an inefficacious difpolition, a dull, lazy velleity, productive of nothing but languid wifhes. So every kind of life implies a power of operation fuitable to its nature. Animal life (e. g.) has not only an innate propenfity, but alfo a natural power to move, to receive, and digeft food, &c. They that wait on the Lord fhall renew their ftrength, Ifa. xl. 31. that is, they have ftrength given them; renewed and increased by repeated acts, in the progrefs of fanctification. They are ftrengthened with might, by by the Spirit, in the inner man. Eph. iii. 16. I do not mean that fpiritual life is always fenfible and equally vigorous; alas! it is fubject to many languishments and indifpofitions; but I mean there is habitually in a fpiritual man a power, an ability for ferving God, which, when all pre-requifites concur, and hindrances are removed, is capable of putting forth acts of holi-nefs, and which does actually exert itfelf frequently. So animal life is fubject to many diforders, which weaken its powers of operation, but yet fiill it retains those powers; and they are in some measure active, even under the greatest indisposition, at least in refifting the diforder, though perhaps with faint ftruggles. Again, I do not mean an independent power, which is fo felf-active as to need no quickening energy from the divine Spirit to bring it into act, but a power capable of acting under the animating influences of grace, which, as to their reality, are common to all believers, though they are communicated in different degrees to different perfons. There is no need of the infusion of a new power, which the Spirit might actuate; but they have a power already, which needs nothing but the fuitable concurrence of other caufes to educe it into act. So the power of reafon is not independent, fo as to be capable of operation without the concurrence of divine providence, common to mankind, to quicken it into act; yet it is a power of reafon still, becaufe it is capable of rational acts, under common providential influence. But should we fuppofe a beaft the object of that influence, it would ftill continue incapable of rational acts, till a rational power be implanted in it. The illustration itself directs us to the application of it.

Thus I have briefly fhewn you wherein fpiritual life confifts; but I am afraid it may be ftill wrapt in obfcurity from the eyes of fome. And indeed it would require longer time, larger extent, and greater abilities to reflect fufficient light on fo myfterious a point. Before we lofe fight of this head, let us improve it to thefe purpofes. Let

Let us improve it as a caution against this common mistake, viz. That our mere natural powers, under the common aids of divine grace, polifhed and refined by the inftitutions of the gofpel, are a fufficient principle of holinefs, without the addition of any new principle. You fee a principle of fpiritual life is fupernatural; it is a divine, heaven-born thing; it is the feed of God ; a plant planted by our heavenly Father. But alas! how many content themfelves with a felf-begotten holinefs! 'They have formed to themfelves a fystem of natural felf-fprung religion (I mean that it is natural originally and fubjectively, though it be pretended to be divine objectively, becaufe its patrons acknowledge objective revelation) in this they acquiesce as fufficient, as though they knew not that that which is born of the flesh is flesh. The cogitativeness of matter appears to me a notion very like this; for I think it might be demonstrated as clearly, that our mere natural powers, in our prefent lapfed flate, without the infusion of any divine, fupernatural principle, are incapable of living, evangelical holinefs; as it can, that mere matter, without the fuper-addition of a principle intirely diffinct from it, is capable of thinking, however much it be polifhed, or however differently it be modified.

Let us also improve what has been faid, to remove another equally common and pernicious error, namely, That gospel-holiness confists merely in a feries of acts materially good. Some imagine that all the actions they do, which are materially lawful and a part of religion, have just fo much of holiness in them; and as they multiply fuch actions, their fanctification increases in their imagination. But alas! do they not know, that a principle, a disposition, a power of holy acting must precede, and be the fource of all holy acts! That a new heart must be given us, and a new spirit put within us, before we can walk in God's statutes and kcep bis judgments, and do them! Ezek. xxxvi. 26, 27. That we must be created in Jesus Christ unto good works, Eph. ii. 10. before we can walk in them! That Serm. 49.

### the Soul confidered.

the love of God must be shed abroad in our hearts by the Holy Ghost, Rom. v. 5. before we can love Him ! I do not fay, that they that are void of spiritual life should not attempt to perform religious duties in the beft manner they can, by virtue of their natural powers; for this is undoubtedly their duty, both becaufe their fin is lefs when only the manner of their actions is finful, than when the matter and manner too are finful; and becaufe God, who has a right to appoint what methods he pleafes, for the collation of his own favours, has conftituted this as the way for them to obtain fpiritual life. But I fay, religious and moral duties, however frequently and perfeveringly performed, are not evangelical holinefs, when they are not done from a gracious fupernatural principle : they are but fpurious fruits growing from the wild root of deprayed nature; and we had beft not pleafe ourfelves with the view of them, as though they were the fruits of holinefs, left we be confumed at last as fruitless and noxious briars and thorns.

Further, Let us improve our account of fpiritual life, to inform us of a very confiderable difference betwixt a mere moral, and a fpiritual life; or evangelical holinefs and morality. Spiritual life is of a divine original; evangelical holiness flows from a supernatural principle: but mere morality is natural; it is but the refinement of our natural principles, under the aids of common grace, in the use of proper means; and confequently it is obtainable by unregenerate men. Hence the fame act may be differently denominated, according to the principles from which it proceeds: that may be a piece of mere morality in one, who acts from natural principles only, which is an act of holinefs in another, who acts from a principle of fpiritual life. So an alms, when given from a gracious principle, and for Christ's fake, is a gracious act; but when given from a principle of natural generofity only, it deferves no higher name than that of mere morality. -A mistake in this is a rock we may tremble to look

141

at,

at, and ought anxioufly to avoid ; for alas! how many have been dashed to pieces upon it !

Again, We may improve what has been faid, to convince us, that a life of formality, liftlefinefs, and inactivity, is far from being a fpiritual life. Where these things are habitual and predominant, they are infallible fymptoms of fpiritual death. It is true (as has been already observed) believers are subject to many fickly qualms and frequent indifpolitions; yea, at times, their languishments are fuch, that the operations of the vital principle within them are hardly difcernible to themfelves or others; and the vigour of their devotion, in their most sprightly hours, is checked and borne down by the body of death under which they groan. Yet still, there is an inextinguishable fpark of life within, which featters a glimmering light in the thickeft darknefs, and fometimes fhines with illustrious brightness. The pulse of the spirit, though weak and irregular, still beats. There is an active power that reluctates and ftruggles against the counterftrivings of the flesh; that, under the greatest languor, puts forth fome weak efforts, fome faint effays, and, under the actuating influence of the divine Spirit, invigorates the foul to mount up with wings like an eagle, to run without wearying, and walk without fainting. And O! the joy, the pleafure of fuch heavenly activity! We therefore may write Tekel on the dull; inoperative religion of many; it ferves for no end, but to prove them dead in trefpasses and fins. The defign of the whole difpenfation of God's grace towards fallen finners, is their vivification to holinefs, that they may bring forth fruit unto God, Rom. vii. 4. and fure, where that defign is not obtained, there can be no true religion. Let us therefore beware left we fhould have a name to live, while we are dead.

## SERMON L.

THE DIVINE LIFE IN THE SOULS OF MEN CONSIDERED.

GAL. ii. 20. I am crucified with Chrift, neverthelefs I live; yet not I, but Chrift that liveth in me: and the life I now live in the flefh, I live by the faith of the Son of God.

We proceed to inquire,

II. WHEN fpiritual life is communicated ?-To this the fcriptures direct us to answer, That it is communicated in that change which is generally called Regeneration, or Effectual Calling. This is more than intimated by the expressions used to fignify the first communication of it. When spiritual life is infufed, then it is that God is faid to beget us again to a lively hope, I Pet. i. 3. to beget us of his own will, James i. 18. to quicken us, who were dead in fin, Eph. ii. 5. to give us a new heart, and put a new spirit within us ; to take away the stony heart, and give an heart of flesh, Ezek. xxxvi. 26. and we are faid to be created in Chri/t Jefus unto good works, Eph. ii. 10. born again, John iii. 3. born or begotten of God, John i. 13. 1 John iii. 9. Now it is evident that these metaphorical expressions fignify what is commonly called Regeneration, and that they express the first implantation of spiritual life. Several of them contain a direct allusion to the first communication of animal and human life, as generation or begetting, regeneration or being begotten again, creation, &c. And fince thefe, taken literally, fignify the first communication of natural life, they muft, when used metaphorically and fpiritually, fignify the first communication of spiritual life. Life before

before generation, creation, &c. is an abfurdity; and generation, creation, &c. without the communication of life fuitable to the nature of the being generated, created, &c. is alfo an abfurdity. The other exprefiions, as quickening us while dead in trefpaffes and fins, giving a new heart, and the like, even literally fignify this.

Hence, by way of improvement, we may be inftructed to avoid a common miftake; namely, "That a power of living to God is univerfally conferred upon mankind in creation; and therefore that there is no need of a new fupernatural principle to be infufed, but only of the concurrence of common providence, and the inflitutes of the gofpel, to polifh and refine our natural principles. And fome fay, "That God in creation infufes fpiritual life into all, on account of Chrift's dying for them; and that if it be given without the merit of the recipient, it may as properly be afcribed to divine grace when it is a natural endowment beftowed in creation, as it would be if it were a fupernatural gift communicated by an act diffinct from and pofterior to that of creation."

In order effectually to fubvert this notion, confider, 1. If fpiritual life were communicated in creation, there would be no propriety or fignificancy in the expreffions used to denote the communication of it. There would be no need of a new, a fecond birth, if we were fpiritually alive by virtue of our first birth. Were we holy by virtue of our first creation, what neceffity of being created in Christ Jesus, or of being made new creatures? 2 Cor. v. 17. Gal. vi. 15. There could be no opposition between the old man and the new. Rom. vi. 6. Eph. iv. 22, 24. Col. iii. 9, 10. The difpolitions concreated with us cannot be called a new man.-2. The implantation of fpiritual life is not only posterior to creation, but also to corrupt principles, which are innate. We are first dead in fin before we are quickened, Eph. ii. 5. we have a flony heart, which must be taken away before a heart of flefb is given, Ezek. xxxvi. 26. Such expressions undoubtedly

### the Soul confidered.

Serm. 50.

edly fignify and act posterior to, and confequently diftinct from creation.—3. The implantation of a prin-ciple of fpiritual life is eminently an act of fpecial grace, which the concreation of our natural endowments is never faid to be. The washing of regeneration, and the renewing of the Holy Ghost, is an act of mercy, and the effect of the kindness and love of God our Saviour. Tit. iii. 5. God, who is rich in mercy, for his great love wherewith he loved us, even when we were dead in fins, hath quickened us together with Chrift (by grace ye are faved.) Eph. ii. 4, 5. It is according to God's abundant mercy, that we are begotten again unto a lively hope. 1 Pet. i. 3. But what need I multiply inftances? The entire tenor of the gofpel directs us to afcribe the regeneration and fanctification of finners to diftinguishing and peculiar grace. But though our natural powers are the free communications of divine goodnefs, yet we are never faid to be "created according to the grace and mercy of God." It is not agreeable to the facred dialect to call the powers of reafon, vifion, &c. "the gifts of grace," in the fame fenfe that fpiritual life is fo called : nay, I cannot find that our natural powers are afcribed to mercy, grace, free grace, at all; and it feems more congruous to afcribe them to other perfections of the Deity, as creative wifdom, power and goodnefs. To this I may add, that fpiritual life is always reprefented as communicated "thro' Chrift as Mediator, and for his fake ;" but our natural endowments are not faid to be given through him. The Holy Ghost is shed on us abundantly through fesus Christ our Saviour. Tit. iii. 5, 6. We are fanctified through the offering up of the body of Christ once for all. Heb. x. 10. It is in Christ Jefus that we are bleffed with all spiritual bleffings. Eph. i. 3. He is made satisfaction to us, 1 Cor. i. 30. and of his fuines we all receive. John i. 16. But we are never faid to be created for Chrift's fake, or to be made rational creatures on the account of his righteoufnefs. And, when we are faid to be VOL. III. D created

a

created by him, it fignifies by him as an efficient, not as a meritorious caufe.

From all which it appears, that fpiritual life in a fallen creature is wholly fupernatural: it is of a divine extract, and heaven-born in a peculiar fenfe. The fons of God *are born of God*, and not of blood, nor of the will of the fleft, nor of the will of man. If therefore any of us continue in our natural effate, we are dead in fin, however flrict formalifts, or refined moralifts we may be.—Let us inquire,

III. "Whether fpiritual life be inftantaneoufly communicated? Or, whether (as fome alledge) it be gradually acquired by repeated acts?"

Here let it be obferved, that we are not inquiring, how fpiritual life is nourifhed and confirmed? for that is undoubtedly done gradually, by repeated acts, correfpondent to the nature of fpiritual life, and perfective of it in the progrefs of fanctification, as the power of reafon is improved by a feries of fuitable exercifes; but our inquiry is, How it is first obtained? Whether it be communicated in the instant of regeneration, as the power of understanding is in creation? And to this I ansfwer affirmatively, for the following reafons.

1. " It is a contradiction that it fhould be originally acquired by acting, or a feries of acts;" for that fuppofes that it exifts, and does not exift, at the fame time: as it acts, it exifts; and as it is acquired by acting, it does not exift. It will perhaps be objected, "That it may be acquired by the repeated acts of another kind of life, namely, rational; or the exercises of our rational powers about fpiritual objects." But this may be answered from what was observed under the firft head, namely, That a principle of fpiritual life is fomething diffinct from and fuperadded to our natural powers. Now the acts of one kind of life, however often repeated, will never acquire a life of a quite different kind : e.g. The longeft courfe, and the moft frequent repetition of animal acts, will never acquire

a principle of reafon. Let a blind man hear ever fo well, and ever fo frequently, that will not acquire a vifive faculty. So let our natural principles be exercifed about fpiritual objects with ever fo much frequency and permanency, that will never acquire fpiritual life. They are fo depraved, that there remains nothing in them out of which it can be educed, without the communication of fomething fupernatural. Be they ever fo ftrong and active, they can contribute no more to our vivification, than the quick fenfation of the auditory nerve can contribute to the acquifition of fight. Principles of action may be confirmed, and rendered more prompt to act, by frequent exercife; but can never be originally obtained that way.

2. The terms whereby the communication of fpiritual life is fignified, as begetting, creating, quickening, or raifing the dead, &c. denote an inftantaneous communication.

3. Spiritual life is reprefented as prior to and the fource and principle of all acts of evangelical holinefs; and confequently it cannot be gradually acquired by fuch acts, but must be implanted previously to the putting forth of any fuch acts; as reafon is not ac-quired by reafoning, but is a pre-requifite and principle of all the acts of reafon. We are created in Chrift Jefus, to make us capable of good works. Eph. ii. 10. We must have a new heart and a new spirit, and the (pirit of God be put within us, that we may walk in God's fatutes, and keep his judgments, and do them. Ezek. xxxvi. 26, 27. We must be drawn of the Father, must hear and learn of him, before we can come to Chrift. John iv. 44, 45. God gives his people one heart, and one way, that they may fear Him for ever. He puts his fear in their hearts, before they cease to depart from Him. Jer. xxxii. 39, 40. Now if all acts of holinefs be the effects of a vital principle of holinefs previoufly infufed, then this principle is not acquired by a course of actions, and confequently it is not gradually acquired, but inftantaneoufly infufed; for that which is not acquired by

147

by acting is obtained by immediate communication from another, and therefore it does not take up time to obtain it, as a feries of acts does. Again, There muft be a firft act of holinefs; for if there be not a firft, there cannot be a fecond,  $\mathfrak{Sc}$ . Now fince a principle of fpiritual life is the fpring, and the beginning of all acts of holinefs, it muft be, in order of nature, prior to the firft act of holinefs; and confequently it is not gradually acquired by fuch acts, but precedes them all, and therefore muft be inftantaneoufly infufed.

Hence we may fee the vanity of that religion which is gained in the fame manner that a man learns a trade, or an uncultivated mind becomes knowing and learned, namely, by the repeated exercises of our natural powers in the use of proper means, and under the aids of common providence. We have seen that a principle of spiritual life is not a good act, nor a series of good acts, nor any thing acquirable by them, but the spring and origin of all good acts. Let us then, my brethren, try whether our religion will stand this test.

Hence alfo we may learn a confiderable difference between what is commonly called Morality and Gofpel-Holinefs. The one is obtained, as other acquired habits are, by frequent and continued exercises; the other proceeds from a principle divinely implanted. Our

IV. Inquiry is, "Who are the fubjects of fpiritual life? or, In what extent is it communicated?

The anfwer to this is eafy, from what has been already offered; for fince it is communicated only in regeneration; then the regenerate only are the fubjects of it; and fince all men are not regenerate, then all men are not the fubjects of it. Again, Since it is fomething diftinct from and fuperadded to our rational powers, then it cannot be proved that all that are endowed with rationality are the fubjects of it. Again, Since it is communicated by an act diffinct from and pofterior to creation, there is no reafon to conclude that that it is co-extended with creation, or with the bounds of humanity. And fince all these things are fo, we may fafely conclude, negatively, That it is not communicated to mankind universally and positively; that it is communicated to all the regenerate, and to them only. Hence refult two corollaries.

1. That there is no fuch thing as univerfal grace fufficient to qualify all men to ferve God acceptably, without the fupernatural communication of diffinguifhing grace; for God is a Spirit, and they that wor-(hip him must worship him in spirit and in truth. John iv. Those acts which do not proceed from a principle 24. of fpiritual life, will no more be accounted by Him vital, fpiritual acts, than the chattering of a parrot, or the feemingly rational pranks of an ape, will pafs with a man of fenfe for human actions : and without a principle of fpiritual life there can be no fpiritual acts, as there can be no rational acts without a principle of reafon. And fince, as has been fhewn, fpiritual life is not univerfally communicated, then there is no fufficient grace univerfally communicated ; for the latter neceffarily implies the former, and cannot be without it.

2. We may observe further, That the "beft actions of the unregenerate are not properly and formally good, and acceptable to God." It is true their performing the duties of religion and virtue, in the best manner they are capable of, is lefs difpleafing to God than the wilful neglect of them, or the commission of the contrary fins, and therefore they flould endeavour to perform them; but yet it cannot be faid to be pofitively pleafing to him. It is not the act materially, or in itfelf, that is finful, but formally, and as done by them, e. g. They do not fin as far as they pray, but as far as they pray in a fiuful manner, without a gracious principle, without faith, and other requilites to acceptable prayer. They afk, and receive not, becaufe they afk amifs. James iv. 3. So then, they that are in the flejb cannot pleafe God. Rom. viii. 8. A tremendous thought to the unregenerate ! Their whole life is an entire

entire feries of provocation; one continued act of

rebellion against the great King of Heaven. V. Our next inquiry is, "In what fense is spiritual life communicated and fupported through Chrift ?"

To explain and illustrate this point, let these three things be confidered :

1. That " by the fin of our first parents and reprefentatives, our principle of fpiritual life was forfeited, and the forfeiture is continued, and fpiritual death brought on us by our perfonal fin."

That Adam was conflituted the reprefentative of his posterity, and confequently that his fin is imputed to them, I shall take for granted, not having time to prove it. And if this be granted, then we are deftitute of spiritual life; for, That disobedience may be punished, confistently with reason and justice, by the judicial privation of our power to obey, cannot be denied, if these reasonable postulata be conceded : That it is confistent with the justice and goodness of the Deity to suspend the continuance of the powers of upright moral agency conferred upon his creatures, on the condition of their right improvement of them : That when fuch powers are abused and misimproved, they may juftly be withdrawn : And that, when withdrawn in confequence of their being forfeited by a criminal mifimprovement, God is not obliged in juftice to reftore them. Now these postulata imply no contradiction, and, therefore, may have been matters of fact; and they are implied in the fcripture-reprefentation of the circumstance of Adam and his posterity, as related to him; and therefore were matters of fact, and confequently Adam and his posterity, on the account of his fin, actually are, at least justly might me, deprived of fpiritual life.

As to our perfonal fin, it contributes two ways to deprive us of fpiritual life, morally and phyfically; morally, in the fame fenfe that Adam's fin does, as it involves us in guilt, and fo infers the judicial privation of the imperfect relics of our Maker's moral image; and and phyfically, as every act, and effectively a feries of acts, naturally tends to ftrengthen and encourage the principle from whence they flow; to acquire that facility in acting which is called a habit; and to weaken and extirpate all contrary principles, and fo indifpofe for the exertion of contrary acts.

Hence it follows, that in order to the reftoration of fpiritual life, the moral influence of fin muft be removed by making a competent fatisfaction to divine juftice, to redeem the bleffing forfeited; and its phyfical influence obftructed by purchafing and communicating divine influences, to weaken and extirpate the principles of fin, and that fatal promptitude and facility of acting which is contracted by the frequent exercise of them; and to infufe an oppofite principle of holinefs, and mature it into an habit. And this introduces the other two things intended; and therefore,

2. The Lord Jefus, by his fufferings, made a "complete fatisfaction to divine juffice ;" and thereby redeemed the bleffing forfeited; and by the merit of his obedience, purchafed divine influence for the extirpation of the principles of fpiritual death which lurk in our natures, and the implantation of holinefs. Hence the regeneration and fanctification, as well as the falvation of his people, are afcribed to his merits and death. We are fanctified through the offering up of the body of Chrift. Heb. x. 10. And the blood of Chrift, who through the cternal Spirit offered up himsclf, without spot, to God, purges the conscience from dead works to serve the living God. Heb. ix. 14. He gave himfelf for us, that he might redeem us from all iniquity, and purify unto himfelf a peculiar people, zealous of good works. 'Titus ii. 14. Hence our old man is faid to be crucified with him, Rom. vi. 6. and we to be quickened together with him. Col. ii. 13. Therefore it is only on the account of his righteoufnefs that fpiritual life is first given, and afterwards maintained and cherished. God acts, in the whole affair, as the God of grace, with a diffinct reference to the mediation of Chrift.

3. Chrid

3. Chrift, the Furchafer, is appointed also " the Communicator of fpiritual life" to his people. The Son quickeneth whom he will. John v. 21. He is exalted as a prince to give repentance to Ifracl. Acts v. 31. He is our life, Col. iii. 3, 4. and the Author and Finisher of our faith. Heb. xii. 2. In a word, all power in heaven and on earth is given to him, Matt. xxix. 18. a fovereign empire of grace, founded in his own blood, is devolved upon him, and He is given to be head over all things to his church ; Eph. i. 22. a head not only of government, but of quickening influence; for from him all the body by joints and hands having nourishment ministered and knit together, increaseth with the increase of God. Col. ii. 19. It is therefore by his own hands that all the bleffings purchafed by his blood are communicated.

Hence, for the particular improvement of this head, let believers be taught to look to the Lord Jefus, the great Treafurer of heaven, for the fupplies of his grace to fupport and nourifh their fpiritual life. Poor things ! You are weak in yourfelves, but his grace is fufficient for you, and his strength shall be made perfect in your weak-ness. "Ye are complete in him," therefore "be ftrong in the grace that is in Chrift Jefus; ftrong in the Lord, and in the power of his might ! Come up out of the wildernefs, leaning upon your beloved. Be of good courage, and he will ftrengthen your heart." Do not indulge a daftardly temper, nor harbour diffident and defponding fears : For, " have you not known? Have you not heard, that the everlafting God, the Lord, the Creator of the ends of the earth, fainteth not, neither is weary? He giveth power to the faint, and to them that have no might he increaf-eth ftrength." If you " compafs yourfelves with fparks of your own kindling," your devotions will be cold and languid, and a deadly chillinefs will benumb your fpirit. Place yourfelves, therefore, under the vivifying beams " of the fun of righteoufnefs, and you thall go forth and grow up as calves of the ftall.". And

### the Soul confidered.

### Serm. 50.

And let "the flain of the daughter of my people" apply to him for quickening grace. Behold, finners ! your Phyfician; cry after him; plead for life. See the great treafury of vivifying influence ; ftand at the door knocking, begging and weeping, and never de-part till you can fay, "I return a living foul." Here is a fountain of life opened, and let him that is athirft, come; and whofoever will, let him take the water of life freely. But I haften to inquire,

VI. " How Faith derives fupplies from Chrift for the fupport and nourifhment of fpiritual life?"

I fhall proceed to the folution of this by the following gradation.

1. The communication of grace from Christ to maintain and nourish spiritual life in his people, is a peculiar and diftinguishing communication. It is appropriated to them and not promifcuously dispensed to mankind in general. So animal fpirits and nervous juices, are communicated from the head to that particular body to which it belongs, and to none other. So a vine conveys nutritive and prolific fap to its own branches, exclusive of all others. It may, indeed, be of fervice to other things in other refpects, as for fhade, the entertainment of the fight, &c. but in this refpect it fupplies its own branches only. Thus Chrift fheds his extensive influence on the whole creation; for by bim all things confift; but that particular kind and degree of influence, whereby believers are quickened and kept alive, is peculiarly appropriated to them.

2. It is fit and necefiary there fhould be a peculiar union betwixt Chrift and his people, as the foundation of this peculiar influence.

Spiritual life, as to its infusion and prefervation, proceeds from the Lord-Mediator, both morally and phyfically. Morally, from the merit of his obedience and fufferings, whereby it was purchased ; and physically, from his operation, whereby it is effected. And in both thefe views; it is congruous and neceflary that it fhould fuppofe a fpecial union with him. X

Vol. III.

153

As it refults morally from his merit, it is fit therefhould be a fpecial legal union, as the foundation of it. Chrift and his people muft be actually "one in law," before they can be actually intitled to or receive and enjoy the bleffings purchafed by his obedience to the law. So a wife muft be made legally one with her hufband, by a conjugal union, in order to intitle her to and give her the poffeffion of his eftate. An infolvent debtor muft be legally one with his furety, that the furety's difcharge of the debt may procure his acquittance.

And as the fpiritual life proceeds phyfically from his agency, it is neceffary there fhould be a previous fpecial union, as the reafon of the termination of that agency upon the believer rather than upon another. This muft be a real, though fpiritual union, as the communication of vital influences flowing from it, is real though fpiritual. Wherever there is a fpecial communication of influence, there is always a fpecial union, as the fource and foundation of it. So the peculiar influence of the foul upon the body, of the head upon the members, fuppofes that they are peculiarly united.

Accordingly, the fcriptures reprefent a peculiar union betwixt Chrift and his people, which is not betwixt him and the reft of mankind, to whom he does not communicate fpiritual life. I am the vine, fays he to his difciples, and ye are the branches : he that abideth in me, and I in him, the fame bringeth forth much fruit; for without me ye can do nothing. John xv. 5. To the fame purport elfewhere, I in them, and thou in me, that they may be made perfect in one. John xvii. 23. This is intimated, when the relation betwixt Chrift and his people is reprefented by a conjugal union. They are become dead to the law by the body of Chrift, that they fhould be married to another, even to him who is raifed from the dead. Rom. vii. 4. They are members of his body, of his flefb, and of his bones. Eph. v. 28, 32. But it is most plainly afferted in those paffages where Jefus is reprefented reprefented as the head, the church collectively as his body, and particular believers as the members of his body. As the body is one, and hath many members, and all the members of that one body, being many, are one body; fo alfo is Christ myflical. For by one Spirit we are all baptized, or initiated, into one body. Now ye are the body of Christ, and members in particular. I Cor. xii. 12-27. God gave him to be head over all things to his church, which is his body. Eph. i. 22, 23. See alfo Eph. iv. 15, 16. Col. ii. 19.

3. It is fit that *that* grace which has a peculiar concurrence or inftrumentality in the uniting of the foul to Chrift, and in continuing of that union, fhould alfo have a "peculiar concurrence or inftrumentality in deriving fupplies of fpiritual ftrength from him ;" for fince union is the true fpecial ground of the communication, it is fit that that which is the peculiar inftrument or bond of this union, fhould alfo be the peculiar inftrument of receiving, or vehicle of communicating vital influences. Now,

4. Faith has a "peculiar concurrence or "inftru-mentality in the firft union" of the foul to Chrift, and the confequent continuation of the union. It is the grand ligament whereby they are indiffolubly conjoined. It is true, the fpiritual man, as well as our animal bodies, confifts of feveral effential parts. Repentance, love, and the whole fyftem of evangelical graces and moral virtues are as necessary, in their proper refpective places, as faith : But then faith has a peculiar aptitude, above all other graces and virtues, for performing the part we now appropriate to it. So heart, lungs, bowels, &c. are effential to the human body, as well as nerves and arteries; but the nerves are the peculiar vehicles to carry the vital fpirits from the brain; and the arteries are the only conveyancers of the blood from the heart, through many labyrinths, to the whole body.

Faith, in a fpecial manner, implies those things in its very nature, which reason directs us to look upon as fuitable pre-requifites or concomitants of deriving vital influence from Chrift. For inflance, It is fit that all that receive fpiritual life as a bleffing of the covenant of grace, fhould fubmit to and acquiefce in the terms of that covenant. Now fuch a fubmiffion and acquiefcence is faith. It is fit, all that derive flrength from Chrift fhould be brought to place a humble, felfdiffident dependance upon him for it, confcious of their own weaknefs. Now faith principally confifts in fuch a dependance, and therefore is fo often called *a trufting in the Lord.* 

Moreover, the facred oracles affert the peculiar infrumentality of faith in this matter. *Chrift* is faid to dwell in our hearts by faith, Eph. iii. 17. and it is by believing in his name that we receive power to become the the fons of God. John i. 12. He himfelf tells us, He that eateth my flefh, and drinketh my blood, dwelleth in me and I in him. As I live by the Father, fo he that eateth me, fhall live by me. John vi. 56, 57. And by eating his flefh and drinking his blood, is undoubtedly meant faith in him; and confequently it is by faith believers are nourifhed.

For the particular improvement of this head, I fhall make thefe three remarks :

1. That a faving faith is always operative; and what renders it fo is its conftant dependance on Chrift for quickening grace. It is defigned by God, and has a peculiar aptitude in its own nature to derive ftrength for all acts of holinefs from Chrift; and he will not deny any of the influences it naturally craves ! He is a living head, and will not fuffer any of his members to languish under perpetual mortal decays, or drudge away their lives in fuccefslefs toils, or fupinely wafte them in floth and inactivity. He will fail none that truft in him; but their dependance on him will be like the leaning of the ivy on the oak, or the radication of a tree in a fruitful foil, an affured method to obtain fupport and nourifhment. So far is a dependance on him from leading to floth and libertinifm, as fome flanderoufly furmife. 2. We

Serm. 50.

2. We infer, that without faith, it is impossible to please God. It has been fhewn, that without union to Chrift we cannot have an actual intereft in his rightcoufnefs, or be the fpecial objects of that quickening influence, whereby the fpiritual life and activity of his people is maintained; and without thefe, our perfons or performances cannot be accepted, unless our own righteoufness be sufficient, without an actual interest in his, to procure the pardon of fin, and reinstate us in the divine favour; and unlefs human nature, labouring under the maladies of its present degeneracy, be capable, without the fpecial aids of divine grace, to yield fuitable obedience to the law: neither of which can be afferted, without virtually renouncing the whole gofpel. And we have feen, that faith has fo important a place in the unition of the foul with Chrift, and confequently, in intitling us to his righteoufnefs, and deriving vital influences from him, that without it we cannot be at all united to him, or fhare in the happy confequences of this union, no more than there can be a circulation of the blood without veins and arteries.

3. We obferve that gofpel-holinefs may be diffinguifhed from all counterfeits, and particularly from what fome dignify with the name of morality, by this criterion, that it prefuppofes a fpecial union with Chrift, and is cherifhed in the heart, and exercifed in practice, by virtue of the quickening influences flowing from him, as the head of his church, and received by faith; whereas mere morality does not neceffarily fuppofe fuch an union, but may refult from our natural powers, under the common influences of divine providence.

I fhall conclude with a fhort general improvement of the whole fubject, in the following inferences :

1. That the reafon why religion is fo burdenfome to many is, becaufe they are "deflitute of a principle of fpiritual life," and the "quickening communications of divine grace." Confirained by felf-love, they drudge and toil in religious duties, and cry, "What a weaa wearinefs is it !" Or impatient of fo difagreeable a burden, they neglect them entirely. Religion is not natural to them, for want of a new nature. But to you that believe, Chrift is precious; all bis ways are pleafantnefs, and all his paths-are peace. His yoke is eafy, and his burden light.

2. Let us examine ourfelves, whether the evidences of fpiritual life, which may be collected from what has been faid, give us reafon to conclude that we are poffeffed of it. Let us caft the difcourfe into a form of interrogation, and propofe the following inquiries to our confciences.

Do we feel, or have we feit a fupernatural principle working within? Is our religion heaven-born? or is it natural and felf-fprung? Is the habitual bent of our wills God-ward? Do our hearts propend towards Him, as their ultimate fcope? Do we delight in his law after the inner-man, and will that which is good, even when we cannot do it? Do we perceive ourfelves at times ftrengthened with might in the inner man? And that we can do all things through Christ strengthening us? Have we ever experienced the important change of regeneration? are old things paffed away, and all things become new? Have we put off the old man with his deeds, and put on the new man, which after God is created in rightecuses and true holinefs?

Is our religion more than a mere acquired habit, originally obtained by our own industry only, and the exercise of our natural powers, excited and affisted by education, custom, the means of grace? &c. Was it begun in the instantaneous infusion of a gracious principle, immediately by the Holy Spirit ?

Do we derive our ftrength for obedience from Chrift by faith? Is he our life? Are we generally crying, Lord we have no ftrength; but our eyes are unto thee? Can we fay with the apoftle, I live; yet not I, but Chrift liveth in me; and what I now live in the fields, I live by the faith of the Son of God?

## the Soul confidered.

## Serm. 50.

My dear brethren, let us fearch ourfelves with thefe and the like inquiries; for many are deftructively deceived in this matter. Living religion is wrapt in darknefs from the eyes of moft: they either place it in that in which it does not confift at all, or take the circumftances and appendages for the fubftance of it. *Great is the myftery of godlinefs*, not only objectively, as revealed in the fcriptures, but alfo fubjectively, as wrought in the heart of a believer. It ought therefore to engage our moft ferious and intenfe thoughts.

3. Let those who are made spiritually alive, "acknowledge and admire the diffinguishing grace of God, and act as it becomes their character."

You have feen that fpiritual life is not promifcuoufly difpenfed to mankind in general, but only to the regenerate, who are comparatively few. And can you reftrain your wonder, that you fhould be the chofen objects of fovereign grace? or avoid breaking forth into extatic praifes at fo furprizing a difpenfation?

Moreover, the defign of your vivification, and the natural tendency of the principle of fpiritual life is, that you may live to God; and therefore, you are peculiarly obliged to make your whole life a feries of obedience to Him. Indulge the propensions and tendencies of the new nature: obey and cherifh all the impulses and motions of the divine principle within you. To offer violence to the new man, to cramp and fetter its powers, to refift its motions, and fuffocate its heavenly afpirations, is the most horrid crime. It is to attempt to murder the child of grace in embryo; and fure, this is the worft of murder. Reckon ye yourfelves, then, to be dead indeed unto fin, but alive unto God, through Jefus Christ our Lord. Let not fin reign in your mortal body, that ye should obey it in the lusts thereof : neither yield ye your members as instruments of unrighteoufnefs unto fin ; but yield yourfelves unto God, as those that are alive from the dead; and your members as instruments of righteousness unto God. And if ye be rifen with Christ, seek those things which are above, where Christ sitterb

teth at the right hand of God. Set your affections upon (favour and relift) things above, not things on earth. And when Christ, who is our life, shall appear, then shall ye alfo appear with him in glory. 4. I request and importune those that are dead in

4. I requeit and importune those that are dead in fin, to "use all proper means for the obtaining of quickening grace." The exhortation implies no contradiction or impossibility; for though they are spiritually dead, yet their natural principles of reason is still alive, and capable of exercising itself about spiritual objects; and God has enjoined them to make the best use they can of it, as the only way to obtain a better principle. God deals with us according to our nature and circumstances. We are corrupted creatures, and therefore He exerts his exceeding great and mighty power to work principles of holines in us; but so that the powers of moral fusion with us, and justly requires us to exert our rational faculties in all the inflitutions of the gospel.

Be perfuaded then, finner, no longer to lie ftill in fecurity; but arife, call upon thy God; if fo be that God will think upon thee, that thou perifb not. Lazarus! come forth. Awake thou that fleepeft, and arife from the dead; and Chrift fhall give thee light. Linger not, left eternal death overtake thee. Methinks I fee him juft at thy heels, for thy damnation now of a long time flumbereth not. Arife, come forth at the call of the gofpel; otherwife how wilt thou fland the flocking terror of that final alarm, Awake ye dead, and come to judgment? But I muft conclude with my hearty wifh, That the hour may come, and O! that this may be the hour, in which the dead fhall hear the voice of the Son of God; and they that hear fhall live.—Which gracious prediction may the God of grace accomplifh upon us all, for Jefus' fake. Amen.

SERMON

# SERMON LI.

THE WAYS OF SIN HARD AND DIFFICULT.

## Acts iv. 6. It is hard for thee to kick against the pricks.

**V**TOU often hear of the narrow and rugged road of religion, which leadeth unto life; and fome of you, I am afraid, have not courage enough to venture upon it. You rather choofe the fmooth, broad, down-hill road of vice and pleafure, though it leads down to the chambers of death. It must be owned, that a religious life is a courfe of difficulties, a hard ftruggle, a conftant conflict; and it is fit you fhould be honeftly informed of it : but then it is fit you fhould also know, that the difficulties arife not from the nature of religion, but from the corruption and depravity of the nature of man in its prefent degenerate state. A course of religion is difagreeable, is hard, is difficult to mankind; just as a courfe of action is difficult to the fick, though it is eafy, and affords pleafure to those that are well. There are difficulties in the way of fin as well as in that of holinefs, though the depravity of mankind renders thein infenfible of This is the view of the cafe I would now lay beit. fore you. There is a fense, in which it is true, that it is a hard thing to be a finner, as well as to be a faint : there are huge difficulties in the way to hell, as well as in the way to heaven. And if you are infenfible of them, it is owing, as I just observed, to the corruption of your nature, and not to the real cafinefs of the thing in itfelf. It may be eafy and pleafing to you to fin, just as it is easy to a dead body to rot, or pleasing to a leper to rub his fores. But to a reafonable creature, in a ftate of purity, with all his powers uncorrupted, it VOL. III.  $\mathbf{Y}$ would

## The Ways of fin

would indeed be an unpleafing, a hard, a difficult thing to take that courfe which is fo eafy and fo delightful to you; as it is hard and painful for a living man to fuffer the mortification of his limbs, or for a healthy man to make himfelf fore. If it be hard, in one fenfe, to live a life of holinefs, it is certainly hard, in another fenfe, to live a life of fin; namely, to run againft confcience, againft reafon, againft honour, againft intereft, againft all the ftrong and endearing obligations you are under to God, to mankind, and to yourfelves: or, in the words of my text, *it is hard for you to kick againft the pricks*.

This is a proverb in ufe among various nations, which has received a fanction from heaven in this text. It is ufed by Pindar, Euripides, and Æfchylus, among the Greeks; and by Terence, among the Latins: and from the fenfe in which they ufe it, we are helped to underftand it. To kick again ft the pricks, is an allufion to a lazy or unruly plough-horfe or ox, that when pricked with a goad (an inftrument ufed in ploughing, in fundry places, inftead of a whip) refufes to go on, and fpurns and kicks again ft the goad, and fo wounds himfelf, and not the driver. In fuch circumftances, it is much harder to kick again ft the goads, and refift, than to go on : if he goes on, he need not fear the goad; but his refiftance only hurts himfelf. It is to this that the phrafe alludes; and it fignifies a refiftance injurious to the perfon that makes it, when it would be both eafy and advantageous to obey.

Hence we may learn the precife fenfe in which it is ufed by the mouth of Chrift, in this pungent addrefs to Saul the perfecutor, whom we now know under the higher name of Paul the apoftle.

Saul, animated with a furious, mifguided, though honeft zeal, againft the difciples of Jefus, was now on his way to Damafcus in purfuit of them; and had a commiffion from the higheft court of the Jews to apprehend them: a commiffion which he was impatient to execute. This, in human view, was a very unpromifing

## hard and difficult.

Serm. 51.

promifing hour for his conversion; now it appears more likely that vengeance will arreft him as a crimi-nal, than that grace will prevent him as a veffel of mercy. But O! what agreeable exploits of grace has Jefus performed! At the first introduction of his religion, it was fit he fhould fingle out fome great fin-ner, and make him a monument of his mercy, for the encouragement of future ages. Therefore he furprizes this fierce perfecutor in his daring career, darts the fplendors of his glory around him, and pierces him to the heart with this irrefiftible expostulation, Saul, Saul, why perfecutest thou me? Saul, in a trembling confternation, replies, Who art thou Lord? He thought he was only bringing to justice a parcel of contempti-ble, blafphemous fectaries, unworthy of toleration; and little did he think that his perfecuting zeal reached fo high : little did he expect to hear one crying from the throne of heaven, Why perfecuteft thou me? But Jefus feels and refents the injuries done to his people, as done to himfelf. The head fympathizes with its members; therefore he anfwers, I am Jefus, whom thou perfecutest. And then follows my text, It is hard for thee to kick against the pricks. q. d. "Since it is Jelus, whom thou perfecuteft, the injury done to me will only rebound upon thyfelf: I am infinitely advanced beyond the reach of thy rage; and even my people, who now feem in thy power, can fuffer no real or lafting injury from it in the iffue; for under my management, all things shall work for their good, but thy perfecuting fury shall prove ruinous to thyself; as the wild ox that fpurns and kicks against the goad hurts himfelf, and not the driver." Thus, as I told you, this proverb fignifies a refiftance injurious to the per-fon refifting, and harmlefs to him againft whom it is made. And is not this hard? Is it not an arduous, prepofterous exploit to break through the ftrong reftraints of the innate principle of felf-prefervation, and ruin one's felf by a blow intended against another, beyond the reach of injury? This, one would think, is a piece a piece of folly and cruelty, of which a being that has the leaft remains of reafon or felf-love, would be incapable.

'This proverb may fignify more: q. d. I am Jefus, whom thou perfecuteft; Jefus, the Lord of glory: Jefus, the Saviour of finners; Jefus, who had died for fuch finners as thee; Jefus, who is all love and mercy, excellency, and glory; Jefus, who has given thee fuch fufficient evidence of his divine miffion, and the truth of his religion; and canft thou perfecute Jefus? O! is this an eafy thing to one that has the leaft reafon or gratitude? Art thou able to break through fuch firong and endearing obligations? Is it not hard for thee to fpurn againft one fo great, fo glorious, fo gracious and condefcending? Muft not this be a horrid exploit of wickednefs beyond thy power?"

That I may the more fully illustrate the firiking thought fuggefted by my text, I fhall point out to you fome feemingly infuperable obffacles in the way to hell, or fome dire exploits, which, one would think, would be too hard for you to perform, which yet you must perform, if you perfift in a courfe of fin.

1. Is it not a hard thing to be an unbeliever, or a Deift, in our age and country, while the light of the gofpel fhines around us with full blaze of evidence!

Before a man can work up himfelf to the difbelief of a religion attended with fuch undeniable evidence, and infpiring fuch divine difpofitions and exalted hopes, what abfurdities muft he embrace! what flrong convictions muft he refift! what dark fufpicions, what boding fears and mifgivings, what fhocking peradventures and tremendous doubts muft he flruggle with! what glorious hopes muft he refign! what gloomy and fhocking profpects muft he reconcile himfelf to! what violence muft be offered to confcience! what care muft be ufed to flut up all the avenues of ferious thought, and harden the heart againft the terrors of death, and the fupreme tribunal! How painful a piece of prepofterous felf-denial to reject the balm the gofpel

### hard and difficult.

Serm. 51.

pel provides to heal a broken heart and a bleeding conficience, and the various helps and advantages it furnishes us with to obtain divine favour and everlafting happiness! How hard to work up the mind to believe that Jefus, who fpoke and acted, and fuffered, and did every thing, like an incarnate God, was an impostor, or at best a moral philosopher ! or that the religion of the Bible, that contains the most fublime and God-like truths, and the most pure and perfect precepts of piety and morality, is the contrivance of artful and wicked men, or evil fpirits! Thefe, brethren, are no eafy things. There are many fceptics and finatterers in infidelity, but few, very few are able to make thorough work of it, or commence flaunch unbelievers. The attempt itfelf is a desperate shift. A man must have reduced himself to a very fad cafe indeed, before he can have any temptation to fet about it. He has by his wilful wickednefs, fet christianity against him, before he can have any temptation to fet himfelf against christianity : and when he proclaims war against it, he finds it hard, yea, impossible to make good his caufe. He may indeed put on the airs of defiance and triumph, and affect to laugh at his enemy, and at times may be half-perfuaded he has really got the victory. But fuch men find the arms of their own reafon often against them, and their own confcience forms violent infurrections in favour of religion, which they cannot entirely fupprefs; fo that they are like their father, whatever they pretend, they believe and tremble too. Alas! that there should be fo many unhappy companions in this infernal caufe, in our country and nation. They find it hard, even now, to kick against the goads : and O! how much harder will they find it in the islue! Their refisance will prove ruinous to themfelves : but neither they nor the gates of hell fhall prevail against the cause they oppose. Christianity will live when they are dead and damned, according to its fentence. It is a long-tried bulwark, that has withfood all the affaults of earth and hell, for near near 6000 years, and has ftill proved impregnable. Infidels may hurt themfelves by oppofing it; as an unruly, flupid ox, their proper emblem, may hurt himfelf, but not the goads, by kicking against them.

2. Is it not hard for men to profess themfelves belivers, and affent to the truths of christianity, and yet live as if they were infidels!

A profeffed fpeculative atheift, or infidel, is a monfler that we do not often meet with : but the more abfurd and unaccountable phenomenon of a practical atheift; one who is orthodox in principle, but an infidel in practice, we may find wherever we turn : and it would be ftrange if none fuch have mingled in this affembly to-day. To fuch I would particularly addrefs myfelf.

If you believe christianity, or even the religion of Nature, you believe that there is a God of infinite excellency; the Maker, Preferver, Benefactor and Ruler of the world, and of you in particular; and confequently, that you are under the ftrongeft and moft endearing obligations to love him, and make it your great fludy and endeavour to obey his will in all inftances. Now is it not ftrange, that while you believe this, you are able to live as you do! How can you live fo thoughtlefs of this great and glorious God, who bears fuch august and endearing relations to you ? How can you withhold your love from him, and ungratefully refuse obedience? Is not this a hard thing to you? Does it not coft you fome labour to reconcile your confciences to it? If this be eafy to you, what champions in wickednefs are you ! how mighty to do evil! This would not be easy to the mightiest archangel : no, it is a dire atchievement he would tremble to think of. And if it be eafy to you, it is, as I obferved before, in the fame fenfe that it is eafy to a dead body to rot. Your ftrength to do evil is your real weaknefs, or, which is the fame, the ftrength of your difeafe.

Again,

Serm. 51.

Again, If you believe the chriftian religion, you believe the glorious doctrine of redemption through Jefus Chrift; you believe that he, the Father's great co-equal Son, affumed our nature, paffed through the various hardfhips of life, and died upon a crofs for you; and all this out of pure unmerited love. And is it no difficulty to neglect him, to difhonour him, to flight his love, and difobey his commands? Does this monstrous wickedness never put you to a stand? Degenerate and corrupt as you are, have you not fuch re-mains of generous principles within you, as that you cannot, without great violence to your own hearts, reject fuch a Saviour? Does not at leaft a fpark of gratitude fometimes kindle in your hearts, which you find it hard to quench entirely? Does not confcience often take up arms in the caufe of its Lord, and do you not find it hard to quell the infurrection? Alas! if you find little or no difficulty in treating the bleffed Jefus with neglect, it fhews that you are mighty giants in iniquity, and fin with the ftrength of a devil.

Again; If you believe the chriftian religion, you muft believe that regeneration, or a thorough change of heart and life, and univerfal holinefs, are effentially neceffary to conftitute you a real chriftian, and prepare you for everlafting happinefs. And while you have this conviction, is it not a hard thing for you to be only chriftians in name, or felf-condemned hypocrites, or to reft contented in any attainments fhort of real religion? Is it an eafy thing to you to keep your eyes always fhut againft the light, which would fhew you to yourfelves in your true colours? to keep fuch a clofe guard, as never to let the mortifying fecret pafs, that you are indeed but a hypocrite, and to harden yourfelves againft the portion of hypocrites, which will ere long be diffributed to you ?

Finally, If you believe chriftianity, or even natural religion, you believe a future flate of rewards and punifhments; rewards and punifhments the higheft that human nature is capable of. And is it not a hard thing

thing to make light of immortal happiness, or everlafting mifery ? Since you love yourfelves, and have a ftrong innate defire of pleafure and horror of pain, how can you reconcile yourfelves to the thoughts of giving up your portion in heaven, and being ingulphed for ever in the infernal pit ? Or how can you fupport your hope of enjoying the one, and escaping the other, while you have no fufficient evidence? Can you venture fo important an interest upon an uncertainty, or dare to take your chance, without caring what might be the iffue? Are you capable of fuch dreadful fool-hardiness? Do you not often shrink back aghast from the prospect? Does not the happiness of heaven fometimes fo ftrongly attract you, that you find it hard to refift ? And do not the terrors of hell ftart up before you in the way of fin, and are you not brought to a ftand, and ready to turn back? The pit of hell, like a raging volcano, thunders at a diffance, that you may not fall thereinto by furprize. You may perceive its flames, and finoke, and roarings in the threatenings of God's law, while you are yet at a diftance from it. And is it eafy for you to pufh on your way, when thus warned? O! one would think, it would be much more eafy and delightful to a creature endowed with reafon and felf-love, to abandon this dan-gerous road, and choofe the fafe and pleafant way of life.

I might multiply inftances under this head: but thefe muft fuffice at prefent. And I proceed to afk,

3. Is it not hard for a man to live in a conftant conflict with himfelf? I mean with his confcience.

This obftacle in the way to hell has appeared in all the former particulars : but it is fo great, and feemingly infuperable, that it deferves to be pointed out by itfelf. When the finner would continue his career to hell, confcience, like the cherubim at the gates of paradife, or the angel in Balaam's road, meets him with its flaming fword, and turns every way, to guard the dreadful entrance into the chambers of death. When

## hard and difficult.

Serm. 51.

When a man goes on in the thoughtlefs neglect of God, and the concerns of eternity, or indulges himfelf in vice and irreligion, confcience whifpers, " What will be the end of this courfe ? thou shalt yet fuffer for this. Is it fit thou fhouldeft thus treat the bleffed God, and the Saviour Jefus Chrift ? Is it wife to neglect the great work of falvation, and run the rifque of eternal ruin?" I may appeal to finners themfelves, whether they do not often hear fuch remonstrances as thefe from within? Indeed, in the hurry and buftle of bufinefs and company, and the headlong career of pleafure and amufement, the voice of confcience is not heard. But you cannot always avoid retirement : fometimes you must be by yourfelves, and then you find it hard to clofe up and guard all the avenues of ferious thought. Then conficence infifts upon a fair hearing, and enters many a folemn protestation against your conduct, warns you of the confequence, and urges you to take another courfe. Whatever airs of impious bravery you put on in public, and however boldly you bid defiance to thefe things, yet, in fuch penfive hours, do you not find that you are cowards at heart? Is not confcience like to get the victory? Are you not obliged to break out into the world, and rally all its forces to your affiftance, that you may fupprefs your confcience? Now, how hard a life is this! The life of the finner is a warfare, as well as that of the chriftian. Confcience is his enemy, always difturbing him; that is, he himfelf is an enemy to himfelf while he continues an enemy to God. Some, indeed, by repeated violences, ftun their confcience, and it feems to lie ftill, like a conquered enemy. But this is a conquest fatal to the conquerors. O ! would it not be much easier to let confcience have fair play, to purfue your own happiness, as it urges you, and leave the fmooth, down-hill road to ruin, from which it would reftrain you? Confcience urges you to your duty and intereft with many fharp goads, and will you ftill kick against them? O! do you not find this Vol. III. hard? Z

hard? I am fure it would be very hard, it would be impossible to a creature under the right conduct of reason and felf-love. And before you can be capable of performing this dire exploit with ease, you must have acquired a prodigious, gigantic ftrength in finning. This is what the mightieft faint upon earth could not dare to do. No; he owns confcience is his mafter : long did he resist, but now he must fubmit; and he would not incur the displeasure of his confcience for all the world. O! that we were all weak in this respect! My time will allow me only to add,

4. Is it not a hard piece of felf-denial for you to deprive yourfelves of the exalted pleafures of religion?

You love yourfelves, and you love happinefs, and therefore one would reafonably expect you would choose that which will afford you the most folid, refined and lafting happinefs, and abandon whatever is inconfistent with it. Now religion is a fource of happinefs. Yes; that dull, melancholy thing, religion, which you think, perhaps, would put an end to all your pleafures, and which, for that reafon, you have kept at a diftance from ; religion, which, its enemies will tell you, has made fome intolerably precife, and dead to all the joys of life, and turned others mad and melancholy; religion, I fay, will afford you a happinefs more pure, more noble, and more durable than all the world can give. Religion not only propofes future happinefs, beyond the comprehension of thought, but will afford you prefent happiness beyond whatever you have known while strangers to it. The pleasures of a peaceful, approving confcience, of communion with God, the fupreme good, of the most noble difpolitions and most delightful contemplations; these are the pleasures of religion. And ask those who have enjoyed them, those whom experience has qualified to be judges, and they will tell you with one voice, " There are no pleafures comparable to thefe." Befides, religion has infinitely the advantage of other things

#### hard and difficult.

Serm. 51.

things as to futurity. Those pleafures which are inconfistent with it end in flocking prospects, as well as pale reviews. But religion opens the brightest prospects; prospects of everlasting falvation and happines; prospects that brighten the gloomy flades of death, and the awful world beyond, and run out infinitely beyond our ken through a vast eternal duration. My heart is fo full of my subject, that I must borrow the more expressive words of another, to give it vent.\*

" Let the proud Witling argue all he can,

- " It is Religion fill that makes the man :
- " 'Tis this, my friends, that ftreaks our morning bright :
- " 'Tis this that gilds the horrors of our night.
- "When wealth forfakes us, and when friends are few ;
- " When friends are faithlefs, or when foes purfue ;
- " 'Tis this that wards the blow, or stills the finart;
- " Difarms affliction, or repels its dart;
- "Within the breaft bids purest pleasures rife ;
- " Bids fmiling confcience fpread her cloudlefs fkies.

"When the ftorm thickens, and the thunder rolls;

- "When the earth trembles to th' affrighted poles ;
- " The pious mind nor doubts nor fears affail,
- " For ftorms are zephyrs, or a gentler gale.
  - " And when difease obstructs the labouring breath,
- "When the heart fickens, and each pulfe is death,
- " Even then Religion shall suftain the just,

" Grace their last moments, nor desert their dust."

Such, my brethren, is religion; the higheft, the moft fubftantial, and moft lafting happinefs of man. And is it not a painful piece of felf-denial to you, to give up all this happinefs, when nothing is required to purchafe it but only your choice of it! Is not this doing violence to the innate principle of felf-love and defire of happinefs? Can you be fo ftupid, as to imagine that the world, or fin, or any thing that can come in competition with religion, can be of equal or comparable advantage to you? Sure your own reafon muft give in its verdict in favour of religion. And is it not

\* See a Letter to Mr. Hervey by a phyfician, prefixed to his Meditations. Vol. I.

not a hard thing for you to act against your own reafon, against your own interest, your highest, your im-mortal interest, and against your own innate desire of happinefs? Do you never find it any difficulty to live for years in the world, without once tafting the fweets of the love of God, or the pleafures of an applauding confcience? Is it not hard, that while others around you, in the use of the very means which you enjoy, are made meet for the inheritance of the faints in light, and are animated to endure the calamities of life, and encounter the terrors of death, by the prospect of everlafting glory, while they are now often loft in extatic wonder, while furveying the things that God hath laid up for them that love him; I fay, is it not hard, that you fhould be defitute of all these transporting prospects, and have nothing but a fearful expectation of wrath and fiery indignation, or at beft a vain, felfflattering hope, which will iffue in the more confounding difappointment? Is not this really hard? Muft it not be a difficulty to you to live at this rate?

And now, finners, will you with infernal bravery break through all these obstacles, and force a passage into the flames below? Or will you not give over the preposterous struggle to ruin yourfelves, and suffer yourfelves to be faved? O let me arreft you in your dangerous career, as the voice which pronounced my text did St. Paul; and let me prevail upon you for the future to choofe the highway to life, and take that courfe to which God, confcience, duty, and intereft urge you. In that indeed you will meet with difficulties; it is a narrow and rugged road; and it will require hard firiving to make a progress in it. But then the difficulties you have here to furmount are in the road to happinefs, with which therefore it is worth your while to ftruggle: but those in the other are in the road to destruction; and your striving to furmount them, is but ftriving to deftroy yourfelves for ever. It may be worth your while to labour and con-flict hard to be faved, but is it worth while to take fo much

Serm. 51.

much pains, and ftrive fo hard to be damned ? Befides, the difficulties in the heavenly road refult from the weak, difordered, and wicked flate of human nature, as the difficulty of animal action and enjoyment proceeds from fickness of body; and confequently, every endeavour to furmount these difficulties tends to heal, to rectify, to ftrengthen, and ennoble our nature, and advance it to perfection. But the difficulties in the way to hell proceed from the contrariety of that courfe to the beft principles of human nature, and to the most ftrong and rational obligations ; and confequently, the more we ftruggle with these difficulties, the more we labour to fupprefs and root out the remains of all good principles, and break the most inviolable obligations to God and ourfelves. The eafier it is for us to fin, the more bafe and corrupt we are : just as the more rotten a limb is, the easier for it to drop off; the more difordered and flupified the body is, the more eafy to die. To meet with no obstacle in the way to hell, but to run on without reftraint, is terrible indeed; it fhews a man abandoned of God, and ripe for deftruction. Such an eafe in finning is the quality of a devil.

Upon the whole, you fee, that though there be difficulties on both fides, yet the way to heaven has infinitely the advantage; and therefore, let me again urge you to choofe it. You have walked long enough at variance with God, with your own confeience, with your own intereft, and duty: come now, be reconciled: make thefe your antagonifts no longer. While you perfift in this oppofition, you do but kick againft the pricks; that is, you make a refiftance injurious to yourfelves. For the future, declare war againft fin, Satan, and all their confederates, and ere long ye fhall be made more than conquerors; and for your encouragement remember, He that overcometh fhall inherit all things; and I will be his God, and he fhall be my fon, faith the Lord God Almighty.

SERMON

# SERMON LII.

THE CHARACTERS OF THE WHOLE AND SICK, IN A SPIRI-TUAL SENSE, CONSIDERED AND CONTRASTED.

MATT. ix 12. But when Jefus heard that, he faid unto them, They that be whole need not a physician, but they that are sick.

THERE is no article of faith more certain than that Jefus Chrift is an all-fufficient and moft willing Saviour, able to fave to the uttermost all that come unto God through him, and that those that come unto him, he will in nowife cast out. They that intrust their fouls in his hands he keeps, and none of them is lost. It is also certain that all the guilty fons of Adam stand in the most absolute need of him: in vain do they look for falvation in any other. Without him, they are undone for ever: and without him, their very existence becomes a curfe, and their immortality but the duration of their misery. The difease of fin has so deeply infected their fouls, that none but this divine Physician can heal them.

Since this is the cafe, who would not expect that Jefus would be univerfally the darling of mankind? Who would not expect that as many as are wounded, and juft perifhing of their wounds, would all earneftly apply to this Phyfician, and feek relief from him upon any terms? Who would fufpect there fliould be fo much as one heart cold and difaffected towards him? Muft not all love and defire him, fince all need him fo extremely, and fince he is fo completely qualified to be their Deliverer? But, alas! notwithftanding fuch favourable prefumptions from the nature of the thing, it is a moft notorious fact that this divine Phyfician is but little regarded in our dying world. This all-fufficient and willing Saviour is generally neglected by perifhing finners. There are thoufands among us that have no affectionate thoughts of him, no eager longings after him, they exert no vigorous endeavours to obtain an intereft in him, nor are they tenderly folicitous about it. They indeed profefs his religion, and call themfelves chriftians after his name : they pay him the compliment of a bended knee, and now and then perform the external duties of religion, and thus have high hopes they fhall be faved through him ; but as to their hearts and affections, he has no fhare there : thefe are referved for the world, which, in practical eftimation, they prefer to him, whatever they profefs.

Now whence is this firange and flocking phenomenon in the rational world? Whence is it that the dying are carelefs about a Phyfician? that a Deliverer is neglected by thofe that are perifling? The true reafon we may find in my text, *They that be whole need* not a phyfician, but they that are fick; that is, "they who imagine themfelves well, however difordered they are in reality, do not feel their need of a phyfician, and therefore will not apply to him; but they who feel themfelves fick, will eagerly apply to him, and put themfelves under his care."

This is the anfwer of Chrift to the proud cavilling Pharifees, who cenfured his free convertation with publicans and finners, at an entertainment which Matthew had prepared for him. The publicans were a fort of cuftom-houfe officers among the Jews, appointed by the Romans, whofe tributaries they then were, to collect the levies or duties impofed by the government. They were generally perfons of bad morals, and particularly given to rapine and extortion in raifing the taxes. On this account they were particularly hated by the Jews, effectively by the ftrict fect of the

175

Serm. 52,

the Pharifees. Their very office would have rendered them odious, even though they had behaved well in it; for it was a public badge of the flavery of the Jews to the Romans; which, to a people fo proud and fo fond of liberty as the Jews, was a mortification they could not patiently bear. The publicans therefore were objects of general contempt and abhorrence, as an abandoned fort of men; and the Jews, particularly the rigid and haughty Pharifees, held no converfation with them, but kept them at a diftance, as tho' they had been excommunicated. Hence, fays Chrift, concerning one excommunicated by the church for incorrigible wickedness, Let him be to thee as an heathen man, and a publican, Matt. xviii. 17. that is, have no intercourfe with him, but treat him as the Jews do the publicans.

The condefcending Jefus, who came to feek and fave that which was lost, did not conduct himfelf towards those poor outcasts, upon the rigid principles of the Pharifees. They held them in fuch contempt, that they did not labour to inftruct and reform them .--But Jefus preached to them, converfed with them freely, used the most condescending, affable, and ingratiating meafures to reform them, and called fome of them to the honour of being his difciples : of this number was Matthew, the author of this hiftory ; once an abandoned publican, afterwards a disciple, an apoftle, and one of the four evangelists, whose immortal writings have diffufed the vital favour of the name of Jefus through all ages and countries. O! the condescension, the freeness, the efficacy of the grace of Chrift! it can make a publican an apoftle! an abhorred outcast the favourite of heaven, and the companion of angels! What abundant encouragement does this give to the most abandoned finner among you to turn unto the Lord ! Let publicans and finners defpair of mercy and falvation if they continue in their prefent condition; but if they arife and follow Jefus at his call, and become his humble, teachable difciples, they

Serm. 52.

they need not defpair; nay, they may rejoice in hope of the glory of God, and be affured they fhall be admitted into the kingdom of God, when the felf-righteous children of the kingdom are flut out.

When Matthew had embraced the call, he made a feast for his new Master, that he might shew his refpect and gratitude to him, and that he might let his brother publicans and old companions have an opportunity of conversing with him, and receive his instructions. How natural is it for a finner just brought to love Jefus, to use means to allure others to him, especially his former companions! Having feen his own guilt and danger, he is deeply affected with theirs, and would willingly lead them to that Saviour, who has given him fo gracious a reception. Indeed his generous endeavours of this kind, though the moft fubftantial and difinterested evidences of friendship, often excite the contempt and ridicule of his former companions; and the more fo, as they are generally attended with the imprudent, but well-meant blunders of inexperience, and an honeft zeal mingled with wild-fire. But at times fuch a convert is made the inftrument of bringing those to be his companions in the way to heaven, who had walked with him in the ways of fin: and this is fufficient encouragement to fuch of you as have been called, like Matthew, to use your best endeavours with your fellow-finners. Who knows but you may fave a foul from death, and hide a multitude of fins? And what a noble, beneficent exploit is this !

The bleffed Jefus, who was always ready to embrace every opportunity of doing good, whatever popular odium it might expofe him to, cheerfully complies with Matthew's invitation, and mingles with a crowd of publicans at his table. Like a phyfician, he employs himfelf in an hofpital, among the fick and dying, and not among the healthy and gay. The converfation of finners could not be agreeable to him for itfelf; but as it gave him opportunity of doing them Vol. III. A a good,

good, it afforded him a generous pleafure. To converfe with his Father and the holy angels in his native heaven, would have been more pleafing in itfelf to his holy foul; but if by converfing with finners in our guilty world, he can but fave the perifhing creatures, he cheerfully fubmits to the felf-denial, and even rejoices in it; just as a compassionate physician, though he has no pleafure in the melancholy manfions of fickness, yet frequents them, that he may relieve the diffreffed.

The Pharifees now thought they had a good handle to raife popular clamour against Christ, and therefore cavil at these freedoms, as though they had been profane, and inconfistent with the character of the Meffiah, or even of a prophet. If he claimed this character, they thought it much more becoming him to keep company with them, than with profligate publicans. Hence, to ftumble and perplex his difciples, they come to them, and afk, Why eateth your Master with publicans and finners? The difciples were not as yet endowed with that mouth and wifdom which all their enemies could not withftand; and therefore Jefus anfwers them, and takes upon himfelf his own defence. The whole, fays he, have no need of a physician, but they that are fick. Some fuppofe, that by the whole, Chrift means those that were really whole, or that were not fo infected with the difeafe of fin, as to stand in need of him as a physician. When such perfons can be found among the fons of men, this exposition will appear more plausible. But fince we know that all have finned, and ftand in need of Chrift as a Saviour, it is much more reafonable, I think, to fuppofe, that by the whole, Chrift means those that imagined themfelves whole, though really languishing with the deadly difease of fin. It feems to me that he here answers the Pharisees upon their own principles, and proves his conduct to be justifiable, even supposing their high opinion of themfelves, and their contemptuous idea of the publicans, to be true; as if he had faid.

Serm. 52.

faid, "I come into the world under the character of a phyfician for fick fouls. Such, you will grant, thefe despifed publicans are; and therefore, you must alfo grant, that thefe are the perfons I have to deal with, and thefe are most likely to make application to me. But as for yourfelves, you think you are righteous; you think you are not fo far gone with the difeafe of fin as to need a phyfician fent down from heaven to heal you. Now I will not determine at prefent, whether this high opinion you have of yourfelves be just or not. Be it right or wrong, it is certain, that while you entertain it, you cannot confiftently find fault with my conduct. If you are fuch, I have no bufinefs with you as a phyfician. I muft, therefore, rather choofe to converfe with thefe finners, who now begin to fee themfelves fuch, and to be fenfible of their need of a physician."

Thus, as I obferved, Jefus here forms an argument ad hominem, or vindicates his conduct even upon the principles of the Pharifees themfelves. It was not now to his purpofe to difpute the high opinion they had of themfelves; even that opinion furnifhed him with a fufficient defence. But, when it was proper, he faithfully expofes their true character, as proud, felfrighteous hypocrites, and denounces the most terrible woes against them.

I might perhaps render the matter plainer by a familiar illuftration. Suppofe a man of learning in company with two perfons; the one really ignorant, but highly conceited of his knowledge, and confequently unteachable; the other ignorant too, but fenfible of it, and, therefore, defirous of inftruction : fuppofe he fhould turn from the felf-conceited creature, and carry on converfation with the other, who was likely to profit by it; and fuppofe the former fhould refent it, and fay, " If he were indeed a fcholar, as he pretends to be, he would not be fond of the fociety of fuch an ignorant dunce, but would rather choole me for a companion." How properly might a teacher reply, " O! you are a wife man; and have no need of my inftruction; and, therefore, as a teacher, I have no bufinefs with you; but this poor, ignorant creature is fentible of his want of inftruction; and, therefore, it is most fit I should converse with him." Such a reply has a peculiar pungency and mortifying force in it: and fuch Jefus used in the case before us.

To give a fuller view of this text, and to adapt it to practical purpofes, I intend to defcribe the characters of those that are whole, and of those that are fick, in the fenses here intended.

There are none of the fons of men who are really whole. Their fouls are all difeafed; for all have finned, and there is none righteous, no not one. And perhaps there are none upon earth fo proud, and fo ignorant of themfelves, as to affirm in fo many words, that they are whole; that is, " perfectly righteous."-Therefore by the whole, cannot be meant either those who are really free from all fin, or those who imagine themfelves entirely free from it. It does not appear that even the proud Pharifees were capable of flattering themfelves fo far. But by the whole, are meant those who are indeed guilty, depraved finners, and who are ready to make a fuperficial confession in words that they are finners, but continue fecure and impenitent, infensible of their guilt, their corruption, their danger, and their need of a Saviour; that is, those who are really fick, and dangeroufly ill, and yet are as eafy, as unapprehenfive of danger, as careless about applying to the phyfician, as if nothing ailed them. The difease is of a lethargic nature, and stupifies the unhappy creatures, fo that they are not fenfible of it. It renders them delirious, fo that they think themfelves well, when the fymptoms of death are ftrong upon them. What multitudes of fuch may we fee in the world! The word of God pronounces them dangeroufly ill; their friends may fee the most deadly fymptoms upon them : but, alas! they are flupidly infenfible of their own cafe. Jefus, the divine Phyfician, warns

Serm. 52.

warns them of their danger, offers them his help, and prefcribes to them the infallible means of recovery; but they difregard his warnings, neglect his gracious offer, and refufe to fubmit to his prefcriptions. This is the general character of those that are whole, in the fense of my text.

By the fick, are meant those who, like the former, are really guilty, corrupt finners, in extreme need of a Saviour, and who readily confess they are such; but here lies the difference, they are not only fuch in reality, and they not only acknowledge that they are fuch, but they are deeply fenfible of it, they are tenderly affected with their cafe : their temper and conduct, their thoughts of themfelves and of Jefus Chrift, their defigns and endeavours are fuch as are natural to a foul fenfibly fick of fin, and fuch as bear a refemblance to those of a perfon fick in body, and using all means. for a recovery. It is the characteristic of this class of finners, not that they are lefs holy, or in more danger, than others; but that they are more fenfible of their condition, and more folicitous and laborious about deliverance. They feel themfelves difordered; they put themfelves under the care of Jefus, the only Phyfician of fouls; they fubmit to his prefcriptions, and use all means for their recovery to foundness of mind, from the deadly difeafe of fin. This is the general character of the fick, in the fenfe of my text; but it is neceffary I fhould defcend to particulars.

The particular characters of the whole and the fick, in contrast, are fuch as these:

1. He that is whole has never had a clear affecting fight and fenfe of fin; but he that is fick is fully convicted, and deeply fenfible of it. The one has only a general, fuperficial, unaffecting conviction that he is a finner; that he has not been fo good as he fhould have been; that his heart is fomewhat difordered; and efpecially that he has been guilty of fundry bad actions. But alas! he neither fees his finfulnefs in its full extent, nor is fuitably affected with that little of

it

#### The Characters of

Serm. 52.

it he fees. He does not clearly fee the entire and univerfal corruption of his heart, and the numberlefs principles and feeds of fin that are there; the blindnefs of his mind as to divine things; the fecret difaffection of his heart towards God and holinefs; the carnality of his mind, and his lukewarmnefs and formality in the duties of religion. He may have a tranfient glance, a fuperficial view of thefe things ; but he has not a deep fettled conviction of them; nor is he fuitably affected with what he knows of his own finfulnefs. It does not appear to him fuch a mighty matter to have fuch a difordered heart towards God, to have dropped a forbidden word now and then, or to have committed a few bad actions; few, I fay, for fo they appear to him, though repeated times and ways beyond number. Sin appears to him a triffing peccadillo, a fmall evil, and he has a thoufand excufes to make for it. Hence he is as eafy as carelefs, as prefumptuous in his hopes as if he believed he did not really deferve punishment from a righteous God, and therefore was in no danger. Though the leprofy of fin fpreads ever fo wide, and breaks out into ever fo many putrid and mortifying fores, yet he is eafy and fecure, and infenfible of the difeafe. Thus, like a man in health, he is unconcerned, and neither apprehends himfelf fick, nor uses the least means for his recovery.

O! what multitudes of fuch are among us! They will confess themfelves finners, with as little concern as if they were quite free from fin, or as if they thought there was little or no danger in it.

But is it fo with the poor fick finner? O! no: he fees, he feels that his whole head is fick, and his whole heart faint and that from the crown of the head even unto the foul of the foot, there are nothing but wounds, bruifes, and putrifying fores. He feels the plague of a hard fenfelefs heart, and the fecret fprings of wickednefs within him. He feels that fin has enfeebled all his powers, and that he is no more able to exert them in religious endeavours, than a fick man is to employ himfelf Serm. 52.

himfelf in active life. O! into what a confernation is the finner ftruck, when he is awakened out of his lethargic fecurity, and his eyes are opened to fee himfelf in a juft light! He had flattered himfelf that he had a good conftitution of foul, and that little or nothing ailed him; but now, he is furprifed to fee the ftrong fymptoms of fpiritual death upon him.

Suppose fome of you, who have come here to-day vigorous and healthy, fhould fuddenly difcover the fpots of a plague broken out all over you, how would it ftrike you with furprize and horror! Such is the furprize and horror of the awakened finner; thus is he alarmed and amazed. So clear are his views of his entire and univerfal depravity and imminent danger, that he is utterly aftonished he was so flupid as never to difcover it before. Now alfo he has a deep fenfe of the evil of fin : he not only fees himfelf univerfally difordered, but he fees, he feels the diforder to be deadly : fin now appears to him the greatest evil upon earth, or even in hell. O! how worthy of the fevereft vengeance from a righteous God! how contrary to the divine purity! how bafe, how ungrateful a violation of the most strong and endearing obligations! how deftructive to the foul, not only according to the penalty of the divine law, but in its own native tendency ! During the progress of the Christian life he feels himfelf recovering a little, though very flowly, while he follows the prefcriptions of his divine phyfician, and receives healing influences from him. He feels his enfeebled foul gathering a little ftrength; his vitiated tafte gradually corrected; and the welcome fymptoms of returning health; but O! he is fenfibly fick ftill. The cure is not complete in this world; but the remains of his old diforder hang upon him all his life, and he is fubject to many dangerous relapfes, in which it gathers new strength, and he is afraid it is incurable.

2. They that are whole are generally eafy and fecure, and unapprehenfive of danger : but the fick foul

is

is alarmed and anxious; and cannot be eafy, till it perceives fome appearances of recovery. The that is whole is benumbed with a flupid infen-

fibility; but he that is fick is in pain from the difeafe of fin, which he fenfibly feels. The one can walk about, merry and thoughtlefs, with a hard depraved heart within him; the other is perpetually uneafy, and, like a fick man, has no tafte for any thing while he feels fuch a heart within him. If the one is anxious, it is with fome worldly care; if the other is anxious, it is chiefly for the recovery of his dying foul. The one can give himfelf up to business, or pleasure, or idlenefs, as a man in health, and at eafe; the other is apprehenfive that his foul is in great danger; and, like a fick man, gives up to his eager purfuits, till he fees whether he is likely to recover. He is alarmed with the deadly confequences of fin, as it exposes him to the wrath of God, the lofs of heaven, and all the miferies of the infernal world. But this is not all that distresses him; he confiders fin in itself as a loathfome difeafe, and is pained with its prefent effects upon him. As a fick man is not only alarmed at the confequence of his difeafe, namely, death, but confiders it as a pre-fent pain, and as depriving him of the prefent comforts of life, fo the fick foul feels fin as a loathfome, painful difeafe, that now deprives it of the exalted pleafures of religion, and renders it incapable of ferving its God with vigour and life. This indifpolition of foul for the exercifes of religion, is, in itfelf, a conftant uneafinefs to him who is fpiritually fick. How ftrongly does St. Paul reprefent the cafe, when he cries out, O! wretched man that I am! who fhall deliver me from the body of this death? Rom. vii. 24. The image feems to be that of a living man walking about with a rotten, naufeous carcafe tied fast to him, which oppreiles him, and he cannot, with all his efforts, caft it off; but it lies heavy upon him wherever he goes, which conftrains him to cry out, "O! who shall deli-ver me from this dead body?" This is the character 1. of

Serm. 52. the Whole and Sick, &c.

of the foul fick of fin. But he that is whole hath little or no uneafinefs upon this account. If he is alarmed at all, it is with the confequence of fin; his flavifh foul fears nothing but the punifhment. As for the difeafe itfelf, it is fo far from giving him uneafinefs, that he is in love with it. It affords him fenfations of pleafure, rather than of pain, and he rather dreads a recovery than the continuance of the diforder. Sin has intoxicated him to fuch a degree, that holinefs, which is the health of the foul, is difagreeable to him, and he would rather continue languifhing than recover.

My brethren, you can eafily diftinguifh between ficknefs and health of body; and you are very ready to do it. And will you not inquire what flate your fouls are in? whether they are fenfible of their ficknefs, and in a way of recovery? or whether they are flupified, or made delirious by the diforder, infenfible of their danger, and unfolicitous about their recovery? I pray you examine yourfelves in thefe particulars.

3. They that are whole are unwilling to apply to a phyfician, or to follow his prefcriptions; but to the fick a phyfician is moft welcome, and they will fubmit to his directions, however felf-denying and mortifying. This is the point my text has particularly in view, and therefore we muft take particular notice of it.

They that are in health have no regard to a phyfician, as fuch: they neither fend for him, nor will they accept of his help, if offered gratis: they look upon the beft of medicines with neglect, as of no ufe or importance to them: the prefcriptions proper to the fick they hear with indifference, as not being concerned. Thus it is with thoufands, who imagine themfelves whole in fpirit. The Lord Jefus exhibits himfelf to the fons of men under the character of a phyfician; the gofpel makes a free offer of his afiiftance to all fick fouls that will freely accept it. And what reception does he generally meet with? Why, multitudes Vol. III. Bb neglect

Serm. 52.

neglect him, as though they had no need of him. They may indeed pay him the compliment of professing his religion, because it happened to be the religion of their fathers and their country, but they have no eager defires after him; they are not in earnest, and laborious to obtain his affiftance; they do not invite him with the most affectionate intreaties to undertake their cafe; they do not beg and cry for relief from him, like blind Bartimeus, Mark x. 47. *Jefus, thou Son of David, have* mercy on us. In fhort, whatever regard they may profefs for him, they are not deeply fenfible of their abfolute need of him : they are not feelingly affected towards him, as towards a being with whom they have the nearest perfonal concern, a concern of the utmost importance: and the reafon is, they are whole in their own apprehensions; or if they feel fome qualms of confcience, fome fits of painful remorfe, they foon heal their own hurt flightly, crying, Peace, peace, when there is no peace. They make a medicine of their own prayers, tears, repentance, and religious endeavours; and with this they hope to heal themfelves. Thus Jefus is neglected; they give him the name of a Saviour; but in reality they look to themfelves for a cure. How is the gofpel, that makes the offer of relief from this heavenly phyfician, generally received in the world? Alas! it is neglected, as the offer of fuperfluous help. It is heard with that indifference with which men in health attend to the prefcriptions of a phyfician to the fick, in which they have no immediate concern. Brethren, is this neglected gofpel the only effectual mean for healing your dying fouls? Then what means the ftupidity and inattention with which it is heard? What means the general neglect with which it is treated ? O! how affecting is it to fee a dying world rejecting the only reftorative that can heal their difeafe, and preferve their lives! But alas! thus it is all around us.

Again, Jefus prefcribes to the fons of men the only means of their recovery. Particularly he enjoins them no more to drink poifon; that is, no more to indulge themfelves Serm. 52.

themselves in fin, which is, in its own nature, the most deadly poifon to the foul. And what can be more reafonable than this? Yet this is what a ftupid world principally objects against, and multitudes rather die than fubmit to it. A difordered, empoifoned confti-tution of foul is to them the most agreeable. This divine Phyfician likewife requires them to use the means of grace inftituted in the gospel; to meditate upon their condition, and obtain a deep fense of their diforder; to read and hear the word with folemn attention, and felf-application; to pray with frequency and importunity. Thefe are his preferiptions to all that would recover under his hands. But how few obferve them in earneft! What a general neglect of the means of grace prevails in our country, or what a careles attendance upon them ! which is equally pernicious. Chrift alfo enjoins them to fubmit to him as their Phyfician, to flatter themfelves no longer that they can heal themfelves by means within their own power, but to apply his blood as the only healing balm to their wounded fouls. But, alas! they difregard this grand prefcription ; they will not fubmit to him ; but, like an obflinate patient, will have their own way, though eternal death fhould be the confequence.

But this is not the cafe of the finner fpiritually fick : he will do any thing, he will fubmit to any thing, if it may but fave him from the mortal difeafe of fin. How ardently does he long after Jefus ! With what cheerfulnefs does he put himfelf under his care ! With what joy and gratitude does he hear the offer of free falvation in the gofpel ! and how dear is the gofpel to his heart on this account ! With what eager wifaful eyes does he look upon his Phyfician ! How does he delight to feel himfelf under the operation of his hand ! to feel him probe his wounds, and then apply the balm of his blood ! With what anxiety does he obferve the fymptoms, and inquire whether he is upon the recovery or not ! and O ! with what pleafure does he difcover the figns of returning health ! to feel a little

### The Characters of

188

#### Sermin 52.

little eager appetite for fpiritual food! to feel a little fpiritual life in religious exercises! to feel himfelf able to run in the way of God's commandment! to feel the principles of fin weakened within him ! How fweet is this! How willingly does he fubmit to the prefcrip-tions of his phyfician, and attend upon the means of grace, however difagreeable to a carnal mind! He makes the law of God the rule of his regimen, and would not indulge himfelf in any thing which that facred difpenfatory forbids. He guards againft relapfes, and keeps out of the way of temptation, as far as poffible, lest his frail conftitution should be hurt. The fociety of finners is like the company of perfons infected with a contagious difeafe, which he is in danger of catching, and therefore he avoids it as cautioufly as he can. Let those that think their fouls healthy and vigorous, boaft of their ftrength, and what mighty things they can do in religion; as for him, he feels his weaknefs; he feels he can do nothing aright, but just as he receives daily strength from Christ. He feels himself every day troubled with some diforder or other, yea with a complication of them : therefore he is daily fenfible of his need of the phyfician, and makes daily application to him. He does not begrudge to take time from his other affairs, and, as it were, to keep his chamber a while, that he may use means for the recovery of his foul: for, O! if he lofe his foul, what would the whole world profit him! In fhort, the fick finner is a tender, delicate, frail creature, entirely fubject to the prefcriptions of Chrift, and every day tak-ing means from him; anxious for his recovery, and willing to fubmit to any thing that may promote it. This is the man, in our Chrift-defpiling world, that gives Jefus a most willing and welcome reception, and embraces his gofpel as containing all his falvation and all his defire. O! that there were many fuch in our world ! for this man is in a hopeful way of recovery. This world is a vaft hospital, full of dying fouls : Jefus descends from heaven and enters among them, offering

ing them health, and eternal life if they will but fubmit to his directions, which are as eafy as poffible. Repentance indeed, and fome other bitter ingredients, are included in a religion for finners; and how can it be otherwife, fince thefe are neceffary for their recovery in the very nature of things? Befides, even thefe are fweet, when taken in the vehicle of a Saviour's dying love; and many a foul has found more noble pleafure in generous forrow for fin than ever they found in the commiflion of it.

But after all, the generality die in their fins, amidst the full means of their recovery ; and the great reafon is, they will not be convinced of their danger, nor be perfuaded to apply to the Phylician. O! how tragical and affecting a cafe is this! and what may render it the more fo to us, that it is the cafe of fome of us. Yes, my brethren, though I am unwilling to harbour one hard thought of any of you, yet I cannot avoid concluding that there are fome, I am afraid many fouls, in this affembly, who are not fenfible of their dangerous difeafe, and their need of Chrift as a Phyfician, and therefore are in danger of perifhing without him. Sin, like a ftrong dofe of opium, has ftupified you, and you feel eafy and whole-hearted, as if nothing ailed you, when the fymptoms of death are ftrong upon you. We can weep and lament over the fick-bed of a dying friend, and we even drop our tears after him into the grave : but fhall we drop no tears this day over dying fouls, that are fo numerous among us ? What renders the cafe the more affecting is, that they perifh by their own wilful obflinacy, under the hands of an all healing Phyfician :- O that my head were waters, and mine eyes a fountain of tears, that I might weep day and night over the flain of the daughters of my people ! Ye fecure and whole-hearted finners, must it not fhock you to think that Jefus Chrift, the only Phyfician, gives you up? You fee, in my text, he looks upon you as perfons that he has no bufinefs with. He had rather converfe, with publicans and finners than

than with you, as having more hopes of fuccefs among them. Let publicans and finners take the hint, and be encouraged to apply to Jefus. Come, ye profligates and libertines, drunkards, fwearers, whoremongers, come finners of the most abandoned characters, apply to this Phyfician. He is willing to heal you : He offers you healing. Wilt thou be made whole? is his queftion to you this day. He is also perfectly able, able to fave to the uttermost, however inveterate your difeafe may be. If the children of the kingdom thut themfelves out ; if felf-righteous Pharifees reject this Phyfician, and die in their fin, do you come in ; put yourfelves under his care, fubmit to his prefcriptions, and you fhall yet live, and be reftored to perfect health and eternal life. Rugged as you are, you are very proper materials for the temple of God. If you are fenfibly fick, it fhould not difcourage you from entering yourfelves into Chrift's hofpital, and putting yourfelves under his care; nay, this fhould even encourage you. Your being fick of fin is a neceffary qualification to render you his patients : they are fuch he loves to converfe with, and they are only fuch who are recovered by him. Therefore this day give your-felves up to him as his willing patients. Cry to him to undertake your cafe : Heal me, O Lord, and I shall be healed. Submit to his prefcriptions, and follow his directions, and you shall live for ever.

I fhall conclude my fubject, by giving anfwers from it to fome queftions that may arise in your minds on this occasion.

What is the reafon that the world lies in fuch a dead fecurity around us? Whence is it there is fo much fin in the world, and fo little fear of punifhment? Whence is it that men will entertain fuch hopes of heaven upon fuch flight evidences, or rather with the full evidence of the word of God againft them? Alas i the reafon is, they are whole in their own imagination : they think themfelves well, and therefore apprehend no danger, but lie in a dead, inactive fleep.

What is the reafon why fo many neglect the means of grace in public and private? Whence is it that there are fo many prayerless families and prayerless clofets among us? Why is the bible thrown by in fome families, as a piece of ufelefs lumber ? Why is the houfe of God fo thinly frequented in many places, and the table of the Lord almost deferted ? Why is chriftian conversation fo unfashionable ? and why do we hear fo few inquiries from finners, what they fhall do to be faved? The reafon is, they imagine themfelves well; they are whole-hearted; and, therefore, it is no wonder they neglect the means of recovery : they think they have no more to do with them than perfons in health with phyfic. The only method to bring to ufe thofe means in earneft, is to make them fenfible of their dangerous difeafe. And O! that their ministers may use all proper means with them for this end, and that divine grace may render them effectual !

What is the reafon that the means of grace are attended upon by others with fo much formality and indifference? Whence is it that there are fo many lukewarm, fpiritlefs prayers and folemn mockeries of the great God? fo many wandering eyes and wandering hearts in the heavenly exercise of praife, and in hearing the most folemn and affecting truths? Whence is it that all the religion of many is nothing but a dull round of infipid, lifelefs formalities? Alas! the fame reafon returns : they are whole in their own conceit. And how can they, while they flatter themfelves with this imagination, use those means in earness, which are intended for the recovery of the fick? The fick will use them in earness; but to others they are mere customary formalities.

Would you know what is the reafon that the bleffed Jefus, the moft glorious and benevolent perfon that ever appeared in our world, is fo generally neglected? O! why is his love forgotten by those very creatures for whom he shed his blood? Why are there not more longings and crics for him? Why is not a Saviour, Saviour, an almighty and complete Saviour, more fought after by perifhing finners? Why is his name of fo little importance among them? How comes it to pafs, that he may continue for months, for years, for fcores of years, offering falvation to them, intreating, commanding and perfuading them to accept it, and warning them of the dreadful ruin they will bring on themfelves by rejecting it? Whence is it that, after all, he is defpifed and rejected of men, and that but very few will give him fuitable entertainment ?— Whence is this fhocking conduct in -reafonable creatures? O! it is the fame old reafon ftill; they are whole-hearted, and do not feel themfelves dangeroufly ill; and how then can they be folicitous, about a phyfician !

What is the reafon that the gofpel, which reveals and offers life and falvation to the world, meets with fo cold a reception? Why does not the way of falvation therein difcovered fpread transport and praife over all the earth? Why does not the fong of angels found from every human tongue, *Glory to God in the bigheft for peace proclaimed on earth, and good-will towards men*? Why does the chriftian world in general practically defpife that religion which they profess? O! it is becaufe they are whole in their own imaginations, though dying by thoufands all over the world. It is becaufe they are not fenfible of their need of the gofpel and its bleffings. O! if they were but once fenfible how dangeroufly ill they are, they would foon change their opinion.

Let me bring this matter ftill nearer home. Whence is it that the gofpel, even with all the difadvantages that attend it from my unfkilful lips, does not meet with a more affectionate welcome among you? There are many, I am afraid, who ftatedly or occafionally attend here to hear the gofpel, who yet defpife it in their hearts, or do not affectionately embrace it. And what is the reafon of this? May I not venture to affirm, that the gofpel has been dear to fome, who have fat

#### Serm. 52.

fat under no better ministry? Must not this then be the reason? That there are multitudes of whole-hearted finners, even among us, that mingle among us in the fame affembly, and hear the gospel from the fame lips! Multitudes who are infensible of their difease, and confequently of their need of a physician! O! inquire, whether this be not the true reason why the gospel meets with such a cold reception among us.

Would you know why fo many fools make a mock of fin! Why they can go on impenitent in it, apprehending little or no danger from it! Why they are every day finning, and every day merry, thoughtlefs and gay! Why they can love and delight in fin, which God hates, and which he has threatened with fuch heavy vengeance! Alas! the reafon is, they are whole: they do not look upon fin as a deadly difeafe that requires a cure, but as their health, which ought to be cherifhed. This is the difeafe under which our body politic now languifhes. It is this difeafe that enfeebles our counfels and undertakings; but who fufpects that this has any bad influence in the cafe ? Who endeavours the cure of this, as the moft effectual cure for a languifhing, bleeding country !

What is the reafon that men are cautious of coming near a house infected with a contagious fickness, and that duty itfelf can hardly conftrain them to enter, but that they can venture their fouls without caufe into infnaring company, and within the fphere of temptation? Whence is it, that, for the recovery of their mortal bodies, they will fubmit to the most felfdenying regimen, take the most naufeous draughts, and be at great pains and expence, whilft, for their fouls, they will take no pains, use no means, deny themselves in no gratification? What is the reason of this? O ! it is the fame reafon still; they do not feel the leaft fickness of their fouls, but imagine they have a firm, invulnerable constitution, incapable of infection in the most contagious places, and that it will recover by its native ftrength, without any extrinlic help. Vol. III. Cc Would

#### The Characters of

Would you know why there is fo much fpiritual pride and vanity in the world? why fo many religious Thrasis, vain boasters, who imagine they can turn to God when they please, in their own strength, and who pretend they can perform fuch great things in religion, when they are disposed to make the attempt ? O! it is becaufe they do not know they are fick : they do not feel themfelves enfeebled by fin, and difabled from doing any thing truly good. You have feen fome in a delirium, who imagined they were well, able to go about, and perform their ufual bufinefs, when in the mean time they were under the power of a deadly difeafe, and the fymptoms of death perhaps then upon them. Just fo it is with these oftentatious boafters; and could you but cure their delirium, and make them fenfible of their diforders, they would foon feel and confess themselves poor, weak, languishing creatures, unable to do any thing, but just as they receive freength from on high.

Would you know why fo many hate faithful preaching, and refent it if any means are used for their recovery? It is because they imagine themselves well; and such do not like to be teased with the importunities of a physician, nor to have disagreeable medicines forced upon them. O! were they but fensible of their condition, they would willingly submit to the prefcriptions.

Would you know where you fhould begin your religion; or what is the grand preparative for your embracing the gofpel in fuch a manner as to be faved by it? To this interefting inquiry you may eafily infer and anfwer from what has been faid. Begin your religion in a deep fenfe of fin; let your wound be probed to the quick, in order to a thorough cure, otherwife it would be but flightly fkinned over, and it will again break out, and prove more dangerous than ever: labour to get a deep fenfe of your difeafe, and then you will fo give yourfelves up to the Phyfician, that he may apply to you what he thinks proper, and make an effectual cure. Some

Some of you perhaps have wondered why you fcepoor mourning creatures here and there, that cannot live as you do, thoughtlefs, carelefs, and unaffected. You afcribe it perhaps to melancholy, to precifenefs, to hypocrify, or an affectation of fingularity. But I will tell you the true reafon, They are fick; they feel themfelves fick ; whereas you imagine yourfelves well ; and you cannot wonder that the fick and the healthy fhould behave in a different manner. Why do they not neglect Jefus Chrift, as you do? O! it is becaufe they are fick, heart-fick, and therefore muft long and cry for a phyfician. Why do they not indulge themfelves in fin, as you do? It is becaufe they are fick of it; they fee it to be a mortal poifon, and they cannot be eafy while they feel it working through their frame. Why do they use the means with fo much earnestnefs? Why do they pray, and hear, and attend upon every religious ordinance with fo much zeal and folicitude? Why can they not, like you, attend upon them in a carelefs, formal way, or entircly neglect them? O! the reafon is, they are fick, heart-fick, and they are using these means for their recovery. And did you view yourfelves in the fame juft light, you would use them too: Yes, you would be as strict, as earnest, as laborious, as any of them. Why do they not, like you, abandon themfelves, and devote all their time, to fome worldly purfuit ? O! it is becaufe they are fick, and must take time for the use of means for their re-covery, whatever be omitted. Why are they fo much afraid of temptation, and keep out of its way? It is because they are afraid of a relapse, and that fin, their old difeafe, will renew its ftrength. Whence are they fo often filled with doubts, and fears, and anxious perplexities? O ! it is becaufe the fymptoms of the diforder are doubtful, and they know not whether they are in a way of recovery or not. When they are fatisfied in this point, then they can rejoice, and that with a joy more noble than you are capable of.

195

And,

And, poor fick fouls, be of good cheer, you shall yet be healed. Yes, there is balm in Gilead; there is a Phyficianothere; Jefus can heal you : and bleffed be his name, he is as willing as he is able. Continue ftedfast in the use of the means appointed for your recovery, and he will make them efficacious. Yes, thefe fick fouls of yours shall yet be as healthy and vigorous as an angel, and you shall ere long be advanced to the region of immortal health, where the inhabitants no more fay, I am fick; where you fhall breathe a pure falubrious air, agreeable to your delicate conftitutions, and be vigorous and lively for ever.

Do not think much of it, that a difease so inveterate and mortal fhould be painful and difficult in the cure. The operation will not laft long; and if it does but fucceed, the pain and felf-denial will be infinitely more than compensated.

The deep fenfe of your diforder is often difcouraging to you: O! you are afraid it will at last prove mortal. But this very thing ought to encourage you. The perfons that I cannot fpeak one comfortable word to, are not of your character; they are the fecure, whole-hearted finners; but for you there is ftrong confolation: fo ftrong that it may bear down all your fears before it. The fenfe of your diforder qualifies you for the Phyfician, and renders you proper objects of his care. The poor, the maimed, the halt, the blind, the broken-hearted, are the characters of the perfons that he has to do with, and who are recovering under his hands. And are not these your characters ! They are indeed humbling and mortifying; but, O! they are encouraging, as they prepare you for Chrift's healing care.

But as for you, whole-hearted finners, I must pronounce you loft and dead fouls. Jefus himfelf has de-clared, that he has no bufinefs with fuch as you. And if he cafts you off, O! what other phyfician can you employ? Alas! you will die in your fins !-Die in your fins ! O ! dreadful ! better die in a ditch, or a dungcon,

### Serm. 53: Chrift the Defire and Delight of Saints. 197

dungeon, than die in your fins! Therefore now labour to be fenfible of your diforder, while it is curable; for all that are not healed in this life, are given up as incurable for ever. Now apply to Chrift as a Phyfician, for he is willing to undertake your cure !

and , and

## SERMON LIII.

A SIGHT OF CHRIST THE DESIRE AND DELIGHT OF SAINTS IN ALL AGES.\*

JOHN viii. 56. Your father Abraham rejoiced [earnestly defired] to fee my day; and he faw it, and was glad.

HEN we fee the crowd, the unthinking majority of mankind in our day, neglect the Lord Jefus, we fee nothing new. This neglect is indeed ftupid, ungrateful, criminal, and extremely affecting and lamentable; but in this refpect, as well as others, there is no new thing under the fun. The bleffed Jefus has been defpifed and rejected of men, in every age, ever fince fin first entered into the world, and railed enmity against him in the mind of man.

But, bleffed be God, fuch excellency has attracted love and admiration in every age. He has been loved and adored, not only by the angels, who know him beft, and are fpectators of his glory in his native heaven, where he keeps his court in confpicuous fplendor, but alfo by fome poor finners of the race of man, in every period of time, fince his glory firft dawned upon

Serm. 53-

upon the world in that early promife, The feed of the woman shall bruise the serpent's head. Gen. iii. 15. John, and his cotemporary christians, who lived upon earth when the word was made flesh, and dwelt among men, beheld his glory, God-like glory, as of the only-begotten of the. Father, full of grace and truth. John i. 14. In these dregs of time, when iniquity abounds, and the love of many waxes cold, there are fome, nay, there are many fcattered here and there through the world, who believe in and love an unfeen Saviour; and, while they believe and love, rejoice with joy unspeakable and full of glory. 1 Pet. i. 8. Abraham, Ifaac, and Jacob alfo, and all the pious patriarchs, who lived in the early dawn of the gofpellight, looked forward with cager eyes to the promifed and expected rifing of the fun of righteoufnefs. His beams were but faintly reflected upon them ; yet they could diffinguifh his light from that of every inferior luminary. They forefaw fome illustrious perfonage, fuperior to themfelves, and all the ordinary meffengers of God, about to appear in the world; and though it does not appear to me that they diffinctly knew who he fhould be, or what fhould be the peculiarities of his office, and how he fhould perform it, \* yet they expected him under the welcome character of a Deliverer, and that in fome way which divine wifdom would appoint he fhould bring falvation to penitent finners. Thus Jefus congratulates his difciples upon their peculiar privilege, above the beft men of the preceding times : Bleffed are your eyes, for they fee ; and your ears, for they hear: for verily I fay unto you, that many pro-phets and righteous men have defired to fee those things which ye fee, and have not feen them : and to hear those things

\* It is evident, that the apofiles before Chrift's refurrection, though they enjoyed the light not only of the ancient types, promifes, and prophefies, but also of many infructions from his own lips, yet were ignorant of his death and refurrection, the nature and extent of his kingdom, and many other important peculiarities of the gospel. And much more fo, may we suppose, were the prophets and good men of ancient times. Several great divines have, I think, represented their faith as much more particular and diffinct than it appears to have been. Serm. 53. Defire and Delight of Saints.

things which ye hear, and have not heard them. Matt. xiii. 16, 17. Their defiring to hear and fee thefe things, which the gofpel reveals, implies that they had fome general imperfect knowledge of them; for there can, be no defire at all of a thing entirely unknown : but their knowledge was indiffinct and obfcure, and not fatisfactory to their pious curiofity. Therefore, as St. Peter informs us, the prophets did not fully underftand their own prophenes, but inquired and fearched diligently concerning the falvation and grace now brought to us; fearching what, or what manner of time the fpirit of Christ, which was in them, did signify, when it testified beforehand of the sufferings of Christ, and the glory that (hould follow ; to whom it was revealed, that not they, but we should fully enjoy the advantage of their own propheses, or that not unto themselves, but unto us they did minister the things which are now reported unto you, by them that have preached the gospel unto you, with the Holy Ghost fent down from Heaven ; which things, not only the prophets, but even the angels of Heaven, those superior intelligencers, defire to look into and ftudy. I Pet. i. 10-12.

To the fame purpofe St. Paul fpeaks concerning Abraham, Noah, and the other pious patriarchs: Theje all died in faith, not having received the promifes; that is, the accomplifhment of them, but having feen them afar off, and were perfuaded of them, and embraced them; that is, they faw by faith, though afar off, at the diftance of thoufands of years, the bleffings contained in those early promifes, particularly that great, all-comprehending bleffing, the Mefliah; and were perfuaded they fhould be fulfilled in due time, and embraced them with eager affection and confidence, as their higheft hope and happinefs.

This is the influence which even the faint difcovery of a Saviour had upon good men many ages ago; but St. Paul tells us, whofe privilege it is to live in gofpel-day, that God has provided fome better thing for us, that they without us fhould not be made perfect, Heb. xi. 13, 40. for us he hath provided the clear revelation of

### A Sight of Chrift the

Serm. 53.

of the gofpel; and fhall not this have a proportionable influence upon us? We fhould at leaft be as much affected with these things as Abraham, who was far inferior to us in external advantages; and how Abraham was affected, we are told by Jefus himself in the text: Abraham rejoiced to fee my day; and he faw it, and was glad.

The Jews, in the context, are pleading the caufe of their own pride and felf-confidence, against fome just reflections which Chrift had made upon them. When he infinuates that they were flaves to fin, and therefore ftood in need of freedom from him, they refent it as a fcandalous imputation, intolerable to a people fo proud and tenacious of their liberty; and either not understanding in what fenfe he meant they were flaves, or imagining that they could not be the fervants of fin, who were the natural defcendants of Abraham, they think to defend themfelves by pleading, We are Abraham's feed, and were never in bondage to any man : how fayest thou, Ye shall be made free! I cannot fee how they could have made good this affertion; for they had been in bondage to the Babylonians, the Syrians, and the Greeks, and were then in fubjection to the Roman empire; but what is there fo falfe or abfurd but men will plead in their own defence when once they have renounced the gofpel! Jefus in his anfwer tells them, that the difpute at prefent was not, Who was their natural father? but, Who was their father in a moral fense? And he lays down this principle, upon which to fettle their moral genealogy, namely, That they were his children, whom they refembled in temper and practice. Now they did not refemble Abraham, much lefs God, whom they alfo called their Father; and therefore they were not the children of Abraham, or of God, in fuch a fenfe as to be free from flavery to fin; which was the fenfe then under confideration : but they refembled the Devil, in doing his lufts, and particularly in their love of falshood, and enmity to truth; and therefore, fays he,

200

#### Defire and Delight of Saints.

Serm. 53.

he, Te are of your father the Devil. In the progress of the debate the Jews were offended, becaufe Chrift in-: finuated that he was greater than Abraham and the prophets. And my text may be confidered as refer-, ring both to this and the former argument. As referring to the laft, it may be thus underftood : " Abraham himfelf was fenfible how much I am fuperior to him; for he rejoiced at the diffant fight of my day, when a much greater Perfon than he fhould appear upon the frage of the world, from whom himfelf, as well as his posterity, and all nations of the earth, should receive the most important bless?" As referring to the former, the meaning may be : "You cannot be the genuine children of Abraham, in the fenfe now under confideration ; for you are not at all like him. You live in my day, and yet rejoice not in it; but he earneflly defired a fight of it, and rejoiced in the fight, though faint and afar off. His difpolition and yours towards me are entirely different, and therefore you cannot be his true fpiritual children." Thus, in both these views, the text contains a conclusive argument in vindication of Jefus Chrift, and in confutation of his enemies.

Your father Abraham rejoiced to fee my day. The day of Chrift primarily fignifies the time when he appeared in the flesh, and conversed with men. So the days of John the Baptift, the days of Neah, &c. fignify the time when John the Baptift and Noah lived upon earth. Matt. xi. 12. and chap. xxiv. 37. But we are to confider the Lord Jefus as coming into the world under a public character; that is, as a Saviour of finners, and as the improver of the Mofaic and Patriarchal religion, by the introduction of the gofpel-difpenfation : and therefore the day of Chrift, which Abraham defired to fee, must fignify the time when he should appepr upon earth as a great Prophet, to make a more perfect revelation of the will of God; the time when he flould offer the great propitiatory facrifice for the fins of the world, of which the facrifices of former dif-Vol. III. Dd penfations

Serm. 53.

penfations were but types and fhadows; the time when he fhould receive dominion, glory, and a kingdom from the Ancient of Days, which should not be confined to the Jews, but extend to all people, nations, and languages, Dan. vii. 14. or, in other words, the time when the great radical promife to Abraham fhould be fulfilled; That in his feed all the nations of the earth should be bleffed, Gen. xxii. 18. the time when the difpenfation of the gofpel fhould be fet up in its full glory, the most perfect dispensation of religion on this fide heaven; which is not to give way to another, like that of Mofes, but to continue to the end of the world. This is the illustrious day here intended; and according to this explication, you fee it includes not only the time of Chrift's appearance upon earth, but also the whole fpace from that time to the end of the world, or the whole time of the gofpel-difpenfation. This is a long and glorious day, and in this day it is our happy lot to live. Abraham would have thought himfelf happy to live in the fame age with us : he would rather have lived in Hanover \* than in Canaan with all his riches; and would rather have been a member of our church than the great patriarch of the Jewish church.

The time of Chrift's appearance upon earth, and of the gofpel-difpenfation introduced by him, may be called a day, not only in conformity to the ufual language of fcripture, in which the time of a perfon's life, the duration of a thing, or the time allotted for any bufinefs, is called a day, though it fhould contain many 'hundreds or thoufands of natural days; I fay, it may be called a day, not only on this account, but alfo to intimate, that it is a feafon of light to the moral world, a feafon when the Sun of Righteoufnefs fhines upon this benighted earth, pierces the glooms of ignorance that covered it, and brings the deepeft myfteries to light; a feafon, when the perfections of the divine

\* The name of a county in Virginia, where this fermen was preached.

#### Serm. 53. Defire and Delight of Saints.

divine nature, the way of pardon and acceptance for obnoxious mankind, the wonders of the unfeen world; and the things that belong to our peace are difplayed in full fplendor. The night of heathen darknefs and the twilight of the Abrahamic and Mofaic difpenfation kindle into day, wherever the gofpel fhines. Abraham lived in the twilight, or early dawn; and therefore, fays Chrift, he defired to fee my day. It is tranilated, he rejoiced to fee my day; and it must be owned, this is the ufual fense of the original word ; \* but this cannot be its meaning here, for this would make a needlefs tautology with the laft part of the verfe, he was glad. To rejoice, and to be glad, is the fame thing: but would hardly be fense to fay, Abraham rejoiced to fee my day, and he faw it and rejoiced. Befides, to rejoice that he might fee, feems abfurd; for his rejoicing could not be to the end that he might fee, but becaufe he did fee. I therefore conclude the word here muft fignify a ftrong transport of defire, and should be rendered, " your father Abraham earneftly defired that he might fee my day : he wished to live in an age when Chrift and the gofpel fhould be fully revealed. From the

\* egalleafato—Since agalleomai, which is commonly used metaphorically, and fignifies to exalt or leap for joy, literally fignifies to leap, why may it not be underflood literally without a metaphor in this place ? As if he had faid, "Abraham leaped up, he raifed himfelf like one endeavouring to catch a glance of fome diftant object, that he might fee the diftant gleamings of Chrift's day."—But this new criticilm I only hint, and fubmit it to examination.

## A Sight of Chrift the

Serm. 53.

the dawn he looked forward with eager defire to fee the fun rifing, and the heavenly day fhining around him, revealing to his view those lovely prospects which were then wrapt in darkness. He longed to see that illustrious Personage springing from his feed," in whom all nations should be bleffed, " and who was his Lord and Saviour, as well as his fon."

Nor was his defire in vain : for Jefus adds, be face it; that is, my day. His defire was granted, and he was favoured with the fight he longed for. But here it may be queried, " how, or in what fenfe, could Abraham be faid to fee Chrift's day, fince he died fo long before his appearance in the flesh ?" . To this fundry answers have been given, particularly, 1. That he faw Chrift's day by faith in the promifes given him, of the accomplifhment of which he was confident; and this confidence infpired him with joy. Faith, fays the apofile, is the fubstance of things hoped for, and the evidence of things not feen, Heb. xi. 1. and fuch was Abraham's faith in the promife of a Mefliah. He faw his day by faith, and was perfuaded of his certain appearance, and embraced him, as though he had been then in the reach of his arms. 2. Abraham might be faid to fee the day of Chrift in that strange transaction, the offering up of his own fon Ifaac. This is the most striking typical reprefentation, I think, which we find in the whole Bible, of the manner in which the world fhould be redeemed by Jefus Chrift; namely, by human facrifice, and by God's making his own Son a propitiatory facrifice, as Abraham was commanded to offer up his; and probably this feemingly hard and unnatural trial was imposed upon him, as a peculiar favour, that he might fee by a fignificant action, what he fo earnefly longed to fee, the manner of man's redemption. This welcome fight he probably had upon mount Moriah, where he went to offer up his only fon. And the infeription he, as it were, left upon that mount, may intimate thus much, In the mount of the Lord it (that is, the day of Chrift) shall be feen. Gen. xxii.

204

Defire and Delight of Saints.

Serm. 53.

xxii. 14. This may alfo be St. Paul's meaning, when he fays, Abraham received lfaac from the dead in a figure, or typical reprefentation, which plainly prefignified to him the refurrection of Chrift from the dead, without a figure; that is, literally, after he had been actually factificed for the fins of men. \* This appears to me as probable a fenfe as any. Yet, 3. Perhaps it may mean, that when Jehovah appeared to Abraham in human form, and familiarly converfed with him, it was a prelude to his incarnation, and gave him a clear idea of the day of Chrift's actual appearance in the flefh.

But in whatever fenfe he faw it, it was a very welcome and joyful fight to him; for Jefus farther tells us, be faw it and was glad. Light is fweet; but no light was fo fweet to Abraham's eyes as that of the day of the Son of man. He faw him not as Simeon, when he took him in his arms, and wifhed that he might never take up any thing elfe, but depart in peace from this world of fin and forrow; but Abraham faw him in fuch a light, as to fill his heart with joy and gladnefs, though only through the medium of faith, and not of fenfe.

These remarks may fuffice to explain the text, as it refers to this patriarch : but it is your perfonal advantage I aim at, and therefore I shall make fome reflections upon it, as it may be accommodated to you: and the reflections are such as these:

That the difpensation of the gospel may be called a bright and illustrious day :

That it is a day which good men under former difpenfations earneftly defired a fight of : That

\* Heb. xi. 19. Dr. Warburton in his Divine Legation, offers for many plaufible things in favour of this fenfe, that I think it has fome confiderable appearance of probability. And thus he and Wolfius apply their text, urging that *en parabole*, anfwers to and fignifies a typical reprefentation. The word *kai* prefixed, *kai en parabole* which flews there is a particular firefs to be laid upon *en parabole*, confirms this expeditio : as if he had faid, "he received him from the dead, not only as he narrowly efcaped death, but alfo in a figure; that is, as a figure or type of fomething future."

That good men earneftly<sup>1</sup> defire clear difcoveries of Jefus Chrift, and his goipel : <sup>1</sup> the state of the st

That thefe defires shall be accomplished : and; That the accomplishment of them affords great joy. I. The difpenfation of the gofpel may be called a

bright and illustrious day.

When John the Baptift, the forerunner of Chrift, was born, the morning-ftar arofe, or as his father Zacharias expresses it, The day-spring from on high visited us. Jefus is the fun of righteousness; Mal. iv. 2. the light of the world ; John viii. 12. and chap. xii. 46. a light to lighten the Gentiles, and the glory of his people Ifrael; Luke ii. 32. and when he made his appearance in the world, then, we are told, The people that fat in darkness faw great light; and to them who fat in the region and shadow of death, light sprung up. Matt. iv. 16. To carry on the metaphor with uniformity, the gospel is called the day of falvation, 2 Cor. vi. 2. the light, 2 Cor. iv. 4. a marvellous light, 1 Pet. ii. 9. a true light fhining, when the darknefs is past, I John ii. 8. and christians are faid to be light, Eph. v. 8 .- the children of the light and the day. 1 Theff. v. 5.

There is good reafon for the ufe of this fignificant metaphorical language; for as the day discovers the fair face of nature, and opens her lovely profpects to view, which were unfeen while covered with darknefs, fo the gofpel reveals the perfections of God, the wonderful scheme of Providence, the beauties of holinefs, the nature of true religion, the duty of man in all its extent, the wonders of the fcheme of redemption through Jefus Chrift, and the method in which obnoxious finners of the race of man may be reconciled to God, the profpects of life and immortality, and the important realities of the eternal world. All thefe are brought to light by the gofpel, after they had long been concealed, or feen but faintly through the glimmering light of reafon in the heathen, and the typical or prophetical revelation of the Mofaic difpenfation. The

The gofpel-day, like a light fhining in a dark place, pierces the darknefs of the human heart, reveals the myfteries of iniquity, and the depths of Satan there, and difcovers fin in all its native deformities. This penetrating light, when enforced by his power who firft commanded the light to fhine out of darknefs, has flafhed conviction upon many a fecure conficience, and opened the moft furprifing difcoveries to many a blind mind. The gofpel, like clear day-light, fhews us the way of duty and happinefs, for which the world had long groped in darknefs, fo that now we may walk in it without flumbling; for *if any man walk in the day, be flumbleth not, becaufe he feeth the light.*— John xi. 9, 10.

Divine things are not only brought to light by the gofpel, but alfo reprefented in the most amiable and engaging view; efpecially when there is not only a clear medium without, but the organ of fpiritual vifion, the mind, is rectified fo as to be able to perceive those objects in this medium. If we should suppose a man had fpent twenty years of his life in darknefs, and never feen nature about him in that lovely and magnificent view in which it appears through the medium of light, and fhould he be fuddenly brought into the light, how would he be overwhelmed with delightful aftonishment at the first fight of the universe .--What amazing profpects, what new and glorious wonders would open to his eyes! How different would the face of nature appear from the view he had of it while an inhabitant of darknefs ! Thus is the finner furprized, when not only the gofpel fhines round him, but his mind is also enlightened to view divine things in that heavenly light. Then, as St. Peter express it, he is brought out of darkness into God's marvellous light, I Pet. ii. 9. a light that reprefents the most marvellous things to his aftonished fight. Then in what a new and glorious light does the great God appear, and all the truths revealed in the gofpel ! What new and furprifing views has he of himfelf, of fin, and of the

the eternal world ! all is real, interefting and affecting ! O! my brethren, have you ever been introduced into this marvellous light? or are you, like the birds of night, lovers and inhabitants of darknefs ftill?

Again, In that darknefs which overfpread the world before the introduction of chriftianity, the wicked fpirits of hell, like beafts of prey, roamed this wildernefs and difcovered great power in their oracles, in poffeffing the bodies of men, &c. But when the gofpel fhone upon the world in its meridian glory, then thefe terrors of the night fled to their den, and could no more roam at large, as they had done.

The day is the time for work and action: fo the gofpel-day is the feafon to work out our falvation. It is not a time for fleep and floth, but for labour and action. This is the accepted time; this is the day of falvation.

This, my brethren, is the glorious and bleffed day in which we live. Let us therefore inquire, Are we the children of the light and of the day? For this purpose inquire, whether it is day within, as well as without? that is, whether your minds have been divinely enlightened within, as the light of the gofpel fhines round you without? Is not that facred light to fome of you like the fun to a blind man? that is, it makes day without him, but all is dark to him, and he fees nothing! Are there not fome of you blind to the glory of God in the gofpel, to the evil of fin, and the great realities of the eternal world ! The light fhines indeed, but it fhines in a thick malignant darknefs; that comprehends it not; a darknefs impenetrable even to the bright beams of the Sun of Righteoufnefs. Is not your heart a dungeon of darknefs, where the vileft lufts crawl, like toads and ferpents? Do you not hate the light, and refuse to come into the light, left your cvil deeds should be reproved? Do you not practife the works of darknefs, works that will not bear the public view, much lefs the examination of the fupreme tribunal? Have you ever beheld the glory PI. in ! 200

of God in the face of Jefus Chrift, the glory of the word made flefb, and dwelling among men, as the glory of the only begotten of the Father, full of grace and truth? O! have you ever feen how lovely, how fuitable, and how glorious that Saviour is, who is revealed in the gofpel? I beg you would put these questions home to your hearts, that you may know whether you are the chil-dren of the light, or whether you are in darkness even until now.

If you have hitherto chosen darkness rather than light, remember, the gofpel, which has lighted many a pilgrim to heaven, will only fhew you the way to hell, and bring you, as it were, to a more horrible precipice, from whence you will fall with the greater violence into the pit. If you perifh from under the gofpel, it will be with a peculiarly aggravated deftruction. Tophet has been prepared of old; and, like a furnace always fupplied, it has been heating more and more for thousands of years, and now, under the gospel, it is heated more than ever; and the hotteft place there is referved for you, if you ftill refift the light, and continue in darknefs. O! remember who it was that made that awful declaration, This is the condemnation ; that is, this is the occasion of the most aggravated condemnation, that light is come into the world, and men love durknefs rather than light, becaufe their deeds are evil. John iii. 19. If the gospel be hid, it is only to them that are loft. 2 Cor. iv. 3.

But I doubt not but fundry of you not only have day without, but within you : God, who commanded light to shine out of darkness, has shined in your hearts, to give you the light of the knowledge of his glory in the face of Jefus Chrift. Bleffed are your eyes, for they fee. And O! what affecting fights have they feen ! what vilenefs and deformity in fin ! and what beauty in holinefs! what corruption and depravity in yourfeives, and what glory and excellency in God! what meannefs and unworthinefs in yourfelves, and what loveli-nefs, what all-perfect righteoufnefs, with attractive VOL. III. Еe glory

# A Sight of Christ the

210

glory in Jefus Chrift! what vanity in this world, and what reality and importance in the world to come !' Well, this day is but the dawn of immortal day, which you fhall enjoy in heaven. You are children of light, and you are haftening to that world, where God himfelf thall be your light, and there thall be no more night. Therefore, walk as the children of light, and let your light fo fhine before men, that they, by feeing your good works, may glorify your Father which is in heaven.

Blefs God that the gofpel fhines around you, and opens fuch difcoveries to your view. To-day it fhews you a feaft of fat things for hungry fouls; it fhews you that ftrange fight, which ftruck all nature with horror, when it first appeared; I mean the Son of God hanging on a crofs, and expiring there for guilty men. This ordinance is a bright ray of evangelical light; and it helps you to fee the love and agonies of Jefus, the great atonement he made for fin, and the method of your pardon and falvation.—Come then, ye children of light, come and gaze, and wonder at thefe aftonifhing fights!

Again, Since it is day-time with us, let us fhake off flumber, and rife to work. Awake to righteoufnefs, finners! Awake, and call upon God, and betake yourfelves to work; to the important, but long-delayed and neglected work of falvation. The night of death is coming when no man can work : then the Sun of Righteoufnefs will be fet; and the day of the gofpel be over, as to you ; and the Lord will caufe darknefs, and your feet will ftumble on the dark mountains, and the fhadows of the everlafting night fhall be ftretched out over your heads. Now, therefore, rife, and do the work of life : do it now, in this your day; or it must remain for ever undone. And, ye who are the children of the light, abound in the work of the Lord while your day lasts. Never let him find you idle, but always bufy in doing good. Do not you fleep, as do others; but watch and be fober. God has diftinguifhed you with his grace, above thoufands of his eminent

eminent fervants; and this lays you under peculiar obligations of duty to him :---Which leads me to add; II. That the difpenfation of the gofpel is a day, which good men under former difpenfations carneftly desired a fight of.

The most that they generally knew was, that religion fould be much improved, and the world receive great advantage, by fome illustrious perfon that fhould arife ;---and they defired themfelves to fhare in that improvement and advantage. They had a general perfuation that God was reconcilable, but, O ! to know the perfon by whom, and the manner in which this reconciliation was to be brought about! They had many intimations that it was to be brought about by facrifice, or the offering up the innocent for the guilty; but they wanted nearer views of this great mystery. They had ordinances of worship divinely inftituted; but thefe were fo expensive, burdenfome, and comparatively carnal, that it is no wonder they looked forward with eager eyes to the time of reformation, when a more easy, spiritual and noble method of worfhip would be introduced : they hoped for happiness beyond the grave, and believed a future state of rewards and punishments; but the fanctions of the difpenfations under which they lived confifted fo much in temporal rewards and punifhments, as to render those of the world to come less clear and affecting .---No wonder then they longed for gofpel-day, by which life alone and immortality are brought fully to light, and all doubts and fufpicions entirely removed. In short, fo much darkness, uncertainty and perplexity attended many things of great importance, that are now clearly revealed, that it was natural and unavoidable for every good man that was concerned to pleafe God and enjoy his favour, to defire farther fatisfaction, and look forward with eager eyes to the rifing Sun, which fhould caft a divine light upon thefe interefting secrets. Now

and he construction and a

#### A Sight of Christ the

Serm: 53.

- Now this happinefs, which they fo ardently defired, we enjoy : and shall we make light of it, and neglect to improve our peculiar privileges! How would Abraham have rejoiced to hear what we hear this day; and fit down at the facred table, which is now prepared for us! And shall we dare to neglect it, or attend upon it in a languid, carelefs, irreverent manner ! Abraham would have willingly exchanged his perfonal converfe with Jehovah, and all his privileges as the patriarch of the Jewish church, for the privilege of the meaneft chriftian among us. And shall not we efteem and improve what he efteemed fo very highly, and longed for fo ardently? Brethren, if we do not all crowd into heaven in a body, it is our own fault in a peculiar degree. Our external advantages for religion are greater than those of Abraham, the friend of God ; than those of Moses, who conversed with him face to face, as a man with his friend; of David, the man after God's own heart; and of the many thoufands that entered the gates of heaven, before Jefus left it to make his appearance in our world. And did they obtain falvation by a Redeemer fo little known, and fhall any of us perifh, when he is fo clearly revealed to us, and fo explicitly propofed to our acceptance? God forbid! Whatever became of finners in Canaan, or Greece, or Rome, where they had prophets or philosophers, but no Jefus to shew them the path of life; O! let finners in Hanover prefs into the kingdom of heaven. For fhame, let them feek falvation, left Jews and Heathens, and all the world, rife up in judgment against them.-But I observed from the text.

- III. That good men earneftly defire clear difcoveries of Chrift and his gofpel.

This was not peculiar to Abraham and the Old Teftament faints, but it is common to all good men in all ages and countries : and if you belong to their number, this is your difposition. O! how you long to know more of Jefus, and dive deeper into the mysteries

212

teries of his gofpel! How are you mortified and grieved for your ignorance! And how fweet is every beam of heavenly light, that breaks in upon your minds; and difcovers more of the glory of Chrift to you, and the wonders of his gofpel! This was your end (w2s it not?) in coming hither to-day; and for this end you intend to fit down at his table, even that you may fee the Lord Jefus in an advantageous point of view by faith, and be more charmed with his glories! Is not this what you defire and long for! Well, for your comfort, I can affure you,

IV. That thefe defires fhall be accomplished.

Abraham defired to fee Chrift's day, and he faw it: his defires were fulfilled. And he was not the only one to whom divine veracity performed its promife, and divine goodness bestowed its bounties. No, the fame blefling has been conferred upon every foul, in every age and country, that, like him, earneitly defired Jesus Christ. This desire presupposes a deep sense of our guilt and depravity, and of our inability to make atonement for our fin, or to fanctify our nature, and prepare ourfelves for heaven, that region of perfect holinefs: and it also implies a general conviction of the glory and excellency of Jefus Christ, and his fuitableness to our case. Defires proceeding from such a fenfe of conviction, are lively and operative, and will fet us in action to obtain the thing defired. They are not lazy inactive defires, which perfons profess, and yet remain all the day idle, and never exert their utmost strength in earnest endeavours to obtain an intereft in Chrift, as their fupreme good and higheft happinefs. Such active defires are connected with the promifes of eternal veracity, which almighty power will certainly perform. Therefore, fear not, ye that feek Jefus who was crucified. You fhall not always pine away with hungry, eager defires and pantings for him, but your utmost wishes shall be accomplished in the enjoyment of the good you defire. And if ever you have had any experience in this cafe, I need hardly tell you, V. That

V. That the accomplishment of these defires afford great joy.

Abraham had his defire of feeing Chrift's day fulfilled; and it infpired him with joy: *he faw it, and wvs glad.* How tranfporting, to view the glory of God fhining in the gofpel! to contemplate the love, the grace, and all-fufficient fulnefs of Jefus! to feel the lively emotions of proper affections towards him, and all those heavenly exercises of mind, which attend the fight of Jefus Chrift in the gospel! What is heaven, but the day of Chrift; a brighter day indeed, but enlightened by the fame fun that fhines in the gospel: *the glory of God enlightens it, and the Lamb is the light thereof.* Rev. xxi. 23. Therefore as much as you enjoy of this facred light, fo much of heaven do you enjoy on earth.

And now, to conclude.—You have heard of Jefus Chrift, and of the difpolition of Abraham, and all good men towards him. But is not this all myftery and unintelligible talk to fome of you? You never have experienced any thing like it. And can you expect falvation from a neglected unknown Saviour? Or are you able to fave yourfelves without him? Alas! both are impolfible. Therefore, my brethren, this day admit the conviction of your guilt and danger, be thoroughly convinced of your own unworthinefs of falvation by natural means, or the guidance of your own wifdom, pray earneftly for fpiritual help from above; in and through a glorious and all-powerful Mediator, and never be eafy till you get out of darknefs into day. As for the children of light, let them furround the

As for the children of light, let them furround the table of their Lord, and there place themfelves under the warm enlivening beams of the Sun of Righteoufncfs.

a contract of some of the solution of the solutio

SERMON

the set of an end to show the first of the large SERMON LIV. THE LAW AND GOSPEL.

STE LITTLE

GAL. iii. 23. But before faith came, we were kept under the law, fout up unto the faith which should afterwards be revealed.

the second se

IN fuch a time of general deadness and fecurity as this, it may really afford me painful perplexity what fubject to choofe. Now this and now that occurs to my mind, and engages my thoughts to purfue it for a while; but after many fluctuations and perplexities, I have at length fixed upon this text, and determined to open to you the nature of the Law and Gofpel, and your concern with each of them : and I have this encouragement, that this may be ftyled an Apoftolic fub-ject, by way of eminence, and is that very doctrine which did fuch mighty execution among the Jews and Gentiles, and converted thousands to the faith of Chrift, upon the first publication of Christianity. The Law and Gofpel were the grand topics of St. Paul's preaching, if we may judge of his fermons by his Epif-tles; for in his Epiftles, particularly those to the Romans and Galatians, he infifts at large upon thefe fubjects. These may also be properly called the doctrine of the reformation from Popery; for no fooner did that facred light dawn, than it began immediately to clear up the nature and the difference between the Law and the Gofpel, and the condition of mankind as under the one or the other of these constitutions. Luther, in particular, made this the great fcope of his preaching and writings; and he wrote an excellent commentary upon this epiftle to the Galatians for this very

## The Law and Gospel.

Serm. 54.

very purpole. And who knows but fuch a fubject as this, which has been the ancient weapon for demolifhing the kingdom of Satan, and wounding impenitent hearts, may do fome execution, through the divine bleffing, even when managed by my unfkilful hand? Be the event what it will, in the name of the Lord, I would make the attempt.

I fhall be the fhorter at prefent in explaining the text, becaufe the whole of the following difcourfe will tend to reflect light upon it.

Faith, in my text, and in fundry places in this epiftle, feems to have a complex fignification : it fignifies, the object of faith revealed in the gofpel, or the method of falvation through faith in the righteoufnefs of Chrift; and it alfo fignifies the grace of faith in the foul, or a hearty compliance with this way of falvati-. on, fo that this expression, before faith came, refers to the time before the doctrine of faith was revealed in the gofpel to the Galatians, and before the grace of, faith was wrought in their hearts. Here it may be proper to obferve, that the members of the primitive church in general, and particularly that in Galatia, were brought under the gospel-dispensation, and embraced the doctrine of the gofpel by faith at one and the fame time. But they were not, like us, educated under the gospel-dispensation; for part of them had been Jews, educated under the Mofaic difpenfation, which, by way of eminence, is frequently called the Law; and, as they were under the legal difpensation, they were generally under the influence of a legal spi-rit; that is, they sought for justification by their own works of obedience to that law.

Another part of them had been educated Heathens, and were defitute at once of the revelation of the gofpel, and of faith in it. Of this fort the generality of the Galatians had been. And yet St. Paul reprefents them alfo as having been under the law, not the Jewish or Motaic law, which the Gentiles had no concern with, but the law of nature, which is universally binding Serm. 54.

ing upon all mankind. And as they were under this law, they were alfo possessed of a legal spirit; that is, they fought falvation by their own obedience to it, as the only way which they knew, and which was natural to them. But, when the gospel-dispensation was fet up in the world, and the doctrine of faith preached to them, they immediately believed, and fo were freed from the outward difpenfation of the law, and from a legal fpirit, at once; and they heard the doctrine, and received the outward difpenfation of the gofpel, and favingly believed, " at one and the fame time." Hence the apoftle fpeaks of their being delivered from the difpensation of the law, and from a legal spirit, and of their being brought under the gofpel-difpenfation, and cordially believing the gofpel-doctrine, in the fame langue ze " as one and the fame thing :" and what he fays is fometimes equally applicable to the outward difpenfation and the inward temper denominated from it, and fometimes more pertinent to the one than to the other. So in my text, the time before faith came, is applicable to the flate of the Galatians, while under the difpenfation of the law, and under a legal or felf-righteous temper; and while they had neither heard the doctrine of faith, nor received the grace of faith. And when in opposition to this (v. 25.) he observes, after that faith is come, we are no longer under the law as a schoolmaster ; he means both after the preaching of the gospel, and after it was received by faith. . Many more inftances of this might be given; particularly chap. iv. 3, 5. Rom. vii. 1, 7.

From hence we may infer, that what St. Paul fays concerning the flate of those that were under the law, as that they are in bondage, shut up under sin, under the curse, that the law is their schoolmaster to bring them to Christ, &c. is not to be confined to the Jews, or to perfons in that age, but may, in part at least, be applied to us, though we have been educated under the gospel, and never were under the Jewish law; for we may be possessed of a legal spirit, though we live un-Vol. III. Ff

Serm. 54.

der the golpel, and never were fubject to the Mofaic economy. Our observation also is supported from hence, that the apofile reprefents the Galatians (the main body of whom were Gentiles, and had no more connection with the law of Mofes than we) as under the law, under the curfe of the law, &c. in this fenfe; and as freed from the law by their faith. 1 Therefore, though the outward difpensation of faith came into our parts of the world before we were born, yet we may apply the text to ourfelves, and fay, before faith came ; that is, before faith came into our hearts : before the evangelical grace was wrought in us by the power of God, we were kept under the law; the ori-ginal word is very emphatical, \* we were prifoners under clofe confinement, we were held in cuftody by the law, as by a firong guard, to prevent all escape. We were shut up to the faith. Here again the original word is very emphatical, + we were enclosed all round; every way of escape was ftopt, but only that of faith: we were fhut up to this way : in this way we were obliged to fly, or to continue for ever bound fast under condemnation; *fhut up to the faith which should afterwards be revealed.* This alfo may be accommo-dated to us, and fignify the clear difcovery of the gofpel to our minds, as an object of faith, by that illumination of the fpirit, which is the caufe of it. But it is more properly and peculiarly applicable to the Ga-latians, while as yet the doctrine of faith in the gofpel was not revealed to them. They were held in cuftody by the law till that happy time came, and then, upon their believing the gofpel, they were fet at liberty.

My prefent defign is to lay down fome propolitions for the explication of the apoftolic doctrine concerning the law and the gofpel, that you may fee in what fense mankind are kept prisoners by the law, under condemnation, and thut up to the faith ; or to the method of juftification through the righteoufnefs of Chrift, as the only way of escape. The

\* Ephrouroumetha.

The propositions I would lay down are thefe :---That all mankind in all ages are under a law to God : That this law was first given to man, in a state of innocence, in the form of a covenant of works, by which he was to obtain happinefs : That it has paffed through feveral editions, and received feveral additions and mo-difications in different ages : That this law requires perfect, perfonal, and perpetual obedience : That it is impoffible for any of the fons of men to be justified and faved by this conftitution : That therefore God has gracioully made another conflitution, namely, the gofpel, by which finners may be juflified and faved through the righteoufnefs of Jefus Chrift: That all mankind are under the law, as a covenant of works, till they willingly forfake it, and fly to the gofpel for refuge by faith in Chrift : And confequently, that they are fhut up by the law to this method of falvation, as the only way of efcape.

I. " All mankind, in all ages, are under a law to God.". This can be denied by none who grant there is fuch a thing as fin or duty; for where there is no law, there can be no duty or tranfgreffion. If murder or blafphemy are univerfally evil with regard to all mankind, in all ages, it must be because they are forbidden by a law univerfally and perpetually binding. If the love of God, or juffice towards men, be a duty binding upon all mankind, in all ages, it must be becaufe it is enjoined by fome law of univerfal and perpetual obligation. This cannot be difputed with regard to the Jews, the fubjects of the Mofaic law, who are faid, by way of eminence, to be under the law : And the apoftle infers, that those who lived between Adam and Mofes were also under a law, from the punishment of death inflicted upon them; for as where there is no law there can be no transgression, fo where there is no law there can be no punifhment; for punifhment is the execution of the penalty of a law upon an offender, for tranfgrefling the precept. Thus St. Paul reafons (Rom. v. 13, 14.) until the law; that 15,

#### The Law and Gofpel.

Serm. 54.

is, all the time from Adam's fall till the giving of the law at mount Sinai (about 2536 years) fin was in the sworld; and confequently there was a law then in force; for fin is not imputed where there is no law. But fin was evidently imputed in that period ; for, though the Sinai law was not then published, nevertheless death, the penalty of the law reigneth with dreadful uncontrouled power, from Adam to Mofes. Thus you fee the patriarchal age was under a law to God. And as to the Gentiles, though they had not the revealed law, yet they were not lawlefs, but bound by the law of nature; of the contents of which their own reafon and confcience informed them in the most important particulars. Thus St. Paul tells us, that the Gentiles, who have not the revealed law, perform by nature the part of a law, \* and therefore are a law to themselves, the works of the law being written in their hearts. Rom. ii. 14, 15. As to us, who live under the gofpel, we are not, as the apostle observes, without law to God, but under the law to Chrift (1 Cor. ix. 21.) that is, we are still under a law to God, with all those endearing obligations fuperadded, which refult from the gracious gofpel of Chrift. And we cannot fuppofe the contrary, without fuppofing that the gofpel has put an end to all religion and morality, and fet us at liberty to all manner of vice and impiety; for if we are still obliged to religion and virtue, it must be by some constitution that has the general nature of a law. St. Paul rejects the thought with horror, that the law is made void by the gofpel. Do we then make void the law by faith? Far be the thought, nay, we establish the law. Rom. iii. 31. This first propolition therefore is fufficiently evident, " That all mankind, in all ages, and under every difpenfation of religion, are under a law to God." Let us now advance a ftep farther :

II. This law was first of all given to man in a flate of innocence, under the model of a covenant of works;

\* So I would choose to render phise? ta tou nomon pole; and thus it agrees better with what follows, keauteis eife nomos.

## The Law and Gospel.

Serm: 54.

h.

works ; that is, it was the conftitution, by obedience to which he was to fecure the favour of God, and to obtain everlafting felicity. It was his duty to obferve it with a view to obtain immortality and happiness by it ; and these bleffings he was to fecure by his own works of obedience. That the law was first published to man with this view, is evident from many paffages of fcripture, particularly from that often repeated maxim of the apoftle, The man that doth thefe things fhall live by them (Rom. x. 5. Gal. vii. 12. fee also Lev. xviii. 5. Neh. ix. 29. Ezek. xx. 11, 13, 21.) nay, he tells us expressly, that the commandment was ordained unto life (Rom. vii. 10.) that is, it was appointed as a plan by which man was to obtain life. Hence Chrift affures the lawyer, who had repeated the fubftance of the law to him, This do, and thou fhalt live. Luke x. 28. This implies, that if he fully obeyed the law, he would certainly obtain life by it, according to the original defign of that conftitution. And when St. Paul fays, That the falvation of finners was a thing which the law could not do, in that it was weak through the flesh, Rom. vii. 2. it is implied, that it was not weak in itfelf, but fully fufficient to give life; only, by the weaknels of our flesh, we were not able to obey it, and on this account it was not able to fave us. This proposition also is sufficiently evident, that the law was first given to man in innocence, as a covenant of works, or as a conflitution according to which he was to obtain life by his own works. I now proceed to the next proposition, and to shew you,

III. That this law has paffed through feveral editions, and received feveral additions and modifications, adapted to the various circumftances of mankind, and the defigns of heaven towards them.

That you may more fully underftand this, I would obferve by the way, that the law is either moral or pofitive. By the moral law, I mean that law which is founded upon the eternal reafon of things, and that enjoins those duties which creatures under fuch and

#### The Law and Gofpel.

Serm. 54.

fuch circumstances owe to God, and to one another, and which neceffarily flow from their relation to one another. Thus, love to God, and justice to mankind, are moral duties univerfally binding upon mankind in all circumstances, whether in a state of innocence, or in a flate of fin; whether under the revealed law, or the law of nature. There can be no possible circumftances in which mankind are free from the obligation of fuch duties, and at liberty to commit the contrary fins. These are most properly the materials of a moral law. But there is another fet of duties, agreeable to the circumstances of fallen creatures under a difpenfation of grace, which I may call evangelical morals; I mean repentance and reformation, and the utmost folicitude to re-obtain the forfeited favour of our Maker. Thefe are univerfally binding upon mankind in their prefent state, and refult from their circumstances, and confequently partake of the general nature of a moral law. By a politive law, I mean a law not neceffarily refulting from the reafon of things, and our relations and circumftances, but founded upon the will of the lawgiver, and adapted to fome particular occafion. Such was that appendage to the first covenant, "Thou shalt not eat of the tree of knowledge." Such were the inftitution of facrifices immediately after the fall, the ordinance of circumcifion given to Abraham, and the various ceremonies of the law of Mofes; and fuch are baptifm and the Lord's fupper, and the inftitution of the first day of the week for the Christian Sabbath under the gofpel. Thefe ordinances are not binding in their own nature, and confequently they are not of univerfal and perpetual obligation, but they are in force when and where the lawgiver is pleafed to appoint. And the moral law, under every difpenfation, has had fome of these inftitutions annexed to it; though in the flate of innocence, and under the fpiritual difpenfation of the gofpel, they are but few and eafy. 10001/ 2

222

Inow

I now refume the proposition, "That the law has paffed through feveral editions, and received feveral additions and modifications." With regard to Adam in his original flate, it only required of him the du-ties naturally binding upon him, and adapted to his condition as an innocent creature, with this one positive precept added, that he should not eat of the tree of knowledge. This was its model while a covenant of works. But when men fell, it received feveral additions and modifications adapted to his circumftances and fubservient to the gospel, the new plan of life, which was immediately introduced, as I fhall have occafion to obferve more fully hereafter. Such was the early inftitution of facrifices, to prefigure the grand atonement of Chrift, which then took its rife, and thence fpread through all nations, though they foon forgot its original defign and evangelical reference .---Thus the law continued for many hundreds of years, from Adam's fall to the Deluge.\* After the Deluge it was given to Noah, with the inftitution of facrifices continued, and the addition of fome new laws, particularly the allowance of animal food, with the exception of blood. And it is this addition of the law that was most strictly universal with regard to all mankind, who were the posterity of Noah, the fecond root of human nature, and who received it from him; though it was foon forgotten, or adulterated with fuperflitions. After fome time, + when the knowledge and worship of the true God was almost lost in the world, he was pleafed to feparate Abraham from the idolatrous world, to fet up his church in his family, and to continue the former edition of the law, with the addition of the facred rite of circumcifion, as a token of initiation into the church, and of the purification of the heart, and as a feal of the righteoufnels of faith. And this conftitution continued in the posterity of Abraham

\* About 1656 years. Universal Hist. Vol. xx. p. 2. † About 427 years, circumcilion was instituted 451 years after the deluge.

Serm. 54.

braham for about 430 years; when it was new-modelled and improved by a more full edition. A fummary of the moral law was publifhed with the utmoft majefty and terror on Mount Sinai, and written by God himfelf on two tables of ftone. But befides this moral law, and befides the pofitive inftitutions given to Adam, Noah and Abraham, God was pleafed to add a great variety of pofitive laws, concerning the manner of facrificing, and the fyftem of worfhip, concerning ceremonial pollutions, concerning the Jewifh policy, or civil government of that people, and many other things: of all which we have a full account in the law of Mofes.

This difpenfation continued in force from that time for about 1525 years, till the afcention of Chrift, and the day of Pentecost, when the more glorious difpenfation of the gospel was introduced. It is often called the Law, by way of eminence; and it is to this most perfect difpenfation of the law that the apofile particularly refers, when difproving the poffibility of a finner's justification by the law. And it was to his pur-pofe to have this particularly in view : for if a finner could not be justified by this edition of the law, which was the most complete, and that in which the Jews peculiarly gloried and trufted, it is evident that he cannot be juftified by the law at all, under any form whatfoever. Now, though the gofpel, or the covenant of grace, as I shall observe prefently, was interwoven with this difpenfation, as well as every other, and it was the great defign of the law to be fubfervient to it, yet there was much of a covenant of works in this difpenfation, and that in two respects. 1. In. the dreadful majefty and terror of the publication from amidst the thunders and lightnings, and darkness of Sinai, which fpread fuch a horror through the whole camp of Ifrael, and made even Mofes confess, I exceedingly fear and quake. This had not the afpect of friendthip: it did not appear as if God was amicably con-verting with an innocent people, and fetting up a conflitution 3 \$

## The Law and Gofpel.

Serm. 54.

conflitution of mere grace among them. It rather appeared like a difpendation of a provoked God to-wards a guilty people, intended to ftrike terror into their impenitent hearts, to make them fenfible of his awful majefty and justice, of the terror of his law, and of their aggravated breaches of it. There were indeed gracious defigns at the bottom of all this : but they were fuch deligns as could not be accomplished; till finners were made deeply fenfible of their dreadful guilt, and the terrors of God and his holy law, which they had broken; and therefore to accomplish them God puts on all these dreadful forms of wrath. Thus the Sinai difpenfation was intended to prepare men for the method of falvation through Chrift, by making them fensible of their miferable condition by the breach of the covenant of works; and hence it had fo much of the terrible afpect of the covenant of works in its promulgation. This is one thing the apoftle means, when he fays, the law worketh wrath, Rom. iv. 15. that is, it is adapted to imprefs a fenfe of divine wrath upon the minds of the guilty. Hence he calls that difpensation the ministration of death and condemnation; 2 Cor. iii. 7, 9. that is, it had a tendency to excite a fenfe of death and condemnation ; and he makes Hagar, the bond-woman, an allegorical reprefentation of this Sinai covenant, Gal. iv. 24, 25. becaufe it was calculated to excite in finners a fpirit of bondage, or to ftrike them with a fense of flavery, terror and con-demnation. This view also clears up the meaning of feveral things which he fays of the Jewish law, as that it was added becaufe of tranfgreffion ; Gal. iii. 19. that is, it was annexed to the covenant of grace, becaufe it was neceffary that finners fhould be made deeply fenfible of their guilt and condemnation by the breach of the law, in order to their feeking falvation in the way of grace through Chrift. And hence, fays he, the law was our fchoolmafter, to bring us to Chrift, ver. 24. that is, the painful difcipline and finarting rod of the law were neceflary and conducive to constrain us to fly Vor. III. Gg to

225

Serm. 54.

to Chrift as the only Saviour, without whom we were fhut up under irreverfible condemnation. And again, Rom. v. 20. *the law entered*, *that the offence might abound*; that is, that it might appear that the offence had abounded, and overfpread the world; and therefore, that they ftood in the utmost need of a Saviour.

Thus you fee the difpenfation of the law at Sinai had the appearance of a broken covenant of works, and in this view was fubfervient to the gofpel. But this was not all; for, 2. If we confider that covenant as the conflitution of the Jewish church and state, and the model by which they were to govern themfelves in the land of Canaan, it was properly a covenant of works. As a visible national church and civil fociety, God would reward or punish them in temporal things, according to and for their works. While they continued obedient to the external forms and inflitutions of this law, they were to hold their poffeffions in the land of Canaan; and, when they publickly violated this covenant, they were caft out of their poffeffions, and brought into flavery. Thefe temporal poffeffions they held upon the footing of a covenant of works; though fuch of them as were good men were faved by a quite different conftitution, even in the way of grace, and faith in Chrift, as we are now ; as I may have occafion to observe hereaster.

This remark will explain fuch places in the law and in the prophets, where we meet with fuch declarations as this, *If a man obferve my flatutes, he fhall live in them*; of which you have more inftances than one in the xviiith chapter of Ezekiel. They are faid to be "juft," &c. as members of the Jewifh church and flate, becaufe they had obferved the externals of that law, which was the conflitution of their republic, and which in that view only required an external obedience, which it was in their power to yield; and therefore they where entitled to life and its bleffings, in the land of Canaan, according to that conflitution. Indeed God feems to have governed not only the Jews, bat

all the kingdoms of the earth, confidering them as civil focieties, very much in this manner, upon the footing of a covenant of works. Spiritual and immortal bleffings are bestowed upon individuals in every age in a way of grace, without regard to their perfonal works ; and the holinefs neceffary to the enjoyment of them is not merely eutward, but in the whole foul; and it is God only that can work in them. But nations, as fuch, are under a kind of covenant of works, the condition of which is an external obfervance of the laws of God, which is in their power, without any fpecial affiftance from him; and, as they perform or break this condition, temporal rewards and punishments are distributed to them by divine providence. This thought brings me in mind of thee, O Virginia! O my country ! for if God deal with thee upon this plan, how dreadful must be thy doom !---But to return. This fuggests to us another reason why the apofile fo often speaks of the Mofaic law as a covenant of works : namely, becaufe, confidering it as the conftitution of the Jewish republic in temporal refpects, it was really fuch, but it was never intended that the Jews should feek or obtain spiritual or inmortal bleffings by it under this notion. I have been fo much longer than I expected on this proposition, that I must be the shorter on those that follow. The next proposition is,

IV. That the law of God requires perfect, perpetual and perfonal obedience. This holds true with regard to every law of God, whatever it be. If it requires purely moral duties, it requires that they be performed exactly according to its preferiptions. If it requires evangelical duties, as repentance or fincerity, it requires perfect repentance, perfect finicerity. If it requires the obfervance of any ceremonial or facramental inflitutions, as facrifice, circumcifion, baptifm, or the Lord's fupper, it requires a perfect obfervance of them. Men have got the notion into their heads of a divine law that does not require perfect obedience,

#### The Law and Gospel.

228

Serm. 54.

obedience, or that makes allowance for imperfection. But this is bad fenfe, as well as bad divinity. It is the greatest abfurdity imaginable; for to fay that a law does not require perfect obedience, is the fame thing as to fay that it does not require what it does require : to do all that the law requires is perfect obedience : and fince it requires us to do all that it does require, it certainly does require perfect obedience; and if it does not require perfect obedience, it does not require all that it does require; which is a direct contradic-tion. In fhort, it is plain to common fenfe that there never was, nor ever can be any law, moral or pofitive, divine or human, that does not require perfect, abfolute obedience. Farther, Is not every fin forbidden ? is not every duty enjoined ? Undoubtedly it is: You are not at liberty to commit one fin, or to omit one duty, not even the leaft. Indeed the very notion of fin and duty fuppofes a law forbidding the one, and enjoining the other; and they are just commenfurate with the prohibitions and injunctions of the law.— This is alfo the voice of fcripture. That perfect obedience is required, appears from the dreadful curfe denounced upon every transgressor for the least of-fence : Curfed is every one that continueth not in all things that are written in the book of the law to do them. Gal. iii. 10. Not fome fubjects, but every one, of every rank and character, must not only refolve or endea-vour, but must do, not fome things, or many things, but all things, written in the law; not for a time, or for the molt part, but he must always continue to do them. And if he fail in one thing, in one moment of his existence, the penalty of the law is in full force against him, and he falls under the curfe. His obedience must be universal, perpetual and uninterrupted. There is the fame reason for his obeying all in all things, and at all times, as for his obeying in any thing, or at any time. And all this obedience the law requires of him in his own perfon : the law allows of no imputation of the rightcoufnefs of another; no obedience

obedience by proxy or fubfitute: it is the covenant of grace alone that allows of this, and the law mult be fo far difpenfed with, in order to make room for fuch a confliction.

This, my brethren, is the nature of the law, of every law that God ever made, under every difpenfation of religion, before the fall and after the fall, before the law of Mofes, under it, and under the gofpel. In all ages, in all circumftances, and from all perfons it requires perfect, perpetual and perfonal obedience : to the performance of this, it promifes eternal life : but the finner, by every the leaft failure, falls under its dreadful curfe, and is cut off from all the promifed bleffings. And hence it moft evidently follows,

V. That it is abfolutely impossible for any of the fallen fons of men to be justified and faved by the con-ftitution of the law. Take what difpenfation of the law you pleafe, the law of innocence, the law of Mofes, or the moral part of the gofpel, it is impossible for one of the fallen posterity of Adam to be faved by it in any of thefe views; and the reafon is plain, there is not one of them but what has broken it; there is not one of them that has yielded perfect obedience to it; and therefore, there is not one of them but what is condemned by it to fuffer its dreadful penalty. This is fo extremely plain from what has been faid, that I need not infift upon the proof of it. I fhall only fubjoin the repeated declaration of the apoftle, that by the deeds of the law, no flefb can be justified, Rom. iii. 20. Gal. ii. 16. and that as many as are of the works of the law, are under the curfe. Gal. iii. 10. Come, ye that defire to be under the law, do you not hear the law? Gal. iv. 2. Hark ! how the thunders of Sinai roar against you as guilty finners. Can you pretend that you have always perfectly obeyed the law ? that you have never committed one fin, or neglected one duty? Alas! you muft hang down the head, and ery Guilty, guilty; for in many things you have all offended. Then, be it known unto you, there is no life by the law for you. Sct 55.24 40

#### The Law and Gospel.

Serm. 54-

Set about obedience with ever fo much earneftnefs; repent till you fhed rivers of tears; faft, till you have reduced yourfelves to fkeletons; alas! all this will not do, if you expect life by your own obedience to the law: for all this is not that perfect obedience which it abfolutely requires of all the fons of men; and whatever is fhort of this is nothing, and leaves you under its curfe. You may make excufes to men, and to your own confciences, but the law will admit of none. Perfect obedience ! perfect obedience ! is its eternal cry, and till you can produce that, it condemns you to everlafting mifery, and all your cries, and tears, and reformation are to no purpose. Thus you are held in clofe cuftody by the law; you are fhut up under condemnation by it. And is there no way of efcape? No; there is no poffible way of efcape—but one : and that fhall be the matter of the next proposition.

VI. That God has made another conftitution, namely, the gofpel, or the covenant of grace, by which even guilty finners, condemned by the law, may be juftified and faved by faith, through the righteoufners of Jefus Chrift.

According to this conflitution there is encouragement for finners to repent, and ufe the means of grace; and all who are faved by it, are not only obliged to vield obedience to the law, but also enabled to do fo with fincerity, though not to perfection. They are effectually taught by it to deny ungodlinefs and worldly lufts, and to live righteoufly, foberly and godly in the world; and in fhort, holinefs of heart and life is as effectually fecured in this way as in any other. But then, here lies the difference; that all our obedience to the law, all our endeavours, all our repentance, prayers, and reformation ; in fhort, all our good works, all our virtues and graces are not at all the ground of our juftification; they do not, in whole or in part, more or less constitute our justifying righteousness; fo that in juftification we are confidered as guilty, law-condemned finners, entirely deftitute of all perfonal righteoufneis :

#### Serm. 54.

nefs; and we are pardoned and accepted, only and entirely upon account of the righteoufness of Jefus Christ, imputed to us, and accepted of God for us, as though it were our own. I fay, the righteouffiels of Jefus Chrift, or his yielding the most perfect obedience to the precept of the law, and fuffering its dreadful penalty for us, or in our flead, is the only ground of our jufiifica-tion. This is a righteoufnefs as perfect as the law of God requires. And confequently the law is not repealed when we are juftified in this way; it is ftill in full force; and all its demands are answered by this righteoufnefs, which is equal to the feverest requisitions of the covenant of works; only it is difpenfed with in one particular; namely, that whereas the law properly requires perfonal obedience from every man for himfelf, now it accepts of the obedience of Chrift as a furety in our flead, and it is fatisfied by his righteoufnefs imputed to us, as though it were originally our own. But how do we obtain an interest in this righteoufnefs? I anfwer, It is only obtained by a vigorous purfuit, and in the earnest use of the means of grace; but then all thefe endeavours of ours do not in the leaft entitle us to it, or it is not at all bestowed. upon us on account of these endeavours; but the grand prerequifite, and that which has a peculiar concurrence in obtaining it, is an humble faith; that is, when a finner, deeply fenfible of his guilt, of his condemnation by the law, and of his own utter inability to do any thing at all for his own justification; I fay, when fuch an humble finner defpairing of relief from himfelf, renounces all his own righteoufnefs, and trufts only and entirely in the free grace of God in Jefus Chrift, when he places all his dependance upon his righteoufness only, and most earnestly defires that God would deal with him entirely upon that footing, then he believes; and then, and thus, this righteoufnefs is made over to him, and accepted for him, and God no more views him as a law-condemned finner, but as one that has a righteousness equal to all the demands of the law, and therefore

Serm. 54.

therefore he deals with him accordingly: he pronounces him juft, and gives him a title to life and every bleffing, as though he deferved it upon his own account, or had a claim to it upon the footing of his own obedience to the covenant of works.

My brethren, I am bold to pronounce this the gofpel-method of falvation; and, whatever fcepticifm and uncertainty I feel about many other things, I have not the leaft fcruple to venture my foul, with all its guilt, and with all its immortal interests upon this plan. If I have thoroughly fearched the fcriptures for myfelf in any one point, it is in this. And could I but lay before you all the evidence which has occurred to me in the fearch, I cannot but perfuade myfelf it would be fully fatisfactory to you all; but at prefent I can only point out to you a few passages : Acts xiii. 39. By Jefus Christ, fays St. Paul, all that believe are justified from all things, from which they could not be justified by the law of Moles, which was the most complete difpenfation of the law. Rom. iii. 21-28. Now the righteousness of God without the law (that is, the righteousnefs which does not at all confift in the works of the law, but is quite a different thing from it \*) is manifested-even the righteousness of God, which is by the faith of Chrift. This, you fee is the way in which it comes unto all and upon all them that believe ; for there is no difference of Jew or Gentile here ; all being freely justified. by his grace, through the redemption that is in Christ. Therefore we conclude, that a man is justified by faith, without the deeds of the law: fo Rom. iv. To him that worketh, and on that account is confidered as righteous, the reward is reckoned not of grace, but of debt : he is not at all dealt with in the gospel-method, which is entirely a plan of grace (ver. 4.) but to him that worketh not, with a view to his justification, and is not confidered as entitled to it upon the account of his works, but believeth, humbly truffeth, and dependeth upon him that justifieth the ungodly, upon him who confiders the - finner,

\* Choris nomon dikaiofune.

# Serm. 54. The Law and Gospel.

233

finner, whatever previous endeavours he may have ufed, as ungodly, and defitute of all perfonal righteoufnefs, to' fuch an humble believer, his faith is counted for righteoufnefs. (ver. 5.) Even as David deferibeth the bleffednefs of that man, to whom the Lord imputeth righteoufnefs without works, &c. (ver. 6.) Gal. ii. 15. We, fays St. Paul, who are Jews by nature (and therefore ftand noft fair for juftification by the law, if it were polfible) and not finners of the Gentiles, knowing that a man is not juftified by the works of the law, but by the faith of Chrift, even we have believed in Jefus Chrift, that we might be juftified by the faith of Chrift; for by the works of the law shall no flefb be juftified. (ver. 16.) Thefe, my brethren, are but specimens of the many plain and express foriptures that fupport this doctrine; and I think it plain, upon the whole, that if we can underftand any thing contained in that facred book, we may fafely conclude that this truth is contained in it.

Here I would hint, what I intended to enlarge upon, had the time allowed, that this is the only way in which any of the fons of Adam have been faved fince. the fall; and that this gracious fcheme has run thro' all the difpenfations of religion, from Adam to Noah, from Noah to Abraham, from Abraham to Mofes, and from Mofes to Chrift; and that now, by the gofpel, it is more fully and illustriously revealed, the object of a more diffinct, particular, and explicit faith. Rom. i. 17. It was first published immediately after the first breach of the covenant of works, in that gracious promife, The feed of the woman shall break the ferpeni's head. Gen. iii. 15. It was communicated to Abraham in that promife, In thy feed; that is, as St. Paul teaches us to understand it, in Christ, who shall spring from thee according to the flefh, shall all the nations of the earth be bleffed. Gen. xxii. 18. Gal. iii. 16. Hence St. Paul tells us, that the fcripture, forefeeing that God would justify the Heathen through faith, preached the gef-pel before-hand to Abraham. Gal. iii. 8. This was, as it were, the fubftratum of all the ceremonies and infli-- Vol. III. Ηh tutions

tutions of the law of Mofes; and, as was observed, the whole of this law, and the folemn and dreadful. manner of its publication, were intended to fubferve this fcheme, by making men fenfible of their need of it, and confirming them to fly to it for refuge. The prophets alfo received this evangelical light, and continued to diffuse it around them, till the Sun of Righteoufnefs arofe. But all these discoveries were but dark, when compared to the clearer revelation we have of it in the New Teftament, particularly in the epiftles to the Romans and Galatians, which defignedly treat upon it. However, they that lived under former difpenfations, had light enough to direct them to place their truft in the mercy of God, and to look out with eager eyes for the Mefliah, through whom alone they were justified, though they might not have diftinct ideas of the way. Hence Abraham and David are mentioned by St. Paul as inftances of the gofpel-method of juftification by faith in Chrift. Rom. iv. 1-7. I now proceed to another proposition.

VII. That all mankind are under the law, as a covenant of works, till they willingly forfake it, and fly to the gofpel for refuge by faith in Chrift.

There are but two conftitutions that God has fet up in our world, by which mankind can obtain life, namely, the covenant of works and the covenant of grace, or the law and gofpel : and all mankind are under the one, or the other. They are all either under the conflitution which demands perfect obedience as the only title to life, and threatens death, eternal death, to the least failure; or under that which does indeed both require and enable them to yield fincere obedience, but does not infift upon our obedience at all as the ground of our acceptance and juftification, but confers that honour entirely upon the complete righteoufnefs of Jefus Chrift, received by the humble faith of a guilty, felf-condemned, helplefs, brokenhearted finner. We are all of us, my brethren, under one or other of these constitutions; for to be from under

under both of them is the fame thing as to be lawlefs and to be under no plan of life at all. Now, we are under the law while we are under the government of. a legal fpirit; and we cannot be freed from it till we are brought off from all dependance upon the law, and confirained to choose the gospel-method of falvation as helplefs, law-condemned finners by our own perfonal act. We live under the gofpel-difpenfation indeed, and were never under the law of Moles : and yet we may be under the law notwithftanding, as the Romans and Galatians were till they were fet free by faith, though they had been heathens, and were never under the Mofaic difpenfation. An outward difpenfation is not the thing that makes the difference in this cafe. Many who lived under the dispensation of the law had an evangelical fpirit, or faith in Chrift, and therefore they were upon the gofpel-plan, and obtained falvation in the way of grace. And multitudes that live in the New Testament age, under the gofpel administration of the covenant of grace, and who profess the christian religion, and were never fubject to the law of Mofes, are under the influence of a legal, felf-righteous fpirit, and therefore are not under grace, but under the law as a covenant of works : upon this footing they ftand before God, and they can enter no claim to life upon any other plan. As for the righteoufnefs of Chrift, and the grace of the gofpel, they have nothing to do with it, becaufe they have not chofen it, and made it theirs by their own perfonal act.

And would you know whether you are fet free from the law, and placed under the covenant of grace? St. Paul, who knew it, both by his own experience and by infpiration from heaven, will inform you, (1) You have been made deeply fentible of fin and condemnation by the law. By the law is the knowledge of fin. Rom. iii. 20. I had not known fin but by the law, fays St. Paul, perfonating a convinced finner under the law, without the law, Rom. viii. 7. that is, while I was Fignorant of the extent and spirituality of the law, fin (shele) reas

The Law and Gofpel.

was dead, as to my fenfe and apprehenfion of it; but when the commandment came, with power and conviction to my confcience, fin revived, and I died ; that is, I faw fin to be alive in me, and myfelf to be dead, dead in trefpaffes and fins, and condemned to death by the law, verfe 9. the law alfo worketh wrath ; that is, a fenfe of the wrath of God, and the dreadful punishment of fin; Rom. iv. 14. And has the law ever had thefe effects upon you, my brethren ? Have you ever had fuch a conviction of fin, and condemnation by it? If not, you are still under it. (2) If you have been delivered from the law, you have been cut off from all hopes of obtaining justification by your own obedience to it; you have given up this point as altogether defperate; or in the ftrong language of the apostle, you have been flain by the law. When the commandment came, fin revived, and I died. Rom. viii. 9. My brethren, fays the apoftle to the chriftians at Rome, ye are become dead to the law, verse 4. that is, ye are become dead to all endeavours, all hopes and defires of juftification by the works of the law; you fee nothing but death for you in that conftitution. And he tells you how this death was brought about; I through the law am dead to the law, Gal. ii. 19. that is, the law itfelf became the executioner of all my hopes of life by it, and for ever put an end to all my endeavours to feek jufification in that way : it was a view of the extenfive demands of the law that difcovered to me my own inability to comply with them, and fo deadened me entirely to all expectations of life by my obedience to it.

And have you ever, my brethren, been thus flain by the law to the law? Have you ever been made deeply fenfible of the abfolute impoflibility of working out a juftifying righteoufnefs for yourfelves by your own endeavours, and thereupon given up the point, as hopelefs and defperate? If not, you are ftill under the law, and your hearts eagerly cling to it, and will not be divorced from it. Here you will hold ... and and hang, till you drop into the bottomlefs pit, unlefs God deliver you from this legal fpirit.

(3.) If you have been fet at liberty from the law, and brought under the covenant of grace, you have believed in Chrift, and fled to the gofpel, as the only way of efcape from the bondage and condemnation of the law. It is the uniform doctrine of the apolle, that it is by faith only that this happy change is brought about in our condition. We have believed in Jefus Chrift, that we might be justified by the faith of Christ, and not by the works of the law. Gal. ii. 16. But after faith is come, we are fet at liberty, and no longer under the law, as a schoolmaster. Gal. iv. 25. Righteousness shall be imputed to us also, if we believe in him that raiseth up our Lord Jesus from the dead. Rom. iv. 24. Faith, you fee, is the turning point. And fo it is reprefented by Chrift himfelf. He that believeth in Him is not condemned : but he that believeih not, is condemned already, John iii. 18. he has finned, and therefore the fentence of condemnation is already paffed upon him by the law. And have you, my brethren, ever been brought thus to believe? Have you found yourfelves that up to the faith, as the only way of efcape? and have you fled to the mercy of God in Chrift in that way, with all the vigour of your fouls?

(4.) If you are under the covenant of grace, then you are not willing flaves to fin, but make it your great bufinefs to live to God. This is reprefented as the privilege and conftant endeavour of all that are delivered from the law. Sin *fball not bave dominion over* you, for ye are under the law, which requires obedience, but furnifhes no firength to perform it, but under grace, which will enable you to refift fin, and live to God. Rom. vi. 14. Te are dead to the law, that ye might be married to another, even to bim that is raifed from the dead, that you might bring forth fruit unto God: This is the great defign of your divorce from the law, and your marriage to Chrift; Rom. vii. 4. I through the law, am dead to the law, that I might live unto God. Gal. ii. 19.

## The Law and Gofpel.

2385

Serm. 54.6

il. 19. And do you thus live to God, firs? Is this the great bulinels, and conftant endeavour of your whole life ? If not, you are not under grace, but under the law, the Egyptian tafk-mafter, who demands perfect obedience, but gives no ability to perform it, and now, you that are under the law, take a ferious view of your condition. They that are of faith are bleffed, Gal. vi. 9. but faith has never entered your hearts, and therefore you have nothing to do with the bleffing. But you may read your doom in the next verfe : As many as are of the works of the law, are under the curfe (verfe 10.) for, curfed is every one that continueth not in all things that are written in the book of the law to do them. Thus you lie under the ministration of death and condemnation, and you can never get free from its curfe till you can perform impossibilities; till you can annihilate all your past fins, till you can transform your finful life into an uninterrupted courfe of perfect obedience. Do this, and you shall live, even according to that conflitution under which you are. But till you can do this, till you can yield perfect, perpetual obedience, in your own perfons, you can never get free from the curfe, or obtain life, while you affect this way of justification. I tell you again, all your prayers and tears, all your repentance and reformation; in fhort, every thing that comes fhort of perfect obedience, will avail you nothing at all upon this conftitution : they are but fig-leaves that cannot hide your nakednefs. And do not imagine that the righteoufnefs of Chrift will fupply your defects, and procure you acceptance; for his righteoufnefs belongs only to the covenant of grace, and is imputed only to fuch as have received it by faith; but, while you are under the law, you have nothing to do with it. St. Paul himfelf will tell you, Christ is become of no effect unto you, whofoever of you would be justified by the law; ye are fal-len from grace, Gal. v. 4. you ftand entirely on your own bottom; and God will deal with you just as he finds you in yourfelves, without any relation to Chrift at all. And

And now, my dear brethren, do you not begin to find yourfelves pinched clofely, and in a fore firait? Do you not feel yourfelves imprifoned and thut up under the law? And are not you caffing about, and looking out for fome way of efcape? Well, I will fhew you the only way left, and that is by faith in the righteousness of Jefus Christ. The gospel! the gospel ! O that my voice could publish the joyful found in every corner of this globe inhabited by guilty finners! The gospel of grace is the only relief for you. Fly thither, ye helplefs, law-condemned, felf-con-demned finners; fly thither, and you are fafe. As depraved and guilty, as ungodly and deftitute of all righteoufnefs, accept of the righteoufnefs of Jefus Chrift. Caft all your dependance upon it, and make it the only ground of all your hopes. Regard the law always as a rule of life, and labour to form your practice upon that facred model; but as a covenant of works, by which you fhould obtain life, fly from it, abandon it, give up all your hopes and expectations from it; and betake yourfelves to the covenant of grace, of pure, free, unmingled grace, without the least ingredient of merit. In this way, I offer you pardon, juftification, and eternal falvation; and fuch of you as have chosen this way may be assured of these bleffings, notwithstanding all your fins and imperfections. -O ! that this reprefentation of your condition may recommend Jefus Chrift and his righteoufnefs to you! O! that it may effectually draw off finners from all their vain, felf-righteous fchemes, which, like cobwebs, they would form out of their own bowels, and conftrain them to ftoop and fubmit to the righteoufnefs of God, and the method of grace ! If, after all, they refuse, they will leave this house condemned and under the curfe. But fuch of you as comply, like the penitent publican, you will return to your own house justified, however guilty you came here this morning. . I shall conclude with a stanza or two from that evangelical writer, Dr. Watts: 1 11 2000 Go 6rA

#### The Gofpel-Invitation.

Serm. 55.

Go, ye that reft upon the law, And toil, and feek falvation there; Look to the flames that Mofes faw, And fhrink, and tremble, and defpair: Bat I'll retire beneath the Crofs: Jefus, arthy dear feet I lie; And the keen floord that justice draws, Flaming and red fhall pafs me by.

# SERMON LV.

THE GOSPEL-INVITATION.

A SACRAMENTAL DISCOURSE.

LUKE xiv. 21—24. Then the master of the house being angry, faid to his servant, Go out quickly into the streets and lanes of the city, and bring in hither the poor, and the maimed, and the balt, and the blind. And the servant faid, Lord it is done as thou hast commanded, and yet there is room. And the Lord said unto the servant, Go out into the highways and hedges, and compel them to come in, that my house may be filled. For I say unto you, that none of those men that were bidden, shall taste of my supper.

S O vaft and various are the bleffings propofed to our acceptance in the gofpel, that they can never be fully reprefented, though the utmost force of language be exhausted for that purpose in the facred writings. Among other lively images, this is one in my context, where the gospel is compared to a feast, a marriage-feast, of royal magnificence. The propriety and fignificancy of this representation are obvious at first first fight; for what is more rich and elegant, and what more agreeable to mankind, than fuch an entertainment !

Though it is my principal defign to confider this parable in its general fecondary fenfe, as applicable to the evangelized world, yet I fhall hint a few words upon its particular primary fenfe, as immediately applicable to the Jews at the time when it was fpoken.

Jefus was ready to improve every occurrence for profitable converfation; and when one of the guefts made this remark, *Bleffed is he that fhall eat bread in the kingdom of God*, or in the reign of the Meffiah; he takes occafion to let him and the reft of the company know, that the kingdom of God under the Meffiah would not be fo acceptable to the world, particularly to the Jews, as might be expected; but that they would generally reject it, though they pretended fo eagerly to expect and defire it.

He faid unto him, A certain man made a great fupper; that is, the great God has made rich provisions through Jefus Chrift of all bleffings neceflary for the complete falvation and happiness of a guilty world : and he bade many; that is, he invited the whole nation of the Jews to a participation of thefe bleffings, when they fhould' be revealed; invited them beforehand, by Mofes and the prophets, and by John the Baptift. And he fent his fervant at fupper-time; that is, he fent Chrift and his apoftles, when the gofpel-difpenfation was introduced, and those bleffings fully revealed, to fay to them that were bidden, that is, to the Jews, who had been invited by his former meffengers; alluding to the cuftom of those times, when, besides the general invitation to nuptial entertainments given fome time before, it was usual to fend a particular invitation when the feast was ready, and the attendance of the guests was immediately expected; Come, for all things are now ready. Embrace the long expected Meffiah, who has now made his appearance among you, and accept the bleflings he offers you now, when they are fully re-Vol. III. vealed .--

#### The Gospel-Invitation.

vealed.-But they all, with one confent, began to make excu/e; that is, the Jews in general rejected the Meffiah, and the bleffings he propofed to their acceptance. The true reafon was, their natural averfion to one that taught fo holy a religion, and proposed only, a fpiritual deliverance. But they cover over their conduct with plaufible excufes; as if the guefts invited. to a banquet fhould fay, I have bought a piece of ground, and I must needs go and see it : or, I have bought five yoke . of oxen, and go to prove them : or, I have married a wife, and cannot come ; therefore pray excuse me. Thefe excufes, you fee, are all drawn from the affairs of this life ; which perhaps was intended to intimate, that the pleafures and cares of this world are the reafon why the Jews and finners in all ages reject the invitations. of the gofpel. It is also observable, that the excuses here made are very trifling and not plaufible. What neceffity for viewing a piece of ground, or proving oxen, after the purchase? That ought to have been done before the purchase. Could a man's being newly married be a reafon against his going with his bride to a place of feafting and pleafure? No; thefe excufes are filly and impertinent; and Chrift may have reprefented them in this light on purpofe, to intimate, that all the objections and excufes which finners plead for, their non-compliance with the gofpel, are trifling, and not fo much as plaufible.

Then the mafter of the houfe being angry; that is, "the great God refenting the obftinate infidelity of the Jews, and determining to reject them for it, faid to his fervant;" that is, gave the commiffion to his apoftles, Go out quickly into the fireets and lanes of the city, where beggars fit to afk charity, and bring in bither the poor, and the maimed, and the balt, and the blind. Perhaps this may refer to the fending of the gofpel to the Jews that were difperfed in heathen countries and their profelytes, when their countrymen in the Holy Land had rejected it. "I hey were not in the highways and hedges, like the poor Gentiles, non yet fettled tled in the houses in Jerusalem, but are very properly represented as beggars in the streets and alleys of the city; not in fuch abandoned circumftances as the Gentiles, nor yet fo advantageoully fituated as the lews in their own land, under the immediate miniftry of the apoltles. I he first invitation is represented as given to perfons of fashion, to intimate the superior advantages of the Jews refident in Judea, to whom the gofpel was first preached. And those dispersed among the Gentiles are represented as lying in the ftreets and lanes, as poor, maimed, halt, and blind beggars, to fignify their miferable condition in common with all mankind, without the bleffings of the gofpel; and their difadvantageous fituation, compared with the Jews in and about Jerufalem. Or perhaps fending the invitation to those poor creatures; when they first had rejected it, may fignify the first preaching of the gospel to the Gentiles, upon the Jewsrejecting it. And then the fervant being ordered to go out again, not into the ftreets and lanes of the city, as before, but into the highways and hedges, may fig-nify the farther preaching of the gospel among the Gentiles, who were far off from the church, the city of God, and like poor country-beggars, lying as outcafts upon the public roads. But if we understand the former paffage in the first fense, as fignifying the publication of the gofpel to the Jews difperfed among the Gentiles, and to their profelytes, then this fecond mission of the fervant must fignify the fending of the gospel for the first time to the Gentiles, after both the Jews refident in their own country, and those fcattered in other nations had rejected it. The parable concludes with a terrible denunciation against those who had refused the invitation : None of those men that were bidden, fball tafte of my fupper; that is, " The infidel Jews, though first invited, shall never enjoy the bleffings of the gofpel ; but my church shall be furnished with members from among the poor outcast heathers, rather than fuch fhould continue in it."

243

Thefe

These things must fuffice to shew you the primary meaning of this parable, as applicable to the Jews of that age; and the reception of the Gentiles into the church in their stead. But I intend to confider it in a more extensive sense, as applicable to us in these latter times.

Before I enter upon the confideration of this paffage, it is neceflary I fhould clear up an inquiry or two, which may reflect light upon the whole.

What are those bleffings of the gospel which are here represented by a marriage-feast? And, What is meant by the duty here represented by a compliance with an invitation to such a feast?

The bleffings here reprefented by a marriage-feaft, are infinitely rich and numerous. Pardon of fin; a free and full pardon for thoufands, millions of the most aggravated fins: the influences of the Holy Spirit to fanctify our depraved natures, to fubdue our fins, and implant and cherifh in our hearts every grace and virtue : freedom from the tyranny of fin and fatan, and favourable accefs to the bleffed God, and fweet communion with him, through Jefus Chrift, even in this world : the reviving communications of divine love, to fweeten the afflictions of life; and the conftant affiftance of divine grace to bear us up under every burden, and to enable us to perfevere in the midft of many temptations to apoftacy; deliverance from hell, and all the confequences of fin; and a title to heaven, and all its inconceivable joys : in fhort, complete falvation in due time, and everlafting happinefs, equal to the largest capacities of our nature .--This is a fhort view of the bleffings of the gofpel. But the riches of Chrift are unfearchable; and human language can never reprefent them fully to view. But from the little that we know of them, do they not appear perféctly fuited to our necessities; and fuch as we would ask of God, should he give us leave to ask what we pleafe?

Thefe

Serm. 55.

These bleffings are represented to us in a striking and fensible manner in the Lord's Supper; and hence you see with what propriety it is called a feast. It is a rich entertainment for hungry fouls; and the bleffings which it fignifies, and the conveyance of which it feals to believers, fatisfy the most eager defires, and fully support and cherist the spiritual life. This, indeed, is not the feast primarily intended in this parable; for the Lord's Supper was not infituted when this parable was spoken; yet most of the things contained in it may very properly be accommodated to this ordinance.

You fee the feaft to which we are invited, namely, the rich bleffings of the gofpel. And now, let us inquire, What is meant by the duty here reprefented by a compliance with an invitation to a marriage-feaft?

It supposes a deep affecting fense of our want of these bleffings, and of our perifhing condition without them: It supposes eager defires after them, and vigorous endeavours to obtain them : It fuppofes a willingness to abandon every thing inconfistent with them; and it implies a cordial willingness to accept of them as they were offered ; for to pretend to be willing to receive them, and yet refuse the terms upon which they are offered, is the greatest abfurdity. And how are they offered? They are offered freely; and therefore freely we must receive them, if we receive them at all.-We must not offer our own imaginary merit to purchafe them; but take them as free gifts to us, purchafed entirely by the righteoufnefs of Jefus Chrift. They are offered conjunctly; that is, in an infeparable conjunction with one another. Pardon and fanctifying grace, holinefs and happinefs, deliverance from the power, the pleafures, and the profits of fin, as well as from hell and the punishments of fin, the cross and the crown, felf-denial and the most noble felf-poffeffion, are proposed to our choice in conjunction, and they cannot be feparated ; and, therefore, in conjunction we must receive them, or not at all : we must receive

receive them all or none. To accept the pardon, and reject fanctifying grace; to accept the rewards, and refute the work of holinefs; to accept deliverance from the punifhment of fin, and yet refute deliverance from fin itfelf, as though it were a painful confinement, or bereavement; to accept of Chrift as our Saviour, and reject him as our ruler, this is the wildest abfurdity, and an abfolute impossibility. To pretend to accept God's offer, and in the mean time to make our own terms, is to infult and mock him. What God and the nature of things have joined, let not man put afunder.

Hence you may fee, that the duty reprefented by complying with an invitation to a marriage-feaft in this parable, implies our embracing the gofpel as true, which is oppofed to the unbelief of the Jews; our accepting the bleffings of the gofpel freely, as the gracious gift of God for the fake of Chrift, renouncing all our own imaginary merit; and our voluntary dedication of ourfelves to the fervice of God, or confenting to be holy in heart and in all manner of converfation. Whoever complies with the invitations of the gofpel in this manner, fhall be admitted to the marriage-fupper of the Lamb at the confummation of all things, and be happy for ever.

Now, I hope, you will know what I mean, when, in the progrefs of this difcourfe, I fhall exhort you, in the language of my text, to come in to this fealt, or to comply with the invitation: I mean, that you fhould freely and heartily accept of the bleffings of the gofpel, as they are offered to you by the bleffed God, who alone has a right to appoint the terms.

After these preliminaries, I proceed to the immediate confideration of my text.

The first thing that occurs, is a lively representation of the wretched state of mankind, previous to their being enriched with the blessings of the gospel. They are *poor*, and maimed, and balt, and blind, lying as beggars and outcasts in the streets and lanes of the city, and

246

#### Serm. 55.

# The Gospel-Invitation.

and by the highways and hedges in the country. What can reprefent a more pitiable condition, with regard ... to this world !. To be poor, maimed, halt and blind, ... in a palace, in the midft of all the necessaries and comforts of life, is a most melancholy situation; but to be poor, maimed, halt and blind, in the ftreets, and lanes, or fcattered about in the highways and hedges, as forlorn outcafts, without any covering but the inclement fky, without any bed but the cold ground, without any fustenance but the charity of paffengers; this is the most melancholy fituation that can be imagined : and this is the fituation in which all mankind are reprefented, with regard to the eternal world, by one that perfectly knew their cafe, and who could not but give the most impartial account of it. This is your condition, my brethren, till you accept the rich bleffings of the gospel. You are poor, poor as the most helpless beggar on the highway; destitute of pardon; destitute of all real goodness in the sight of God, whatever fplendid appearance of virtue you may have in the fight of men; defiitute of all qualifications for heaven, as well as of a title to it; deftitute of all happinefs fuited to the fpiritual nature, immortal duration, and large capacities of your fouls ; deftitute of the favour of God, which is better than life, and without which life itfelf will be a curfe; deftitute of an intereft in the righteousness and intercession of Christ the only Saviour of finners; deflitute of the fanctifying influences of the Holy Spirit, who alone can make you truly holy. And what a poor deftitute condition is this! You are maimed and defective, in a moral fenfe; defective in those graces and virtues which are effential members of the new man. Your fouls are incomplete unfinished things. Your understandings without divine knowledge; your wills without a divine bias towards God and holinefs; your affections without a proper tendency towards fuitable objects : and these are as monstrous defects in a moral sense, as a body without limbs, or a head without eyes in a natural

natural fense. You are halt or lame; without pow-er of fpiritual motion, or tendency towards it; without firength or inclination to walk in the way of God's \* commandments. You are blind as to fpiritual and eternal things; that is, ignorant of the glory of God, and the excellency of Jefus Chrift, and the way of fal-vation through him; ignorant of the evil and deformity of fin; and blind to the beauties of holinefs. You may indeed have fine fpeculative notions about thefe things; but your notions are faint and unaffecting, and have no proper influence upon your heart and practice, and therefore as to all the useful and practical purpofes of knowledge, you are flupidly blind and ignorant. O! what an affecting, miferable fituation is this ! and what renders it ftill the worfe, is that you are not fenfible of it. The poor, blind, impotent beggar in the ftreets, or on the high road, is fenfible of. his condition, longs for deliverance, and begs and cries for relief from day to day. But alas! you are rich and increased with goods, and have need of nothing, in your own imagination; when you are wretched and miserable, and poor, and blind, and naked. And hence you are fo far from crying importunately for relief, like blind: Bartimeus by the way-fide, Jefus, thou fon of David, have mercy on me ! that you will not accept relief when it is freely offered to you.

And are not you very unlikely guefts to furnifh out a nuptial feaft? May not the great God juftly leave you out in the invitation of the gofpel, and refufe you the offer of its invaluable bleffings? But O.! the aftonifhing condefcention and grace! to you is the word of falvation fent. Hear the committion firft given to the apofiles, and ftill continued to minifters of the gofpel of a lower rank, Go out—go out quickly, the cale is too dangerous to admit of delay. Without immediate provision the poor outcafts will perifh, therefore make hafte to find them out wherever they lie, and think it no hardfhip or idignity to you to go to the meaneft places in queft of them. Go through the fireets

#### The Gospel-Invitation.

Serm. 55.

ftreets and alleys of the city, and fearch the hedges and highways in the country; and bring them in; urge them to come; infift upon their compliance; take no denial. Bring them in hither—hither, into the arms of my favour;—hither, into my church, the grand apartment appointed for the celebration of this magnificent entertainment;—hither, into the fociety of the moft honourable guefts, and into a participation of the richeft bleffings. Bring them in hither, poor, and blind, and lame, and halt, and maimed, as they are. They are all welcome. *Him that cometh unto me*, though clothed in rags, and defitute of all things, *I will in nowife caft out*.

To difcharge this benevolent commission, I appear among you this day; and fhall I find none among you that will comply with the invitation? Where are the poor, the maimed, the halt, and the blind ? In queft of you I am fent; and I am ordered to bring you in. And will ye refuse? Come, ye poor! accept the unfearchable riches of Chrift. Come, ye blind ! admit the healing light of the Sun of Righteoufnefs. Ye halt and maimed ! fubmit yourfelves to Him, who, as a Phyfician, can heal what is difordered, and as a Creator, can add what is wanting. Come, ye hungry, ftarving fouls! come to this feast of fat things; that is (to fpeak without a metaphor) accept the bleffings of the gofpel now freely offered to you. Ho! every one that thirsteth, come ye to the waters; and him that hath no money, come, buy wine and milk, without money, and without price. Will ye rather fit ftill in the ftreets and hedges than be guests at this divine feast? Will ye refuse the invitation, when without these bleffings you must famith for ever?

However, if ye refufe, I hope I fhall be able to make my report to my Mafter, like the fervant in my text; Lord, it is done as thou haft commanded. "Lord, I have published thy gracious invitations, and perfuaded them, in the best manner I could, to come in; and if they fill VOL. III. Kk refuse, refuse, themselves must be accountable for it, and bear the confequence."

But I must indulge the pleasing hope, that some of you will this day accept this gracious invitation; and fuch of you may be fure you shall be admitted. Nay, if all this affembly fhould unanimoufly confent, they would find the bleffings of the gofpel more than fufficient to fupply all their wants. For after the fervant had brought in a numerous company of guefts, from the ftreets and lanes, he tells his Lord, yet there is room : there is room for many more guefts. There are many feats still vacant ; the room is large, and will contain many more; and the provision is fufficient, more than fufficient, for thoufands, for millions more. Yes, my dear brethren, be not difcouraged from coming, as if there was no room left for you. The virtue of that blood which fireamed upon mount Calvary about 1700 years ago, which has washed away many millions of fins, from the fall of Adam to this day, through the fpace of near 6000 years; I fay the virtue of that blood is still as powerful and fufficient as ever, as powerful and fufficient as when it first flowed warm from the wounded veins of the bleffed Jefus. The mercy of God endureth for ever. It is an inexhauftible ocean, fufficient to overwhelm and drown a world of the moft mountainous fins, and fupply the most numerous and desperate necessities. The church of Chrift is fufficiently large for the reception of all the inhabitants of the earth, and it is a growing structure, which never will be complete, till all nations are incorporated in it as living ftones. In heaven are many manfions, prepared for the reception of many guefts to the marriage-fupper of the Lamb; and many of them are as yet empty; and may they be filled up by multitudes from this place ! There, I hope, are feats provided for fome of you, who are now Arangers from the commonwealth of Ifrael, and from the covenant of promife. I do not mean that you can be admitted there in your prefent condition : neither you nor I have any reason to hope

# Serm. 55.

hope for this; but I hope that divine grace may yet prepare you for those mansions of purity and glory. This hope gives a new fpring to my endeavours, and therefore I invite the worft of you, the most impenitent and audacious, the most profligate and debauched among you, to come in. Come, O my guilty brethren ! Come, publicans and finners, drunkards, harlots, and thieves; come, finners of the vileft characters, repentand believe the gospel, you shall be admitted to this celeftial feaft. O! must it not break the heart of the hardieft finner among you, to hear, that, after all your aggravated and long-continued provocations, and notwithstanding your enormous guilt, that great God whom you have offended, though he flands in no need of you, and might eafily glorify himfelf by inflicting righteous punishment upon you, yet, is ready to wath away all your fins in the blood of his own Son, and to beftow upon you all the immortal bleffings of his favour? O! is there a heart among you proof againft fuch a melting confideration as this? Then all the principles of generofity and gratitude are loft and extinct within you!

I proclaim to all in this affembly this day, all things are now ready ; come unto the marriage. And why fhould you not all comply ? why fhould any of you exclude yourfelves? Let every one refolve for himfelf, " for my part, I will not make myfelf that fhocking exception." How do you know, but this refolution is now forming in the perfon that fits or ftands next you? And shall you be left behind? Will you, as it were, fhut the door of heaven against yourselves with your own hand? I once more affure you, there is yet room, room for you all. There are Abraham, Ifaac, and Jacob, and the patriarchis, and yet there is room. There are many from the east, and from the west, from the north, and from the fouth, and yet there is room. There are perfecuting Manaffeh and Paul; there are Mary Magdalene, the demoniac, and Zaccheus the publican, and yet there is room. There is the once

# The Gospel-Invitation.

Serm. 55.

once inceftuous and excommunicated, but afterwards penitent Corinthian; nay, there are feveral of the Corinthians, who, as St. Paul tells us, were once fornicators, idolaters, adulterers, effeminate; fodomites, covetous, thieves, drunkards, revilers, and extortioners, yet there they now are, washed, fanctified, justified in the name of the Lord Jesus, and by the spirit of our God: and there may you also be, though vile as they, if, with them, you come in at the call of the gofpel; for yet there is room. There is, fays St. John, Rev. vii. 9. a great multitude, which no man can number, out of every kindred, and tongue, and nation ; multitudes from Europe, Afia, Africa and America; and and yet there is room. There is room for you, poor negroes; and for you, I hope, fome vacant feats in heaven are referved. Therefore I turn to the Gentiles ; for to you alfo is the word of this falvation fent. You may, with peculiar propriety, be reprefented by the poor, the blind, the halt, and maimed, in the highways and hedges. To you therefore I am fent with the offer of all the rich bleffings of the gofpel : and let me tell you, you are in extreme need of them, whether you feel your want or not : you need them more than liberty, than food, than health, than life itfelf; and without them, you must perish for ever. Come then, let this feast be adorned with your sable countenances, and furnished with guests from the favage wilds of Africa. Do not mistake me, as if I was just now inviting you to fit down at the Lord's table : alas! many have fat there, who are now banifhed for ever from that Saviour, whom they profeffed to commemorate; and fhut up in the prifon of hell. But I am inviting you to accept of the bleffings of the gofpel, which I have briefly explained to you. A hearty confent to this, and nothing fhort of it will fave you. Come then, ye poor Africans, come add yourfelves to the guefts at this divine entertainment; for yet there is room for you, and you are as welcome as kings and princes. 

252

There

### The Gospel-Invitation.

Serm. 55.

There being fo much room left unoccupied in the fpacious apartment, is reprefented as an excitement to the mafter of the feast to fend out his fervant to invite more guests: for when the fervant had made this report, the mafter immediately orders him to go out into the highways and hedges, and compel them to come in, that his house might be filled. He could not bear it, that the feats about his table should be empty, or his provisions be loft for want of guefts. So the bleffed God will not fuffer the death of his Son to be in vain, nor the manfions he has prepared to be empty. That Jefus may fee his fpiritual feed, and the travail of his foul, and be fatisfied; and that the heavenly manfions he has prepared may be furnished with guess, God has appointed the ministry of the gospel, and the means of grace, to be continued from age to age; for this end he exercifes a providential government over the world, and manages all its affairs in fubferviency to the grand fcheme of redemption, for peopling the heavenly world with colonies transplanted from our guilty globe. For this he has continued our finful world, fo ripe for deftruction, through the fpace of near 6000 years; and he will not be defeated in his purpofe. If you and thoufands more fhould refuse, yet his feaft fhall be furnished with guests. He will fend his gospel where it will not pass for fuch a trifle as it does among many of us. He will fend it, where thoufands of perifhing finners will eagerly embrace it, and obtain eternal falvation by it. But O ! how deplorable will be your lofs ! Since his houfe fhall and must be filled, O! why fhould it not be filled from Virginia, and particularly from among you, my dear people? Will you not make trial, whether there be not feats prepared in heaven for you? whether there be not room in the arms of divine mercy for you? whether the blood of Chrift has not efficacy to procure pardon and life even for you, great finners as you are? How can I forbear to urge this propofal upon my dear congregation? We meet together in the house of God a. 1 on

on earth; and many of us fit down together at his table. And O! why fhould we not all meet together at the great fupper of the Lamb in heaven? Why fhould we not, as it were, make an appointment, and engage to meet one another there, after the difperfion which death will foon make among us? While transported with fo agreeable a thought, I feel myself zealous to execute the commission in my text.

Compel them to come in. Overcome them with arguments, fubdue them with perfualions and entreaties, take no denial; never give over till you prevail. This is the commifhon of the gofpel-ministers: and O! that one of the meanest of them may be 'enabled to act according to it !

The patrons of perfecution, those common enemies of liberty, religion and human nature, have tortured. this text to fpeak in their favour; and it has been their misfortune to be confirmed in their favage fentiment by the opinion of good St. Augustine, who underftood it as authorizing and even requiring the propagation of Christianity, and the suppression of erroneous opinions, by the terrors of the fecular power. In anfwer to this, I might obferve, that we often find the word here rendered *compel*, + ufed in fuch a mild fenfe, as to fignify only a compulsion by argument and intreaty. But it is fufficient to obferve, that it is evident Chrift never commissioned his apostles, nor did they ever pretend to propagate his religion, like Mahomet, with a fword in their hand, but by dint of evidence, and the power of the Holy Spirit :--- and indeed, no other arms were fit to propagate a rational religion.

#### + anagkason.

So Matt. xiv. 22. and Mark vi. 45. enagkafen o Jefous tous mathetas autou embenai, Jefus compelled or confirained his difciples to go into a fhip. St. Paul, in his reproof to St. Peter, Gal. ii. 14. tells him, "Why doft thou compel or confirain [anagkazeis] the Gentiles to act as do the Jews?" In which places, the word fignifies to compel, not by violence, but by command, perfuation, or example. And in this fenfe men are, and ought to be, compelled to embrace the gofpel.—Thus Tertullian, Qui Ruduerit intelligere, cogetur et credere. Serm. 55.

religion. The terrors of the fecular arm may fcare men into the profeffion of a religion, but they have no tendency to enlighten the underftanding, or produce a real faith; and therefore they are fitted only to make hypocrites, but can never make one genuine, rational Chriftian. The weapons of the apoftolic warfare, which were fo mighty through God, were miracles, reafoning, intreaty, and the love of a crucified Saviour; and thefe were adapted to the nature of the human mind, to fubdue it without violence, and fweetly captivate every thought into obedience to Chrift.

These weapons, as far as they may be used in our age, I would try upon you. I would compel you to come in, by confiderations fo weighty and affecting, that they must prevail, unlefs reason, gratitude, and every generous principle be entirely loft within you. By the confideration of your own extreme, perifhing neceflity; by the confideration of the freenefs, the fulnefs, and fufficiency of the bleffings offered ; by the dread authority, by the mercy and love of the God that made you, and who is your constant Benefactor; by the meeknefs and gentlenefs of Chrift; by the labours and toils of his life; by the agonies of his death; by his repeated injunctions, and by his melting invitations; by the operation of the Holy Spirit upon your hearts, and by the warnings of your own confciences; by the eternal joys of heaven, and the eternal pains of hell; by thefe confiderations, and by every thing facred, important and dear to you; I exhort, I intreat, I charge, I adjure you, I would compel you to come in. You have refused, you have loitered, you have hefitated long enough; therefore now at length come in; come in immediately, without delay. Come in, that thefe rich provisions may not be loft for want of partakers, and that God's house may be completely furnished with guests. As yet there is room; as yet the guests are invited; as yet the door is not fhut. The number of those who shall enjoy this great falvation is not yet made up. Therefore

# The Nature of Justification, Serm. 56.

fore you may prefs in among them, and be added to their happy company. But, ere long, the ministry of the gospel will be withdrawn, the fervants be recalled, and no longer be fent to fearch for you. The door of heaven will be shut against all the workers of iniquity. Therefore, now is the time to come in.

I fhall only urge, as another perfuafive, the awful denunciation that concludes my text; I fay unto you, none of those men who were bidden, and refused the invitation, shall fo much as taste of my supper; that is, none who now refuse to receive the bleffings of the gospel, as they are offered, shall ever enjoy any of them; but must confume away a miserable eternity in the want of all that is good and happy.

# SERMON LVI.

THE NATURE OF *JUSTIFICATION*, AND THE NATURE AND CONCERN OF *FAITH* IN IT.

ROM. i. 16, 17. For I am not alhamed of the golpel of Chrift, for it is the power of God unto falvation to every one that believeth; to the Jew first, and also to the Greek: for therein the righteousness of God is revealed from faith to faith—Or, therein is the righteousness of God by faith revealed to faith.\*

OWEVER little the gofpel of Chrift is effeemed in the world, it is certainly the moft gracious and important difpenfation of God towards the fons of men, or elfe our Bible is mere extravagance and fable:

\* Doddridge in loc.

# ' and of Faith in it.

Serm. 56.

fable; for the Bible fpeaks of it with the higheft encomiums, and the facred writers are often in transports when they mention it. It is called the gospel of the grace of God, Acts xx. 24. the gofpel of falvation, Eph. i. 13. the glorious gofpel, or, the gofpel of the glory of † Chrift, 2 Cor. iv. 4. the gofpel of peace, Eph. vi. 15. nay its very name has fomething endearing in the found, [Euaggelion] good tidings, joyful news. It is the wifdom of God in a mystery, I Cor. ii. 7. the mystery which had been hid from ages and from generations, Col. i. 26. the ministration of the Spirit, and of righteousness, which far exceeds all former difpenfations in glory. 2 Cor. iii. 8, 9. And it is reprefented as the only fcheme for the falvation of finners. When the wifdom of the world had ufed its utmost efforts in vain, it pleafed God, by the defpifed preaching of this humble gofpel, to fave them that believe. 1 Cor. i. 21. In my text it is called the power of God unto falvation to every one that believeth, whether Jew or Gentile. St. Paul, though the humbleft man that ever lived, declares he would not be afhamed of profeffing and preaching the gofpel of Chrift, even in Rome, the metropolis of the world, the feat of learning, politeness and grandeur. He reprefents it as a catholicon, an univerfal remedy, equally adapted to Jews and Greeks, to the posterity of Abraham, and the numerous Gentile nations, and equally needed by them all.

Now this muft be all extravagance and oftentatious parade, unlefs there be fomething peculiarly glorious and endearing in the gofpel. It muft certainly give the moft illuftrious difplay of the divine perfections; it muft be the moft grand contrivance of infinite wifdom; the moft rich and amazing exertion of unbounded goodnefs: and particularly, it muft bear the moft favourable afpect upon the guilty fons of men, and be the beft, nay, the only fcheme for their falvation. And what are the glorious peculiarities, what are the endearing recommendations of this gofpel ? Vot. III. L 1

+ Euaggeliou tes doxes tou Chriftou.

One of them, in which we are nearly interested, strikes our eyes in my text, For therein is the righteousness of God revealed from faith to faith. Here let us inquire into the meaning of the expressions, and point out

Serm. 56.

the connection. The righteoufnefs of God has generally one uniform fignification in the writings of St. Paul; and by it he means that righteoufnefs, upon the account of which a finner is juftified; that righteoufnefs, for the fake of which his fins are forgiven, and he is reftored to the divine favour: in fhort, it is our only juftifying righteoufnefs. It may be called the righteoufnefs of God, to diftinguifh it from our own perfonal righteoufnefs: it is the righteoufnefs of God, a complete, perfect, divine and God-like righteoufnefs, and not the mean, imperfect, fcanty righteoufnefs of finful, guilty men. So it feems to be taken, Rom. x. 3. Being ignorant of God's righteoufnefs, and going about to eftablifh their own righteoufnefs of God: where the righteoufnefs of God is directly oppofed to and diffinguifhed from their own righteoufnefs.

The various descriptions of this righteousness, and of justification by it, which we find in the apostolic writings, may affift us to underftand the nature of it; and therefore it may be proper for me to lay them before you in one view. It is frequently called the righteoufnefs of Chrift; and it is faid to confift in his obedience : by the obedience of one, shall many be made righteous. Rom. v. 19. Now obedience confifts in the frict observance of a law; and confequently the obedience of Chrift, which is our justifying righteousnes, confifts in his obedience to the law of God. Hence he is faid to be the end of the law for righteousness to every one that believeth. Rom. x. 4, 5. To be justified by his righteousness, is the fame thing as to be justified by his blood, Rom. v. 9. to be reconciled to God by his death, &c. verfe 10. From whence we may learn, that the fufferings of Chrift are a principal part of this righteoufnefs; righteoufnefs; or, that he not only obeyed the precept, but alfo endured the penalty of the divine law in our ftead; and that it is only on this account we can be juftified. This righteoufnefs is called the righteoufnefs of God without the law, Rom. iii. 21. an imputed righteoufnefs without works. Rom. iv. 6. And it is plain, from the whole tenor of this epifile, and that to the Galatians, that the righteoufnefs by which we are juftified, is entirely different from our own obedience to the law: and hence we may learn, that our own merit or good works do not in whole or in part conflitute our juftifying righteoufnefs; but that it is wholly, entirely and exclusively, the merit of Chrift's obedience and fufferings.

This righteoufnefs is often called the righteoufnefs of faith. Thus, according to fome, it is denominated in my text, which may be thus rendered, For in it the rightcousness of God by faith is revealed to faith : and this is most agreeable to the phraseology of this epistle. Others, following our translation-or the apparent order of the original, understand it in another fense; yet still fo as to assign faith a peculiar concern in the affair. The rightcoufnefs of God is revealed from faith to faith ; that is, according to fome, it is entirely and all through by faith ; \* or, from one degree of faith to another; or, from faith to faith, from believer to believer, all the world over, among Jews and Gentiles; or from the faithfulness of God in the word, to the grace of faith in the heart. You fee, that whatever fense you put upon this difficult phrase, it still coincides with or countenances the translation, which I would rather choose, The righteoufness of faith is revealed to faith. So it is expressly called in Romans, iii. 22. the righteoufness of God, which is by the faith of Christ. See chap. iv. 11, 13. x. 6. Phil. iii. 9. Not having my oven righteoufnefs, which is of the law, but that which is by the faith of Christ, the rightcoufness which is of God by faith. From whence we may infer, that faith has a peculiar concurrence

\* See Mr. Locke,

Serm. 56.

concurrence of inftrumentality in our juftification by the rightcoufnefs of Chrift. I need not enlarge on this particular; for to be juftified by faith in Chrift, in his blood, by believing in Chrift, and the like, are fuch frequent fcripture-expressions, as put the matter out of all doubt.

My text farther observes, that in the gospel this juftifying righteoufnefs is revealed to faith; that is, in the gofpel it is clearly difcovered, propofed and offered as an object of faith. The light of nature is all darknefs and uncertainty on this important point; it can only offer obfcure and miftaken conjectures concerning the method of pardon and acceptance for a guilty finner; it leaves the anxious confcience still unfatisfied, and perplexed with the grand inquiry, "Wherewith fhall I come before the Lord ? How fhall fuch a guilty creature as I re-obtain the favour of my provoked fovereign ?" It may fuggest fome plausible things in favour of repentance, as the only method of pardon; it may flatter the finner, that a God of infinite goodnefs will not rigoroufly execute his law; and it may draw a veil over the attribute of his juffice; and thus it may build the hopes of the finner upon the ruin of the divine government, and the difhonour of the divine perfections. But a method of juftification by the righteoufnefs of another, by the obedience and death of an incarnate God; by his perfect obedience to the law, and complete fatisfaction to juffice, inftead of the finner; a method, in which fin may be pardoned, and in the mean time, the honours of the divine government advanced, and the divine perfections glorioufly illustrated; this is a mystery, which was hid from ages and generations ; this was a grand fecret, which all the fages and philosophers, and all the fons of men, who had nothing but the light of nature for their guide, could not difcover, nor indeed fo much as guess at .--This fcheme was as far above their thoughts as the heavens are above the earth. Nothing but infinite wifdom could contrive it : nothing but omnifcience could

### Serm. 56:

could reveal it. In the writings of Mofes and the prophets, indeed, we meet with fome glimmerings of it; fome few rays of gofpel-light were reflected back from the Sun of Righteoufnefs, through the dark medium of 3 or 4000 years, and fhone upon the minds of the Jews, in the facrifices, and other fignificant types of the law, and in the prophecies of the Old Teftament writers; and hence the apoftle fays, that the righteoufnefs of God is witneffed by the law and the prophets, Rom. iii. 21. but it is in the gofpel alone that it is explicitly and fully revealed; in the gofpel alone it is propoled in full glory, as a proper object for a diffinct, particular and explicit faith.

And hence you may eafily fee the ftrong and ftrik-ing connection of the text. You may connect this fentence, For therein is the righteoufnefs of God revealed from faith to faith, with the first part of a foregoing text, I am not ashamed of the gospel of Christ; and then the fenfe will be, " No wonder I am not ashamed of the gofpel of Chrift among Jews or Gentiles, and even in Rome itfelf; for it makes a most glorious and important difcovery, in which they are all concerned; a difcovery which the Jews, with all the advantages of the law and the prophets, could not clearly make; a difcovery which the Greeks, with all their learning and philofophy, and the Romans, with all their power and improvements, could not fo much as guess at ; and that is the difcovery of a complete God-like rightcoufnefs, by which the guilty fons of men of every nation under heaven, may obtain juftification from all their fins; a righteoufnefs which is a fufficient foundation for the hopes of finners, and gives the most majestic and amiable view of the great God; a rightcoufnefs, without which Jews and Gentiles, and even the Romans in the height of empire, must unavoidably, irreparably, univerfally, and eternally perifh, in promifcuous ruin." Such a glorious and divine righteoufnefs does the neglected and defpifed gofpel reveal; fuch a benevolent, gracious, and reviving difcovery

Serm. 56.

covery does it make; and who would be afhamed of fuch a gofpel! "For my part," fays St. Paul, "I am not afhamed of it, but would boldly publish it unto kings and emperors, to fages and philosophers; and whatever fufferings I endure for its fake, ftill I glory in fo good a cause, and would spend and be spent in its fervice."

Or we may join this claufe, For therein is the righteoufnefs of God revealed from faith to faith, with the last part of the preceding verse, For it is the power of God unto falvation, &c. and then the connection will run thus: " The gofpel of Chrift, fo deflitute of all carnal and fecular recommendations, is fufficiently recommended to universal acceptance by this, that it is the only powerful and efficacious expedient for the falvation of all fuch as believe it, whether they be Jews or Gentiles. And no wonder it is attended with this divine power and efficacy, for in it, and in it only, the righteoufnefs of God by faith is revealed to the faith and acceptance of a guilty world. No religion but that of a Mediator, can provide or propole fuch a righteoufnefs; and yet, without fuch a righteoufnefs, no finner, whether Jew or Gentile, can be faved : and, on the other hand, the revelation of fuch a righteoufnefs directly tends to promote the important work of falvation, as it encourages the defpairing finner, and infpires him with vigour : and as it lays a foundation for the honourable communication of the influences of the Holy Spirit, without which this work can never be effected."

I hope thefe things are fufficient to give you a view of the fenfe and connection of the text. And there is only one thing I would repeat and illuftrate before I proceed to a methodical profecution of my fubject; and that is, That the righteoufnefs of God, or the righteoufnefs of Chrift, on account of which we are juftified, fignifies the obedience and fufferings of Jefus Chrift, to anfwer the demands of the law, which we had broken; or, as it is ufually expreffed, " his active and and paffive obedience." He obeyed the law, and endured its penalty, as the furety or fubfitute of finners;, that is, he did all this, not for himfelf, but for them, or in their flead. This is a matter of fo much importance, that you fhould by all means rightly underfland it; and I hope it is now fufficiently plain without enlarging upon it, though I thought it neceffary to repeat it.

My thoughts on this interefting fubject I intend to difpofe in the following order :

I. I fhall briefly explain to you the nature of juftifying faith, and fhew you the place it has in our juftification.

II. I fhall fhew, that no rightcoufnefs but that which the gofpel reveals is fufficient for the juftification of a finner : And,

III. I fhall evince that it is the gofpel only which reveals fuch a righteoufnefs.

I. I am to explain to you the nature of juftifying faith, and fhew you the place it has in our juftification.

You fee I do not propofe to explain the general nature of faith, as it has for its object the word of God in general; but only under that formal notion, as it has a peculiar inftrumentality in our juftification. When I mentioned the term justification, it occurs to my mind that fome of you may not understand it; and for the fake of fuch, I would explain it. You cannot but know what it is to be pardoned, or forgiven, after you have offended; and it must be equally plain to you what it is to be loved, and received into favour, by a perfon whom you have offended; and these two things are meant by justification : when you are justified, God pardons or forgives you all your fins; and he receives you again into his love and favour, and gives you a title to everlasting happines. I hope this important point is now fufficiently plain to you all; and I return to obferve, that I intend to confider faith at prefent, only under that formal notion, as

# The Nature of Justification,

Serm. 56.

as we are juffified by it; and in that view it is evident that the Lord Jefus, as a Saviour who died for finners, is its peculiar object. Hence a juffifying faith is fo often deferibed in feripture in fuch terms as thefe; *Believing in Chrift, faith in his blood*, &c. and the righteoufnets of Chrift, by which we are juffified, is called the rightcoufnefs of faith, the rightcoufnefs which is of God by faith, &c. Therefore a juffifying faith in Chrift includes thefe two things—a full perfuafion of the truth of that method of falvation through the rightcoufnefs of Jefus Chrift, which the gofpel reveals—and a hearty approbation of and confent to that method of falvation.

(I.) A juftifying faith includes a full perfuation of the truth of that method of falvation through the righteoufnefs of Jefus Chrift, which the gofpel reveals.

Faith, in its general nature, is the belief of a thing upon the testimony of another. A divine faith is the belief of a thing upon the teftimony of God; and confequently faith in Chrift must be the belief of the testimony of God concerning him in the gospel. Hence faith is faid to be a receiving the witnefs of God, which he hath testified of his Son; and unbelief, on the other hand, is the not believing the record which God gave of bis Son. 1 John v. 9, 10. Now St. John tells us, that the fubftance of the record or testimony, which God hath given of his Son, is this : That God hath given unto us eternal life; and this life is in his Son, verse 11. that is, "God in the gofpel teftifies, that he has eftablished and revealed a method of beftowing immortal life and bleffednefs upon guilty finners, who were juftly con-demned to everlafting death. And he farther teftifies, that it is only in and through his Son Jefus Chrift that this life and bleffednefs can be obtained ; it is only through him that it can be hoped for; and nothing appears but horror and defpair from every other quarter. Now faith is a firm, affecting perfuation of the truth of this gracious and important testimony. And as the foundation of all is, that Jefus Chrift is the Son of

264

of God, the true Mefliah, promifed as the Saviour of finners; hence it is, that believing that Jefus is the Chrift, the Son of God, &c. is fo frequently the definition of faith.

The fcheme of falvation through Jefus Chrift, fuppofes that all are finners, exposed to condemnation, and unable to make fatisfaction for their offences, or merit the divine favour by any thing they can do or fuffer; and repréfents the Lord Jefus as fubflituting himfelf in the place of the guilty, bearing the punishment due to their fin, and obeying the law of God in their ftead; and it reprefents our injured Sovereign as willing to be reconciled to fuch of his guilty creatures, on this account; but then that, in order to en-joy the bleffings of righteoufnefs, they muft, as guilty, helples finners, place their whole dependance upon it, and plead it as the only ground of their justification; and that, though they must abound in good works, yet they must not make these in the least the ground of their hopes of pardon and acceptance. This is the fubftance of the teftimony of God in the gofpel :' this testimony has been repeatedly published in your ears; and if you have believed with a justifying faith, you have yielded a full affent to this teftimony; you are thoroughly convinced, and deeply fenfible that thefe things are true, and you can cheerfully venture your eternal all upon the truth of them. You are convinced that this Jefus is indeed the only Saviour; that his righteoufnefs is alone fufficient, and to the entire exclusion of every other righteoufness in point of justi-fication. Such a faith may appear a very easy thing to a carelefs, impenitent finner, who has imbibed this belief from his earlieft days, and found no more difficulty in it than in learning his creed, or affenting to a piece of hiftory. But a perfon of this character is not at all the fubject of a faving faith ; it is the poor felfcondemned penitent, broken-hearted finner, that is capable of fuch a faith : and truly it is no eafy matter to him : for one that fees his fins in all their aggrava-VOL. III. Mm tions.

Serm. 56.

tions, the divine law, and the righteous feverity, of divine justice; one that finds the lufts and prejudices of his heart rifing against this method of falvation as foolishness, and as giving an intolerable mortification to his pride and vanity; for such a one to believe, is not an easy matter; it is the working of God's mighty power. Eph. i. 19. But, (II.) A justifying fait hmore peculiarly includes a

(II.) A juftifying fait hmore peculiarly includes a hearty approbation of and confent to this method of falvation by the righteoufnefs of Jefus Chrift.

To believe the gofpel as a true hiftory; to believe it as a true theory or fpeculation, with a languor, an indifferency or a difaffection of heart, this indeed is the common popular faith of our country, and it generally prevails where the profession of christianity is become fashionable; but alas! it is not that faith by which we can be juftified and faved. A hearty approbation of the way of falvation through Chrift; a willing, delightful dependance of the whole foul upon his righteousness; a free, vigorous choice of it, and a cheerful confent to all the terms of the gofpel; this is effential to fuch a faith. It is the greatest incongruity to fuppose that it is sufficient to believe the gospel with a luke-warm indifferency, or a carelefs unaffecting affent; or that our faith in Chrift fhould be merely the act of a conftrained, necessitated foul. He is the beloved Son of God, in whom he is well-pleafed; and we must be well-pleafed with him too, before we can expect falvation by him. To receive a fcheme which God has fo much at heart, a fcheme, for the accomplifhment of which Jefus bled and died ; a fcheme on which our everlafting life depends, and without which we are undone for ever, to receive fuch a fcheme with a languid affent, what profaneness! what impiety !

If you have ever truly believed in Jefus Chrift, my brethren, it has not been the languid act of a cold, impenitent, unwilling heart, but your whole fouls have exerted their utmost vigour in it, and it has been the most cheerful, animated act of your whole lives. It is true, Serm. 56.

true, neceffity had no finall influence in the cafe. You faw, you felt yourfelves loft for ever without this righ-teoufnefs; you faw no other way of escape or fafety; you found yourfelves fhut up to the faith; and it was this fenfe of your neceflity that first fet you upon seek-ing after Christ, and turned your thoughts towards this method of falvation. But when God spined into your hearts, to give you the light of the knowledge of his glory in the face of Jefus Chrift, when you received the first glances of his glorious righteoufnefs, and heard, as with new ears, the offer of it in the gospel, stand, and paufe, and recollect what were your fentiments, and the temper of your heart in that important and memorable hour. Was not their language, "Bleffed Jefus! till now I have been blindly feeking after thee from a fervile principle, not from the agreeable conftraint of love, but from the painful compulsion of fear, horror, and neceflity; not becaufe I defired thee on account of thine own excellency, but becaufe I was defirous to be faved from hell, though it should be by an unacceptable hand. I have been ftriving to work up my reluctant heart to a compliance with thy gofpel, not becaufe I faw thy glory, but merely becaufe I must perish for ever if I reject it. But now, when I fee thy glory, O thou lovely Saviour, I long and languish for thee, and cheerfully receive thee, because I love thee. Salvation itfelf is endeared to me, by the thought that it comes from thy dear hand. I place all my dependance on thy righteoufnefs, becaufe I fee it is all illuffrious and amiable, and fecures the glory of God, which I have tenderly at heart, as well as my falvation. I now most cheerfully confent to the method of falvation revealed in the gofpel, not only becaufe I muft, but becaufe I choose to do fo. I fee it is a scheme well ordered in all things, and fure, and therefore it is all my falvation, and all my defire. I would not only be faved, but I would be faved by thee, bleffed Jefus ! I am willing, I am defirous, that thou, and not I, fhould have the glory of it. I would rather fee thy Salla graće

Serm. 36.

grace honoured than my own vanity and pride flattered, and therefore I cheerfully renounce my own righteoufnefs, and count it but drofs and dung, in compariton of thine, which I embrace with all my heart. Pardon is fweet to a guilty criminal; falvation is fweet to a perifhing foul; but O! pardon by thy righteoufnefs, falvation through thy grace, this is doubly fweet." Such, my brethren, has been, and fuch fill is the language of your hearts, if you have ever received the righteoufnefs of Chrift by faith.

And hence it follows, that faith fuppofes the fupernatural illumination of the mind and renovation of the heart, by the power of divine grace. Alas! while nature is left in its original darkness and depravity, it has no fuch views of the way of falvation through Chrift, nor any fuch delight in it. There are many, I am afraid, that fecretly wonder what peculiar wifdom and grace there fhould be in the gofpel, and why God fhould commend it fo highly, and faints fhould be in raptures when they fpeak of it; for as for their part, they can difcover no fuch great matters in it. Their hearts are cold and careless about it, or form infurrections against it. The way of falvation through the righteoufnefs of Chrift is fomething quite unnatural and mortifying to the finful fons of men; they have no relish for it, nor aptitude or inclination to feek falvation in this way; it is much more natural for them to choofe fome other, though it fhould be much more painful. They will fubmit to the heaviest penances and bodily aufterities ; they will afflict themfelves with fasting; they will drudge at the duties of religion, in order to work out a righteoufnefs of their own; and they are as fond of the covenant of works to obtain life, as if it had never been broken. But tell them of a free falvation, purchased by Jefus Christ, and offered in the gofpel; tell them that it is only on account of his righteousness they can be pardoned, and that all their perfonal good works, however neceffary for other purposes, must all stand for nothing in

268

in this affair ; they are amazed, and wonder what you mean : it is ftrange unintelligible doctrine to them, and their hearts rife against it. Hence many a believer has found that it was easier for him to work up his heart to any thing than to believe in Jefus Christ, and that God alone could enable him to do this. But, when God works in him the work of faith with power, he opens his understanding to see a furprizing glory in the mediatorial scheme of falvation, and gives him a heart to relish it : and without this, no external recommendations of this scheme, no speculative conviction in its favour, can gain the cordial approbation of the finner.

I shall now endeavour, in a few words, to shew you the peculiar place which faith has in our jufification. You may observe then, that as the righteousness of Chrift is the peculiar ground of our justification, fo the grace of faith has a peculiar reference to that righteoufnefs; it is, as it were, the bent of the foul towards that particular object. Repentance has fin for its object; love the intrinfic glory and communicated goodnefs of the divine nature; charity and juffice have a reference to man; and none of these objects are the proper grounds of our juftification ; and confequently none of thefe graces which terminate upon them can have any direct concurrence in it.' But our juftifying righteouinefs is the immediate, direct object of faith; and therefore faith must have a special inftrumentality in our justification.

And if we recollect what has been faid about the nature of faith, there will appear a peculiar propriety in conferring this honour upon it. It is certainly fit we fhould believe in him who is our Saviour; and it would be abfurd to apply to him in that character, while we fufpect him for an impostor. It is fit we should approve of the righteousness by which we are justified, and heartily confent to that scheme by which we are faved. And, on the other hand, it would be highly preposterous, that we should be justified and faved faved by a Saviour, and in a way we defpife or difguft. Thefe confiderations flow not only the wifdom, but the grace of the conflictation... Approve of the Saviour, and you fhall be faved; truft in his righteoufnefs, and you fhall be juftified; confent to the covenant of grace, and you fhall inherit all its bleffings; and could you defire lower or eafier terms? This approbation, this truft, this confent is faith : and now; I hope, you fee the peculiar place it has in our juftification. Let us now proceed,

II. To fhew you that no righteoufness but that which the gospel reveals is fufficient for the justification of a finner.

In order to form a right judgment of this matter, we must place ourfelves in a proper situation, and view it in an advantageous point of light. Is a blind, felfflattering finner, who does not fee the ftrictnefs of the law and juffice of God, or who fecretly murmurs at it as too precife and rigid, who does not fee the infinite evil of fin, but loves it, indulges it, and is expert in making excuses for it, and diminishing its aggravations, who forms his maxims of the divine government from the procedure of weak and particular mortals in human governments, who compares himfelf with his fellow-finners, and not with the divine purity and the holy law of God, whofe confcience is fecure, who places the tribunal of his fupreme Judge far out of fight, and who forms his notions of his government not from his word, but from the flattering fuggestions of his own deceitful heart : I fay, is fuch a blind, partial, careless finner a competent judge in this matter? Is he likely to form a just estimate of the evil of fin, and of that righteoufnefs which will be fufficient for his acquaintance before a just and righteous God? By no means. But it is eafy for fuch a one to ftart objections against this method of justification, and offer many plaufible arguments in favour of his own righteoulnefs, and to extenuate his own guilt. But let him be awakened to fee himfelf and his fins in a proper light, and , soit

#### Sermars6.

and let him fee the purity and extent of the divine law, and make that the only teft of his good works, let him realize the divine tribunal, and place himfelf in the immediate prefence of his Judge, let him be put in this fituation, and then the controverfy will be foon at an end; then all his high thoughts of his own righteoufnefs are mortified; all his excufes for his fins are filenced; and then he fees his abfolute need of a perfect and divine righteoufnefs, and the utter infufficiency of his own. O firs! if you have ever placed yourfelves in this pofture, you have done forever with all difputes on this point. What could eafe your confciences then but the complete righteoufnefs of Jefus Chrift? O! " none but Chrift, none but Chrift," then appeared fufficient.

- Here I beg leave to tranflate a very animated and ftriking paffage, written about 200 years ago, by that great and good man, Calvin, who had long groped for falvation among the doctrines of merit in the church of Rome, but could find no relief, till the gofpel difcovered this righteoufnefs to him. " It is a very eafy thing, fays he, to amufe ourfelves with arguments for the fufficiency of good works for juftification, while we are ingenioufly trifling in fchools and colleges of learning; but when we come into the prefence of God, we have done with all fuch amufements; for there it is a very ferious affair, and not a ludicrous logomachy, or an idle difpute about words. There, there we must place ourselves, if we would profitably inquire after the true righteoufnefs, and how we shall answer our celestial Judge when he shall call us to an account. Let us reprefent this Judge to our-felves, not fuch as our fancies would imagine him to be, but fuch as he is really reprefented in the fcrip-tures; as one by whofe brightnefs the ftars are turned into darknefs; by whofe power the mountains are melted ; at whofe anger the earth trembles ; by whofe wildom the wife are caught in their own craftines; before whose purity, all things are turned into pollubus tion:

271

# The Nature of Justification, Serm. 56.

tion; whofe justice even angels are not fufficient to bear; who will by no means clear the guilty; whose vengeance, when once it is kindled, burns and penetrates to the loweft hell: let him, I fay, fit Judge on the actions of men, and who can fecurely place him-felf before his throne of judgment ?" Lord, if thou mark iniquity, who, O Lord, Shall Stand ! " All must be condemned, and unavoidably perifh." Shall mortal man be justified before God? or be purer than his Maker? Behold, he putteth no trust in his fervants ; and his angels be chargeth with folly : how much lefs in them that dwell in houses of clay, whose foundation is in the dust, who are crushed before the moth ! Job iv. 17, &c. Behold he putteth no trust in his faints; yea, the heavens are not clean in his fight; how much more abominable and filthy is man, who drinketh iniquity like water ! Job xv. 15, &c. " Eliphaz is firuck filent; for he fees that God cannot be appealed even with angelic holinels, if their works fhould be brought to the impartial fcale of Juffice.-And certainly if our lives should be compared to the ftandard of the divine law, we must be stupid indeed; unlefs we are flruck with the terror of its curfes, and particularly of that, Curfed is every one that continueth not in all things that are written in the book of the law to do them. And all the difputes we may have about the method of juftification are vain and infipid, unlefs we place ourfelves as guilty before our heavenly Judge, and, folicitous for a pardon, voluntarily profirate and empty ourfelves before him.

" To this great tribunal, finners, you must lift your eyes, that, inflead of vainly exalting yourfelves, you may learn to tremble before him. While the comparifon is between man and man, it is eafy for every man to think he has fomething which others fhould not despise; but when we place ourselves before God, all that confidence falls and perifhes in an inftant."\*

I might go on with my quotation from this excellent author; but this is fufficient to fhew you a grand

- pre-

LL JUN

B LLINE I \* Galvin. Inflit. Lib. iii.

. .... By to U

pre-requisite to the impartial determination of this point. And now, with a deep impression of this, with a deep fenfe of our fins, and of the strictness of the law and justice, and placing ourfelves, as in the pre-fence of our righteous Judge, let us inquire what righteoufnefs is fufficient for our justification before him.

It may be of fervice to obferve, that there is fomething fingular in the phrafeology of feripture on this point, and different from what is used in other cafes of the fame general nature. To receive a pardon is a very different thing in common language from being justified. When a man is pardoned, it supposes that he has broken the law, but that the law is dilpenfed with, and the threatened penalty not executed; but when he is juftified, it fuppofes that he has a righteoufnefs equal to the demands of the law, and therefore that he may be acquitted according to juffice .---Thefe, you fee, are very different things ; but in the affair before us they are happily united. The finner is faid to be pardoned and justified at once; and the reafon of this unufual dialect is this :--'The finner has broken the divine law, and has no obedience to anfiver its demands; and therefore, his being freed from the guilt of fin and the threatened punifhment, is, in this refpect, a gracious, unmerited pardon. But by faith he has received the righteoufness of Christ; and God imputes it to him as though it were his own; and his righteoufnefs anfwers all the requilitions of the law, and it has no charges against him; fo that in this respect he is justified, or pronounced rightcous according to law and juffice.

Hence it follows, from the very meaning of the terms used in this case, that no righteousness can justify us in the fight of God but that which is equal to all the demands of the divine law. It must be perfect, and conformed throughout to that ftandard; for if it be not, we cannot be pronounced righteous in the eye of the law; but the law charges and condemns us as NI Vol. III. tranfgreffors,

### The Nature of Justification,

Serm. 56.

tranfgreffors, and its fentence lies in full force againft us. And now, if any of you have fuch a perfect righteoufnefs, 'produce it, glory in it, and carry it with you to the divine tribunal, and demand acquittance there. 'But if you have not (as, if you know yourfelves, you muft own you have not) then fall down as ' guilty finners before your righteous Judge, confefs that you dare not appear in his prefence in your own righteoufnefs, but lay hold of and plead the righteoufnefs of Jefus alone, otherwife the law thunders out its terrors againft you, and juffice will feize you as obnoxious criminals.

It was from fuch premifes as these that the apostle reasoned when he drew this conclusion, that by the deeds of the law no fiesh shall be justified, Rom. iii. 20, 28. and that we are justified by faith without the deeds of the law. He grants, that if any can produce a perfect righteoufnefs of their own, they shall obtain life by the law : the law, fays he, is not of faith ; but the man? that doth these things *shall live in them*. Gal. iii. 12.-But then he proves that all the sons of men, both Jews and Gentiles, have finned, and confequently have no righteoufnefs agreeable to the law : he ftops every mouth, and brings in the whole world as guilty before God; and hence he infers the impoffibility of juftification by the works of the law: and then he natur-" ally introduces another righteoufnefs equal to all the demands of the law. But now, fays he, the righteouf-ness of God, without the law, is manifested-even the righteoufnefs of God, which is by the faith of Jefus Christ unto all, and upon all them that believe :- being justified freely by his grace, through the redemption that is in Chrift, whom God has fet forth to be a propitiation that is in Christ, whom God has fet forth to be a propitiation through faith in his blood, for the remiffion of fins ;—that he might be juft, and the juftifier of him that believeth in Jefus. Rom. iii. 21—26. O glorious fcheme of falvation ! O com-plete, divine righteoufnefs ! a righteoufnefs by which Jew and Gentile, the greatest finner as well as the least, may be made divinely righteous, and completely infified justified,

274-

juftified, even at the bar of a holy and juft God.— Here, ye guilty finners, ye condemned criminals, ye bleeding confciences, here is the only righteoufnefs for you. Put forth the hand of faith, and humbly lay hold upon it. Here fix your truft, and renounce your own righteoufnefs as filthy rags; for whatever you think of it now, this will be found the only defence at the tribunal of the fupreme Judge.

It would be eafy to collect a great variety of arguments to support this important truth; but if you carefully read over the apoftolic writings, particularly this epiftle to the Romans, and that to the Galatians, you cannot but be fatisfied for yourfelves. And this brings me in mind of a frank declaration of that true free-thinker and impartial inquirer after truth, Dr. Watts. " If I may be permitted to fpeak of myfelf," fays he, "I might acquaint the world with my own experience. After fome years fpent in the perufal of controversial authors, and finding them infufficient to fettle my judgment and confcience, I refolved to feek a determination of my doubts from the Epiftles of St. Paul, efpecially in that weighty doctrine of Juftification. I perufed his letter to the Romans with the most fixed meditation, laborious fludy, and importunate requefts to God, for feveral months together. I very narrowly obferved the daily motions of my own mind: I found it very hard to root out old prejudices, and to escape the danger of new ones. I met with fome expreflions of the apoftle that fwayed me to one opinion, and others, that inclined the balance of my thoughts another way; but I blefs the Divine Goodnefs that enabled me at last to furmount all these difficulties, and eftablished my judgment and confcience in that glorious and forfaken doctrine of the juftification of a finner in the fight of God, by the imputation of a perfect righteoufnefs, which is not originally his own." † This was the practice of this excellent man; and you fee

+ Orthodoxy and Charity united, Effay vii. § 1.

fee the refult of his fearch. Go you and do likewife; and I doubt not but you will make the fame difcovery. -I am,

III. and laftly, To fhew that it is the gofpel only that reveals fuch a righteoufnefs as is fufficient for the justification of a finner.

The Jewish religion, as I observed before, gave feveral intimations of this method of justification by the righteoufnefs of another. There were many prophefies and types of this import ; and this was undoubtedly the original defign of facrifices; for it is quite unaccountable, that ever man should imagine that they could appeale the wrath of God, and procure the pardon of fin, by offering to him facrifices of brutes in their ftead, unlefs we fuppofe that God did at first inftitute this method to fignify that the way in which he would be reconciled to finners was by the fufferings and death of another, as a facrifice fubflituted in their room. This inflitution feems to have been immediately after the fall of man, when the first beam of gofpel-light bleffed our world in that promife, the feed of the woman, &c. for we are told that God made coats of fkins, and with them covered our first parents. Gen. iii. 21. Now animal food was not allowed to man till after the flood ; and confequently those beafts, whose fkins were used for this purpose, were not killed for that use: and we cannot suppose they died naturally fo foon after their creation. It is therefore most probable that Adam had killed them for facrifices; and that God had commanded him to do this, immediately upon the promulgation of that promife, to typify the manner of its accomplifhment, namely, by the facrifice of Chrift in the fulnefs of time. This practice we find continued by Cain and Abel: and thus Noah confecrated the new world after the flood. Gen. viii. 20.

But though the patriarchs and Jews had thefe intimations of the method of pardon and acceptance, they were very dark and perplexing to them; and just as ... much as they had of this light, just fo much they had of

276

of the gofpel; and therefore the gofpel, taking the word in its full extent, claims the honour of this difcovery.

Now, if we except the patriarchal and Jewish religion, which had a mixture of the gofpel in it, there is none that pretends to difcover a complete and perfect righteoufnefs and atonement for the jufification of a finner. The religion of Mahomet is filent upon this head; and the Socratefes and Platos of heathen antiquity, who had only the light of nature for their guide, knew nothing about it; much lefs did the ignorant populace, who are always the greater part of mankind. The cuftom of facrifice was indeed universal; but, as it was received by a very remote tradition, mankind had quite loft its original defign; and they corrupted it into the most absurd and cruel superstition. They offered their facrifices to imaginary deities, or (as the apofile tells us) to devils. I Cor. x. 20. They were fo unnatural and barbarous, that they offered human facrifices, and even their own children, to propitiate their angry gods. And, if we may believe fome of their best authors, this was often practifed by the express command of their oracles :--- a fufficient evidence that it was not the true God that gave anfwers by them. Alas ! how were the poor creatures bewildered and perplexed about the method of expiating their fins ! They fpared no coft ; they offered even the fruit of their body for the fin of their fouls ; but alas! how vain, as well as impious a facrifice was this ! and yet this was the utmost that nature in distress could do. They knew nothing of the great atonement which was to be made by the High Prieft of the Chriftian profeflion, which the golpel reveals to us. Nay, the Jews themfelves are often reproved by the prophets for their felf-righteous truft in their facrifices, to the neglect of their morals, and the grand atonement which they prefigured. The light of nature might teach the heathen world, that if they perfectly obeyed the law of God, they might be affured of his favour, or at least that they

they fhould not be punifhed; but it informed them in the mean time, that they had not done fo, but, on the other hand, had repeatedly broken the law of God; and they had no notion at all of the poflibility of their being juftified by the righteoufnefs of another.

This alone determines the point I am now proving. I have fhewn already, that a finner cannot be juftified. but by a perfect righteoufnefs; and it is evident that none of the fons of men can pretend to fuch a righteoufnefs. Where then can it be found? Confult the light of nature; afk the multitude in the heathen. world; nay, afk their moft improved fages and philofophers, and you will find all filent, all bewildered and perplexed : nothing was ever farther from their thoughts than a complete atonement for fin by the death of an innocent and divine perfon. I appeal to fuch of the negroes as came from Africa as the best judges in this cafe. Did you ever hear in your own country, of a righteoufnefs equal to all the requisitions of the law of God, by which you could be juftified ? Was there no thoughtful perfon among you whofe confcience was uneafy about his fins against a holy God, and who was concerned how he fhould obtain a pardon? And what way did he take to eafe his mind? Alas! he knew nothing of the righteoufnefs of God by faith. This happy difcovery, poor creatures, you have met with in the land of your bondage; and O! if you make a proper use of it, it will make your flavery the greatest blessing to you.

The light of nature might furmife a great many things upon this head, but alas! all was uncertain, and more frequently the dictates of ignorance and felfflattery than of an enlightened mind. It might intimate, "that God is the compafionate Father of mankind, and therefore would difpenfe with the threatenings of his law, and not execute them rigoroufly upon his own creatures." This we often hear urged by finners among ourfelves, who, notwithftanding their profeffion of Chriftianity, will form a fyftem of religion,

278

# Serm. 56.

on, and a fcheme of reconciliation with God, according to their own felfish and flattering prejudices; and it feems to them incredible that God should inflict éternal punishment on his own creatures for the fins of a few years. But to this it might be replied, That fince God is the Father of mankind, it is a more unnatural and aggravated wickednefs to fin against him : that he is not only the Parent, but alfo the Lawgiver and Judge of the world, and that he must fustain both these characters with honour. He must exercise not only the fondness and indulgent discipline of a father, but alfo the juffice and righteous feverity of a ruler and judge : he must maintain the honour of his law, and preferve his government from contempt; and therefore the communications of his goodnels' muft be confistent with justice. He must also execute his laws upon finners, in order to warn and deter others; and therefore every finner must tremble for fear of the execution of the divine threatenings upon him. To all this I may add, That the miferies that are inflicted by divine Providence in this world, and that very often upon the best of men, must increase the perplexity, and leave the finner in a dreadful fufpenfe.

If God does not fuffer the fins even of the beft of men always to efcape unpunished in this world, but afflicts them with pains, fickness, and an endless variety of calamities, how can our reason, that knows fo little of the counfels of Heaven, assure us that he will not punish them also, and that with greater feverity, in the world to come ? Nothing but a revelation from himself could ease an anxious mind from this dread fuspicion.

The light of nature may alfo perhaps furmife, "That repentance and reformation are fufficient to procure the pardon of fin :" and mankind feem naturally inclined to look for pardon in this way. Hence finners among ourfelves, notwithftanding the clearer difcoveries of the gofpel, fly to repentance and reformation, not only as a pre-requisite to their falvation, but as The Nature of Justification,

Serm. 56.

as fufficient ground of acceptance; and they gaze and wonder at a man if he intimates the contrary. It muft be granted on all hands, that repentance and reformation are neceffary; but the question is, Are repentance and reformation alone fufficient? And this is eafily, answered, if what has been proved before be true, That no righteoufnefs but that which is perfect; viz. and fully conformed to the divine law, can be fufficient for our justification. Now repentance, at best, is but a reformation from a wrong courfe, and a return to obedience; which fhould never have been interrupted. If the reformation were perfect, it would be but doing what we are obliged to do for the prefent time; and confequently it can be no atonement, or fatisfaction to the law for past offences; but alas! it is imperfect, and therefore cannot pay the debt of obedience for the present time. The finner, in the midst of all his repentance and reformation, is finning ftill; there are guilty imperfections in his best duties; and can these atone for his past fins? So that repentance and reformation cannot be a fufficient juftifying righteoufnefs. Again, What kind of government would that be among men, in which all crimes were pardoned upon repentance? What encouragement would this give to offenders? How foon would fuch a government fall into contempt? and what a low idea would it give of the wifdom and juffice of the ruler, and of the evil of fin ! And fhall the Supreme Ruler imitate fo weak a conduct, and thus obscure his perfections, depreciate his laws, and encourage vice !

It is a virtue in a private man to forgive an injury; and it may be a piece of generofity in fuch a one to give up fome of his rights : but, as I have told you, God is not to be confidered, in this cafe, as a private perfon, but as a Ruler, a fupreme Ruler, at the head of the univerfe; and fin is an offence against him in that capacity; and therefore, for reafons of state, it is not fit he should put up with it, or remit it merely upon the sinner's repentance. He must maintain the dignity

# Serm. 56. and of Faith in it.

dignity of law and government, and confult the public good ;. not the good of this man and that, nor even of the whole race of men, but of men through all their generations; of angels through all their various ranks and orders, and in fhort, of the whole universe of reafonable creatures ; and the interest of individuals must be fubfervient to the more general good of the whole. An error in fuch an extensive government, through an excessive lenity towards offenders, would have a most extensive ill influence, and injure more worlds than we know of. If the magifirate in one particular government be lax in the execution of the laws, he may injure a whole nation ; and if he fhould fuppofe all the nations of the earth united in one univerfal monarchy, under one head; if that univerfal monarch fhould be remifs in the execution of juffice, the confequence would be still more extensively mischievous. But what would be the confequence, if the universal Ruler of heaven and earth and the whole creation, fhould relax his law, and fuffer fin to go unpunifhed, upon fo cheap a retaliation as repentance? No human government could be fupported upon this principle, much lefs the divine.

Further : It should be confidered, that, in order to encourage offenders to repent, it is neceffary it fhould be made a fixed conftitution, and openly published, that whofoever in all time coming fhould be guilty of any offence against the laws of God, he shall be forgiven if he does but repent. Now what encouragement would fuch a declaration give to fin! It would alfo be unprecedented in human governments. It is true, civil rulers do forgive fome offenders ; but then they do not declare beforehand that they will do fe, or who the objects of their clemency fhall be. 'I o make a previous declaration of this, would be to give licence to men to break the law. Let it be also confidered, that when civil rulers forgive criminals. Usere is no necessity they should receive them into free a favour ; but in the divine government thefe two the VOL. III. 0 0

Serm. 56.

are infeperable : there is no medium between high fayour and mifery. When God forgives, he receives the finner into complete happinels and intimacy with himfelf, as well as refcues him from punifhment. And is it fit he fhould do this, merely upon his repentance? How would fuch a conduct look in human governments !

Finally, The pardon of a crime is a matter of fovereignty, and only has place in fuch governments where the royal prerogative is above law, and has a power to difpense with it. Whether such a prerogative be-longs to the divine government (that is, whether it would be a perfection upon the whole in fuch a government) I fhall not now difpute : but fuppofe it be, ftill it is a matter of fovereignty ; that is, it lies entirely in the breaft of the Supreme Ruler whether he will pardon penitents or not; and they can know his pleafure no other way but by his declaring it. This confideration therefore fhews the neceffity of a revelation from God to give a finner affurance that he will pardon him upon any terms. The light of nature leaves a finner entirely at mercy, and awfully uncertain whether ever he can re-obtain the favour of his offended Sovereign. Now this revelation we have in the gofpel, with the additional difcovery of the way in which forgiveness and acceptance can be obtained. And it appears, from this fhort furvey, that it is in the gofpel alone we can find this difcovery.

I shall now conclude with two reflections.

I. Let this fubject lead us to a firict examination of the ground of our hopes, whether they be founded on the righteoufnefs of God alone, or partly at leaft upon our own. To fpeak freely, I am afraid that fome of you, my dear people, have built upon this fandy foundation : this may be the cafe of fome of you who have very fair characters; for it is fuch fort of perfons, and not those who make little or no pretensions to good works, that are most in danger of the extreme of felfrighteoufnefs. I therefore beg you would inquire after Serm. 56-

ter this fly, lurking delution ; a delution which perverts the best things into the worst, and makes your good works the occafion of your defiruction, infread of means of falvation. I beg you would inquire, whether ever you have been deeply fenfible of the aggravated evil of fin, the perfection of God's law, the frictness of his justice, and the guilty imperfections of your own beft works : whether ever you have feen the glory of God in the gofpel, and the excellency and fufficiency of the righteoufnefs of Chrift? Have you cheerfully embraced it with your whole fouls ? and do you lay the whole dependance of your falvation upon it ? My brethren, how are your hearts affected towards the gofpel in this age of infidelity, when it is treated with fneer and ridicule, and browbeaten with contempt and infult? Do you glory in it, and venture your all upon it? Do you ind it is the only relief for your wounded confciences, the only cordial for your finking hearts? Do your whole fouls embrace it with the tendereft endearment, and tenacioufly cling to it as the only (tabula post naufragium) plank to keep you from finking, after the general wreck of human nature? Do you relifh its doctrines, even those that are the most mortifying to your pride and vanity, and love to hear them honestly preached? Are the humble, defpifed doctrines of the crofs fweet to you, and the very life of your fouls? If you can give a comfortable answer to these inquiries, then,

II. This fubject affords you abundant encouragement, and ftrong confolation. It is true, you can never think too humbly of yourfelves. You are as finful as you can poffibly fuppofe yourfelves to be : your righteoufnefs is as infufficient and imperfect, and you are as undeferving of the favour of God as you can poffibly imagine. But it is not to yourfelves that you look for a righteoufnefs, which will bear you out at the bar of your Judge : you have been obliged to give up that point for ever : you tried to fland upon your own footing as long as you could, but you found it would

#### The Success of the Ministry

Serm. 57.

3/10/10/00/04

would not do. And now your only refuge is the righteoufnels of Chrift by faith; here you reft, and you look for falvation in no other way. My brethren, I would fain do honour to this righteousness ; but alas! the highest thing I can fay of it is quite too low. It is indeed a righteoufnefs fufficient for all the purpofes for which you want it; it is a fure, a tried foundation. Thousands have built their hopes upon it, and it has never failed one of them yet : you may make the experiment with the fame fafety. There is not a charge which the law or justice, your own confcience, or Satan the accufer of the brethren, can bring against you, but what it can fully answer. Here then is fafe footing, and let nothing drive you from it : and O give glory to God for fo great a blefling!

#### SERMON LVII.

THE SUCCESS OF THE MINISTRY OF THE GOSPEL, OWING TO A DIVINE INFLUENCE. \*

## I COR. iii. 7. So then neither is he that plants any thing, neither' he that waters ; but God that gives the increase.

HE defign of God in all his works of creation, providence, and grace, is to advance and fecure the glory of his own name; and therefore, though he makes ufe of fecondary caufes as the inflruments of his operations, yet their efficacy depends upon his fuperintending influence. It is his hand that fuftains the great chain of caufes and effects, and his agency pervades and animates the worlds of nature and of grace. In

\* Dated Hanover, November 19, 1752.

In the natural world, he makes use of the inftrumentality of the hufbandman to till the ground, to fow the feed, and water it. But it is he that commands the clouds to drop down fatnefs upon it, and the fun to diffuse its vital influence. It is he that continues to the earth, and the other principles of vegetation, their refpective virtues; and without this influence of his the hufbandman's planting and watering would be in vain; and, after all his labour, he must acknowledge, that it is God that giveth the increase. So in the world of grace, God ules a variety of fuitable means to form degenerate finners into his image, and fit them for a happy eternity. All the inftituti-ons of the gofpel are intended for this purpofe, and particularly the ministry of it. Ministers are fowers fent out into the wild field of the world, with the precious feed of the word. It is the grand bufinefs of their life to cultivate this barren foil, to plant trees of righteoufnefs, and water them that they may bring forth the fruits of holinefs. It is by the ufe of painful industry that they can expect to improve this wildernefs into a fruitful field; and the Lord is pleafed to pour out his fpirit from on high at times to render their labours fuccefsful; fo that they who went forth bearing precious feed with forrow and tears, return bringing their sheaves with joy. But alas! they meet with disappointments enough to convince them that all their labours will be in vain, if a fovereign God deny the influences of his grace. The agency of his holy fpirit is as neceffary to fructify the word, and make it the feed of conversion, as the influences of heaven are to fructify the earth, and promote vegetation. A zealous Paul may plant the word, and an eloquent Apollos may water it; one may attempt to convert finners to chriftianity, and the other to build them up in faith, but they are both nothing as to the fucces of their labours, unlefs God gives the increase; that is, unlefs he affords the influence of his grace to render ther attempts fuccefsful in begetting and cherifh-

ing

ing living religion in the hearts of men. This is the great truth contained in my text : Neither is he that planteth any thing, nor he that watereth; but God that giveth the increase.

The Corinthians had been bleft with the labours of feveral ministers, particularly of the apostle Paul, who had been the happy inftrument of turning them from their native heathenism, and planting the gospel among them, and of Apollos, who fucceeded him, and watered the good feed he had planted among them. But the Corinthians, inftead of peaceably and thankfully improving the different gifts of different minifters for their fpiritual and everlafting benefit, fell into factions, through a partial admiration of the one. in opposition to the other. Some of them were for Paul, as an univerfal fcholar, and a ftrong reafoner; others were all for Apollos, as an accomplifhed orator. And thus they confidered thefe ministers of Chrift, rather as the ringleaders of factions than as unanimous promoters of the fame catholic christianity. To fupprefs this party fpirit, the apoftle afks them, Who then is Paul, or who is Apollos? "What mighty beings would you make us in your idolatrous attachment to us? Alas! what are we more than feeble ministers of Christ, by whom ye believed? We were not the authors of your faith, but the humble inftruments of it in the divine hand; and the fuccefs that either of us have had has not been from our own power, but just as God hath been pleafed to give to every man (ver. 5.) I first planted the gospel among you; Apollos afterwards watered it; this was all we could do : but we could not make it bear the fruits of holinefs in one foul. It was God alone that gave the increase, and made our respective labours fuccessful (ver. 6.) therefore turn your regard to him alone :- Ceafe from man, whose breath is in his nostrils; for wherein is he to be accounted of?" Ifai ii. 22. " Do not idolatroufly fhare the honour of your conversion between God the effi-cient, and us, the humble inftruments of it; but afcribe 14.-1

Serm. 57. owing to a divine Influence.

cribe it to him alone: for neither is he that planteth any thing, nor he that watereth; but God that gave the increase; "he is all in all."

When we fee a people enjoy the frequent cultivations of the gofpel, and the means of fpiritual fruitfulnefs, and yet few new trees of righteousness planted, and those, that have been planted, feemingly withering and unfruitful, we cannot but conclude that fome-thing is wanting; without which all the means they enjoy will be of no fervice. We fhould naturally turn our thoughts to an inquiry, what was wanting, had we tilled our lands from year to year without a crop. And fince we find at prefent, that notwithflanding all the labours beftowed upon us, we lie in a deep fleep, and hardly know what it is of late to be animated with the news of fome careles finner here and there awakened to ferious concern about his eternal eftate, it is high time to inquire what is wanting? There is certainly fomething wanting, which is of greater confequence than any thing we have. Here are the gospel, and its ordinances, which at times have done great things; and finners have yielded to their refiftless energy : here is a minister, who, however weak, has fometimes been the happy inftrument of giving a finner an alarm, and fpeaking a word in feafon to those that were weary : here are hearers that crowd our fanctuary; hearers of the fame kind with those whom we have seen ere now fall under the power of the word. And what then is wanting? Why, God, that alone can give the increase, is not here by the influences of his grace; and in his absence, *neither* he that planteth is any thing, nor he that watereth ; they are all nothing together; and may labour till doomfday, and never convert one foul. Where is the Lord God of Elijah ? Where is he that can do more execution with one feeble fentence, than we can with a thoufand of our most powerful fermons! Why, he hath hid his face; and hence there is none that calleth upon his name, that ftirreth up himfelf to take hold of him. Hai. Ixiy. 1xiv. 7. And till the Spirit be poured upon us from on high, nothing but briars and thorns will come up among us. Chap. xxxii. 13, 15.

Let your thoughts, therefore, with eager attention now purfue me, while I am proving, illufirating, and making remarks pertinent to our cafe, from this affecting truth contained in the text, That the fuccefs of the minifitry of the gofpel with refpect to faints and finners, entirely depends upon the concurring influences of divine grace; or, that, without the divine agency to render the gofpel fuccefsful, all the labours of its minifters will be in vain.

This truth can give us no furprize as a new difcovery, if we have any acquaintance with the prefent degeneracy of human nature—with the declarations and promifes of the word of God—with the accounts of the different fuccefs of the means of grace in various periods of the church—or with matters that might have come within the compafs of our own experience and obfervation.

I. Such is the prefent degeneracy of human nature, that all the minifirations of the gofpel cannot remedy it, without the concurring efficacy of divine grace.

So barren is the foil, that the feed of the word falls upon it and dies, and never grows up; as though it had never been fown there, till it be fructified by divine grace. It is a foil fruitful of briars and thorns, which grow up, and choke the word; fo that it becometh unfruitful till divine grace root them up. Or it may be reprefented by a rocky or ftony foil, where the word of God can take no deep root, and therefore withers till it be molified by influences from heaven. Thus our Lord reprefents the matter in the famous parable of the fower. Matt. xiii. 3, &c. 18, &c.

The metaphors ufed in facred for pure to illustrate this cafe, fufficiently prove the degeneracy of mankind, and their entire opposition to the gofpel. They are represented as fpiritually dead, Eph. ii. 1. John v. 25: that is, though they are still capable of the exercises of

. . .

of reason and animal actions, yet they are really deftitute of a supernatural principle of spiritual life, and incapable of suitable exercises towards God. And can a Paul or an Apollos quicken the dead with convictive arguments, with ftrong perfualions, or tender and paf-fionate expostulations? No; none but he can do it whofe almighty voice bade Lazarus come forth. Sinners are also represented as blind. 2 Cor. iv. 4. 'Now what can feeble mortals do to fuch? We can exhibit divine things before them ; we can expose the horrid deformity of fin, and its tremendous confequences; we can difplay the glories of God, the beauty of holinefs, and the allurements of redeeming love; but, alas! all this is but like exposing colours to the blind. We cannot open their eyes; we cannot communicate fuch views of things to their minds as are in any measure adequate to the things themselves. What can tender arguments avail to break hearts of ftone? What fignifies reafoning to govern headftrong obfinacy, which regards it no more than a whirlwind? What can perfuafions do to extirpate inveterate, implacable enmity ? Róm. viii. 7. What can the charms of eloquence do to charm deaf adders that ftop their ears? Pfalm lviii. 4. The Ifraclites might as well pretend to overthrow the walls of Jericho with the found of rams-horns, as we with our feeble breath to overthrow the ftrong holds of fatan in the hearts of finners ! It is the divine agency alone that gives the fuccefs in both cafes. Clay cannot open the eyes of the blind, except in his almighty hands who could form a world out of nothing, and who can work without or against means as eafily as with them.

The fcripture-reprefentation of the degeneracy of mankind are confirmed by univerfal experience. If we form any obfervations of ourfelves or others, we find that the whole bent of our fouls by nature is contrary to the gofpel. The gofpel is defigned to reclaim men from fin; but they are obfinately fet upon it : it is defigned to make fin bitter to them, and to diffolve Vol. III. P p their

289

### The Success of the Ministry

Serm. 57.

their hearts into tender forrows for it; but we naturally delight in fin, and our hearts are hard as the nether mill-ftone: it is intended to bring apoftate rebels back to God, and the univerfal practice of holinefs; but we love eftrangement from him, and have no inclination to return. We abhor the ways of ftrict holinefs, and choofe to walk in the imaginations of our own hearts. The gofpel is calculated to advance the divine glory, and abafh the pride of all flefh, in the fcheme of falvation it reveals; but this is directly contrary to the difpofition of the finner, who is all for his own glory. This requires no tedious arguments to prove it. Look in upon your own hearts; look back on your own conduct; look round you on the world; and there the evidences of it will glare upon you.

Now, fince the innate difpositions of men are thus averfe to the gospel, it is evident that nothing but divine power can make it effectual for their fanctification. Inftructions may furnish the head with notions, and correct speculative mistakes; but they have no power to fway the will, and fweetly allure it to holinefs.— Perfuasions may prevail to bring men to practife what they had omitted through mistake, careleffnefs, or a transfent diflike; but they will have no effect where the heart is full of innate enmity against the things recommended. In this cafe, he that planteth and he that watereth is nothing; it is God alone can give the increase; as is more than intimated by,

II. The promifes and declarations of the word, which appropriate all the fuccess of the gospel to God alone.

Jehovah is not fond of oftentation and parade, nor wafteful in throwing away his bleffings where they are not needed; and therefore, if the means of grace were fufficient of themfelves to convert finners and edify believers, he would not make fuch magnificent promifes of the fupernatural aids of his grace, nor claim the efficacy of them as his own. He would not aftert the infufficiency of them without his influence, nor affign the Serm. 57. owing to a divine Influence.

the withdrawment of his grace as one caufe of their unfuccessfulness. But all this he does in his word!

Notwithstanding all the miraculous as well as ordinary means of grace which the Ifraclites enjoyed, there was need of this divine promife, The Lord thy God will circumcife thy heart, and the heart of thy feed, to love the Lord thy God, with all thy heart, and with all thy foul. Deut. xxx. 6. And this promife was not peculiar to the Mofaic difpensation of the covenant of grace, which was lefs clear and efficacious; but we find that one fuperior excellency of the gofpel-difpenfation is, that it is more abundant in fuch promifes. It is to the gospel-church that this promise is more particularly made; Behold, the days come, faith the Lord, when I will make a new covenant with the house of Israel, &c. not according to the covenant which I made with their fathers, in the day that I took them by the hand, to bring them out of the land of Egypt, &c. But this is the covenant that I will make with them : I will put my law in their inward parts, and write it in their hearts. Jer. xxxi. 31, 33. Heb. viii. 8, &c.

This is a promife of for much importance, that it is. frequently repeated with fome circumftantial alteration, as the very life of the New Teftament church. If will give them one heart and one way, that they may fear me for ever; and I will put my fear in their hearts, that they fhall not depart from me. Jer. xxxii. 39, 40. Ezekiel echoes back the fame language by the infpiration of the fame Spirit, I will give them one heart; and I will put a new fpirit within them; and I will take the ftony heart out of their fleft; and I will give them an heart of fleft; and they fhall walk in my ftatutes, and keep mine ordinances, and do them. Ezek. xi. 19, 20. See alfo chap. xxxvi. 26, 27.

What was the fuccefs of St. Peter's fermon (Acts ii.) in the conversion of 3000, but the accomplishment of those promises in Joel and Zechariah, I will pour out my Spirit upon all fless. (Joel ii. 28, 29.) I will pour out upon the bouse of David, and upon the inhabitants of Jerufalem,

Serm. 57.

faiem, the fpirit of grace and of fupplication, and they shall look, &c. Lech. xii. 10. These promises were substantially renewed by Christ, to encourage the drooping apolles, John xvi. 8, 9, 10. I will fend the Spirit; and when he is come, he will convince the world, &c. All their miraculous powers were not sufficient for the conviction of mankind, without the agency of the divine Spirit; but by this, that promise of the Father to his Son was accomplished: Thy people shall be willing in the day of thy power. Pfalm cx. 3.

I might fubjoin many other promifes of the fame kind; but these are fufficient to shew the absolute neceffity of divine influence, or the utter infufficiency of the best means without it. And what farther time might be allotted to this particular, I fhall lay out upon this pertinent and useful remark, which, if rightly attended to, would rectify miftakes, and remove many fcruples and controverfies upon this point. The. remark is this, That the promifes of God to beftow bleffings upon us, do not render needlefs our most vigorous endeavours to obtain them; and, on the other hand, that our most vigorous endeavours do not superfede the influences of the Spirit to work in us the difpolitions we are labouring after : or, That that may be confiftently enjoined upon us as a duty, which is promifed by God free favour; and vice verfa. This may be illustrated by various inftances. God commands us as firicily to circumcife the forefkins of our hearts, to make ourfelves new hearts and new fpirits (Jer. iv. 4.) and to cleanfe ourfelves from mortal pollution (Ha. i. 16.) as if this were wholly our work, and he had no efficiency in it. In the mean time, he promifes as abfolutely to circumcife our hearts to love him, to give us new hearts, and to purge us from all our filthinefs, and from all our abominations, as though he performed all the work without our using means .--Now we are fure these things are confistent; for the facred oracles are not a heap of contradictions. And how does their confiftency appear ? Why, thus : It is 311 our

our duty to use the most vigorous endeavours to obtain these graces promised, because it is only in the use of vigorous endeavours that we have reason to expect divine influences. And yet these endeavours of ours do not in the leaft work those graces in us, and therefore there is certainly as much need of the promifed agency of divine grace to effect the work, as if we fhould do nothing at all. Our utmost endeavours fall entirely fhort of it, and do not entitle us to divine affiftance; and this we mult have an humble fenfe of, before we can receive the accomplishment of fuch promifes as the effect of free grace alone. But we should continue in thefe endeavours, becaufe we have no reafon to hope for the accomplifhment of the promifes in a courfe of floth and negligence. This point may be illustrated by the confistency of the use of means and the agency of providence in the natural world. God has peremptorily promifed, that while the earth remaineth, feed-time and harvest shall not ceafe. Gen. viii. 22. But this promife does not render it needlefs for us to cultivate the earth ; nor does all our cultiva--tion render this promife needlefs: for all our labour would be in vain without the influence of divine providence ; and this influence is to be expected only in the use of labour. Thus, in the moral world, the efficacy belongs to God, as much as if we made no ufe of means at all; and the most vigorous endeavours are as much our duty as if we could effect the work ourfelves, and he had no fpecial hand in it. Were this remark attended to, it would guard us against the pernicious extremes of turning the grace of God into wantonnefs, and pleading it as an excufe for our idlenefs; and of. felf-righteoufnefs, and depending upon our own endeavours. In this guarded manner does St. Paul handle this point : Wark out your own falvation with fear and trembling; for it is God that worketh in you both to will and to do, of his good pleafure. Phil. ii. 12, 13. But to return : As we may infer the necessity of divine influences from the premises of God, fo We

### The Success of the Ministry Serm. 57.

We may infer the fame thing from the many paffages of facred writ afcribing the fuccefs of the gofpet upon finners, and even upon believers, to the agency of divine grace. If even a well-difpoled Lydia gives a believing attention to the things fpoken by St. Paul, , it is, becaufe the Lord hath opened her heart. Acts xvi. 14. Thus the Philippians believed, becaufe, fays the apostle, to you it is given on the behalf of Christ to believe. -Phil. i. 29. Thus the Ephefians were fpiritually alive, becaufe, fays he, you hath he quickened, who were dead in trefpaffes and fins. Eph. ii. 1. Faith is not of ourfelves; but is expressly faid to be the gift of God. Eph. ii. 8. Nay, the implantation of faith is reprefented as an exploit of omnipotence, like that of the refurrection of Chrift. Hence the apoftle prays, Eph. i. 19, 20. that the Ephefians might be made deeply fenfible of the exceeding greatness of his power to us-ward that believe, according to the working of his mighty power, which he wrought in Christ when he raised him from the dead. Repentance is also the gift of God : Chrift is exalted to bestow it. Acts v. 31. When the Jewish Chriftians heard of the fuccels of the gofpel among the Gentiles, they unanimoufly afcribed it to God: then hath God alfo to the Gentiles granted repentance unto life, Acts xi: 18. and it is upon this encouragement that St. Paul recommends the ufe of proper means to reclaim the obfinate : if God, peradventure, will give them repentance to the acknowledging of the truth. 2 Tim. ii. 25. Regeneration alfo, in which faith and repentance and other graces are implanted, is always afcribed to God. If all things are made new, all thefe things are of God. 2 Cor. v. 17, 18. If while others reject Chrift fome receive him, and fo are honoured with the privilege of becoming the fons of God, it is not owing to themfelves, but to him. They are born, not of blood, nor of the will of man, nor of the will of the field, but of God: John i. 11, 12, 13. He begets fuch of his own fovereign will by the word of truth, James i. 18: and every good and perfect gift with which they are endows eđ

owing to a divine Influence.

ed is not from themfelves; but from above, and cometh down from the Father of lights, who is the great origin of all moral excellency, as the fun is of light. ver. 17. Hence this change is expressed by fuch terms as denote the divine agency, and exclude that of the creature; as a new birth, John iii. 3. a new creation, 2 Cor. v. 17. Col. iii. 10. the workmanship of God created in Christ Jesus, Eph. ii. 10. a refurrection from the dead, John v. 25. Eph. ii. 1. Col. iii. 1. Now it is the greatest absurdity to speak of a man's begetting, or creating himfelf, or raifing himfelf from the dead. Thus we find that the first implantation of grace in the heart of a finner is entirely the work of God; and, left we fhould fuppofe that, when it is once implanted, it can flourish and grow without the influence of heaven, we find that the progrefs of fanctification in believers is afcribed to God, as well as their first conversion. David was fensible, after all his attainments, that he could not run the way of God's commandments unlefs God fhould enlarge his heart. Pf. cxix. 32. All the hopes of Paul concerning his promifing converts at Philippi depended upon his perfuafion, that he that had begun a good work in them, would perform it until the day of Chrift. Phil. i. 6. Nay, it was upon this he placed his own entire dependance. We are not fufficient of ourfelves, fays he, to think any thing as of ourfelves, but our fufficiency is of God. 2 Cor. iii. 5. If I am faithful, it is "becaufe I have obtained mercy of the Lord to make me fo." 1 Cor. vii. 25. By the grace of God I am what I am; and if I have laboured more abundantly than others, it is not I, but the grace of God that was with me. 1 Cov. xv. 10. I can do all things through Christ that strengtheneth me. Phil. iv. 13. He was relieved under his defpondencies by this answer, My grace is sufficient for thee, and my strength is made perfect in weakness. 2 Cor. xii. 9. This is more than intimated in his prayers for himfelf and others : for example, May the God of peace make you perfect in every good work, to do his will ; working in you that which is

is well-pleafing in his fight, through Jefus Chrift! Heb. xiii. 21. And indeed all the prayers of the faints for the aids of divine grace imply the neceffity of them; for they would not pray for fuperfluities, or for what they already have in a fufficient meafure. It is the Spirit that helps our infirmities in prayer, and other exercises of devotion, Rom. viii. 24. and all our preparation for the heavenly ftate and afpirations after it, are of God. He that hath wrought us for the felffame thing is God. 2 Cor. v. 5. In a word, it is God that worketh all our works in us, Ifa. xxvi. 12. it is he that worketh in us both to will and to do, of his own good pleafure. Phil. ii. 13. Now the actual communication of divine influences, implies their neceffity. Accordingly, we find

The neceffity of divine influences is afferted in the plainest terms in fcripture. No man, fays Christ, can come unto me, except the Father draw him. John vi. 44. He that hath heard and learned of the Father, and he only, will come to him, ver. 45. and this influence is not purchafed by our endeavours, but it is the free gift of grace. Hence Chrift varies his former declarations into this form; no man can come unto me, except it be given unto him of my Father ; ver. 65. and the agency of divine grace is neceffary, not only to draw finners to Chrift at first, but also to make them fruitful afterwards. Hence Chrift reprefents even the apoftles as dependant upon him as the branch upon the vine; and tells them plainly, that " without him they can do nothing." John xv. 4, 5. Through all the ftages of the Chriftian life, we depend entirely upon him ; and without his influences, we fhould wither and die like a blafted flower, however blooming and fruitful we were before. Hence, fays God to his people, in me is thy fruit found. Hofea xiv. 8. Since then this is the cafe, it will follow, that when God is pleafed to withhold his influences, all the means of grace will be unfuccefsful. Accordingly we find,

296

The

. The unfuccefsfulnefs of the gofpel is often refolved into the withholding or withdrawing of the influences of grace, as one caufe of it. Thus Mofes refolves the obftinacy of the Ifraelites under all the profusion of wonders that had attended them, into this, as one cause of it : The Lord hath not given you an heart to perceive, and eyes to fee, and ears to hear, unto this day. Deut. xxix. 2, 3, 4. If none-believe the report of the gofpel, it is because the arm of the Lord is not revealed. Ifa. liii. 1. " If the mysteries of the kingdom of heaven are hidden from the wife and prudent, while they are revealed to babes; it is becaufe God in his righteous judgment and fovereign pleasure, hides them from the one, and revcals them to the other." Matt. xi. 25, 26. Nay, the evangelift fpeaks in yet more forcible terms, when fpeaking of the unbelief of the Jews, who were witneffes of Chrift's convictive miracles and difcourfes; therefore they could not believe, becaufe that Efaias faid, he hath blinded their eyes, and hardened their hearts, John xii. 39, 40. and in the fame strain St. Paul speaks: be hath mercy on whom he will have mercy, and whom he . will be hardeneth. So then it is not of him that willeth, nor of him that runneth, but of God that sheweth mercy. Rom. ix. 18, &c. These passages are to opposite to the prevailing divinity of the age, that they are dangerous weapons to meddle with; and it is well they are the very words of fcripture, otherwife we fhould be charged with blafphemy for mentioning the truth contained in them. We must indeed be cautious that we do not infer from these scriptures any fuch horrid doctrine as this, that men are compelled to fin, and pushed on to ruin, by a necessitating decree, or the refiftlefs impulfe of providence; or that, though they were disposed to turn to God, they are judicially kept back and hindered by the divine hand ... This would be contrary to the whole current of feripture, which charges the fin and ruin of finners upon themfelves; but these passages mean, that God denies to obstinate Vol. III. Qq finners

The Success of the Ministry

Serm. 57.

finners those influences of his grace which are necesfary to convert them, and which, if communicated, would have fubdued their utmost obstinacy; and that in confequence of this denial, they will rufh on in fin and irreclaimable impenitence, and perifh; but yet that God, in denying them his grace, does not act merely as an arbitrary fovereign, but as a just judge, punishing them for their fin in abusing the bleffings he has beftowed upon them, by judicially withdrawing the aids of his grace, and withholding farther influences. And fure he may punish obstinate finners with privative as well as politive punishment ! he may as juftly withhold or withdraw forfeited bleflings, as inflict politive milery. This we all own he may do with refpect to temporal bleffings; he may juftly deny them to fuch as have forfeited them; and why he may not exercise the fame fovereignty and juffice with regard to fpiritual bleffings, is hard to fay. His hardening the heart, blinding the eyes, &c. of finners, fignify his withdrawing the influences of grace which they have abufed, his withholding those additional influences which might irrefiftibly fubdue their obftinacy, and his fuffering them to fall into circumstances of temptation. These passages do but strongly and emphatically express thus much : thus much they may mean, without caffing any injurious reflections upon God; and lefs than this they cannot mean, unlefs we would explain away their meaning.

From the whole then, we find that the doctrine of the reality and neceffity of divine influences to render the administrations of the gospel effectual for faving purposes, is a doctrine familiar to the facred oracles. This will receive additional confirmation, if we find it agreeable to matter of fact: Which leads me to observe,

III. That the different fuccels of the fame means of grace in different periods of the church, fufficiently flews the neceffity of gracious affiftances to render them efficacious. The various flates of the church in

298

in various ages are but comments upon the facred pages, and accomplishments of scripture.

Now we find that religion has flourished or declined, not fo much according to external means, as according to the degree of divine influence. Alas! what could Noah, that zealous preacher of righteoufnefs do, during the 120 years of his ministry? He might warn, he might perfuade, he might weep over a fecure world, in vain : they would rufh upon deftruction before his eyes; and he could only perfuade his own family; and even among them there was a curfed Ham. How little could Mofes, the favourite meffenger and intimate of God, prevail to make his people dutiful! Alas! after all the aftonifhing wonders he wrought before their eyes, they continued obstinate and recellious; for the Lord had not given them an heart to understand, &c. Deut. xxix. 4. This Mofes mentions as what was beyond his power, and could be effected by omnipotence only. What inconfiderable fuccefs had that zealous prophet Elijah, the eloquent Ifaiah, or that tender-hearted, mourning, weeping prophet Jeremiah ! Surely, many feeble fervants of Chrift, in all respects inferior to them, have been crowned with more extensive fuccess! Nay, when the Son of God defcended from heaven a teacher to the world, who fpake as never man fpake, who carried omnipotence along with him to atteft his doctrine by the most aftonishing miracles, how few, during his life, were brought ferioully to regard his doctrine ! He was pleafed to defer the remarkable effusion of his spirit till his return to his native heaven. And when it was poured out, what a glorious alteration followed! then Peter, a poor fifherman, is the happy inftrument of converting three thoufand with one fhort fermon ; which is more perhaps than his divine Mafter had done by a hundred. Then, in fpite of the united oppofition of earth and hell, the humble doctrines of the crofs triumphed over the nations, and fubdued millions to the obedience of faith. Then

### The Success of the Ministry

Serm. 57.

Then the doctrines of Jefus, who was crucified at Jerufalem like an infamous malefactor, between two thieves, became the mighty, all-conquering weapons, through God, to demolifh the ftrong-holds of Satan. 2 Cor. ii. 4. And whence this ftrange alteration ? It was from the more abundant effusion of the Spirit upon the minds of men; upon their minds, I fay; for as to the external evidences from miracles, prophecies, &c. they were fufficiently clear before this happy feafon. But there was not the fame degree of internal illumination by the Spirit. It is often intimated by Chrift, in his laft difcourfes with his difciples, that the holy Spirit was not yet given; and hence it was that he and they laboured fo much in vain. But upon his afcenfion he performed the promife he had fo often repeated, and fent the Spirit both upon them and their hearers; and then the afpect of affairs was happily altered: then the word had free courfe, and was glorified. Then the world, was convinced of fin, of righteousness, and of judgment.

This point might be illuftrated farther by a hiftory of the various periods of the church from the apoftolic age to the prefent time; but it would be too tedious; and what has been offered is fufficient to convince us that it is not by power, nor by might, but by the Spirit of the Lord of Hofts, that the interefts of religion are carried on, Zech. iv. 6. efpecially if we add,

IV. Our own experience and obfervation, which furnifh us with many inftances in which this great truth has been exemplified.

Our obfervation furnifhes us with fuch inftances as thefe :—Sometimes a minifter who is an univerfal fcholar, a mafterly reafoner, and an accomplifhed orator, and withal fincerely engaged for the converfion of finners, labours in vain, and all his excellent difcourfes feem to have no effect; while another of much inferior accomplifhments is the fuccefsful inftrument of turning many to righteoufnefs. This cannot be accounted

300

accounted for without afcribing the diffinction to the peculiar concurrence of divine grace; for if it de-pended upon the inftruments, it would be quite the reverfe. Sometimes a clear, convictive, and withal folemn and warm difcourfe has no effect ; while at another time the fame doctrines, delivered in a weak, incoherent manner, have ftrange efficacy, and reach the heart. Sometimes the reading of a fermon has been the means of awakening carelefs finners, when at other times the most folemn and argumentative preaching has been in vain. Sometimes we have feen a number of finners thoroughly awakened, and brought to feek the Lord in earneft; while another number under the very fame fermon, and who feemed as open to conviction as the former, or perhaps more fo, have remained fecure and thoughtlefs, as usual. And whence could this difference arife but from fpecial grace? We have feen perfons ftruck to the heart with those doctrines which they had heard an hundred times without any effect. And indeed there is fomething in the manner of perfons being affected with the word, which fhews that the imprefiion is not made by the word itfelf, or by any other power than divine. The truths that make fuch deep impreffions upon their hearts are no new difcoveries; they are the old common repeated truths of the gofpel, which they had heard before a thoufand times; and the manner in which they are reprefented by the minister may not be clearer than usual. But, to their furprife, thefe familiar doctrines flash upon them as new difcoveries; they appear to them in a quite different light, as though they had never heard them before : and they reach the confcience, and pierce the heart with fuch amazing energy, that the finner is caft into a confternation at his own flupidity, that he never had fuch apprehenfions of things before. He was wont to regard the word as a fpeculation, or a pleafing fong, but now he finds it living and powerful, &c. the fecrets of his heart are laid open by it, and

and he is obliged to own that God is with it of a truth. Thus a believer alfo difcerns the doctrines of the gofpel in a quite different light at one time than at another: he fees new glories in them. Hence one termon leaves him cold and hard-hearted, while another, no better in itfelf, fets him all on fire. Hence alfo one receives advantage from a difcourfe which had no effect upon another: and from this proceeds the difference in judgment about the excellency of fermons, which we may obferve among Chriftians. Every one forms a judgment according to his own fenfations, and not according to the difcourfe in itfelf. And indeed when we hear an exercifed Chriftian expatiate in praife of a difcourfe, it is a happy fign that it was made of fpecial fervice to him.

Many fuch inftances as thefe familiarly occur in the fphere of our obfervation; which prove, by matters of fact, that the fuccefs of the gofpel depends upon the influence of divine grace. But we need not look about us to obferve others. Turn your eyes inward upon what has paffed in your own minds, and you fhall find, that

Your own experience proves the fame thing .---Have you not found that the very fame things have very different effects upon you at different times? Those truths, which at one time leave you dull and fleepy, at other times quicken all your powers to the most vigorous exercife. Sinners, do you not return from the houfe of God in very different frames, though the fervice there has been fubftantially the fame? At one time you fweat and agonize under a fenfe of guilt and make many refolutions to change your course of life; and at another time there is a ftupid calm within, and you matter not all the concerns of eternity. Some indeed have lain fo long under the rays of the Sun of Righteoufnefs, that they are hardened, like clay, and hardly fufceptive of any deep impressions at any time, after they have murdered their confcience, and filenced all its first remonftrances.

ftrances. Thefe may go on ferene and placid, till the flames of hell give them fenfation ; and this is most likely to be their doom; though it is not impossible but that this gospel, this stale, neglected gospel, which now makes no impression on their stony hearts, may yet be endowed with almighty power to break them into the tendereft contrition : and I pray God this may be the happy event. I pray God, O finner, that thou mayeft yet fall under the refiftlefs energy of those important things which now appear but trifles to thee. But till perfons are thus become proof against the gospel, they generally feel a variety of dispositions under the ministry of it; and this variety is to be principally aferibed to the various degrees of divine influence upon them at different feafons. And you faints, you alfo experience a like viciflitude. Sometimes, O how divinely fweet, O how nourifhing is the fincere milk of the word ! How does the word enlighten, quicken, and comfort you ! How exactly it fuits your very cafe! At other times it is taftelefs; it is a dead letter, and has no effect upon you. At times a fentence feems almighty, and carries all before it; and you feel it to be the word of God ; at other times, you perceive only your feeble fellow-mortal fpeaking to you, and all his words are but feeble breath; as different from the former as chaff from wheat. See Jer. xxiii. 28, 29. Your own memories can fupply my deficiency under this head, by recollecting fuch inftances as thefe perhaps during your whole life; and the time urges me to make fome remarks upon what has been faid. Thefe are fo numerous and copious, that though I had them principally in view, and chofe this fubject for the fake of them, yet I can but fuperficially touch upon them. Hence we learn,

1. How effential and important the doctrine of divine influence is to the church of God. 'The very life, and the whole fuccefs of the gofpel depend upon it. And fince this neceffarily fuppofes the utter depravity pravity and fpiritual impotence of human nature in its fallen ftate, that doctrine alfo must be frequently and plainly inculcated.

Alas! the great defect of the fystem of divinity too fashionable in our days, and one great cause of the languishing flate of religion in our age, and of the prevalency of vice and impiety! Since it has been the mode to compliment mankind as able to do fomething very confiderable in religion, religion has died away. Since it has been the fashion to prefs a reformation of mens lives, without inculcating the abfolute neceffity of divine grace to renew their nature, there is hardly fuch a thing as a thorough reformation to be feen; but mankind are evidently growing worfe and worfe. Since men think they can do fomething, and fcorn to be wholly dependant on divine grace, the Lord, as it were, looks on and fuffers them to make the experiment; and, alas! it is like to be a cofly experiment to multitudes. God withholds his influence in just difpleafure, and lets them try what mighty things the boafted powers of degenerate nature can do without it; and hence, alas! they lie all fecure and afleep in fin together. Sermons are preached; the house of God is frequented; the ordinances of the gofpel administered ; yet vice is triumphant; carnal fecurity almost universal; and fo few are earneftly feeking after religion, that one would hardly fufpect, from the fuccefs, that thefe are intended as means to bring them to this. Thus, alas! it is around us if we believe our fenfes : and thus it will continue to be, till minifters and people are brought to the duft before God, to acknowledge their own weaknefs, and entire dependance upon him .---Therefore, hence we learn,

2. That when we enjoy the ministrations of the gofpel in the greatest purity and plenty, we should not place our trust upon them, but wholly depend on the influence of divine grace for the fucces. We are apt to think, if we had but such a minister among us,

us, how much good would be done ! It is true, that faithful and accomplished ministers are fingular bleffings to the places where they labour, becaufe it is by their inftrumentality that the Lord is wont to work : but still let us remember, that even a Paul or an Apollos is nothing, unlefs the Lord give the increafe. One text of fcripture, one fentence will do more execution, when enforced by divine energy, than all the labours of the ableft ministers upon earth without it. For this divine energy therefore let us look; for this let us cry, curfed be the man that trusteth in man, &c. When we depend upon the inftruments, we provoke the Spirit of God to leave us. If we are fond of taking ministers in his stead, we shall make the trial, till they and we wither away for want of divine influences. This provokes the bleffed Spirit to blaft the gifts of his ministers, to fuffer them to fall, or to remove them out of the way, when they are fet up as his rivals, that their idolaters may fee they are but men. This provokes him to leave the hearers fruitlefs under the beft cultivations, till experience fadly convinces them that they can do nothing without him. Therefore let not ministers truft in their own abilities, nor people in their labours; but all in the Lord.

That we fhould afcribe all the fuccefs of the gofpel to God alone, and not facrilegioufly divide the honour of it between him and the inftruments of it, or between him and ourfelves, the ministers of Christ are ready to answer you, in the language of Peter, If we be examined of the good deed done to impotent finners, by what means they are made whole; be it known unto you, that by the name of Jefus do they ftand whole before you. Acts iv. 9, 10. Why do ye look fo carneftly upon us, as if by our own power or holinefs we had done this ! chap. iii. 12. It is a very fhocking compliment to them to be accounted the authors of your faith. Good ministers love to be humble, to lie in their proper fphere, and would have God to have all the glory, as the great efficient; and when VOL. III. Rr WC

### The Success of the Ministry Serm. 57.

we afcribe the work of God to the inftrument, we provoke him to withdraw his influence, that we may be convinced of the miftake. Let us alfo take care that we do not affume the honour of the work to ourfelves. Alas! we had no hand in it, but oppofed it with all our might; and therefore, *not unto us*, &c. Pf. cxv. 1. The Lord hath done great things for us in this place, for which we are glad. One can name one, and another another, as his fpiritual father, or the helper of his faith; but ftill remember, thefe only planted or watered; but it was God that gave the increase : and therefore to him alone afcribe his own work.

3. Hence also we may learn, whither we fhould look for grace to render the gospel fuccessful among us. Let us look up to God. Saints, apply to him for his influences to quicken your graces, and animate you in your Christian courfe. Sinners, cry to him for his grace to renew your nature and fanctify you. Not all the men, nor all the means upon earth, can be of any fervice to you without him. Carefully attend upon the gospel, and all its inflitutions; but still be fensible, that these alone will not do; more is neceffary; even the fupernatural agency of divine grace.

How dangerous a thing it is to grieve the Spirit, and caufe him to withdraw! In that curfed moment when a finner has quenched the Spirit, all the means of grace become ufelefs to him. Our falvation depends entirely upon the divine agency; and therefore to forfeit this, is to cut ourfelves off from all hope. Let us then indulge every good motion, entertain every folemn thought, cherifh every pious refolution, and fo, as it were, invite the bleffed agent to accomplifh his work, inftead of provoking him to leave us. Alas! how natural is it for mankind to refift him! how averfe are they to indulge his motions, and fubmit to his operations! And are not fome of you guilty in this refpect?

306

4. We observe that whatever excellent outward means and privileges a church enjoys, it is in a most miferable condition, if the Lord has withdrawn his influences from it : and whether this be not too much our own condition, I leave you to judge. Some of you, I doubt not, are even now, when others are withering around you, flourishing in the courts of the Lord, and feel the dews of heaven upon you : fuch I heartily congratulate. But in general, it is evident that a contagious lukewarmnefs and carnal fecurity have fpread themfelves among us. Matters would not be thus ftill and quiet, if there was any confiderable number of finners among us anxiously feeking after falvation. The violence of their concern would conftrain them to unbofom themfelves to their minifter, and to Chriftians around them. Our public affemblies would not wear fo flupid and unconcerned an afpect, were they generally pricked to the heart. And what is the caufe of this declenfion? Why, the Lord denies the increase : the Lord withholds his influence. This complaint is become fashionable among us, and often upon our lips; but pray confider what you fay when you utter this complaint. And is the Lord indeed withdrawn from us? Then all is gone; then faints may languish, and finners may perish; and there is no remedy. We may indeed have preaching, facraments, focieties, &c. but, alas! what will all thefe avail, if God deny the increase! they will not fave one foul; nay, they will but aggravate our condemnation. Let finners take the alarm, and confider how fad their cafe is, who have outlived the feafon of remarkable divine influences ! The harveft is paft, the fummer is ended, and you are not faved; and what do you think will become of you? How poor a chance, if I may fo fpeak, have you for life, when the fpirit is thus reftrained ! You hardly know one carelefs finner, in the compafs of your knowledge, that has been made ferioufly religious, within thefe two or three years. If men were prefling into the kingdom

## The Rejection of Gospel-Light Serm. 58.

kingdom of heaven, you might be helped forward, as it were, in the crowd; but now all lies as a dead weight against you, and is it not time for you to cry mightily to God that he would pour out his fpirit upon you !

308

# SERMON LVIII.

### THE REJECTION OF GOSPEL-LIGHT THE CONDEMNA-TION OF MEN.

JOHN iii. 19. And this is the condemnation, that light is come into the world, and men loved darknefs rather than light; becaufe [or for] their deeds are evil.

HAT a ftrange, alarming declaration is this ! Light is come into the world : the Sun of Righteoufnefs is rifen upon this region of darknefs; therefore it is enlightened; therefore it is bright intellectual day with all its rational inhabitants; therefore they will no longer grope and ftumble in darknefs, but all find their way into the world of eternal light and glory. Thefe would be natural inferences : this event we would be apt to expect from the entrance of light into the world. But hear and tremble, ye inhabitants of the enlightened parts of the earth ! hear and tremble, ye fons of Naffau-Hall, and inhabitants of Princeton ! The benevolent Jefus, the Friend of human nature, the Saviour of men, whofe lips never dropped an over-fevere word, or gave a falfe alarm ; Jefus himfelf proclaims, *This is the* condemnation, that light is come into the world, &c.

This

Serm. 58. the Condemnation of Mon.

This is the condemnation ; that is, This is the great occasion of more aggravated condemnation at the final judgment, and of more fevere and terrible punishment in the eternal world; or, this is the caufe of mens condemning themselves even now at the bar of their own confciences.

That light is come into the world—Jefus, the Sun of the moral world, is rifen, and darts his beams around him in the gofpel. And this furnifhes guilty minds with materials for felf-condemnation; and their obflinate refiftance of the light enhances their guilt, and will render their condemnation the more aggravated; and the reafon is, that

Men love darknefs rather than light. They choofe ignorance rather than knowledge! The Sun of Righteoufnefs is not agreeable to them, but fhines as a baleful, ill-boding luminary. If they did but love the light, its entrance into the world would be their falvation; but now it is their condemnation. But why do they hate the light? Truly, light is fweet, and it is a pleafant thing to the eyes to fee the fun: and no light fo fweet as this from heaven: no fun fo bright and reviving as the Sun of Righteoufnefs: and why then do they not love it? Alas! there is no reafon for it, but this wretched one,

Becaufe their deeds are evil. And evil deeds always excite uneafinefs in the light, and afford the confeience matter of felf-accufation, therefore they wrap up themfelves in darknefs, and avoid the painful difcoveries of the light.

The text directs us to the following inquiries :

What is that light which is come into the world? What is the darknefs that is oppofed to it? What are the evidences of mens loving darknefs rather than light? What is the reafon of it? And in what refpects the light's coming into the world, and mens loving darknefs rather than light, is their condemnation?

I. What is that light which is come into the world? The The anfwer to this, and the other queftions, I fhall endeavour to accommodate to our own times and circumftances, that we may the more readily apply it to ourfelves.

The light of Reafon entered our world as foon as the foul of man was created; and, though it is greatly obfcured by the grand apoftacy, yet fome fparks of it ftill remain.

To fupply its defects, the light of Revelation foon darted its beams through the clouds of ignorance, which involved the human mind, on its flying off to fo great a diffance from the Father of lights. This heavenly day began feebly to dawn upon the firft pair of finners, in that early promife concerning *the fced of the woman*; and it grew brighter and brighter in the fucceflive revelations made to the patriarchs, to Mofes, and the prophets, till at length the Meffiah appeared, as an illuftrious fun after a gradual, tedious twilight of the opening dawn.

The light of human literature has also come into the world, and fhines with unufual splendors upon our age and nation; and lo! it illuminates this little village, and extends its beams through the land.

But it is not light in any of these fenses that our Lord principally intends, but himself and his bleffed gospel; a more clear and divine light than any of the former.

He often reprefents himfelf under the firong and agreeable metaphor of light. I am the light of the world, fays he: be that followeth me fhall not walk in darknefs. John viii. 12. I am come a light into the world, that whofoever believeth in me, fhould not abide in darknefs. John xii. 46. Light is a firong and beautiful metaphor for knowledge, profperity, comfort, and happinefs; and thefe are the rays which the bleffed Jefus diffufes around him :--but, wherever he does not fhine, all is fullen and difinal darknefs. Hell is the blacknefs of darknefs for ever, becaufe he does not extend to it the light of his countenance. That country Serm. 58. the Condemnation of Men.

try where he does not fhine, is the land of darknefs and the fbadow of death; and that heart which is not illuminated with the light of the knowledge of his glory, is the gloomy dungeon of infernal fpirits; but wherever he fhines, there is intellectual day, the bright meridian of glory and bleffednefs.

His golpel alto is frequently reprefented as a great light; and no metaphor was ever ufed with more emphasis and propriety. It is the medium through which we difcover the glory of the Deity, the beauties of holinefs, the evil of fin, and the reality and infinite importance of eternal, invisible things. This is the light that reveals the fecrets of the heart, and difcovers ourfelves to ourfelves. It is this that gives us a just and full view of our duty to God and man, which is but imperfectly or falfly reprefented in every other fyftem of religion and morality in the world. It is this that difcovers and afcertains a method in which rebels may be reconciled to their offended Sovereign, and exhibits a Saviour in full view to perifhing finners. Hail! facred heaven-born light! welcome to our eyes, thou brighteft and faireft effulgence of the divine perfections ! May this day-fpring from on high, vifit all the regions of this benighted world, and overwhelm it as with a deluge of celeftial light ! Bleffed be God, its vital rays have reached to us in thefe ends of the earth : and if any of us remain ignorant of the important discoveries it makes, it is because we love darknefs rather than light ! Which leads me to inquire,

II. What is that darkness that is opposed to this heavenly light?

Darknefs is a word of gloomy import; and there is hardly any thing difinal or deflructive, but what is exprelled by it in facred language. But the precife fenfe of the word in my text, is, a frate of ignorance, and the abfence of the means of conviction. *Men love darknefs rather than light*; that is, they choole to be ignorant, rather than well-informed: ignorant ignorant particularly of fuch things as will give them uneafinefs to know; as their fin, and the danger to which it expofes them. They are wilfully ignorant: and hence they hate the means that would alarm them with the mortifying difcovery. They would rather be flattered than told the honeft truth, and know their own character and condition; and hence they fhut their eyes against the light of the gospel, that would flash the painful conviction upon them. Tho' the light of the gospel flaines round you, yet are not fome of you involved in this darkness? This you may know by the next inquiry.

III. What are the evidences of mens loving darknefs rather than light ?

The general evidence, which comprehends all the reft, is their avoiding the means of conviction, and using all the artifices in their power to render them ineffectual.

It is not impossible to characterize fuch of you as love darknefs rather than light, though you may be fo much upon your guard against the discovery, as not to perceive your own character.

Though you may have a turn for fpeculation, and perhaps delight in every other branch of knowledge, yet the knowledge of yourfelves, the knowledge of difagreeable duties, the difcovery of your fin and danger, of your miferable condition as under the condemnation of the divine law, this kind of felfknowledge you carefully flun; and, when it irrefiftibly flafhes upon you, you endeavour to flut up all the avenues of your mind, through which it might break upon you, and you avoid thofe means of conviction, from which it proceeds.

You fet yourfelves upon an attempt very prepofterous and abfurd in a rational being, and that is, Not to think. When the ill-boding furmife rifes within, "All is not well: I am not prepared for the eternal world : if I should die in this condition I am undone for ever :" I fay, when conficence thus whifpers pers your doom, it may make you fad and penfive for a minute or two, but you foon forget it : you defignedly labour to caft it out of your thoughts, and to recover your former negligent ferenity. The light of conviction is a painful glare to a guilty eye; and you wrap up yourfelves in darknefs, left it fhould break in upon you.

When your thoughts are like to fix upon this ungrateful fubject, do you not labour to divert them in-to another channel? You immerfe yourfelves in bufinefs, you mingle in company, you indulge and che-rifh a thoughtlefs levity of mind, you break out of retirement into the wide world, that theatre of folly, trifling, and diffipation; and all this to featter the gloom of conviction that hangs over your ill-boding minds, and filence the clamours of an exafperated confcience ! You laugh, or talk, or work, or fludy away thefe fits of ferioufnefs! You endeavour to prejudice yourfelves against them by giving them ill names; as Melancholy, Spleen, and I know not what ! whereas they are indeed the honeft ftruggles of an oppreffed confcience to obtain a fair hearing, and give you faithful warning of approaching ruin : they are the benevolent efforts of the Spirit of grace to fave a loft foul. And O! it would be happy for you if you had yielded to them, and cherifhed the ferious hour!

For the fame reafon alfo, you love a foft reprefentation of chriftianity, as an eafy, indolent, inactive thing; requiring no vigorous exertion, and attended with no dubious conflict, but encouraging your hopes of heaven in a courfe of floth, careleffnefs, and indulgence. Those are the favourite fermons and favourite books which flatter you with fmooth things, putting the most favourable construction upon your wickednefs, and reprefenting the way to heaven as fmooth and eafy.

Or if you have an unaccountable fondness for faithful and alarming preaching, as it must be owned fome Vol. III. Ss felffelf-flatterers have, it is not with a view to apply it to yourfelves, but to others. If you love the light, it is not that you may fee yourfelves, but other objects : and, whenever it forces upon you a glance of yourfelves, you immediately turn from it, and hate it.

Hatred of the light, perhaps, is the reafon why fo many among us are fo impatient of public worfhip; fo fond of their own homes on the facred hours confecrated to divine fervice; and fo reluctant, fo late, or fo inconftant in their attendance. It is darknefs perhaps, at home; but the houfe of God is filled with light, which they do not love.

This alfo is one reafon why the conversation of zealous communicative christians, who are not ashamed to talk of what lies nearest their hearts, I mean their Religion, their Saviour, and their God, and to exprefs an abhorrence of what they fo fincerely hate, I mean the vices of mankind, and every appearance of evil; I fay, this is one reafon why their converfation is fuch a heavy burden, fuch a painful reftraint to many. Such men reflect the beams of the Sun of Righteoufnefs, and the beauties of holinefs all around them :--- they carry light with them whitherfoever they go, and strike conviction to the guilty. The ftrictnefs, the warm devotion and fpirituality of their lives pass a sentence of condemnation upon sinners; a fentence which they cannot but feel, and which therefore renders them uneafy. Hence it is that fuch lively and circumfpect christians are not at all popular in the world; but the favourites of the world are your pliable, temporizing, complaifant chriftians, that never carry their religion with them into polite company, but conform themfelves to the tafte of those they converfe with. 'Thefe give no man's confcience uneafinefs, they reflect no heavenly light, but thicken the darknefs of every company in which they ap-pear; therefore they are acceptable to the lovers of darknefs.

Another

### Serm. 58. the Condemnation of Men.

Another expedient that has been often ufed, and which fome of you perhaps have attempted, to avoid the light, is, to endeavour to work up yourfelves to a difbelief of the chriftian revelation. If you could banifh that heavenly light out of the world, or fubfitute darknefs in its place, then you might perpetrate the works of darknefs with more confidence and licentioufnefs. Therefore you eagerly liften to the laughs, the jeers, the railleries and fophifms of loofe wits againft it; and you are afraid to give a fair hearing to the many fatisfactory evidences in its favour. Thus you cherifh that hideous monfter, Infidelity; your own offspring, not Satan's, though the father of lies; for he *believes and trembles*. James ii. 19.

315

These artifices and the like, are the effects, and confequently the evidences and indications of mens loving darkness rather than light. And, instead of a larger illustration, I shall conclude this head with a plain honess appeal to my hearers.

As in the prefence of the heart-fearching God, I folemnly appeal to your confciences, whether you do not deal partially with yourfelves, and refuse purfuing those hints of your dangerous condition till you make a full discovery? Do not your hearts finite you, becaufe you have fuppreffed evidence, when it was against you, and shut your eyes against conviction? When the glass of the divine law has been held up before you, and fhewn you your own hideous image, have you not gone away, and foon forgot what man-ner of men you were? Do you not know in your confciences, that the hopes you entertain of future happinefs are not the refult of fevere repeated trial, but, on the other hand, owe their ftrength and even their being to a fuperficial examination, or none at all, to blind felf-flattery and exceflive felf-love, which tempt you to believe things as you would have them ? Is it cenforioufnefs, or is it evidence and faithfulnefs, that conftrains me to cry out, O! how rare are wellgrounded, well-attefted hopes among us ! Hopes that have

### The Rejection of Gospel-Light Serm. 58.

have not been flightly entertained, nor retained without good evidence, after impartial repeated trials; hopes that have rifen and fallen, gathered ftrength or languished, been embraced or abandoned, perhaps a thousand times, according to the various degrees of evidence; and after a feries of fuch viciflitudes. attended with a variety of correspondent paffions, of joys and fears, of difcouraging anxieties and tranfporting profpects, have at length arrived at a fettled, confirmed flate, supported by that only sufficient proof, confpicuous holinefs of heart and life. For the decision of this important doubt, I appeal from my own judgment, from the judgment of a cenforious fpirit and a blind charity, from every judgment but that of your own heart : at that tribunal I lodge the appeal; and there I infift the matter should be tried. And remember this, If your hearts condemn you, much more does God, the fupreme Judge : for he is greater than your hearts, and knoweth all things ; knoweth many caufes of condemnation, unknown and perhaps unfufpected by you. But, brethren, if your hearts condemn you not, then you have confidence towards God. 1 John iii. 20, 21. I proceed to inquire, IV. What is the reafon of this abfurd preference, that men love darknefs rather than light?

The melancholy reafon of this is eafily difcovered, and has been partly anticipated; and it is this, that men love eafe and fecurity of mind, rather than fear and anxiety. They are really obnoxious finners, under the terrible difpleafure of almighty God, and on the flippery brink of everlafting deftruction. Now to have a full conviction of this would alarm their fears, imbitter their pleafures, damp their eager purfuits, and caft their minds into a ferment of anxiety and terror. But to be blind to all thefe miferable profpects, to be elated with fanguine expectations of the contrary, to have all ferene and calm within, to be charmed with all the fine chimeras of flattering imagination; to be fearlefs of danger, and pleafed with

### Serm. 58. the Gondemnation of Men.

with themfelves; this is a ftate they naturally delight in : in this flate they will lull themfelves afleep at all adventures, regardlefs of the confequence; and as darkness is the most proper attendant of fleep, therefore they choose it. But the light of the gospel let into the confcience would give them quite another view of things, would overturn all their towering hopes, and fet the terrors of the Lord in array against them; would open fuch flocking profpects in the ways of fin, that they could no longer dare to walk in them; would conftrain them to indulge the forrows of a broken heart, and to long, and pant, and look, and cry for a Saviour. This would be a very painful exercise to them; and therefore they hate and fhun the light, which would force the unwelcome conviction upon them.

This is the reafon which Chrift himfelf affigns for fome mens loving darknefs rather than light. Every one that doth the truth comeft unto the light, that his deeds may be made manifeft, that they are wrought in God. Such a one is willing to be fearched: the prefumption is in his favour, and the trial will turn out to his honour. But he that doeth evil hateth the light, neither cometh he to the light, left his evil deeds fhould be reproved. John iii. 20, 21. It is the fear of this reproof that makes him afraid of the light; for he cannot but be confcious that his evil deeds deferve it: and to be thus reproved will yield him pain.

" But fince they have fuch favourable thoughts of themfelves, and entertain fuch high hopes, why are they afraid of the light? muft they not rather prefume its difcoveries will be in their favour? And if fo, why do they hate it?" I anfwer, that, notwithftanding all their high fentiments of themfelves, they have often a fecret fulpicion they are not well grounded, and that the light would make fome terrible difcoveries concerning them; and hence they will not venture to truft themfelves in the light, left their fecret fulpicion fhould be confirmed, and rife into a full

## The Rejection of Gospel-Light Serm: 58.

full conviction. It is really fo evident that they are guilty, unholy creatures, unfit for heaven, and their confciences fometimes give them fuch hints of this alarming fecret, that they cannot keep themfelves altogether ignorant of it. They therefore try to evade the trial, left the fentence fhould go against them. I appeal to your own breafts, my brethren, whether this be not the true reafon why you are fo unwilling to examine yourfelves, and fubmit to the fevere fcrutiny of the light of revelation ? why you are averfe to felf-knowledge, and the means that would obtrude it upon you? Is it not becaufe you cannot but prejudge the matter even against yourselves, in spite of all the arts of felf-flattery? And if there are fuch ftrong prefumptions againft you, that even yourfelves cannot but dread a trial at the tribunal of your confciences, is it not evident, that chofen darknefs is your only guard against conviction, and that your cafe is really bad? And if fo, how forry a relief is it to avoid the difcovery! fince all your prepofterous care to avoid it will but aggravate your condemna-tion! Which naturally introduces the laft inquiry :

V. In what refpects the light's coming into the world, and mens loving darknefs rather than light, is their condemnation?

Here I have only to illustrate two particulars already hinted; that this furnishes them with matter for felf-condemnation now, and will be the occasion of their more aggravated condemnation in the eternal world.

I. This furnishes them with matter of felf-condemnation in the prefent state. It is hard, perhaps impossible, for sinners under the meridian light of the gospel, to avoid all conviction of their guilt and danger. That light is very penetrating, and will dart its rays through the thickest glooms of ignorance: It is vital and powerful, sharper than a two-edged fword; piercing and dividing afunder the foul and spirit, the jeints and marrow; and is a discerner of the thoughts and and intents of the heart. Heb. iv. 12. Such of you, my brethren, as are refolved to fhun the mortification of felf-knowledge, live in a fituation very unfavourable to your defign. You have had " burning and fhining lights" among you; \* who, I doubt not, fhine as the fun, and as the ftars in the firmament for ever and ever; but, when they are translated to a higher fphere, the gospel has not left you, but still shines around you; and you will find it very difficult, I hope, impoffible, to wrap up yourfelves in Egyptian darknefs in fuch a Gofhen, fuch a land of vision. In Tartary or Japan, or fome favage region of darknefs, you might have lived in contented ignorance, and avoid-ed those unacceptable glares of light which now will break in upon you, in fpite of all your vigilance; for under the faithful and folemn preaching of the gofpel, your confciences will often be difturbed, and you will find yourfelves unable to go on in fin bold and intrepid. And though in the thoughtlefs gaiety of health, and the hurry and din of business, you may drown the clamours of confcience, yet in a retired hour, upon a fick bed, and in the near views of death and eternity, confcience will fpeak, and constrain you to hear : and thus you will live unhappy, felfcodemned creatures in this world, till you are condemned by the righteous fentence of God in the world to come. Therefore confider,

II. Your loving darknefs rather than light, will occafion your more aggravated condemnation in the eternal world. It was in your power to receive warning, and difcover your danger in time; nay, it coft you fome pains to avoid the difcovery, and make light of the warning. And what a fruitful fource of felf-tormenting reflections will this be ! How will you fret, and vex, and accufe, and condemn yourfelves, for acting fo foolifh a part ! How will you exhauft and fpend yourfelves in eager, fruitlefs wifhes, that

\* Mr. Burr and Mr. Edwards, Prefidents of the College at Naffau-Hall, before Mr. Davies. The Rejection of Gospel-Light Serm. 58.

that you had admitted conviction while the danger was avoidable ! But, O !- it will then be too late ! Hell is a region of darkness too, but not of that foothing, peaceful darkness of ignorance, which you now prefer to the light of the gospel, but a lowering, tremendous, tormenting darknefs, that will for ever hide every bright and pleafing profpect from your eyes, and yet be the proper medium for difcovering fights of woe and terror : a thick darkness, occasioned by the everlafting eclipfe of the Sun of Righteoufnefs and the light of God's countenance, who will never dart one ray of comfort or of hope through the fullen gloom. In this blacknefs of darknefs you muft dwell for ever, who now love darkness rather than light. And O! how will your confciences haunt and terrify you, in that cheerlefs and ftormy night ! Your guilt will also appear great in the fight of God, as well as to your own confciences, and therefore he will inflict the greater punifhment upon you. You have defpifed the richeft bleffings that even infinite goodnefs could beftow upon the children of men; I mean, his Gofpel and his Son: you have made light of his authority in the most open and audacious manner. He knows you were even afraid to discover your duty towards him; he knows you would not regard your own confciences when they were his advocates, and that you were unwilling to admit fo much conviction as would render you forry for your offences against him. Nay, he knows that your being convinced that this or that was an offence against Him was no reftraint to you from the commiffion of it. In fhort, he knows you fpent your lives either in finning against knowledge, or in avoiding that knowledge which would have prevented your finning .--And while he views you in this light, what obftinate, wilful, daring offenders muft you appear in his eyes? And what aggravated punifhment muft he judge your due ! He alfo knows you reluctated and ftruggled against your own falvation, and hated that light which Serm. 58. the Condemnation of Men.

which would have fhewn you the way to everlafting life. And muft he not think you worthy of that deftruction you have voluntarily chofen, and refufe you admittance to that happinels which you wilfully refufed ?

This is the reprefentation which the fcriptures uniformly give us of the doom of fuch as love darknefs rather than light. If I bad not come and fpoken to them, fays the bleffed Jefus, they would not have had fin; but now they have no cloak for their fin. John XV. 22. It fhall be more tolerable in the day of judgment for Sodom and Gomorrab, for Tyre and Sidon, though moft notorious for all manner of wickednefs and debauchery, than for Chorazin, Bethfaida and Capernaum, in which Chrift's mighty works were done, and the light of his gofpel fhone fo bright. Matt. xi. 21, 24. And this is agreeable to the eternal rules of righteoufnefs, that much fhould be required where much has been given; and that the degree of guilt fhould be effimated by the degrees of obligation and advantages for obedience.

And now, my dear hearers, upon a review of this fubject, you fee your own circumftances; the light is come among you; it fhines all around you; and, I doubt not but at times it finds fome openings thro' which it forces its way even into unwilling minds. You have light to diffinguifh between truth and error; between fin and duty; between the way to heaven, and the way to hell: you are warned, admonifhed and inftructed: you have the ftrongeft inducements to a life of religion, and the ftrongeft diffuafives from a courfe of fin. I leave you therefore to determine what your guilt and punifhment muft be if you choofe darknefs rather than light; light fo clear, fo reviving, fo falutary, fo divine ! This alarming fubject is very pertinent to us all,

This alarming fubject is very pertinent to us all, and we fhould all apply it to ourfelves; but it is fo peculiarly adapted to the refidents of this houfe, that I cannot but direct my addrefs particularly to you, Vol. III. Tt my my dear pupils, who are the children of the light in more refpects than one.

There is not one in a thousand of the fons of men that enjoys your advantages. Light, human and divine, natural and fupernatural, ancient and modern; that is, Knowledge of every kind fhines upon you, and you are every day basking under its rays. You have nothing to do but to polifh your minds, and, as it were, render them luminous. But let me put you in mind, that unlefs you admit the light of the glorious gofpel of Chrift to fhine in your hearts, you will still be the children of darkness, and confined in the blacknefs of darknefs for ever. This is intolerably fhocking, even in fuppofition. Suppofe any of you should be furrounded with more light than others, for no other purpofe but that you may have a ftronger conflict with conviction, and that your confciences may with greater force raife tumults and infurrections within you; fuppofe your fins fhould be the fins of men of learning and knowledge, the most daring and gigantic fins on this fide hell; fuppofe, you fhould turn out finners of great parts, fine geniufes, like the fallen angels, those vast intellects; wife, but wicked; wife to do evil, but without knowledge to do good ; fuppofe it fhould be your higheft character that you can harangue well, that you know a few dead languages, that you have paffed through a courfe of philosophy; but as to that knowledge which fanctifies all the reft, and renders them useful to yourfelves or others; that knowledge which alone can. make you wife to falvation, and guide you to avoid the paths of destruction, you shun it, you hate it, and choofe to remain contentedly ignorant in this important respect; suppose your parents, who have been at the expence of your education ; your friends, who have entertained fuch high and pleafing expectations concerning you; church and ftate, that look. to you for help, and depend upon you to fill ftations of importance in the world, and your careful inftructors,

322

tors, who obferve your growing improvements with proportional pleafure;—fuppofe, that after all this generous labour, and all thefe pleafing profpects, they fhould fee you at laft doomed to everlafting darknefs, for your voluntary abufe of the light you now enjoy;—fuppofe thefe things, and—but the confequences of thefe fuppofitions are fo terrible, that I am not hardy enough to mention them. And, O! fhall they ever become matters of fact !

Therefore, my dear youth, admit the light, love it, and purfue it, though at first it should make fuch discoveries as may be painful to you; for the pain will prove medicinal. By difcovering your danger in time, you may be able to efcape it; but never expect to remove it by the filly expedient of flutting your eyes. Be impartial inquirers after truth as to yourfelves, as well as other things, and no longer attempt to put a cheat upon yourselves. Alas! how childish and foolish, as well as wicked and ruinous, would fuch an impofture be ! The gofpel, in this particular, only requires you to be honeft men; and furely this is a most moderate and reasonable demand. Therefore, be ye children of the light, and of the day, and walk as fuch, and then it will be a bleffing to the world and to yourfelves, that ever you were born.

Finally, Let us all remember the terror of this friendly warning, That this is the condemnation, that light is come into the world, and men love darknefs ratherthan light, becaufe their deeds are cvil.

SERMON

# SERMON LIX.

A NEW-YEAR'S GIFT.

ROM. xii. 11. And that, knowing the time, that now it is high time to awake out of fleep; for now is our falvation nearer than when we believed.\*

IME, like an ever-running ftream, is perpetually gliding on, and hurrying us and all the fons of men into the boundlefs ocean of eternity. We are now entering upon one of those imaginary lines of division, which men have drawn to measure out time for their own conveniency; and, while we ftand upon the threshold of a new year, it becomes us to make a folemn contemplative pause; though time can make no pause, but russ on with its usual velocity. Let us take fome fuitable reviews and prospects of time past and future, and indulge such reflections as our transition from year to year naturally tends to fuggest.

The grand and leading reflection is that in the text, with which I prefent you as a New-Year's Gift; Knowing the time, that it is now high time to awake out of fleep.

The connection of our text is this:—The apoftle having enjoined fundry duties of religion and morality, fubjoins this confideration, namely, that the time remarkably required them; as if he fhould fay, Be fubject to magiftrates, and love one another, and that the rather, knowing the time, that it is now high time, or the proper hour, † to awake out of fleep. A fleepy

<sup>\*</sup> This Sermon is dated Naffau-Hall, Jan. 1, 1760.

<sup>+</sup> hora.

fleepy negligence as to thefe things is peculiarly unfeafonable at fuch a time as this.

The Romans, to whom this epiftle was written, were chriftians indeed, in the judgment of charity : they were fuch, whole falvation the apoftle could point at as near approaching; Now, fays he, is your falvation nearer than when you believed : And yet he calls even upon fuch to awake out of fleep. Even fincere chriftians are too often apt to fall into negligence and fecurity; they contract an idolent, dull, lazy temper, as to the duties of religion and divine things : fometimes their love languishes, their zeal cools, and they become remifs or formal in their devotions. Now fuch a ftate of dulnefs and inactivity is often reprefented by the metaphor Sleep : becaufe as Sleep difables us from natural actions, and blunts our animal fenfes, fo this fpiritual fleep indifpofes the foul for the fervice of God and fpiritual fenfations.

Hence it follows, that to awake out of fleep, fignifies to roufe out of carnal fecurity, to fhake off fpiritual floth, and to engage in the concerns of religion with vigour and full exertion, like men awake.

And as even chriftians are too often liable to fall into fome degrees of fpiritual fleep, as they often nod and flumber over the great concerns of religion, which demand the utmost exertion of all their powers, notwithftanding the principle of divine life implanted in them, there is great need to call even upon them to awake. Thus the apoftle roufes the Roman chriftians, including himfelf among them, as ftanding in need of the fame excitation. It is high time for us, fays he; that is, for you and me, to awake out of fleep.

This is a duty proper at all times. There is not one moment of time in which a chriftian may lawfully and fafely be fecure and negligent. Yet the apoftle intimates, that fome particular times call for peculiar vigilance and activity; and that to fleep at fuch times is a fin peculiarly aggravated. Now, fays he, he, it is high time for us to awake out of fleep: this is not a time for us to fleep: this time calls upon us to roufe and exert ourfelves: this is the hour for action: we have flept too long already: now let us roufe and rife.

The apostle also intimates, that the ferious confideration and right knowledge of time, is a ftrong excitement to awake out of fleep. Knowing the time, fays he, that now it is high time to awake out of fleep; that is, your knowing and ferioufly confidering the importance, the uncertainty, and the fhortness of time in general, and the peculiar circumftances of the present time in particular, may be fufficient to roufe you. Natural fleep should be in its season : They that Sleep, Sleep in the night. But, fays he, we are all the children of the light, and the children of the day. We are brought out of darknefs into the glorious light of the gospel; therefore let not us fleep, as do others. Confider the time, that it is day-light with you; and you cannot but be fenfible, that it is now high time for us to awake out of fleep: this is the hour to rife. Therefore let us awake to righteoufnefs.

The reafon the apoftles urges upon the Roman christians to awake at that time, is very strong and moving: it is this; Now is our falvation nearer than when we believed. Salvation is haftening quick towards us upon the wings of time. As many years as are past fince we first believed in Christ, by fo many years nearer is our falvation : Or, as he expresses it in the next verfe, The night is far spent, the day is at hand. The gloomy, turbulent night of the prefent state is near over; the dawn of eternal day is just ready to open upon us; and can we fleep at fuch a time? What, fleep on the very threshold of heaven! fleep, when falvation is just ready to embrace us! fleep, when the dawn of celeftial day is just about fhining around us! Is it poffible we fhould fleep at fuch a time? Muft not the profpect of everlafting falvation fo near us, the thought that in a very little time

time we shall be in heaven, roufe us, and fix us in a posture of eager expectation and constant watchfulness?

The text implies, that chriftians fhould always be growing in grace; and that the nearer their falvation is, the more lively and zealous fhould they be; and fince it is nearer this year than the laft, they ought to be more holy this year than the laft. The nearer they are to heaven, the more heavenly they fhould be. The approach of falvation is a ftrong motive to holinefs; and the ftronger, by how much the nearer it is.

My chief defign at prefent is to lead you to know, the time, and to make fuch reflections upon it as its nature and circumftances require, and as are fuited to our refpective conditions.

The first thing I would fet you upon, as a neceffary-introduction to all the reft, is the important but neg-lected duty of felf-examination. Methinks it may shock a man to enter upon a new year without know-ing whether he shall be in heaven or hell before the end of it : and that man can give but a very poor ac-count of the last year, and perhaps twenty or thirty years before it, that cannot yet give any fatisfactory answer to this grand question. Time is given us to. determine this interesting point, and to use proper means to determine it in our favour. Let us therefore refolve this day, that we will not live another year ftrangers to ourfelves, and utterly uncertain what will become of us through an endless duration. This day let us put this question to our hearts? " What am I? Am I an humble, dutiful fervant of God ? or am I a difobedient, impenitent finner ? Am. La difciple of Chrift in reality? or do I only wear his name, and make an empty profession of his religion? Whither am I bound? for heaven or heli? Which am. I most fit for in temper? for the region of perfect holiness, or for that of fin and impurity? Is it not time this inquiry fhould be determined ? Shall I ftupidly

pidly delay the determination, till it be paffed by the irrevocable fentence of the fupreme Judge, before whom I may ftand before this year is at a clofe? Alas! if it fhould then be againfl me, my doom will be remedilefs. But if I fhould now difcover my cafe to be bad, bleffed be God, it is not too late to alter it. I may yet obtain a good hope through grace, though my prefent hope fhould be found to be that of the hypocrite."

If I should push home this inquiry, it will probably difcover two forts of perfons among us, to whom my text leads me particularly to addrefs myfelf; the one, entirely defititute of true religion, and confequently altogether unprepared for a happy eternity; and yet carelefs and fecure in that dangerous fituation; the other, Chriftians indeed, and confequently habitually prepared for their latter end ; but criminally remifs or formal in the concerns of religion, and in the duties they owe to God and man. The one, funk in a deep fleep in fin ; the other nodding and flumbering, though upon the flippery brink of eternity. Now as to both these forts of perfons, it is high time for them to awake out of fleep. And this exhortation I would prefs upon them, first, by fome general confiderations common to both; and then, by fome particular confiderations proper to each respectively.

The general confiderations are fuch as thefe :

I. Confider the uncertainty of time as to you. You may die the next year, the next month, the next week, the next hour, or the next moment. And I once knew a minifter  $\dagger$  who, while he was making this obfervation, was made a firiking example of it, and inftantly dropt down dead in the pulpit. When you look forward through the year now begun, you fee what may never be your own. No, you cannot call one day of it your own. Before that day comes, you

+ The Rev. Mr. Conn of Bladensburgh, in Maryland.

you may have done with time, and be entered upon eternity. Men prefume upon time, as if it was certainly entailed upon them for fo many years; and this is the delufion that ruins multitudes. How many are now in eternity, who begun the laft year with as little expectation of death, and as fanguine hopes of long life, as you have at the beginning of the prefent? And this may be your doom. Should a prophet, inftructed in the fecret, open to you the book of the divine decrees, as Jeremiah did to Hananiah, fome of you would no doubt fee it written there, this year thou fhalt die. Jer. xxviii. 16. Some unexpected moment in this year will put an end to all the labours and enjoyments of the prefent flate, and all the duties and opportunities peculiar to it.

Therefore if finners would repent and believe ; if they would obtain the favour of God, and preparation for the heavenly state; and if faints would make high improvements in religion ; if they would make their calling and election fure, that they may not ftumble over doubts and fears into the prefence of their judge; if they would do any thing for the honour of God, and the interefts of the Redeemer's kingdom in the world; if they would be of fervice to their families, their friends, their country and mankind in general, now is the time for them to awake out of fleep, and fet about their refpective work. Now is the time, becaufe this is the only time they are certain of. Sinners! you may be in hell before this year finishes its round, if you delay the great bufinefs of religion any longer. And faints ! if you neglect to improve the prefent time, you may be compelled to fhoot the gulph of eternity, and launch away to unknown coafts, full of fears and perplexities ; you may be cut off from all opportunities of doing fervice to God and mankind, of endeavouring to inflil the principles of religious knowledge and practice into the minds of your dear children, and those under your care, unless you catch the present hour. For remember, time is uncertain. VOL. III. Uπ Youth, Youth, health, ftrength, bufinefs, riches, power, wifdom, and whatever this world contains, cannot enfure it. No, the thread of life is held by the divine hand alone; and God can fnap it afunder, without warning, in whatever moment he pleafes.

II. Confider the fhortness of time as to you. Time, in its utmost extent, including what is past from the creation, and what is future to the conflagration, is nothing to eternity. But the time of your life is vaftly fhorter. That part of time which is parcelled out to you, is not only uncertain, but extremely fhort : it is uncertain when it will end, but it is abfolutely certain it will end very foon. You cannot hope to furpais the common flandard of long lives : and that is but feventy or eighty years. Nay, you have but very little reason to hope you shall arrive to this. The chance against it, if I may fo speak, is at least ten to one; that is, there are at leaft ten that die on this fide of feventy or eighty, for one that lives to that period : it is therefore far more likely that you will never fpend feventy or eighty years upon earth. Α fhorter fpace than that will probably convey you from this world to heaven or hell. And is it not high time then for you to awake out of fleep ? Your work is great; your time is fhort : you have none to fpare; none to trifle away: it is all little enough for the work you have to do.

III. Confider how much of your time has been loft and mifpent already.

Some of you that are now the fincere fervants of God, may recollect how late in life you engaged in his fervice; how long you ftood idle in his vineyard, when his work was before you, and his wages in your offer. How many guilty days and years have you fpent in the drudgery of fin, and in a bafe neglect of God and your immortal fouls! Others of you, who have the noble pleafure of reflecting that you devoted yourfelves to God early, in comparison of others, are yet fenfible how many days and years were loft before you you made fo wife a choice, loft in the fins and follies of childhood and youth. And the beft of you have reafon to lament how much precious time you have mifpent, even fince you heartily engaged in the fervice of God; how many opportunities, both of doing good to others and receiving good yourfelves, you have loft by your own careleflnefs. How many feafons for devotion have you neglected or mifimproved ! O! how little of your time has been devoted to God and the fervice of your fouls! How much of it has been wafted upon trifles, or in an over eager purfuit of this vain world? Does not the lofs, upon the whole, amount to many days, and even years? And a day is no fmall lofs to a creature, who has fo few days at moft to prepare for eternity.

As to many of you, is it not fadly evident you have loft all the days and years that have rolled over your heads? you have perhaps managed time well as to the purposes of the present life; but that is but the loweft and most infignificant use of it. Time is given as a fpace for repentance and preparation for eternity : But have you not entirely loft it, as to this grand use of it? Nay, are not your hearts more hard, and you lefs prepared for eternity now than you were fome years ago ? Have you not been heaping up the mountain of fin higher and higher every day, and eftranging yourfelves from God more and more ? To heighten the lofs, you fhould confider it is irre-coverable. Nothing is more impoffible than to recal paft time. It is gone ! it is gone for ever ! Yefterday can no more return than the years before the flood. Power, wifdom, tears, intreaties, all the united efforts of the whole universe of creatures, can never cause it to return.

And is there fo much of your time loft ? loft beyond all poflibility of recovery ? And is it not high time for you to awake out of fleep ? Have you any more precious time to throw away ? Shall the time to come be abufed and loft, like the paft ? Or will you not

not endeavour to redeem the time you have loft, in the only way in which it can be redeemed, that is, by doubling your industry in time to come? Much must now be done in a little time, fince you have now but little left. You have indeed had 10, 20, 30, or 40 precious years; but, alas! they are irrecoverably loft. And may not this thought flartle you, and caufe you to awake out of fleep? The lofs of the fame number of kingdoms would not be half fo great. To a candidate for eternity, whofe everlasting flate depends upon the improvement of time, a year is of infinitely greater importance than a kingdom can be to any of the fons of men.

IV. Confider, the great purposes of the present life can be answered only in time; for there are certain important duties peculiar to this world, which, if unperformed here, must remain so for ever, because eternity is not the feason for them.

Both worlds have their proper business allotted them; and the proper bufiness of the one cannot be done in the other. Eternity and time are intended for quite different purpofes. The one is feed-time; the other, harveft : the one is the feafon for working; the other, for receiving the wages : and if we would invert the unchangeable order of things, and defer the bufinefs of life till after death, we shall find ourfelves miferably mistaken. Therefore, if faints would make progrefs in the religion of finners, I mean that religion which becomes our prefent finful ftate ; that religion which is a courfe of difcipline to prepare and educate us for heaven ; which is a painful process for our refinement, to qualify us for that pure region; if they would cherifh a noble ambition, and not only enfure happinefs, but high degrees of it; if they would be of fervice to mankind as members of civil or religious fociety; and particularly, if they would be inftrumental to form others for a bleffed immortality, and fave fouls from death, by converting finners from the error of their way : if they would do thefe things, the prefent

prefent life is the only time. In heaven they will have more noble employ. Thefe things muft now be done, or never. And O! what pious heart can bear the thought of leaving the world while thefe are undone? Would you not defire to enter into heaven ripe for it? To be completely formed by your edu-cation, before you enter upon a ftate of maturity? O! does not your heart burn to do fomething for O! does not your heart burn to do fomething for that gracious God and Saviour, that has done and fuffered fo much for you! to be an inftrument of fome fervice to the world, while you are paffing through it? If this be your defire, now is the time. When once death has laid his cold hand upon you, you are for ever difabled from fuch fervices as thefe. Then farewell to all opportunities of usefulness, in the manner of the prefent life. Then, even your children and dearest friends may run on in fin, and perifh, while it is not in your power fo much as to speak one word to diffuade them. Therefore, enter upon this new year with hearty refolutions to be more zealous and laborious in thefe respects than you have ever yet been.

Again, If finners, who now are in a flate of condemnation, would escape out of it; if they who are at present flaves to fin would become fincere converts to righteoufnefs; if they would use the means of grace for that purpose, now is the time. There is none of this work in hell : they no fooner enter into the eternal world, than their frate will be unchangeably and eternally fixed. The prefent life is the only flate of trial; and if we do not turn out well in this trial, we shall never have another. All are ripe for eternity, before they are removed into it; the good ripe for heaven, and the wicked ripe for hell; the one, veffels of mercy afore-prepared for glory; and the other, veffels of wrath fitted for defiruction, and for nothing elfe : and therefore they must remain for ever in their respective mansions. In hell indeed finners repent; but their repentance is their punifhment, and

and has no tendency to amend or fave them. They mourn and weep; but their tears are but oil to increafe the flame. They cry, and perhaps pray; but the hour of audience and acceptance is past-past for ever ! The means of grace are all gone : the fanctifying influences of the fpirit are all withdrawn for ever. And hence they will corrupt and putrify into mere maffes of pure unmingled wickednefs and mifery. Sinners! realize this thought, and fure it muft roufe you out of fleep. Trifle on a little longer, and it is over with you : fpend a few days more as you have fpent your time paft, and you will be ingulphed in as hopelefs mifery as any devil in hell. Another year now meets you, and invites you to improve it to prepare for eternity; and if you wafte it like the paft, you may be undone for ever. Therefore, take Solomon's warning, what foever thy hand findeth to do, do it with thy might; for there is no work, nor device, nor wildom, nor knowledge in the grave, whither you are going. Eccl. ix. 10.

These confiderations, methinks, must have fome weight, both upon flumbering christians and impenitent finners, to perfuade them to awake out of fleep. I now proceed to a few confiderations peculiar to each.

Upon flumbering faints I would again try the force of the apoftolic confideration in my text; awake, for now is your falvation nearer than when you believed. Heaven may be only at the diffance of a year or an hour from you: it is, however, certainly nearer today than ever it was before. As many days as are paft, fo much the lefs time have you to groan away in the prefent life. And fhall you indeed, in fo fhort a time, be imparadifed in the bofom of your God? Shall you fo foon have done with all the fins and forrows that now opprefs you? Are your days of warfare with temptation fo near a clofe? Shall you fo foon be advanced to all the glory and bleffednefs of the heavenly ftate, and be as happy as your nature can

can bear? Is this indeed the cafe? And muft not the profpect roufe you, and fire your hearts? Is not falvation the thing you have been longing and labouring for? And now, can you flumber when it is fo near? Can you fleep when the night of life is fo far fpent, and the dawn of cternal day is ready to fhine around you? Can you fleep on the brink of eternity, on the threfhold of heaven?

The apostle here intimates, that the approach of falvation is great caufe of joy to believers-caufe of joy, though death lies between, and falvation cannot reach us till we pass through the gloomy vale. Therefore, believers, I may wifh you joy, in profpect that you shall foon die. This wretched world shall not be your refidence always. Your worft enemies upon earth or in hell will not be able to confine you here the length of Methufelah's age, much lefs for ever. You may rejoice in the profpect of your fpeedy diffolution, becaufe death is not nearer to you than your falvation. Before your cooling clay is fhrouded, your enlarged fouls will be in heaven. You will be striking instances of the truth of Solomon's remark, that the day of one's death is better than the day of his birth. Eccl. vii. 1. Your death will be your birth-day, which will introduce you into a better world. Mortals in their language will pronounce you dead; but angels will fhout an immortal born ! born to an everlafting life! born to a crown! born to an inheritance incorruptible, and that fadeth not away. And must not the prospect of this glorious day fo near rouse you out of sleep ? Can you not watch one hour, or one year ? shall falvation furprize you afleep ?

Some of you perhaps are now thinking, "O! if I were certain my falvation is fo near, it would even transport me, and inspire me with flaming zeal and unwearied activity. But alas! I am afraid of a difappointment. It is true, I cannot but entertain some humble hope, which the severest trial cannot overthrow. But O! what if I should be mistaken! This jealous jealoufy makes me tremble, and fhrink back from the profpect."

This may be the cafe of many an honeft foul. But can this be pleaded as a reafon or excufe for fecurity? Alas! can you fleep in fuch a dreadful fufpenfe? fleep, while you are uncertain what fhall become of you through an endlefs duration? If you have not the fure profpect of falvation to awaken you, methinks the fear of damnation muft effectually do it; for it is certain, one or the other is near you: therefore endeavour, by fevere felf-examination, to puft the matter to fome certain iffue. Refolve that you will not fpend another day, much lefs another year, in a ftate of fuch dangerous, alarming uncertainty. If this point is not yet determined, it is certainly *bigh time for you to awake out of fleep*. Confider farther how far your religious improve-

ments have come fhort of your own refolutions and expectations, as well as your obligations. Ye happy fouls, who now enjoy a good hope through grace, recollect the time when you were in a very different and more melancholy condition ; the time when your fpirits bled with a thoufand wounds; when the terrors of the Lord fet themfelves in array against you, and the thunders of Sinai rung the most alarming peals in your aftonishing ears; when the arrows of God fluck faft in you, and the poifon of them drank up your fpirits; when guilt lay heavy upon your confciences, and funk you down into the depth of defpondency; when you were haunted with alarming apprehenfions of divine vengeance night and day; when you went about crying for a Saviour-".O! for a Saviour !"-but your cries feemed to be in vain; O! what were then your vows and refolutions, if it fhould pleafe God to deliver you ! Did you then expect you would fall afleep fo foon after your deliverance? Recollect alfo the happy hour, when the face of a reconciled God first smiled upon you, when Jefus appeared to your minds in all the attractive glories

ries of a Saviour, an all-fufficient Saviour in a defperate cafe; when he delivered your foul from death, your feet from falling, and your eyes from tears; when he infpired your defponding hearts with hope, and revived you with the heavenly cordials of his love; O! what then were your thoughts and refolutions? How ftrongly were you bent to make him returns of gratitude ! how firmly did you bind yourfelves to be his fervants for ever! But how foon, alas! did you begin to flumber! How far fhort have you fallen of your vows and promifes ! Recollect alfo what were your expectations at that memorable time. O! would you then have believed it, that in the fpace of 10 or 20 years you would have made fuch fmall progrefs in your heavenly courfe, as you have in fact done ? Had you not better hopes ! But, alas ! how are you difappointed! what forry fervants have you been to fo good a mafter, in comparison of what you expected ! And can you bear the thought of flum-bering on ftill ? O ! fhall this year pafs by like the former ? Sure you cannot bear the thought. Therefore awake out of fleep; rife and work for your God.

Let me conclude my address to you, with this advice : Begin this new year by dedicating yourfelves afresh to God, and solemnly renewing your covenant with him. Take fome hour of retirement, this evening, or as foon as you can redeem time. Call yourfelves to account for the year past, and all your life. Recollect your various infirmities, mourn over them, and refolve, in the ftrength of divine grace, you will guard against them for the time to come. Examine yourfelves both as to the reality of your religion, and as to your proficiency in it. Conclude the whole by cafting yourfelves anew upon Jefus Chrift, and de-voting yourfelves for this new year entirely to him; refolved to live more to him than you have hitherto done, and depending upon him to conduct you fafe through whatever this year may bring forth, whether profperity or adverfity, whether life or death. This VOL. III. Xx is is the true and only means whereby we can attain that happinefs we ought all to be in purfuit of : that pleafure which will never end.

Let me now addrefs a few confiderations to impenitent finners, peculiarly adapted to them.

Confider what a dreadful rifk you run by neglecting the prefent time. The longer you indulge yourfelves in fin, the harder it will be to break off from it; and do you not then run the rifk of cementing an eternal union with that deadly evil? The longer you cherifh a wicked temper, the ftronger the habits of fin will grow. And are you not in danger of becoming eternal flaves to it! The longer you continue impenitent, the harder your hearts will grow; the oftener you do violence to your confciences, the more infenfible they will become. And are you not taking direct ways to confirm yourfelves in impenetrable hardness of heart, and contracting a reprobate mind? The more you fin against God, and grieve his Spirit, the more you provoke him to withhold the influences of his grace, and in righteous judgment to give you up. And dare you to run fo dreadful a rifk as this? The more time you wafte, the greater is your work, and the lefs your time to perform it. By how much the longer you wafte your time, by fo much the fhorter you make your day of grace. Alas! the day of your vifitation may be drawing fast towards evening, when the things that belong to your peace will be eternally hid from your eyes. Is it not then high time for you to awake out of fleep? Will you rather run fuch a dreadful rifk than roufe out of your flupid fecurity? O! what will be the end of fuch a courfe !

Let me deal plainly and without referve with you, on a point too dangerous to allow of flattery. If you do not now awake, and turn your attention to the concerns of your fouls, it is but too probable you will flill go on in carnal fecurity, and at laft perifh for ever. Bleffed be God, this is not certain, and therefore Serm. 59-

fore you have no reafon to defpair; but it is really too probable, and therefore you have great reafon to fear. This alarming probability, methinks, must force its evidence upon your own minds, upon principles yon cannot reafonably dispute. You have lived tweniv, thirty, or forty years, or more, in the world. In this time you have enjoyed the fame means of grace which you can expect in time to come. You had done less to provoke the great God to caft you off : your finful habits were not fo ftrong, nor your hearts fo much hardened through the deceitfulnefs of fin; you were not fo much inured to the gofpel, nor were your confciences fo flunned by repeated violences, as you may expect in time to come : and the longer you live in this condition, the more and more discouraging it will grow. I will by no means limit a fovereign God in the exercise of his free grace. But this is evident, that in human view, and according to appearances, it was much more likely you would have been converted in time past, than that you will be converted in time to come. The most hopeful part of life is over with you : and yet even in that, you were not brought to repentance. How much lefs likely is it then, that you will be converted in time to come?

Suffer me to tell you plainly (for it is benevolence that makes the declaration) that I cannot but tremble for fome of you. I am really afraid fome of you will perifh for ever ;—and the ground of my fear is this: The most generous charity cannot but conclude, that fome of you are impenitent finners; your temper and conduct proclaim it aloud: and it is very unlikely, all things confidered, that you will be ever otherwife. Since you have not repented in the most promifing feason of life, it is much to be feared you will not repent in the lefs promifing part of it. And fince no impenitent unholy finner can enter into the kingdom of heaven, it is much to be feared you will perifh for ever; not because the mercy of God,

or the merit of Chrift, is infufficient to fave you, if you should apply to him for it according to the terms of the gofpel; not becaufe your cafe is in itfelf hopelefs, if you would awake out of fleep, and feek the Lord in earneft : nor becaufe you have not fufficient encouragement for laborious endeavours; but becaufe it is too likely you will go on carelefs and fecure, as you have done, and perfift in it, till all your time is gone, and then your cafe will be defperate. I honeftly warn you of your danger, which is too great to be concealed. And yet I give you fufficient encouragement to fly from it, while I affure you, that if you now lay your condition to heart. and earneftly use all proper means for your converfion, you have the utmost reason to hope for fuccess : as much reafon as the faints now in heaven once had, when in your condition; and in your condition they once were.

Therefore, now, finners, awake out of fleep. Inflead of entering upon this new year with caroufals and extravagancies, confecrate it to the great purpofe for which it is given you, by engaging in earneft in the great work of your falvation. What meaneft thou, O fleeper? Arife, call upon thy God, if fo be he will think upon thee, that thou perifh not. Jonah i. 6. Awake, thou that fleepeft, and arife from the dead, that Chrift may give thee light. Eph. v. 14.

Confider, this year may lay you low in the duft of death. How many are now in the grave, who faw the laft new-year's day! And though I cannot point out the perfons, yet, without a fpirit of prophecy, I may venture to foretel, that fome of us will be in heaven or hell before this year performs its round; fome grey head, or fome fprightly youth; perhaps you, or perhaps I. And fince none of us know who it fhall be, none of us are exempted from the neceffity of immediate preparation. O! that we may all be fo wife, as to confider our latter end!

I beg

I beg leave of my promifcuous auditory to em-ploy a few minutes in addrefing myfelf to my important family, whom my paternal affection would always fingle out from the reft, even when I am fpeaking in general terms to a mixed crowd. Therefore, my dear charge, my pupils, my children, and every tender and endearing name! ye young immortals, ye embryo-angels or infant-fiends, ye blooming, lovely, fading flowers of human nature, the hope of your parents and friends, of church and ftate, the hope, joy, and glory of your teachers ! hear one that loves you; one that has nothing to do in the world but to promote your best interest; one that would account this the greatest bleffing he could enjoy in his pilgrimage, and whofe nights and days are fometimes made almost equally reftless by his affectionate anxieties for you; hear him upon a fubject in which you are most intimately interested ; a subject the most important that even an apofile or an angel could addrefs you upon; and that is, the right improvement of time, the prefent time, and preparation for eternity. It is neceffary that you in particular, you above all others, fhould know the time, that it is now high time for you to awake out of fleep. I make no doubt but you all look upon religion as an object worthy of your notice. You all as certainly believe there is a God, as that there is a creature, or that yourfelves exift : you all believe heaven and hell are not majeftic chimeras, or fairy lands, but the most important realitics; and that you must in a little time be the refidents of the one or the other. It cannot therefore be a queftion with any of you, whether you shall mind religion at all ! On that you are all determined. But the queftion is, what is the most proper time for it ? whether the present, or some uncertain hereafter? And in what order you flould attend to it, whether in the first place, and above all, even in your early days? or whether you fhould not rather indulge yourfelves in the pleafures of youth for fome time,

time, and then make religion the dull bufinefs of old age. If any of you hefitate upon this point, it may be eafily folved. This is the most convenient, promifing feafon for this purpofe that you are likely to fee : never will you live more free from care, or more remote from temptation. When you launch out into the noife, and buftle, and hurry, and company, and bufinefs, and vice of the world, you will foon find the fcene changed for the worfe. He must be a tempter to himfelf, who can find a temptation, while immured under this roof, and immerfed in Never will you fee the time, in your natural books. ftate, when your fins will be fo conquerable, and your hearts fo tender, and fusceptive of good impressions; though even now, if you know yourfelves, you find your fins are invincibly ftrong to you, and your hearts impenetrably hard. Therefore now, my dear youth, now in this inviting feafon, awake out of fleep; awake to righteoufnefs, and fin not. I beg you would not now commit fin with a defign to repent of it afterwards; for can you be fo foolifh, as knowingly and deliberately to do that which you explicitly intend to repent of? that is, to do that which you intend to wifh undone, and to lament with broken hearts that ever you did it. Can Bedlam itfelf parallel the folly of this? O take warning from the fate of your wretched predeceffors in this courfe. Could you afk the crowds of loft ghofts, who are now fuffering the punishment of their fin, whether they intended to perfift impenitent in it, and perifh? they would all anfwer, that they either vainly flattered themfelves they had repented already, or intended to repent before they died ; but death feized them unawares, and put an end to all their fanguine hopes. Young finners among them imagined they fhould not die till old age; and old age itfelf thought it might hold out a few days longer, and that it was time enough to repent. But, O! they have now difcovered their error, when it is too late to correct it. Therefore do not harbour one thought

thought of putting off repentance to a fick bed, or to old age; that is the most inconvenient and desperate feafon in your whole life; and if you fix upon this, one would think you had viewed your whole life on purpose to find out the most unfit and discouraging period of it for the most necessary, difficult and important work in the world. Come then, now devote yourfelves to God, and away with all excufes and delays. Remember, that upon the principles I have laid down, principles that must gain your affent by the force of their own evidence, I fay, remember, that upon thefe principles it is extremely likely you will always perfift impenitent in fin, and perifh for ever, if you wafte away the prefent feafon of youth, deftitute of vital religion. You may every day have lefs and lefs hope of yourfelves : and can you bear the thought of perifhing for ever? Are your hearts fo foon arrived to fuch a pitch of hardinefs, as to be proof against the terrors of the prospect? It cannot be? for who among us can dwell with the devouring fire? Who among us can dwell with everlasting burnings? Ifa. xxxiii. 14. As for fuch of you as have not the great work to begin, I have only this to fay, Be ftedfast, immoveable, always abounding in the work of the Lord, forafmuch as ye know that your labour is not in vain in the Lord. 1 Cor. xv. 58.

343

SERMON

# SERMON LX.

ON THE DEATH OF HIS LATE MAJESTY, KING GEORGE II.\*

#### 2 SAM. i. 19.—How are the Mighty fallen!

CIEORGE is no more! George, the mighty, the J just, the gentle, and the wife ; George, the father of Britain and her Colonies, the guardian of laws and liberty, the protector of the oppreffed, the arbiter of Europe, the terror of tyrants and France; George, the friend of man, the benefactor of millions, is no more !---millions tremble at the alarm. Britain expreffes her forrow in national groans. Europe reechoes to the melancholy found. The melancholy found circulates far and wide. This remote American continent fhares in the loval fympathy. The wide intermediate Atlantic rolls the tide of grief to these distant shores; and even the recluse fons of Naffau-Hall feel the immenfe bereavement, with all the fenfibility of a filial heart; and must mourn with their country, with Britain, with Europe, with the world-George was our Father too. In his reign, a reign fo aufpicious to literature, and all the improvements of human nature, was this foundation laid; and the College of New-Jerfey received its exiftence. And though, like the fun, he fhone in a diftant fphere, we felt, most fensibly felt, his benign influen-ces cherishing Science and her votaries in this her new-built temple.

In doing this humble honour to the memory of our late fovereign, we cannot incur the fufpicion of mer-

cenary

\* Delivered in Nassau-Hall, Jan. 14, 1761.

cenary mourners paying homage to the rifing fun. But we indulge and give vent to the fpontaneous, difinterested forrows of fincere loyalty and gratitude, and drop our honeft tears over his facred duft, who can be our benefactor no more; too distant, too obscure and undeferving, to hope for the favourable notice of his illustrious fucceffor. Let ambition put on the face of mourning, and all the parade of affected grief, within the reach of the royal eye; and make her court to a living prince, with all the ceremonial forms of lamentation for the deceased; but let our tears flow down unnoticed into our own bosoms. Let our grief, which is always fond of retirement, cherifh and vent itfelf without oftentation, and free from the reftraint of the public eye. It will at leaft afford us the generous pleafure of reflecting, that we voluntarily discharge our duty, unbribed and disinterested ; and it will give relief to our burfting hearts, impatient of the fuppreflion of cur forrows.

How is the mighty fallen !--- fallen under the fuperior power of death !- Death the king of terrors, the conqueror of conquerors; whom riches cannot bribe, nor power refift ; whom goodness cannot foften, nor dignity and loyalty deter, or awe to a reverential diftance. Death intrudes into palaces as well as cottages; and arrefts the monarch as well as the flave. The robes of majefty and the rags of beggary are equal preludes to the fhroud : and a throne is only a precipice, from whence to fall with greater noife and more extensive ruin into the grave. Since death has climbed the British throne, and thence precipitated George the Mighty, who can hope to efcape? If temperance, that beft prefervative of health and life; if extensive utility to half the world; if the united prayers of nations; if the collected virtues of the Man and the King, could fecure an earthly immortality-never, O lamented George ! never fhould thy fall have added fresh honours to the trophies of death. But fince this king of Britain is no more, let the inhabitants of VOL. III. Yv courts

345

courts look out for manfions in the duft. Let those gods on earth prepare to die like men; and fink down to a level with beggars, worms and clay. Let fubjects be *voife*, and confider their latter end, when the alarm of mortality is founded from the throne; and He who lived for their benefit, dies for their benefit too;—dies to remind them, that they also must die.

But how aftonifhing and lamentable is the flupidity of mankind! Can the natural or the moral world exhibit another phenomenon fo fhocking and unaccountable ! Death fweeps off thousands of our fellowfubjects every year. Our neighbours, like leaves in autumn, drop into the grave, in a thick fucceffion ; and our attendance upon funerals is almost as frequent and formal as our visits of friendship or complaifance. Nay, fometimes death enters in at our windows, and ravages our families before our eyes. The air, the ocean, the earth, and all the elements, are armed with the powers of death; and have their peftilential vapours and inclemencies, their tempefts and inundations, their eruptions and volcanos, to deftroy the life of man. A thousand dangers lie in ambush for us. Nay, the principles of mortality lurk in our own conftitutions: and ficknefs, the herald of the laft enemy, often warns us to prepare. Yet how few realize the thought, that they must die ! How few familiarize to their minds that all-important hour, pregnant with confequences of great, of incomparable, of infinite moment ! How many forget they muft die, till they feel it; and ftand fearlefs, unapprehenfive and infolent, upon the flippery brink of eternity, till they unexpectedly fall, and are ingulphed for ever in the boundlefs ocean! The fons of Adam the finner, those fleeting phantoms of a day, put on the air of immortality upon earth; and make no provision for their fubliftence in the proper region of immortals beyond the grave. Pilgrims and strangers imagine themfelves everlafting refidents; and make this tranfitory life their all, as if earth was to be their eternal home;

#### Serm. 60. King George the Second.

home; as if eternity was but a fairy-land; and heaven and hell but majeftic chimeras. But shall not this loud alarm, that fpreads over half the globe, awaken us out of our vain dream of an earthly immortality? When the mighty is fallen, thall not the feeble tremble ? If the father of a people must cease to live, fhall not the people expect to die ? If vulgar deaths are fo frequent or infignificant, that they have loft their monitory force, and are viewed with as much indifference as the fetting of the fun or the fading of a flower; fhall not the death of a King, the death of the King of Britain, conftrain his fubjects to realize the profpect of their own mortality, and diffuse that univerfal ferioufnefs among them which that profpect infpires? If thus improved, this public lofs would be a public bleffing; and the reformation of a kingdom would be a greater happiness than the life of the best of princes. Thus improved, how eafy and how glorious would the death of George the Second render the reign of George the Third, who now fways the fceptre, and in whom the hopes of kingdoms center ! To govern fubjects on earth, who are prepared for the hierarchy of heaven, would be a province worthy of an angel.

Since the mighty is fallen; fince George is no more; how vain are all things beneath the fun! Vanity of vanities; all is vanity. How unworthy the hopes, how inferior to the defires, how unequal to the duration of human nature! Can the riches of Britain, or the honours of a crown; can the extent of dominion, or the laurels of victory, now afford the leaft pleafure to the royal corpfe that lies fenfelefs in the duft; or to the royal fpirit which has winged its flight to its own region, to the world of kindred fpirits? No; all thefe are now as infignificant as mere nothings to him, as the conquefts of Alexander, or the riches and honours of the Henries and Edwards, who filled the fame throne centuries ago.

" Who

## 348 On the Death of his late Majesty, Serm. 60.

"Who then art thou, who fetteft thine affections on things below? Art thou greater than the deceafed? Doft thou value thyfelf on thy birth? The moft highly defcended is no more! Doft thou value thyfelf on thy riches? The King of Britain is no more! Doft thou value thyfelf on thy power? The mafter of the feas, the arbiter of Europe, is no more! Doft thou glory in thy conflancy, humanity, affection to thy friend; juffice, veracity, popularity, univerfal love— But I forbear." Human vanity cannot fwell fo high as to prefume upon the comparison.

" How lately were the eyes of all Europe" and America, "thrown upon this great Man? For man let me call him now, nor contradict the declaration which his mortality has made. They that find him now, muft feek for him; and feek for him in the duft! What on earth but muft tell us this world is vain, if thrones declare it ! If kings, if Britifh kings are demonstrations of it !

# Is that poor man that hangs on Princes favours !

"A throne is the fhining period, the golden termination of the worldly man's profpect. His paffions affect, his underftanding conceives nothing beyond it, or the favours it can beflow. The fun, the expanse of heaven, or what lies higher, have no luftre in his fight; no room in his pre-engaged imagination : it is all a fuperfluous wafte. When therefore his monarch dies, he is left in darkness : his fun is fet : it is the night of ambition with him; which naturally damps him into reflection; and fills that reflection with awful thoughts.

With reverence then be it fpoken, what can God in his ordinary means do more to turn his affections into their right channel, and fend them forward to their proper end? Providence, by his king's deceafe, takes away the very ground on which his delufion rofe: it finks before him: his error is fupplanted, nor nor has his folly whereon to ftand, but muft return, like the dove in the deluge, to his own bofom again. By this he is convinced that his ultimate point of view is not only vain in its nature, but vain in fact : it not only may, but has actually failed him. What then is he under the neceffity of doing, this boundary of his fight being removed ? Either he muft look forward (and what is beyond it but God ?) or he muft clofe his eyes in darknefs, and ftill repofe his truft in things which he has experienced to be vain. Such accidents, therefore, however fatal to his fecular, are the mercy of God to his eternal intereft; and fay, with the facred text, Set your affections on things above, and not on things on the earth.\*

If even kings cannot extract perfect happinels from things below; if the grofs, unfubftantial, and fleeting enjoyments of life are in their own nature incapable of affording pure, folid and lafting felicity, muft we not all defpair of it? Yet fuch a happinels we defire; fuch we need; nay, fuch we muft have; or our very exiftence will become our curfe, and all our powers of enjoyment but capacities of pain. And where fhall we feek for it? where, but in the fupreme Good? Let us lay up for ourfelves treafures in heaven, and be rich towards God; and then we fhall live in ftate-affluence, and confummate felicity, when crowns, and thrones, and kings, nay, when ftars, and funs, and worlds are funk into promifcuous ruin.

But though crowns, and thrones, and kings, though ftars, and funs, and worlds fink into promifcuous ruin, there is one gift of heaven to mankind which fhall furvive; which fhall flourifh and reign for ever; a gift little efteemed or folicited, and which makes no brilliant figure in mortal eyes; I mean religion—Religion! Thou brighteft ornament of human nature! I hou faireft image of the divine! Thou facred fpark of celefital fire, which now glimmers with but a feeble luftre; but will fhine bright in the night of affliction;

\* Dr. Young's True Estimate of Human Life, p. 59, 60.

## 350 On the Death of his late Majesty, Serm. 60.

tion; will irradiate the thick glooms of death, and blaze out into immortality in its native element! This will be an unfailing fource of happinefs, through the revolutions of eternal ages.—May I be the man to whom heaven fhall beftow this moft precious gift of divine bounty! and let crowns and kingdoms be fcattered with an undiftinguifhing hand to the worthlefs and the brave, to the wife man and the fool; I will not murmur, envy, nor defpond. Thefe majeftic trifles are not the tefts of real worth, nor the badges of heaven's favourites: it is religion that marks out the happy man; that diftinguifhes the heir of an unfading crown; who, when the dubious conflict of life is over, *fball inherit all things*, and fit in triumph for ever with the King of kings, and Lord of lords.

If majefty has any charms to a mind truly noble; if dominion has any attractive influence upon a benevolent spirit; it must be as it affords a more extenfive fphere of beneficence, and yields the generous, difinterefted, god-like pleafure of making multitudes happy. This may reconcile a mind intrinfically great to the felf-denial of a court, to the cares of government, and render the burden of a crown tolerable. And in this refpect, how happy and illustrious was our late king! It was an honour which could fall to the lot of but few of his fubjects, to have fuch intimate access to the royal prefence, as to furnish materials for a panegyric upon his perfonal and private virtues; but his public and regal virtues diffused their beams to every territory of his vaft dominions, and fhone with efficacious, though gentle force, even upon us, in these remote ends of the earth. His public virtues as a king, thousands attest and celebrate in every region of the world. These we know, of these we have had a long and delightful experience for fourand-thirty years. These therefore we can justly celebrate : and to thefe I shall confine myself; though .I am not altogether uninformed of fome amiable anecdotes of his majefty's perfonal virtue in private life.

Can

Can the British annals, in the compass of feventeen hundred years, produce a period more favourable to liberty, peace, profperity, commerce, and religion? In this happy reign, the prerogative meditated no invafions upon the rights of the people ; nor attempted to exalt itfelf above the law. George the Great, but unambitious, confulted the rights of the people as well as of the crown; and claimed no powers but fuch as were granted to him by the conftitution : and what is the conflitution but the voluntary compact of fovereign and fubject? and is not this the foundation of their mutual obligations? The commons who, from their fituation in the various parts of the kingdom, are prefumed to be best acquainted with its state, always found majesty condescending to leave the interests of the country to their deliberations; and ready to affent to all their falutary propofals. The times when parliaments were a troublesome reftraint are forgotten, or remembered with patriotindignation. The monarch himfelf frowned upon the principles of arbitrary power; and was an advocate for the liberties of the people. His parliament were his faithful counfellors; to whom he communicated his meafures, with all the franknefs and confidence natural to confcious integrity. In an ariftocracy the Houfe of Lords could hardly enjoy more authority and independence, nor the Houfe of Commons in a democracy more freedom of fpeech and determination, but far lefs dignity and unanimity, than under the monarchy of George the Second. In his were united the advantages of all forms of government; free from the inconveniences peculiar to each in a flate of feparation. Happy ! thrice happy, to live under a reign fo gentle and aufpicious! How different would have been our fituation under the baleful influence of the ill-boding name of Stuart!

Fond of peace, and tender of the life and blood of man, our late most gracious fovereign never engaged in war, but with compassionate reluctance, and with the

#### On the Death of his late Majesty, Scrm. 60.

352

the unanimous approbation of his people. He drew the fword, not to gratify his own ambition or avarice, or to revenge a perfonal injury; but to defend the rights of his fubjects, to relieve the oppreffed, and to reftrain and chaftife the diffurbers and tyrants of the world. He always aimed the thunder of Britain againft the guilty head: but innocence had nothing to fear from the terrors of his hands. French perfidy and Auftrian ingratitude roufed his generous refentment: but the merit of Frederic, the Pruffian hero, the fecond champion of liberty and the proteftant religion, when oppreffed by confederate kingdoms and empires, erafed the memory of paft differences, and made him his friend and ally.

What a vigilant, fatherly care did he extend to the infant colonies of Britain, expofed in this favage wildernefs! Hence the fafety our once defencelefs frontiers now enjoy. Hence the reduction of that mongrel race of French and Indian favages, who would have been the eternal enemies of humanity, peace, religion, and Britons. And hence the glory of Amherft and Wolfe; and the addition of Canada to the Britifh empire in America. Surely the name of George the Second muft be dear in thefe refcued provinces, and particularly in Naffau-Hall, while peace and fafety are efteemed bleffings, while the terrors of a barbarous war are fhocking to humanity, and while gratitude lives in an American breaft. And George the Third will be dearer to us, as he bears the ever memorable name of our great deliverer.

He never usurped the prerogative of heaven, by affuming the fovereignty of confcience, or the conduct of the human understanding, in matters of faith and religious speculation. He had deeply imbibed the principles of liberty; and could well diffinguish between the civil rights of society and the facred rights of religion. He knew the nature of man and of Christianity too well, to imagine that the determinations Serm. 60. King George the Second.

minations of human authority, or the fanctions of penal laws, could convince the mind of one divine truth or duty; or that the imposition of uniformity in minute points of faith, or in the forms of worfhip and ecclefiaftical government, was confiftent with free inquiry and the rights of private judgment; without which, genuine christianity cannot, though the external grandeur of the church may flourish. In his reign the flate was not the dupe of afpiring churchmen, but the guardian of Chriftians in general; nor was the fecular arm the engine of ecclefiaftical vengeance, but the defence of the Diffenter as well as the Conformift; of the toleration, as well as the establishment. His reign was not stained with blood, fhed by the ferocious hand of blind bigotry : but the thoughts, the tongue, and the pen were free; and truth was armed only with her own gentle and harmlefs weapons; those weapons with which she has always fpread her conquefts, in opposition to fires and racks; to the tortures of death, and to the powers of earth and hell. Long may Britons continue free in a world of flaves ! And long may a George adorn the throne, and guard the facred rights of confcience!

Was ever king more beloved by his people? Was ever government more deeply founded in the hearts of its fubjects ? Whatever factions have embroiled the nation; whatever clamours have been raifed against the ministry; whatever popular fuspicions of the abilities or integrity of his fervants; still the king was the favourite of all; he was the center in which all parties were united.

Rebellion indeed (to the horror and furprife of posterity let it be known !) the most unnatural, unprovoked rebellion prefumed to lift up its head even under his gracious reign, and attempted to transfer to a defpicable pretender the crown conferred upon him by a free people. But how gently, and yet how effectually was the monster quelled! And how hapру

VOL. III.

353

## 354 On the Death of his late Majesty, Serm. 60.

py have been the confequences to thoufands; particularly to the brave mifguided Highlanders; who by the munificence of that very king they rifked their lives to depofe, now tafte the fweets of liberty and property; and need no farther argument in favour of the illuftrious houfe of Hanover.\*

The evening of his life was the meridian of his glory; and death feized him on the fummit of huinan greatnefs. What illuftrious victories have attended his arms in every quarter of the globe? Afia and Africa, as well as Europe and America, have trembled at his name; and felt the force of Britifh revenge, executed by his righteous hand. What a fhining figure will the three laft years, the æra of Britifh glory, make in the hiftory of the world ! And how will they at once eternize and endear the name of George the Second !

How bloody and extensive has been the prefent war! And how important the interests at stake! It has spread over both the old and new continent, like an all-devouring conflagration. Nations have bled in a thousand veins; and the precious blood of man has streamed by fea and land, state by the favage hand of man. The balance of power, the liberty, the peace, and religion of Europe, as well as the independency, the freedom, the commerce, and the territories of Britain and her colonies, have been the prize in dispute; a prize equal to the whole world to us. And how gloomy and ill-boding was the afpect

\* The diffolution of the Highland Clans, those petty tyrannies, upon terms not difadvantageous to the Chiefs themselves, and highly agreeable to their vafials: the opening a communication into those once inacceffible regions by public roads; the effablishment of protestant miffionaries and English schools; and the introduction of manufactories, supported by the royal bounty, and particularly by the income of the effacts confiscated in the last rebellion; —these have been the gentle but effectual expedients to extirpate popery and rebellion, under the administration of George the Second. — These were agreeable to for mild a reign; and these have already done infinitely more to accomplish this patriotic and christian design, than all the severe, preposterous measures of former ages.

pect of our affairs in the first years of this war! The people factious, clamorous, and exasperated! The ministry divided, improvident, and dilatory ! Commanders imprudently brave and fool-hardy, or weak and daftardly ! What abortive fchemes and blafted expeditions ! What fanguine hopes and mortifying difappointments ! What pompous undertaking and inglorious refults! What British, un-British gascon-ade and cowardice, boasting and timidity! And what Gallic bravery and fuccefs! (Prob curia! inverfique mores ! ) What depredations and barbarities, what defertion and confternation upon our frontiers, through a length of above a thoufand miles ! What downcaft airs on every countenance ! What trembling expectations in every heart! But in that anxious, dubious crifis, George was alive ! (Let both fides the Atlantic refound with praifes, let every British heart glow with gratitude to the Sovereign of the univerfe, who prolonged the royal life, and preferved his capacities unimpaired in the decline of nature !--George was alive!) And with a fleady, skilful hand managed the helm in the threatning ftorm, and conducted the finking flate, in which our All was embarked, within fight of the harbour of peace, fafety, and glory, before he refigned the charge. His gracious car was open to the voice of the people, when he received the illustrious Pitt to fo great a fhare of the adminiftration. And what a happy and glorious revoluti-on have we fince feen in the fchemes of policy and the events of war! Had heaven punished a guiltynation, by removing their guardian in that period of difcord, languor, dejection, and mortification, while the heir of the crown was in his minority, how difmal might have been the confequences! Indeed we could have fincerely paid to fo good a king that east-ern compliment, O king, live for ever! for never, O lamented George! never could thy fubjects be weary of thee. But fince the mighty must fall, as well as the feeble; fince George, the august and well-beloved, muft

must die, how great the mercy, that the melancholy period was to long delayed! It would be ingratitude, it would be impiety, it would be atheifin, not to acknowledge the agency of Providence in fo important an event.

George, our father, is no more !- No more, I mean, the ornament of the British throne : no more the benefactor of mortals : no more the inhabitant of earth. His precious dust is ere now deposited with his royal predeceffors, where majefty lies in ruins :\* and we doubt not but the laft honours have been performed to his venerable remains, agreeable to the gratitude and generofity of the nation, and the munificent prince who inherits his crown and kingdom. And is this fenfeless duft all that is left of the greateft of kings? Has he fuffered a total extinction of being? Is he entirely dead to himfelf, to the univerfe, and to God?-No, he lives! He greatly lives the life of immortals ! He lives in the immenfe region of fpirits, where monarchs and kings are private men : where all the fuperficial diffinctions of birth, riches, power and majefty, are loft for ever; and all the diffinction that remains, arifes from virtue and vice -from our having acted our part well or ill in the ftation where we are fixed ; whether on the throne of majefty, in the chains of flavery, or in the intermediate classes of life: there royalty appears difrobed and uncrowned before him, who regardeth not the rich more than the poor : there triumphant tyranny, that bade defiance to human power, is blafted and degraded by the frown of Omnipotence : and there, those rulers of men, who were the fervants of God, are advanced to a higher fphere of dominion and beneficence :

\* In Weftminster Abbey.

" That ancient, facred, and illustrious dome,

" Where foon or late fair Albion's heroes come,

" From camps and courts, tho' great, and wife, and juft,

- " To feed the worm, and moulder into duft ;
- " That folemn manfion of the royal dead,

" Where paffing flaves o'er fleeping monarchs tread."

Young's Laft Day.

### Serm. 60. King George the Second.

ncficence; and the badges of earthly majefty are fuperfluous to their dignity, and would but conceal their real worth. There they are clothed with *the robes of falvation, and the garments of praife*, and wear crowns of unfading glory, infinitely brighter than thofe which the gold, and gems, and glittering triffes of earth can compofe. There our charity would place our departed fovereign, in a flation as much fuperior to that of king of Great Britain, as an angel to a man. But it is not for mortals to pry into the inviolable fecrets of the invifible world.

When we view him in this light, the medium in which perfons and things appear in eternity, we no longer revere the king. The crown, the fceptre, and all the regalia of carthly majefty, vanish. But we behold fomething more venerable, more majeftic, more divine-The immortal! the great fpirit ftript of all the empty parade and pageantry of outward shew, and clothed with all the God-like regalia of its own nature ! illustrious in its own intrinsic dignity ! This view of kings and emperors does not diminish, but heighten and brighten their majefty. This is the most venerable and striking attitude in which kings and emperors themfelves can appear; though in this view peafants and flaves claim an equality with them. All equally immortal! And what renders the nature of man, or even of angels, fo important, fo noble, fo divine, as immortality! This makes the man infinitely fuperior to the monarch; and advances the offspring of the duft to a kind of equality with the natives of heaven.

But though George ftill lives to himfelf, to the univerfe, and to God (for all live to him) yet to his once-loved kingdoms he is no more. Here again, I muft retract the melancholy thought—He ftill lives, he ftill adorns the throne, he ftill bleffes the world, in the perfon of his royal defeendant and fucceffor. And if the early appearance of genius, humanity, condefcenfion, the fpirit of liberty and love of his people; if if British birth, education, and connections; if the favourable preposieffions and high expectations of the nation; if the prefent glory and terror of the British arms; if the wishes and prayers of every lover of his country, fignify any thing, or have any efficacy, George the Third will reign like George the Second.

What then remains, but that we transfer to him the loyalty, duty, and affection, we were wont to pay to his amiable predeceffor ! He afcends the throne in the prime of life and vigour, at a juncture more honourable and glorious than Britain, perhaps, or America, has ever feen. He had early the example of the best of kings before his eyes, as a finished model of government, upon principles truly British. And this has received a powerful fanction from the example and inftructions of his royal mother, the honour of her fex; who has made fo fhining and amiable a figure in the British court, ever fince her first appearance. He has able generals in the field; able admirals in the navy; a navy perhaps equal to the united fleets of the univerfe; and able counfellors in the cabinet. His fubjects numerous, rich, free, brave, loyal and affectionate : his enemies defeated, difpirited, exhausted, difappointed in their last efforts, and bafiled in their forlorn hope : the commerce of Britain as extensive as the globe, and collecting the riches of the world from every foil and climate. In this promifing fituation of affairs, what a long, happy and glorious reign have we in profpect ! How may we congratulate the contemporaries of our young king, who enter into public life as he afcends the throne, and are likely to fhare in the honours and felicities of his administration ! And with what ardent gratitude and devotion fhould we bow the knee to him, by whom kings reign and princes decree justice, who opens fo bright and glorious a profpect! If the agency of the Moft High, who ruleth in the kingdoms of men, and giveth them to whom foever he pleafeth, be ungratefully overlooked, our loyalty is no longer a virtue:

358

a virtue: it lofes its worth; and degenerates into a mere compliment to the creature, at the expence of the Creator's honour. It is acknowledging the deputy, but rejecting the conftituent. †

But notwithstanding this favourable and promifing posture of affairs, methinks we cannot make a transition from reign to reign without fome fuspense. We are passing into a new state of political existence; entering upon a strange, untried period; and it is natural to be a little damped at our sirft entrance.— The changes of life are so frequent and unexpected, and the course of human affairs so feldom runs on in a steady

+ Thus agreeable and encouraging did the dawn of the prefeut reign appear to me, before any public act had confirmed those fayourable anticipations. But fince I have found that one of the very first acts of government was " A proclamation for the encouragement of piety and virtue, and for preventing of vice, profanencies and immorality ;" the transport of my mind would almost constrain me to put on the heirs of a prophet ; and, without my usual diffidence as to futurities, to foretel the increasing glories and felicities of the beginning administration .- Hail! desponding religion! List up thy drooping head, and triumph ! Virtue, thou heaven-born exile, return to court. Young George invites thee : George declares himfelf thy early friend and patron, and promifes "to diffinguifh perfons of piety and virtue on all occafions by marks of royal favour." Vice, thou triumphant monfter ! with all thy infernal train, retire, abscond, and fly to thy native hell! Young George forbids thee to appear at court, in the army, in the navy, or any of thy ufual haunts. and roufes the powers of his kingdoms against thee. Sure this cannot be an empty flourish, at first appearance on the stage. Certainly this must be the honest declaration of a heart long a fecret friend to religion and virtue ; and now impatient of filence. And if fo, what happy days are before us, when religion and George shall reign !

Afpice, venturo lætentur ut omnia fæclo : Jam redit & Virgo, redeunt Saturnia regna : Jam nova progenies cælo demittitur alto — Te Duce, fi qua manent fceleris vefligja noftri, Irrita perpetua folvent formidine terras— Pacatumque reges patrijs virtutibus orbem.

#### Virg. Eclog. iv.

It is impoffible to be calm under fuch a prefage. Such a prefage renders the bleffings we shall receive under the reign of George the Third, almost as fure as those we have received under that of George the Second; and I am ready to retract all I have faid above in the language of diffidence and uncertainty. a fleady uniform tenor for a length of years, that we can be certain of almost nothing but what is past. The most promising posture of affairs may put on another form; and all the honours and acquisitions of a well-conducted and fuccefsful war, may be inglorioufly loft by the intrigues of negociation and a difhonourable peace. The best of kings (with all due deference to majefty be it fpoken) may have evil coun-fellors; and evil counfellors may have the moft mischievous influence, notwithstanding the wisdom and goodnefs of the fovereign.

But may not even this anxious contingency be productive of good, by exciting us more powerfully to the duty of Christians and good subjects?

Are the kingdoms of men forlorn outcast orphans. difcarded by their heavenly Father; or independent, felf-fufficient fovereignties, capable of managing themfelves by their own power and policy? Or, are they not rather little provinces or diffricts of Jehovah's immenfe empire, in which he prefides, and manages all their affairs? Are kings abfolute and felf-fupported? Or, are they not fuffained by him who is the fupport of archangels? Does the prayer of a righteous man avail much? Or is it but empty breath, of no efficacy? A light much more obfcure than that of chriftianity has enabled heathens to anfwer fuch queftions as thefe. Since " then the Moft High rul-cth in the kingdoms of men ;" and fince prayer is invefted with (fhall I dare affert it ?) a kind of almighty importunity, fhall we not often appear in the pofture of petitioners at the throne of grace for our young king? In praying for this one great perfonage, we intercede not only for him, but for ourfelves and millions on both fides the Atlantic ; not only for individuals but for nations, for Europe and America, for the world ! And may petitions of fuch immenfe import never languish into spiritles, complimental formalities! May they exhauft all the vigour of our fouls, and be always animated with the united ardors of devotion, patriotifm and loyalty ! As

# Serm. 60. King George the Second.

As good fubjects, whatever our prefent or future ftations may be in fociety, or in whatever territory of his majefty's dominions we may act our part on the ftage of life, let the principles of loyalty and liberty, let cheerful obedience to our king, and a difinterefted love to our country, let that generous virtue, public fpirit, infpire our hearts, and appear in all our conduct. Let us be fubject, not for wrath, but for confcience fuke. Let our obedience be, not a fervile artifice to efcape punifhment; not the mercenary cringing of ambition or avarice; not the fulfome affected complaifance of flattery; but the voluntary offering of an honeft and fincere heart. Let this always be an effential part of our virtue, our religion, and whatever we efteem moft facred.

To you, my dear pupils, the hope, the joy, and the ornament of your country; who, if the wifhes and expectations of your parents, your friends, your tutors, and the public, be accomplifhed, will yet make an important figure in life; to you I muft particularly addrefs myfelf on this melancholy occafion, with all the affectionate folicitude and earneftnefs of a father's heart; and while only my voice founds in your ears, imagine you hear the voice of your other tutors, of the truftees of this inftitution, of your country and your God, inculcating upon you the fame exhortation.

While I invite you to drop your filial tears over the facred duft of our common father, who has hitherto cherifhed your tender years, I cannot but congratulate you once more upon your being coevals with George the Third; and that you will date your entrance upon public life fo near the time of his acceffion to the royal feat of his anceftors. The happy fubjects of George the Second will foon give place to you, and vifit their beloved king in the manfions of the dead. But long may your king and you live, and many happy days may you fee together.

Vol. III.

You

You have a king, who has already taught you how to live, and recommended piety and virtue to you from the throne. Let this therefore be your first care. This will qualify you for both worlds, and render you at once good subjects to your earthly fovereign, and to his Master and yours in heaven. The Christian cannot but be a patriot. He, who loves all mankind, even his enemies, must certainly love his country. The Christian cannot but be a good subject. He who loves his neighbour as himself, must certainly love his fovereign : and he who *fears God*, will not fail to *honour the king*.

Let every foul be fubject to the higher powers. This, my dear youth, this is the great precept of chriftianity, which this day demands your attention. From this day cherifh a public fpirit, and dedicate yourfelves to the fervice of your king and country. Whatever character you may hereafter fuftain, you will not be fo infignificant as to be incapable of any fervice to your fovereign and fellow-fubjects. Whether the health, the liberty and property, or the fpiritual interefts of mankind, be the object of your future profeffion ; whether you choose the peaceful vale of retirement, or the bufy fcenes of active life, remember, you will fill have connections with the throne. You are parts of that great community over which his majefty prefides : and the good of the whole, as well as the eafe, honour and profperity of his government, will in fome measure depend upon your performing your parts well. Civil fociety is fo complicated a fyftem, and concludes fo many remote, as well as intimate connections, references, and mutual dependencies, that the leaft irregularity or defect in the minuteft fpring, may diforder and weaken the whole Therefore it becomes you to know your machine. own importance to your king and country, that you may exert your influences in your respective fpheres, to execute all his patriot defigns. Let your literary acquifitions, your fortunes, and even your lives

lives be facred to him, when his royal pleafure demands them for the fervice of your country. This you muft do, or turn rebels against your own hearts and confciences. I well know you cannot be difaffected, or even ufelefs fubjects from principle. Your education, both at home and in Nasiau-Hall, has invincibly pre-engaged your inclination, your reafon, and your confcience, in favour of our incomparable conflitution, and the fucceffion in the Hanover-family : of liberty, the Protestant religion and George the Third, which are infeparably united. Therefore act up to your principles, practife according to your political creed, and then my most benevolent wifnes, nay, the higheft wifhes of your king and fellow-fubjects, will be amply accomplifhed in you. Then you will give the world an honorable and just fpecimen of the morals and politics inculcated in the College of New-Jerfcy; and convince them, that it is a feminary of loyalty, as well as learning and piety; a nurfery for the flate, as well as the church. Such may it always continue! You all concur in your cordial Amen.

# SERMON LXI.

#### *RELIGION* AND *PATRIOTISM* THE CONSTITUENTS OF A GOOD *SOLDIER*.\*

2 SAM. X. 12. Be of good courage, and let us play the men for our people, and for the cities of our God: And the Lord do that which feemeth him good.

N hundred years of peace and liberty in fuch a world as this, is a very unufual thing; and yet our country has been the happy fpot that has been diftin-

\* Preached to Captain Overton's Independent Company of Volunteers, raifed in Hanover County, Virginia, August 17, 1755. diftinguifhed with fuch a long feries of bleffings, with little or no interruption. Our fituation in the middle of the Britifh Colonies, and our feparation from the French, those eternal enemies of liberty and Britons, on the one fide by the vaft Atlantic; and on the other by a long ridge of mountains, and a wide extended wilderness, have for many years been a barrier to us; and while other nations have been involved in war, we have not been alarmed with the found of the trumpet, nor feen garments rolled in blood.

But now the fcene is changed : now we begin to experience in our turn the fate of the nations of the earth. Our territories are invaded by the power and perfidy of France; our frontiers ravaged by mercilefs favages, and our fellow-fubjects there murdered with all the horrid arts of Indian and Popifh torture. Our general, unfortunately brave, is fallen, an army of 1300 choice men routed, our fine train of artillery taken, and all this (oh mortifying thought!) all this by four or five hundred daftardly, infidious barbarians!

These calamities have not come upon us without warnings. We were long ago apprized of the am-bitious fchemes of our enemies, and their motions to carry them into execution: and had we taken timely meafures, they might have been crushed before they could have arrived at fuch a formidable height. But how have we generally behaved in fuch a critical time? Alas! our country has been funk in a deep fleep : a flupid fecurity has unmanned the inhabitants : they could not realize a danger at the diftance of two or three hundred miles : they would not be perfuaded that even French Papifts could ferioufly defign us an injury : and hence little or nothing has been done for the defence of our country in time, except by the compulsion of authority. And now, when the cloud thickens over our heads, and alarms every thoughtful mind with its near approach, multitudes,

364

multitudes, I am afraid, are ftill diffolved in carelefs fecurity, or enervated with an effeminate, cowardly fpirit. When the melancholy news first reached us concerning the fate of our army, then we faw how natural it is for the prefumptuous to fall into the opposite extreme of unmanly despondence and confternation; and how little men could do in fuch a panic for their own defence. We have alfo fuffered our poor fellow-fubjects in the frontier counties to fall a helples prey to blood-thirsty favages, without affording them proper affiftance, which as members of the fame body politic they had a right to expect. They might as well have continued in a ftate of nature as be united in fociety, if in fuch an article of extreme danger they are left to fhift for themfeives. The bloody barbarians have exercised on fome of them the most unnatural and leifurely tortures; and others they have butchered in their beds, or in fome unguarded hour. Can human nature bear the horror of the fight ! See yonder ! the hairy fealps clotted with gore! the mangled limbs ! Women ripped up ! the heart and bowels ftill palpitating with life, and fmoking on the ground ! See the favages fwilling their blood, and imbibing a more outrageous fury with the inhuman draught! Sure thefe are not men; they are not beafts of prey; they are fomething worfe; they must be infernal furies in human shape. And have we tamely looked on, and fuffered them to exercife these hellish barbarities upon our fellow-men, our fellow-fubjects, our brethren ! Alas ! with what horror must we look upon ourfelves, as being little better than acceffaries to their blood !

And fhall thefe ravages go on unchecked? Shall Virginia incur the guilt, and the everlaiting fhame of tamely exchanging her liberty, her religion, and her all, for arbitrary Gallic power, and for Popifh flavery, tyranny, and maffacre? Alas! are there none of her children, that enjoyed all the bleffings of her peace, that will efpoufe her caufe, and befriend her now now in the time of her danger ? Are Britons utterly degenerated by fo fhort a remove from their mothercountry ? Is the fpirit of patriotifm entirely extinguifhed among us? And muft I give thee up for loft, O my country ! and all that is included in that important word ? Muft I look upon thee as a conquered, enflaved province of France, and the range of Indian favages? My heart breaks at the thought. And muft ye, our unhappy brethren in our frontiers, muft ye ftand the fingle barriers of a ravaged country, unaffifted, unbefriended, unpitied ? Alas ! muft I draw thefe fhocking conclutions ?

No; I am agreeably checked by the happy, encouraging profpect now before me. Is it a pleafing dream? Or do I really fee a number of brave men, without the compulsion of authority, without the prospect of gain, voluntarily affociated in a company, to march over trackless mountains, the haunts of wild beafts, or fiercer favages, into an hideous wildernefs, to fuccour their helplefs fellow-fubjects, and guard their country ? Yes, gentlemen, I fee you here upon this defign; and were you all united to my heart by the most endcaring ties of nature or friendship, I could not wifh to fee you engaged in a nobler caufe ; and whatever the fondness of passion might carry me to, I am fure my judgment would never fuffer me to perfuade you to defert it. You all generoufly put your lives in your hands; and fundry of you have nobly difengaged yourfelves from the ftrong and tender ties that twine about the heart of a father, or a hufband, to confine you at home in inglorious eafe, and fneaking retirement from danger, when your country calls for your affiftance. While I have you before me, I have high thoughts of a Virginian; and I entertain the pleafing hope that my country will yet emerge out of her diffrefs, and flourish with her usual bleffings. I am gratefully fenfible of the unmerited honour you have done me, in making choice of me to addrefs you upon fo fingular and important an occafion :

### Serm. 61. Religion and Patriotifm.

cafion: and I am fure I bring with me a heart ardent to ferve you and my country, though I am afraid my inability, and the hurry of my preparations, may give you reafon to repent your choice. I cannot begin my addrefs to you with more proper words than those of a great general, which I have read to you: Be of good courage, and play the men for your people, and for the cities of your God: and the Lord do what feemeth him good.

My prefent defign is, to illustrate and improve the fundry parts of my text, as they lie in order; which you will find rich in fundry important instructions, adapted to this occasion.

The words were fpoken just before a very threatening engagement by Joab, who had long ferved under that pious hero king David, as the general of his forces, and had fhewn himfelf an officer of true courage, conducted with prudence. The Ammonites, a neighbouring nation, had frequent hoftilities with the Jews, had ungratefully offered indignities to fome of David's courtiers whom he had fent to condole their king upon the death of his father, and congratulate his acceffion to the crown. Our holy religion teaches us to bear perfonal injuries without private revenge : but national infults and indignities ought to excite the public refentment. Accordingly, king David, when he heard that the Ammonites, with their allies, were preparing to invade his territories, and carry their injuries still farther, fent Joab his general, with his army, to repel them, and avenge the affronts they had offered his fubjects. It feems the army of the enemy were much more numerous than David's : their mercenarics from other nations were no lefs than 31,000 men; and no doubt the Ammonites themfelves were a ftill greater number. Thefe numerous forces were difpofed in the moft advantageous manner, and furrounded Joab's men, that they might attack them both in flank and front at once, and cut them all off, leaving no way for them to efcape.

Serm. 61.

cape. Prudence is of the utmost importance in the conduct of an army : and Joab, in this critical fituation, gives a proof how much he was master of it, and discovers the fleady composure of his mind while thus furrounded with danger. He divides his army, and gives one party to his brother Abishai, who commanded next to him, and the other he kept the command of himfelf, and refolves to attack the Syrian mercenaries, who feemed the most formidable; he gives orders to his brother in the mean time to fall upon the Ammonites; and he animates him with this noble advice : Be of good courage, and let us play the men for our people and the cities of our God, which are now at flake; And the Lord do what feemeth him good.

Be of good courage, and let us play the men :-courage is an effential character of a good foldier :-not a favage ferocious violence :---not a fool-hardy infenfibility of danger, or headftrong rafhnefs to rufh into it :----not the fury of inflamed paffions, broke loofe from the government of reafon : but calm, deliberate, rational courage; a fteady, judicious, thoughtful fortitude : the courage of a man, and not of a tyger : fuch a temper as Addifon afcribes with fo much juffice to the famous Marlborough and Eugene :

Whofe courage dwelt not in a troubled flood Of mounting fpirits and fermenting blood ;—But Lodg'd in the foul, with virtue over-rul'd, Inflam'd by reafon, and by reafon cool'd.

The Campaign.

This is true courage, and fuch as we ought all to cherifh in the prefent dangerous conjuncture. This will render men vigilant and cautious againft furprize, prudent and deliberate in concerting their meafures, and fleady and refolute in executing them. But without this they will fall into unfufpected dangers, which will firike them with wild confernation ; they will meanly fhun dangers that are furmountable, or preciprecipitantly rufh into those that are causeles, or evidently fatal, and throw away their lives in vain.

There are fome men who naturally have this heroic turn of mind. The wife Creator has adapted the natural genius of mankind with a furprifing and beautiful variety to the flate in which they are placed in this world. To fome he has given a turn for intellectual improvement, and the liberal arts and fciences; to others a genius for trade; to others a dexterity in mechanics, and the ruder arts, neceffary for the fupport of human life : the generality of mankind may be capable of tolerable improvements in any of thefe: But it is only they whom the God of Nature has formed for them, that will fhine in them; every man in his own province. And as God well knew what a world of degenerate, ambitious and revengeful creatures this is; as he knew that innocence could not be protected, property and liberty fecured, nor the lives of mankind preferved from the lawlefs hands of ambition, avarice and tyranny, without the ufe of the fword; as he knew this would be the only method to preferve mankind from univerfal flavery; he has formed fome men for this dreadful work, and fired them with a martial fpirit, and a glorious love of danger. Such a fpirit, though most pernicious when ungoverned by the rules of juffice and benevolence to mankind, is a public bleffing when rightly directed : fuch a spirit, under God, has often mortified the infolence of tyrants, checked the encroachments of arbitrary power, and delivered enflaved and ruined nations: it is as neceffary in its place for our fubfiftence in fuch a world as this, as any of the gentler geniufes among mankind; and it is derived from the fame divine original. He that winged the imagination of an Homer or a Milton; he that gave penetration to the mind of Newton; he that made Tubal-Cain an inftructor of artificers in brafs and iron,\* and

VOL. III.

Bbb

Serm. 61.

and gave fkill to Bezaleel and Aholiah in curious works; \* nay, he that fent out Paul and his brethren to conquer the nations with the gentler weapons of Plain Truth, miracles, and the love of a crucified Saviour; he, even that fame gracious power, has formed and raifed up an Alexander, a Julius Cæfar, a William<sup>†</sup> and a Marlborough, and infpired them with this enterprifing, intrepid fpirit; the two first to fcourge a guilty world, and the two last to fave nations on the brink of ruin. There is fomething glorious and inviting in danger to fuch noble minds; and their breafts beat with a generous ardour when it appears.

Our continent is like to become the feat of war; and we, for the future (till the fundry European nations that have planted colonies in it, have fixed their boundaries by the fword) have no other way left to defend our rights and privileges. And has God been pleafed to diffufe fome fparks of this martial fire through our country ? I hope he has: and though it has been almoft extinguifhed by fo long a peace, and a deluge of luxury and pleafure, now I hope it begins to kindle: and may I not produce you, my brethren, who are engaged in this expedition, as inftances of it ?  $\ddagger$  Well, cherifh it as a facred, heaven-born fire; and let the injuries done to your country adminifter fuel to it ; and kindle it in thofe breafts where it has been hitherto fmothered or inactive.

Though nature be the true origin of military courage, and it can never be kindled to a high degree where there is but a feeble fpark of it innate; yet there are fundry things that may improve it even in minds

<sup>‡</sup> As a remarkable inflance of this, I may point out to the public that heroic youth Col. Washington, whom I cannot but hope Providence has hitherto preferved in to fignal a manner, for some important fervice to his country.

<sup>\*</sup> Exod. xxxv. 30, 31 8c.

<sup>+</sup> King William the Third, the deliverer of Britain from Popery and flavery, and the fcourge of France and her haughty Grand Monarque.

minds full of natural bravery, and animate those who are naturally of an effeminate fpirit to behave with a tolerable degree of refolution and fortitude in the defence of their country .- I need not tell you that it is of great importance for this end that you fhould be at peace with God and your own confcience, and prepared for your future state. Guilt is naturally timorous, and often ftruck into a panic even with imaginary dangers; and an infidel courage, proceeding from a want of thought, or a ftupid carelefines about our welfare through an immortal duration beyond the grave, is very unbecoming a man or a chriftian. The most important periods of our existence, my brethren, lie beyond the grave ; and it is a matter of much more concern to us what will be our doom in the world to come than what becomes of us in this. We are obliged to defend our country : and that is a fneaking, fordid foul indeed that can defert it at fuch a time as this : but this is not all ; we are also obliged to take care of an immortal foul; a foul that muft exift, and be happy or miferable through all the revolutions of eternal ages. This fhould be our first care; and when this is fecured, death in its most fhocking forms is but a release from a world of fin and forrows, and an introduction into everlafting life and glory. But how can this be fecured? Not by a courfe of impenitent finning; not by a courfe of ftupid careleffnefs and inaction : but by vigorous and refolute ftriving ; by ferious and affectionate thoughtfulnefs about our condition, and by a confcientious and earnest attendance upon the means that God has graciously appointed for our recovery. But " we are finners, heinous finners against a God of infinite purity and inexorable juffice." Yes, we are fo ; and does not the pofture of penitents then become us? Is not repentance, deep, broken-hearted repentance, a duty fuitable to perfons of our character ? Undoubtedly it is : and therefore, O my countrymen, and particularly you brave men that are the occasion of this meeting, repent:

repent: fall down upon your knees before the provoked Sovereign of heaven and earth, against whom you have rebelled. Diffolve and melt in penitential forrows at his feet; and he will tell you Arife, be of good cheer; your fins are forgiven you. "But will repentance make atonement for our fins? Will our tears washaway their guilt ? Will our forrows merit forgiveness ?" No, my brethren, after you have done all, you are but unprofitable fervants : after all your forrows, and prayers, and tears, you deferve to be punished as obnoxious criminals: that would be a forry government indeed, where repentance, perhaps extorted by the fervile fear of punishment, would make atonement for every offence. But I bring you glad tidings of great joy ; to you is born a Saviour, a Saviour of no mean character; he is Chrift the Lord. And have you never heard that he has made reconciliation for iniquity, and brought in everlasting righteousness; that he suffered, the just for the unjust; that God is well-pleased for his righteousnessfake, and declares himfelf willing to be reconciled to all that believe in him, and cheerfully accept him as their Saviour and Lord. Have you never heard thefe joyful tidings, O guilty, felf-condemned finners? Sure vou have. Then away to Jefus, away to Jefus, ye whofe confciences are loaded with guilt; ye whofe hearts fail within you at the thoughts of death, and the tribunal of divine justice; ye who are destitute of all perfonal righteoufnefs to procure you pardon, and recommend you to the Divine Favour : fly to Jefus on the wings of faith, all of you, of every age and character; for you all ftand in the moft abfolute need of him; and without him you must perish every foul of you. But alas! we find ourfelves utterly unable to repent and fly to Jefus: our hearts are hard and unbelieving; and if the work depend upon us, it will for ever remain undone. True, my brethren, fo the cafe is; but do ye not know that this guilty earth is under the diftillings of divine grace, that Jefus is intrusted with the influences of the

373 to reill and to

the Spirit, which can work in you both to will and to do; and that he is willing to give his Holy Spirit to them that afk him? If you know this, you know where to go for ftrength; therefore cry mightily to God for it. This I earneftly recommend to all my hearers, and efpecially to you, gentlemen, and others, that are now about generoufly to rifque your lives for your country. Account this the best preparative to encounter danger and death; the best incentive to true, rational courage. What can do you a lafting injury while you have a reconciled God finiling upon you from on high, a peaceful confcience animating you within, and a happy immortality just before you! fure you may bid defiance to dangers and death in their most shocking forms. You have answered the end of this life already by preparing for another; and how can you depart off this mortal stage more honourably, than in the caufe of liberty, of religion, and your country? But if any of you are perplexed with gloomy fears about this important affair, or confcious you are entirely unprepared for eternity, what muft you do? Muft you feek to prolong your life, and your time for preparation, by mean or unlawful ways, by a cowardly defertion of the caufe of your country, and fhifting for your little felves, as though you had no connection with fociety? Alas! this would but aggravate your guilt, and render your condition ftill more perplexed and difcouraging. Follow the path of duty wherever it leads you, for it will be always the fafeft in the iffue. Diligently improve the time you have to make your calling and election fure, and you have reafon to hope for mercy, and grace to help in fuch a time of need.-You will forgive me, if I have enlarged upon this point, even to a di-greffion; for I thought it of great confequence to you all. I fhall now proceed with more hafte.

It is alfo of great importance to excite and keep up our courage in fuch an expedition, that we fhould be fully fatisfied we engage in a righteous caufe and

and in a caufe of great moment; for we cannot profecute a fuspected, or a wicked fcheme, which our own minds condemn, but with hefitation, and timorous apprehenfions; and we cannot engage with fpirit and refolution in a trifling fcheme, from which we can expect no confequences worth our vigorous purfuit. This Joab might have in view in his heroic advice to his brother; Be of good courage, fays he, and let us play the men for our people, and for the cities of our God. q. d. We are engaged in a righteous cause; we are not urged on by an unbounded luft of power or riches, to encroach upon the rights and properties of others, and difturb our quiet neighbours : we act entirely upon the defensive, repel unjust violence, and avenge national injuries ; we are fighting for our people, and for the cities of our God. We are also engaged in a caufe of the utmost importance. We fight for our people; and what endearments are included in that fignificant word! our liberty, our estates, our lives! our king, our fellow-fubjects, our venerable fathers, our tender children, the wives of our bosom, our friends, the sharers of our souls, our posterity to the lateft ages! and who would not use his fword with an exerted arm when thefe lie at flake? But even thefe are not all: we fight for the cities of our God. God has diffinguished us with a religion from heaven; and hitherto we have enjoyed the quiet and unrestrained exercife of it : he has condescended to be a God to our nation, and to honour our cities with his gracious prefence, and the inftitutions of his worfhip, the means to make us wife, good, and happy : but now thefe most invaluable bleffings lie at ftake; thefe are the prizes for which we contend; and must it not excite all our active powers to the higheft pitch of exertion? Shall we tamely fubmit to idolatry and religious tyranny? No, God forbid : let us play the men, fince we take up arms for our people, and the cities of our God.

374

I need

I need not tell you how applicable this advice, thus paraphrafed, is to the defign of the prefent affociated company. The equity of our caufe is most evident. The Indian favages have certainly no right to murder our fellow-fubjects, living quiet and inoffenfive in their habitations; nor have the French any power

to hound them out upon us, nor to invade the territories belonging to the British crown, and fecured to it by the faith of treaties. This is a clear cafe : and it is equally clear, that you are engaged in a caufe of the utmost importance. To protect your brethren from the most bloody barbarities-to defend the territories of the beft of kings againft the oppression and tyranny of arbitrary power-to fecure the ineftimable bleffings of liberty, Britifli liberty, from the chains of French flavery-to preferve your eftates, for which you have fweat and toiled, from falling a prey to greedy vultures, Indians, priefts, friars, and hungry Gallic flaves, or not more devouring flames-to guard your religion, the pure religion of Jefus, ftreaming uncorrupted from the facred fountain of the fcriptures; the most excellent, rational and divine religion that ever was made known to the fons of men; to guard fo dear, fo precious a religion (my heart grows warm while I mention it) against ignorance, fuperfitition, idolatry, tyranny over confcience, maffacre, fire and fword, and all the mifchiefs beyond expression, with which Popery is pregnant-to keep from the cruel hands of Barbarians and Papists your wives, your children, your parents, your friends-to fecure the liberties conveyed to you by your brave forefathers, and bought with their blood, that you may transmit them uncurtailed to your posterity-Thefe are the bleffings you contend for; all thefe will be torn from your eager grafp, if this colony fhould become a province of France. And Virginians! Britons! Chriftians! Proteflants! if thefe names have any import or energy, will you not ftrike home in fuch a caufe ! Yes, this view of the matter must fire

#### Religion and Patriotifm.

Serm. 61.

fire you into men; methinks the cowardly foul muft tremble, left the imprecation of the prophet fall upon him, Curfed be the man that keepeth back his foord from blood. To this flocking, but neceffary work, the Lord now calls you, and curfed is he that doth the work of the Lord deceitfully; that will not put his hand to it when it is in his power, or that will not perform it with all his might. Jer. xlviii. 10. The people of Meroz lay at home in eafe, while their brethren were in the field, delivering their country from flavery. And what was their doom ? Curfe ye Meroz, faid the angel of the Lord, curfe ye bitterly the inhabitants thereof, because they came not to the help of the Lord, to the help of the Lord against the mighty. Judges v. 23. I count myfelf happy that I fee fo many of you generoufly engaged in fuch a caufe ; but when I view it in this light, I cannot but be concerned that there are fo few to join you. Are there but fifty or fixty perfons in this large and populous county that can be fpared from home for a few weeks upon fo neceffary a defign, or that are able to bear the fatigues of it? Where are the friends of human nature, where the lovers of liberty and religion? Now is the time for you to come forth, and fhew yourfelves. Nay, where is the mifer? let him arife and defend his Mammon, or he may foon have reafon to cry out with Micah, They have taken away my gods, and what have I more? Where is the tender foul, on whom the paffions of a hufband, a father, or a fon, have a peculiar energy? Arife, and march away; you had better be abfent from those you love for a little while, than fee them butchered before your eyes, or doomed to eternal poverty and flavery. The affociation now forming is not yet complete; and if it were, it would be a glorious thing to form another. Therefore, as an advocate for your king, your fellow-fubjects, your country, your relatives, your earthly all, I do invite and intreat all of you, who have not fome very fufficient reafon against it, voluntarily to enlist, and go out with thofe

### Serm. 61. Religion and Patriotifm.

those brave fouls, who have fet you fo noble an example. It will be more advantageous to you to go out in time, and more honourable to go out as volunteers, than be compelled to it by authority, when perhaps it may be too late.

The confideration of the juffice and importance of the caufe may alfo encourage you to hope that the Lord of Hofts will efpoufe it, and render its guardians fuccefsful, and return them in fafety to the arms of their longing friends. The event however is in his hands; and it is much better there than if it were in yours. This thought is fuggefted with beautiful fimplicity, in the remaining part of my text, the Lord do that which feemeth him good. This may be looked upon in various views; as,

1. It may be understood as the language of uncertainty and modefty. q. d. Let us do all we can; but after all, the iffue is uncertain ; we know not, as yet, to what fide God will incline the victory. Such language as this, my brethren, becomes us in all our undertakings; it founds creature-like, and God approves of fuch felf-diffident humility. But to indulge fanguine and confident expectations of victory, to boast when we put on our armour, as though we were putting it off, and to derive our high hopes from our own power and good management, without any regard to the providence of God, this is too lordly and affuming for fuch feeble mortals; fuch infolence is generally mortified; and fuch a haughty fpirit is the forerunner of a fall. Therefore, though I do not apprehend your lives will be in any great danger in your prefent expedition to range the frontiers, and clear them of the skulking Indians; yet, I would not flatter you, my brethren, with too high hopes either of victory or fafety. I cannot but entertain the pleafing profpect of congratulating you, with many of your friends, upon your fuccessful expedition, and fafe return : and yet it is very possible our next inter-view may be in that strange, untried world beyond Vol. III. Ccc the

Serm. 61.

the grave. You are, however, in the hands of God, and he will deal with you as it feemeth him good : and I am perfuaded you would not wifh it were otherwife; you would not now practically retract the petition you have fo often offered up, Thy will be done on earth, as it is in heaven.

2. This language, the Lord do as feemeth him good, may be looked upon as expressive of a firm persualion that the event of war entirely depends upon the providence of God. q. d. Let us do our best; but after all, let us be fenfible that the fuccefs does not depend on us; that is entirely in the hands of an all-ruling God. That God governs the world, is a fundamental article of natural as well as revealed religion : it is no great exploit of faith to believe this : it is but a finall advance beyond atheifin and downright infidelity. I know no country upon earth where I fhould be put to the expence of argument to prove this. The heathens gave striking proofs of their belief of it, by their prayers, their facrifices, their confulting oracles, before they engaged in war; and by their coftly offerings and folemn thankfgivings after victory. And fhall fuch a plain principle as this be difputed in a chriftian land ! No; we all fpeculatively believe it; but that is not enough; let our fpirits be deeply impreffed with it, and our lives influenced by it : let us live in the world as in a territory of Jehovah's empire. Carry this impreffion upon your hearts into the wildernefs, whither you are going. Often let fuch thoughts as thefe recur to your minds : I am the feeble creature of God ; and bleffed be his name, I am not caft off his hand as a difregarded orphan to fhift for myfelf. My life is under his care ; the fuccefs of this expedition is at his difpofal. Therefore, O thou all-ruling God, I implore thy protection; I confide in thy care; I cheerfully refign myfelf, and the event of this undertaking, to thee. Which leads me to obferve,

3. That

### Serm. 61. Religion and Patriotifm.

3. That these words, the Lord do what feemeth him good, may express a humble fubmiffion to the disposal of Providence, let the event turn out as it would. q. d. We have not the difpofal of the event, nor do we know what it will be : but Jehovah knows, and that's enough : we are fure he will do what is beft, upon the whole; and it becomes us to acquiefce : Thus, my friends, do you refign and fubmit yourfelves to the Ruler of the world in the prefent enterprize : He will order matters as he pleafes; O! let him do fo by your cheerful confent. Let fuccefs or difappointment, let life or death be the iffue, ftill fay, Good is the will of the Lord, let him do what seemeth him good : or if nature biaffes your wifhes and defires to the favourable fide, as no doubt it will, ftill keep them within bounds, and reftrain them in time, faying, after the example of Christ, Not my will, but thine be done. You may wifh, you may pray, you may ftrive, you may hope for a happy iffue; but you must fubmit ; be still, and know that he is God, and will not be prefcribed to, or fuffer a rival in the government of the world he has made. Such a temper will be of unfpeakable fervice to you, and you may hope God. will honour it with a remarkable blefling : for fubmiffion to his will is the readiest way to the accomplishment of our own.

4. Thefe words, in their connection, may intimate, that, let the event be what it will, it will afford us fatisfaction, to think that we have done the beft we could. q. d. We cannot command fuccefs; but let us do all in our power to obtain it, and we have reafon to hope that in this way we fhall not be difappointed : but if it fhould pleafe God to render all our endcavours vain, ftill we fhall have the generous pleafure to reflect that we have not been accefiary to the ruin of our country, but have done all we could for its deliverance. So you, my brethren, have generoufly engaged in a difinterefted fcheme for your king and country : God does generally crown fuch noble undertakings

Serm. 61.

dertakings with fuccefs, and you have encouragement to hope for it: but the caufe you have efpoufed is the caufe of a finful, impenitent country; and if God, in righteous difpleafure, fhould on this account blaft your attempt, ftill you will have the pleafure of reflecting upon your generous views and vigorous endeavours, and that you have done your part confcientioufly.

Having thus made fome curfory remarks upon the fundry parts of the text, I fhall now conclude with an addrefs, firft, to you all in general, and then to you, gentlemen and others, who have been pleafed to invite me to this fervice. I hope you will forgive my prolixity; my heart is full, the text is copious, and the occafion fingular and important. I cannot therefore difinifs you with a fhort, hurrying difcourfe.

It concerns you all ferioufly to reflect upon your own fins, and the fins of your land, which have brought all these calamities upon us. If you believe that God governs the world, if you do not abjure him from being the Ruler of your country, you must acknowledge that all the calamities of war, and the threatening appearances of famine, are ordered by his providence; there is no evil in a city or country, but the Lord hath done it. And if you believe that he is a just and righteous Ruler, you must also believe, that he would not thus punish a righteous or a penitent people. We and our countrymen are finners, aggravated finners : God proclaims that we are fuch by his judgments now upon us, by withering fields and fcanty harvefts, by the found of the trumpet and the alarm of war. Our confciences must also bear witness to the fame melancholy truth. And if my heart were properly affected, I would concur with these undoubted witnesses; I would cry aloud, and not fpare ; I would lift up my voice like a trumpet, to thew you your tranfgreflions and your fins. O, my country, is not thy wickedness great, and thine iniguities infinite? Where is there a more finful fpot to be

### Serm. 61. Religion and Patriotifm.

be found upon our guilty globe? Pafs over the land, take a furvey of the inhabitants, infpect into their conduct, and what do you fee? what do you hear? You fee gigantic forms of vice braving the fkies, and bidding defiance to heaven and earth, while religion and virtue is obliged to retire, to avoid public contempt and infult : You fee herds of drunkards fwilling down their cups and drowning all the man within them : You hear the fwearer venting his fury against God and man, triffing with that name which proftrate angels adore, and imprecating that damnation, under which the hardieft devil in hell trembles and groans : You fee Avarice hoarding up her ufelefs treasures, difhoneft Craft planning her fchemes of unlawful gain, and Oppreffion unmercifully grinding the face of the poor: You feeProdigality fquandering her ftores, Luxury fpreading her table, and unmanning her guefts; Vanity laughing aloud, and diffolving in empty, unthinking mirth, regardlefs of God and our country, of time and eternity; Senfuality wallowing in brutal pleafures, and afpiring with inverted ambition, to fink as low as her four-footed brethren of the stall : You fee cards more in use than the Bible, the backgammon table more frequented than the table of the Lord, plays and romances more read than the hiftory of the bleffed Jefus. You fee trifling and even criminal diverfions become a ferious bufinefs ; the iffue of a horferace, or a cock-fight, more anxioufly attended to than the fate of our country; or where these groffer forms of vice and vanity do not flock your fenfes, even there you often meet with the appearances of more refined impiety, which is equally dangerous : You hear the conversation of reasonable creatures, of candidates for eternity, engrossed by trifles, or vainly wasted on the affairs of time : these are the eternal fubjects of conversation, even at the threshold of

the houfe of God, and on the facred hours devoted to his fervice : You fee fwarms of prayerless families all over our land; ignorant, vicious children, unrefirained

Serm. 61.

ftrained and untaught by those to whom God and nature hath entrusted their fouls : You fee thousands of poor flaves in a Christian country, the property of Christian masters, as they will be called, almost as ignorant of Chriftianity as when they left the wilds of Africa: You fee the best religion in all the world abused, neglected, disobeyed and dishonoured by its professions; and you hear infidelity feattering her ambiguous hints and fuspicions, or openly attacking the Christian cause with pretended argument, with infult and ridicule : You fee crowds of profeffed believers, that are practical atheifts ; nominal Chriftians, that are real heathens; many abandoned flaves of fin, that yet pretend to be the fervants of the holy Jefus : You fee the ordinances of the gofpel neglected by fome, profaned by others, and attended upon by the generality with a trifling irreverence, and fludied unconcernedness. Alas! who would think that those thoughtless affemblies we often see in our places of worfhip, are met for fuch folemn purpofes as to implore the pardon of their fins from an injured God, and to prepare for an awful, all-important eternity! Alas! is that religion, for the propagation of which the Son of God laboured, and bled, and died; for which his apoftles and thousands of martyrs have fpent their ftrength and fhed their blood, and on which our eternal life depends-is that religion become fuch a trifle in our days, that men are hardly ferious and in earnest when they attend upon its most folemn inftitutions? What multitudes lie in a dead fleep in fin all around us! You fee them eager in the purfuit of the vanities of time, but flupidly unconcerned about the important realities of the eternal world just before them : few folicitous what shall become of them when all their connections with earth and flesh must be broken, and they must take their flight into ftrange, unknown regions : few lamenting their fins : few crying for mercy and a new heart : few flying to Jefus, or justly fensible of the importance of a Me-

#### Serm. 61. Religion and Patriotifm.

a Mediator in a religion for finners. You may indeed fee fome degree of civility and benevolence towards men, and more than enough of cringing complaifance of worms to worms, of clay to clay, of guilt to guilt : but Oh! how little fincere homage, how little affectionate veneration for the great Lord of heaven and earth! You may fee fomething of duty to parents, of gratitude to benefactors, and obedience to fuperiors : but if God be a Father, where is his honour ? If he be a Mafter, where is his fear ? If he be our benefactor, where is our gratitude to him ! You may fee here and there fome inftances of proud, felf-righteous virtue, fome appearances of morality : but O ! how rare is vital, evangelical religion, and true Christian morality, animated with the love of God, proceeding from a new heart, and a regard to the divine authority, full of Jefus, full of a regard to him as a Mediator, on whofe account alone our duties can find acceptance ! O, bleffed Redeemer ! what little neceffity, what little use do the finners of our country find for thee in their religion ! How many difcourfes are delivered, how many prayers offered, how many good works are performed, in which there is fcarce any thing of Chrift! And this defect renders them all but fhining fins, glittering crimes. How few pant and languish for thee, blcffed Jefus! and can never be contented with their reformation, with their morality, with their good works, till they obtain an intereft in thy righteoufnefs, to fanctify all, to render all acceptable !-- You may fee children fenfible of their dependance on their parents for their fubfistence ; you see multitudes fenfible of their dependance on clouds and fun, and earth, for provision for man and beast : but how few fensible of their dependance upon God, as the great Ori-

ginal, the *primum mobile* of natural caufes, and the various wheels of the univerfe! You fee even the dull ox knows his owner, and the flupid afs his mafter's crib: you fee the workings of gratitude even in your dog,

#### Religion and Patriotifm. Serm. 61.

dog, who welcomes you home with a thoufand fondling motions : but how is Jehovah's government and agency practically denied in his own territorics ! How few receive the bleffings of life as from his hand, and make him proper returns of gratitude ! You fee a withering, ravaged country around you, languishing under the frowns of an angry God ; but how few earneft prayers, how few penitential groans do you hear! Pafs over the land, and bring me intelligence, is not this the general character of our country ! I know there are fome happy exceptions; and I hope fundry fuch might be produced from among you : but is not this the prevailing character of a great majority? Does not one part or other of it belong to the generality? The most generous charity cannot hope the contrary, if under any fcriptural or rational limitations. May it not be faid of the men of Virginia, as well as those of Sodom, they are wicked, and finners before the Lord exceedingly? And thus, alas ! it has been for a long time : our country has finned on fecurely for above one hundred and fifty years; and one age has improved upon the vices of another. And can a land always bear up under fuch a load of accumulated wickedness ? Can God always fuffer fuch a race of finners to go unpunished from generation to generation? May we not fear that our iniquities are now just full, and that he is about to thunder out his awful mandate to the executioners of his vengeance, Put ye in the fickle; for the harvest is ripe; come get ye down, for the press is full, the vats overflow; for their wickedness is great.

And is there no relief for a finking country ? Or is it too late to administer it ? Is our wound incurable, that refuseth to be healed ? No, bleffed be God ; if you now turn every one of you from your evil ways, if you mourn over your fins, and turn to the Lord with your whole hearts, then your country will yet recover. God will appear for us, and give a profperous turn to our affairs; he has affured us of this in

384

in his own word, At what instant, fays he, I shall speak concerning a nation, and concerning a kingdom, to pluck up, and to pull down, and to destroy it; if that nation, against whom I have pronounced, turn from their evil, I will repent of the evil that I thought to do unto them. Jer. xviii. 7, 8. Therefore, my brethren, as we have all rebelled, let us all join in unanimous repentance, and a thorough reformation. Not only your eternal falvation requires it, but also the prefervation of your country, that is now bleeding with the wounds you have given it by your fins. The fafety of these our friends, who are now engaged in fo generous a defign, requires it : for an army of faints or of heroes, cannot defend a guilty, impenitent people, ripe for the judgments of God. If you would be everlafting-ly happy, and efcape the vengeance of eternal fire, or (to mention what may perhaps have more weight with fome of you) if you would preferve yourfelves, your families, your posterity from poverty, from flavery, ignorance, idolatry, torture and death; if you would fave yourselves and them from all the infernal horrors of popery, and the favage tyranny of a mongrel race of French and Indian conquerors : in fhort, if you would avoid all that is terrible, and enjoy every thing that is dear and valuable, repent and turn to the Lord. This is the only cure for our wounded country; and if you refuse to administer it in time, prepare to perish in its ruins. If you go on impenitent in fin, you may expect not only to be damned for ever, but (what is more terrible to fome of you) to fall into the most extreme outward diftrefs. You will have reafon to fear not only the lofs of heaven, which fome of you perhaps think little of, but the lofs of your estates, that lie fo near your hearts. And will you not repent, when you are pref-fed to it from fo many quarters at once?

And now, my brethren, in the last place, I have a few parting words to offer to you who are more particularly concerned on this occasion; and I am fure VOL. III. Ddd I fhall

Serm. 61.

I fhall addrefs you with as much affectionate benevolence as you could wifh.

My first and leading advice to you is, Labour to conduct this expedition in a religious manner. Methinks this fhould not feem ftrange counfel to creatures entirely dependent upon God, and at his difpofal. As you are an independent company of volunteers under officers of your own chufing, you may manage your affairs more according to your own inclinations than if you had enlifted upon the ordinary footing : and I hope you will improve this advan-tage for the purpofes of religion. Let prayer to the God of your life be your daily exercife. When retirement is fafe, pour out your hearts to him in fecret ; and when it is practicable, join in prayer together morning and evening in your camp. How acceptable to Heaven must fuch an unufual offering be, from that defart wildernefs! Maintain a fense of divine Providence upon your hearts, and refign yourfelves and all your affairs into the hands of God. You are engaged in a good caufe, the caufe of your people, and the cities of your God; and therefore you may the more boldly commit it to him, and pray and hope for his bleffing. I would fain hope there is no neceffity to take precautions againft vice among fuch a felect company : but left there fhould, I would humbly recommend it to you to make this one of the article: of your affociation, before you fet out, That every form of vice shall be feverely difcountenanced; and if you think proper, expose the offender to fome pecuniary or corporal punifhment. It would be fhocking indeed, and I cannot bear the thought, that a company formed upon fuch generous principles, fhould commit or tolerate open wickednefs among them; and I hope this caution is needlefs to you all, as I am fure it is to fundry of you.

And now, my dear friends, and the friends of your neglected country, In the name of the Lord lift up your banners; be of good courage, and play the men for the people Serm. 62.

#### The Crifis.

people and the cities of your God : and the Lord do what feemeth him good. Should I now give vent to the paffions of my heart, and become a fpeaker for my country, methinks I fhould even overwhelm you with a torrent of good wifhes, and prayers from the hearts of thoufands. May the Lord of hofts, the God of the armies of Ifrael, go forth along with you ! May be teach your bands to war, and gird you with firength to battle ! May he blefs you with a fafe return and long life, or a glorious death in the bed of honour, and a happy immortality ! May he guard and fupport your anxious families and friends at home, and return you victorious to their longing arms ! May all the bleffings your hearts can wifh attend you whereever you go ! Thefe are wifhes and prayers of my heart ; and thoufands concur in them : and we cannot but cheerfully hope they will be granted, through Jefus Chrift. Amen.

# SERMON LXII.

THE CRISIS: OR, THE UNCERTAIN DOOM OF KING-DOMS AT PARTICULAR TIMES.\*

JONAH iii. 9. Who can tell if God will turn and repent, and turn away from his fierce anger, that we perifinot !

A State of uncertainty, a fußpenfe between hope and fear about a matter of importance, is a very painful and anxious flate. And by how much the more important and interefting the matter, by fo much

\* Preached at Hanover, in Virginia, 28th Oct. 1756, being the day appointed by the Synod of New-York, to be observed as a general fast, on account of the prefent war with France.

much the more diffreffing is the uncertainty. Now what can be more important, what more interesting, than our country! Our country is a word of the higheft and most endearing import : it includes our friends and relatives, our liberty, our property, our religion : in fhort, it includes our earthly all. And when the fate of our country, and all that it includes, is dreadfully doubtful; when we are toffed and agitated betwixt the alternate waves of hope and fear ; when, upon taking a view of the prefent posture of our affairs, we can only ask with painful folicitude, what will be the end of thefe things? and when even the confideration of the divine mercy upon our repentance cannot give us any affurance of deliverance in a political capacity, but only a peradventure, who can tell but God will turn and repent ! when this, I fay, is our fituation, every mind that has the leaft thought, must be agitated with many eager, dubious expectations. This is the prefent fituation of our country; and this was the flate of that populous and magnificent city of Nineveh, when the words of my text were first spoken.

Nineveh was the metropolis of the Affyrian empire: and how prodigiously populous it was, you may calculate from hence, that it contained more than fix fcore thousand children, that were fo young, that they could not diftinguish the right hand from the left : and the number of adults, in proportion to these, must be vast indeed. Its extent was no less than three days journey. Profane authors tell us, it was forty-feven miles in circumference; and that notwithftanding its vaft extent, it was furrounded with lofty walls and towers : the walls two hundred feet high, and fo very wide, that three chariots might drive on them a-breast : and the towers two hundred feet in height, and fifteen hundred in number. But what became of this mighty Nineveh at laft? Alas ! it was turned into an heap of rubbish. Divine patience was at length wearied out; and, though the vengeance

#### Serm. 62.

vengeance denounced by Jonah was fufpended, yet that foretold by Nahum was dreadfully executed.

And what was the caufe of this execution, and that denunciation? The caufe of both was fin; national, epidemical fin, against an unknown God, the God of Ifrael; I fay, against an unknown God : for Nineveh was an heathen city, not favoured with the knowledge of the true God by fupernatural revelation ; much lefs with the gospel, that most perfect difpenfation of divine grace towards the fons of men. The Ninevites could not fin with fuch horrid aggravations as we; and yet even they could fin to fuch a degree, as to become utterly intolerable. They finned against the light of nature, and that fufficed to bring down remedilefs deftruction upon them. This is mentioned as the caufe of the divine difpleafure, in Jonah's commission. Arise, go to Nineveh, that great city, and cry against it; for their wickedness is come up be-fore me, Jonah i. 2. their wickedness has reached to heaven; and can no longer be endured. But before the fatal blow fall, let them have one warning more -Oh! how aftonishing are the grace and patience of God towards a guilty people ! Even when their wick-ednefs has fcaled the heavens, and come up before him, he condefcends to give them another warning, and fufpends the blow for at leaft forty days longer, to fee if they will at length repent.

Jonah, having tried in vain to difengage himfelf from the meffage, is at length conftrained to undertake it; and with the folemn and awful gait of a prophet, he walks from fireet to fireet, making this alarming proclamation: *Yet forty days, and Nineveh fhall be overthrown.* Jonah iii. 4. This was the fubftance of his fermon: but no doubt he fpoke much more than is here recorded. No doubt, he produced his credentials from the God of Ifrael, and gave them the hiftory of his reluctance to accept the commifien; of the ftorm that purfued him, while attempting to make his efcape; of his miraculous prefervation in the

#### The Crifis.

the belly of a fifh, and his deliverance thence. No doubt, he alfo let them know what was the caufe of the divine difpleafure against them, viz. their national vices and irreligion; and he perhaps intimated, that repentance was the only possible method of efcaping the threatened destruction. It is plain, however, they understood him in this fense; for they actually did repent; but whether it was from the light of nature, or from Jonah's preaching, they received this direction, does not appear. \*

And now, while the prophet is delivering his meffage, their confciences tell them how ripe they are for this dreadful doom; and the Spirit of God, no doubt, concurs, and impresses the conviction upon their hearts. Now, methinks, I fee eager, gazing crowds following the prophet from ftreet to ftreet; palenefs is in every countenance, and horror in every heart. Now the man of business remits his eager purfuits; the man of pleafure is ftruck with a damp in his thoughtlefs career : pride and grandeur lower their haughty airs; and a general horror fpreads from the cottage to the throne. The people agree upon a public faft : and when the emperor hears of the awful meffage, he iffues forth his royal edict, requiring an univerfal abstinence from food, and a deep repentance and reformation. He enjoins all to put on fackcloth, the habit of mourners and penitents in those ages and countries; and, laying afide his royal robes, and

\* Upon fecond thoughts, it feems to me that God faw it moft proper to be upon the referve in this point ; and that he did not reveal to Jonah his gracious defign to pardon them upon their repentance ; nor Jonah to the Ninevites. — That God did not reveal it to Jonah, feems probable from hence, that he had fome expectation the city would be deftroyed, though he faw their repentance : and hence he waited for the event, and was greatly chagrined when difappointed. He feemed indeed to have prefamed what the event would be, from the known mercy and patience of God (ch, iv. 2.) but this implies, that he had no exprefs revelation for it— That Jonah did not reveal this to the Ninevites, appears from my text, where they fpeak of the event as dreadfully uncertain, even though they fhould repent.

#### Serm. 62.

and defcending from his throne, he puts on the mortifying drefs himfelf, and lies in the duft. That the humiliation might be the more moving and affecting, he orders, according to the cuftom of the time upon fuch folemn occafions, that even the beafts, the flocks and herds, fhould be reftrained from food, and compelled to join, as it were, with more guilty men, in the general humiliation, and in deprecating that vengeance which was about to fall upon man and beaft.

We have now a very moving fight before us; a gay, magnificent city in mourning; thoufands mourning in every fireet : king and fubjects; high and low, old and young, all covered in fackcloth, and rolling in afhes. And their repentance does not wholly confift in these ceremonies : the royal proclamation further requires them to cry mightily unto God ; and turn every one from his evil way. They are fensible of the propriety and neceffity of prayer, earnest prayer to God, and a reformation of life, as well as of afflicting themselves with fasting. The light of nature directed them to this as the only method of deliverance, if deliverance was possible. The case of such a people looks hopeful :- That fo many thousands should be brought to repentance by one warning, the first and only warning they had ever received from a prophet of the true God ; a prophet that was a contemptible ftranger from the defpifed nation of the Jews; this certainly appears promifing.

Alas ! brethren, our countrymen are not fo eafily brought to repentance : No, this is not an eafy thing among us. Ten thoufand warnings, not only from confcience, from divine providence, from this very Jonah, and the other prophets of the Old Teftament, but alfo from the gofpel, that clear and perfect revelation; I fay, ten thoufand warnings, thus peculiarly enforced, have not fo much effect upon our country, this Chriftian, this Proteftant country, as one flort warning from the mouth of Jonah had upon a city of heathens and idolaters. All along as I have been confidering

#### The Crifis.

confidering this cafe, I could not caft out of my mind that dreadful declaration of Chrift, The men of Nineveb shall rife up in judgment with this generation, and Shall condemn it; because they repented at the preaching of Jonas; and behold, a greater than Jonas is here. Matt. xii. 41. Nineveh never had fuch loud calls to repentance, and fuch a rich plenty of all the means of grace, as Virginia. The meaneft in the kingdom of heaven, i. e. the meanest Christian under the full revelation of the gofpel, is greater in fpiritual knowledge, not only than Jonah, but than John the Baptift, the greatest prophet that was ever born of a woman. And therefore,' I may accommodate these words to us, Behold, a greater than Jonas is here. Here are clearer difcoveries of the will of God, and ftronger motives and encouragements to repentance, than ever Jonah could afford the men of Nineveh. But alas ! where is our repentance ! Where are our humiliation and reformation! Shall the light of nature, and one warning from a prophet, bring heathens to the knee before God; and shall not the gospel, and all its loud calls, have that effect upon a Chriftian land! Shall Nineveh repent in fackcloth and afhes; and fhall Virginia fin on still, impenitent, thoughtlefs, luxurious and gay! Alas! what will be the end of this?

The cafe of the Ninevites, who were brought to repentance fo readily, and fo generally, looks hopeful, and feems to promife them an exemption from the threatened vengeance. And yet, fo fenfible was the king of Nineveh of their demerit, and the infufficiency of their repentance to make atonement for their fins, that he is doubtful, after all, what would be the confequence. Who can tell, fays he; who knoweth, if God will turn and repent, and turn away from the fiercenefs of his anger, that we perifb not! q. d. Let us humble ourfelves ever fo low, we are not affured we fhall efcape : vengeance may, after all, feize us ; and we may be made monuments to all the world of the juffice of the King of kings, and the dreadful confequences quences of national impiety and vice. His uncertainty in this matter might proceed from the just fense he had of the intolerable height to which the national wickedness had arrived, and of the ftrictness of the divine juffice. He knew that, even in his own go-vernment, it would have very bad confequences, if all crimes fhould be forgiven, or pafs unpunifhed, upon the repentance of the offender: and he forms the fame judgment concerning the divine government. Indeed, it is natural to a penitent, while he has a full view of his fins, in all their aggravations, and of the justice of God, to question whether fuch fins can be forgiven by fo holy a God. He is apt even to fall into an extreme in this respect. It does not now ap-Now it appears a great thing indeed; fo great, that he can hardly think it poffible. Or the uncertainty of the king of Nineveh in this point might proceed from Jonah's being fo referved upon it. He might have had no commiffion from God to promife them deliverance upon their repentance; but he was to warn them, and then leave them in the hands of a gracious and righteous God, to deal with them accor-ding to his pleafure. This tended to make them more fenfible that they lay at mercy, and that he might justly do what he pleafed with them. The event indeed flewed there was a condition implied in the threatening; and that God did fecretly intend to fpare them, upon their repentance. But this was wifely concealed, and it was fufficient that the event fhould make it known. It is certain that national as well as perfonal repentance, may fometimes come too late; and that fometimes the punifhment may fall by way of chastifement, even when the repentance is fincere, and the fin is forgiven, fo that it fhall not bring on the destruction of the finner in the eternal world. But we may well fuppofe, an heathen monarch, who probably had no inffruction but from Jonah's fhort VOL. III. Eee warning, warning, would be much at a lofs about thefe things. From this uncertainty of his about the fate of his empire, we may infer this truth, which I intend to illuftrate with regard to ourfelves, viz.

That fometimes a nation may be in fuch a fituation, that no man can tell what will be the iffue; or whether it fhall be delivered from the threatened vengeance, or deftroyed.

But though the king of Ninevch was uncertain about this; yet, there was one thing that he was very certain of, viz. That if there was any poffibility of efcape, it was to be hoped for only in the way of earneft prayer to God, general humiliation and reformation. This is evident from the connection of the context. Let man and beast, fays he, be covered with fackcloth, and cry mightily to God, yea, let them turn every one from his evil way :- Who can tell if God will turn and repent, and turn away from his fierce anger, that we perifb not ! i. e. Who can tell but he may turn away from his fierce anger, in cafe we turn from our evil ways, and humble ourfelves before him? If we do not reform, and humble ourfelves, the cafe is dreadfully plain; any one can tell that we cannot efcape; there is not fo much as a peradventure for it; unavoidable destruction will be our doom, beyond all question. But if we repent, who knows what that may do? Who knows but God may repent, and turn from the fiercenefs of his wrath ! If there be any hope at all, it is in this way. This he learned from the light of nature, if not from Jonah's preaching. And this fuggefts another feafonable truth, which, if my time will allow, I fhall alfo illustrate, viz.

That when a nation is in fuch a ftate, that no man can certainly determine what will be its doom, if there be any possible hope, it is only in the way of general humiliation, earnest prayer and public reformation.

To prevent miltakes, I have one thing more to obferve upon the text; and that is, that when God is faid to repent, it only fignifies, that the visible conduct

of

of divine Providence has fome refemblance to the conduct of men, when they repent; and not that he is capable of repentance in a proper fenfe, or of that changeablenefs, imperfect knowledge, forrow and felfaccufation, which repentance among men implies .---When men repent that they have made a thing, they deftroy it ; and therefore, when God deftroyed man by a deluge, he is faid to repent that he made him; and when he deposed Saul, it is faid, he repented that he had made him king. When men do not execute their threatenings, it is fuppofed they repent of them; and hence, when God does not inflict the threatened evil, he is faid to repent of the evil; i. e. he acts as men do when they repent of their purpofe; though when he made the denunciation, he well knew the event, and determined not to execute it, upon the repentance of the offenders. So with regard to Ni-neveh, there was no proper repentance in God, but an uniform, confistent purpose. He purposed to denounce his vengeance against that city; and he did fo: he purposed and forefaw their repentance; and it accordingly came to pafs : he purposed to spare them upon their repentance; and he did fo. All this is very confiftent, and implies no proper repentance in God : for in this fenfe, God is not a man, that he should repent, Numb. xxiii. 19. but he is of one mind, and who can turn him? and what his foul defireth, even that he doth. Job xxiii. 13.

I now enter upon the illustration of the first inference upon the text, viz.

I. That fometimes a nation may be in fuch a fituation, that no man can tell what will be their doom ; whether the threatened vengeance willfall upon them, or whether they fhall efcape.

This, we have feen, was the fituation of Ninevch, though now lying in deep repentance, and not in danger, as far as appears from any vifible caufe. Thoufands were now mourning, praying, and reforming; and we have no account of an enemy preparing to invade

invade them. And if Nineveh, in this fituation, which feems fo promifing, was, notwithftanding, in fuch danger that no man could determine what would be their doom, alas ! what shall we fay of Virginia, and the kingdoms to which we belong, when they are neither penitent before God, nor fafe from the arms of a powerful and victorious enemy? If the repentance of the Ninevites gave them no affurance of escape, but only a peradventure, Who can tell if God will turn from his fierce anger? Certainly our doom must, at best, be equally uncertain, when, instead of repentance, reformation and mighty crying to God, we fee the generality impenitent, unreformed and prayerless ftill? I would not damp you with unmanly fears ; but I cannot help faying, that our doom is difinally uncertain. I know not what a provoked God intends to do with us and our nation. I have my hopes indeed; but they are balanced, and fometimes overbalanced, with fearful and gloomy apprehenfions. But,

1. The iffue of the prefent war will appear dreadfully uncertain, if we confider the prefent pofture of affairs.

We are engaged in war with a powerful, exafperated enemy; and blood is ftreaming by fea and land. Some decifive blow will probably be ftruck ere long : but on what party it will fall, and what will be the iffue of this ftruggle and commotion among the nations, is an anxious uncertainty. It feems but too likely, though it ftrikes me with horror to admit the thought, that a provoked God intends to fcourge us with the rod of France, and therefore gives furprifing fuccefs to her arms. Who can tell, but the king of France may have the fame commission given him by that God, whom we and our mother-country have fo grievoully offended, as was given to the Affyrian monarch, in Ifaiah's time, when God fpeaks of him as his rod, to chaftife his own people, and as acting by a commission from him, though he neither knew nor defigned

Serm. 62.

#### The Crifis.

defigned it, but only intended to gratify his own ambition? O Affyrian, the rod of mine anger, and the staff in their hand is mine indignation. I will fend him against an hypocritical nation ; and again/t the people of my wrath will I give him a charge to take the fpoil, and to take the prey, and to tread them down like the mire of the streets. Howbeit, he meaneth not fo ; neither doth his heart think fo: but it is in his heart to destroy, and cut off nations not a few. But at the fame time it is foretold, That when the Lord hath performed his whole work upon mount Zion, and on Jerusalem, I will punish the fruit of the stout heart of the king of Affyria, and the glory of his high looks. Ifa. x. 5, 6, 7, 12. And if the fame commission be given to the king of France, I doubt not but his end will be the fame. When God has finished his work of correction with this rod, he will break it, or burn it in the fire. The like commission was given to Nebuchadnezzar, king of Babylon; and when he, and his fon, and his fon's fon, had ferved as the executioners of God's wrath upon his people, and the neighbouring nations, they and the Babylonian empire were destroyed together. Thus faith the Lord of hosts, because ye have not heard my words, behold, I will fend and take all the families of the north, faith the Lord, and Nebuchadnezzar the king of Babylon, my fervant (my fervant, to execute this my work of correction, and of vengeance) and I will bring them against this land, and against the inhabitants thereof, and against all these nations round about, and I will utterly destroy them, and make them an aftonifhment, and an hiffing, and perpetual defolations-But it Shall come to pass, when seventy years are accomplified (the fpace of time allotted for his power, and the correction of God's people) that then will I punify the king of Babylon, and that nation, faith the Lord, for their iniquity, and the land of the Chaldeans, and will make it perpetual defolations. (Jer. xxv. 8-12 -14.) Thus you fee it is no uncommon thing for God, when tranfgressions are come to the full, to raife up fome power to perform his work of chaftifement

ment and vengeance, and render it victorious and irrefiftible, till that work is done, and then to crufh it in its turn. And whether divine Providence is now about to employ the power of France for this purpole, is a dreadful uncertainty. We hope, indeed, matters will take a more favourable turn ; but the prefent pofture of affairs, and particularly the rapid conquefts of that power, which is now become fo formidable even in America, give us reafon to fear this may be the event, and that matters are now ripening faft for this terrible refult.

I may add, that we have reafon to fear from the d'isposition and conduct of many among ourselves, fome in high places have been fufpected of treachery or cowardice, or at least bad conduct. A spirit of fecurity, floth and cowardice, evidently prevails; nothing great is fo much as attempted, much lefs execuited. We have also fo many black foreigners among ourfelves, as may juftly alarm our fears. Now if the French fhould invade our frontiers; if the Indians, that are now neuter, or in the British interest, fhould join with them, and with those tribes that are already fo active upon their fide; and if their united forces fhould pour down upon us, and meet with a welcome reception and affiftance from fo powerful an enemy among ourfelves; I fay, fhould this be the cafe, I need not tell you what unexampled fcenes of blood, cruelty and devastation would open in our country. This may not be the event; and I hope and pray it may not : but it is not fo improbable as we could wifh; much lefs is it impoffible. Who knows but this may actually be the confequence!

And if the natural allies of France fhould form a confederacy against our mother-country, and attack her with their united strength, how terrible would the confequences probably be, both to her and to us, especially if the Protestant powers should not vigorously concur with us against them ! This event may not not happen; and I hope and pray it may not: but it is not fo unlikely as one could with. But,

2. The event of the prefent war will appear difmally doubtful, if we confider fome Scripture prophecies, particularly in Daniel and the Revelations. I cannot pretend to enter deeply into this fubject

I cannot pretend to enter deeply into this fubject at prefent; a fubject that has filled fo many volumes, and employed the thoughts and pens of fo many great men. It will be fufficient to my prefent purpofe to obferve,

(1.) That the idolatrous perfecuting power of Popery, feated at Rome, is undoubtedly meant by the little horn in Daniel (Dan. vii. 8.) that rofe up out of the Roman empire, when it was divided into ten kingdoms by the barbarous nations that broke in upon it : an horn which had a mouth, fpeaking great things ; which made war with the faints, and prevailed against them; an horn which speaks great things against the Most High, and wears out the saints of the Most High; and thinks to change times and laws, i. e. to alter and corrupt the ordinances of God. ver. 24, 25. The fame idolatrous, perfecuting power is alfo intended in the Revelations, (Rev. xiii.) by the beaft with feven heads and ten horns, that had a mouth given him, speaking great things, and blasphemies : and he opened his mouth in blasphemy against God, &c. and it was given unto him to make war with the faints, and to overcome them ; and power was given him over all kindreds, and tongues, and nations; and all that dwell on the earth shall worship him, whofe names are not written in the Lamb's book of life. The fame indolatrous and perfecuting power is intended likewife by the woman (Rev. xvii.) fitting upon a fearlet-coloured beaft, having feven heads, and ten borns ; full of names of blafphemy, and drunk with the blood of the faints, and with the blood of the martyrs of Jefus. Protestant commentators generally agree in this application of these prophecies to the Papal power; but I cannot take time to lay before you the full evidence upon which they proceed. However, I cannot

I cannot but just obferve, that the angel-interpreter expressly tells St. John, that this woman was that great city which then reigned over the kings of the earth (ver. xviii.) which undoubtedly means the city of Rome, that was then the feat of universal empire. But,

(2.) The time of the reign of this idolatrous and perfecuting power is determined in prophetic numbers, both in Daniel and the Revelations. In Daniel, it is faid, the faints shall be given into the hand of the horns until a time, times, and the dividing of time, Dan. vii. 25. and that he shall fcatter the power of the holy people for a time, times, and half a time. Dan. xii. 7. In the Revelations, we are told that the church of Chrift, reprefented by a woman, shall continue in the wilderness, i. e. in a state of oppreflion and perfecution, under the Popifh power, for a time, times, and half a time, Rev. xii. 14. that the outer court of the temple, and the holy city, another emblem of the true church of Chrift, /hall be given to the Gentiles, i. e. fubjected to a power no better than heathen, and by them trodden under foot forty-two months; that the church fhould be fed in the wildernefs for twelve hundred and fixty days, Rev. xii. 6. and that the two witnesses, i. e. the finall remnant of the faithful who fhall retain the purity of the gofpel, and witnefs against the corruptions of the church of Rome, [hall prophely twelve hundred and fixty days in fackcloth. Thefe are but different reprefentations of the fame period : and in order to underftand them you are to obferve, that, in this calculation, a day fignifies a year; and therefore twelve hundred and fixty days are twelve hundred and fixty years. A month confifts of thirty fuch days, i. e. thirty years; for the months among the ancients were invariably made up of but thirty days, as their year confifted only of three hundred and fixty days. Now forty-two months, multiplied by thirty, just make twelve hundred and fixty years. So time fignifies one year, times two years, and half a time,

a time, or the dividing of time, half a year : now one year and two years making three years, and the half year added to them make three years and a half. Thefe three years and a half contain thrice three hundred and fixty years, and the half of three hundred and fixty (viz. one hundred and eighty) which make exactly twelve hundred and fixty years. So that all these calculations amount to the fame thing, viz. twelve hundred and fixty years. This is undoubt-edly the duration of the Popifh tyranny, and of the opprefion of the faints, and the caufe of truth. Now if we could find out when it begun, whether when the Pope usurped and exercised the substance of ecclefiaftical authority as univerfal bishop, which was in the fifth century; or when he was formerly invefted with that authority by the emperor Phocas, A. D. 606; or when he was made a fecular prince, and had a civil authority added to his ecclefiaftical, by Pipin, king of France, A. D. 756; I fay, if we could find out when this fpace of twelve hundred and fixty years began, we could eafily find out when it will end : and this would help us to determine what will be the event of the prefent war, whether the oppreffion of the Protestant cause, or the downfal of the bloody power of Popery, that has undoubtedly held the world in ignorance, idolatry and flavery, for above a thousand years. But after all the fearches I can make, I am not able to form a certain determination upon the point; and commentators differ fo widely among themselves, that I have received but little light from them. I must therefore leave you in that uncertainty, in which I am myfelf; and confequently deflitute of light from these predictions concerning the event of the prefent war. But,

(3.) Though this period of twelve hundred and fixty years is to be, all through, a feries of tyranny and perfecution; and the caufe of truth and its advocates are continually under oppression; yet there is a short space in this period, I suppose, from the Vol. III. F f f calculation

calculation in the Revelation, Rev. xi. g. about three years and a half, in which the caufe of truth shall feem entirely suppressed, and its friends utterly extinct; fo that there will be no human probability of their revival, any more than of a human body that has lain dead three days and a half. And upon this the Popifh powers shall exult and triumph, as if they had obtained an entire and lafting victory. This is probably the time referred to in Daniel (chap. xii. 1.) as a time of trouble, such as never was since there was a nation, even to that time. During the reft of the twelve hundred and fixty days, the witneffes prophefied in fackcloth, in a flate of mourning and perfecution : but in this period they are killed; and their dead bodies lie, unburied and infulted, in the freet of the great city, *i. e.* in the Roman territories : and they that dwell upon the earth shall rejoice over them, and make merry, and fend gifts one to another. Rev. xi. 7-10. This is a melancholy time indeed for the few fervantsof Jefus Chrift. And who can tell, whether it be past, or whether it be future, and the issue of the prefent war? I could eafily lay before you the opinions of good and great men on this point; but they are fo various, that they could not bring you to any certain conclusion upon it. Some suppose it past; and that it was either a little before the Reformation, when the Albigenfes and Waldenfes, who had been witneffes for a long time against the corruptions of popery, were, in appearance, utterly extirpated by a feries of bloody perfecutions, at the Pope's inftigation : and if this was the period, then the refurrection of the witneffes, and their being caught up into heaven, must fignify the revival of their caufe at the Reformation, and the raifing up of Luther, Calvin, and other reformers, in the fame fpirit. Or, as others fuppofe, this melancholy time was about the year 1550, when the perfecution raged in England under Queen Mary, and the civil wars in France, Germany, and the Low Countries, on account of religion, fcemed

402

 $\epsilon_{1}$  ) threaten the utter extinction of the Protestant cause. Those that suppose this time is past, have stundry arguments, that are at least plausible, to support their opinion; and if I have any opinion at all, in so doubtful a matter, I incline to this.

There are others, of no fmall judgment in fuch matters, that apprehend this melancholy period is yet to come; and they too have their reafons, which I cannot now mention. And if this be the cafe, who can tell but the melancholy time is now at hand, and that the prefent commotions in Europe are working up to it? This is certain, it will be introduced by war : for we are expressly told, that when the two witneffes have finished their testimony, the beast shall make war against them, and shall overcome them and kill them, Rev. xi. 7. and that just before the pouring out of the feventh vial, which fhall utterly deftroy the popifh powers, and introduce the kingdom of Chrift, the kings of the earth, by popifh inftigation, fhall gather themfelves together to the battle of the great day of God Almighty, in a place called Armageddon (Rev. xvi. 13, 14, 16.) or Megiddo, where good Jo-fiah, the great reformer of the Jewifh religion, was flain. I faw the beast, fays St. John, and the kings of the earth and their armics, gathered together to make war against him that fat on the horse, i. e. against Jefus Chrift and his army. Rev. xix. 19. Popery will die hard, and its last struggles be very violent. It will collect all its forces, and make a bold push to recover its loft authority : and this will undoubtedly be attended with much flaughter. But whether it will be victorious in the first attack, and at this time flay the witneffes; or whether the Lamb and his army fhall immediately prevail, as he certainly will at laft ; \* this feems uncertain. Now who can tell, but the prefent war is the commencement of this grand decifive conflict

\* See the final iffue of this grand decifive conflict, deferibed in most lively terms, Rev. xix. from ver. 11. ad fin.

flict between the Lamb and the beaft, i. e. between the protestant and popifh powers? The pope first received his principality and fecular authority from Pipin, one of the kings of France : and there feems to be fomething congruous in it, that France fhould alfo take the lead, and be, as it were, the general of his forces in this laft decifive conflict for the fupport of that authority. This is also remarkable, and almost peculiar to the prefent war, viz. That protestants and papifts are not blended together in it by promifcuous alliances: but France and her allies are all papifts; and Britain and her allies are all protestants; and confequently whatever party fall, the religion of that party is like to fall too. If France and her allies fhould prove victorious, then we may conclude the period for flaying the witneffes is just coming. But if Britain and her allies fhould be victorious, then we may conclude that time is past, and that the time is just come when it shall be proclaimed, Babylon is fallen ! is fallen ! but all this is uncertain, at leaft to me, till the event make it plain; and for that we must wait with anxious fufpenfe.

But here I cannot help mentioning one thing, to mitigate your anxieties; and that is, that however bloody and defolating this laft conflict may be, it will bring about the most glorious and happy revolution that ever was in the world. It will quite change the face of things, introduce a new heaven and a new earth, wherein righteousness shall dwell ; and it will new-model the kingdoms of the world, and they shall become the kingdoms of our Lord and of his Christ; and he shall reign for ever, Rev. xi. 15. then Satan shall be bound, and Chrift shall reign in the hearts of men, a thoufand years. How remarkable upon this head are the prophecies of Daniel, above two thousand years ago ! I beheld, fays he, and the little horn made war with the faints, and prevailed against them until the Ancient of Days came ; i. e. came to give dominion, and glory, and a kingdom to the Son of man, Dan. vii. 21, 22. and

and then judgment was given to the faints of the Most High; and the time came that the faints poffeffed the kingdom. ver. 13, 14.—They shall be uppermost in their turn, and be finally triumphant. All the other empires and kingdoms of the world have been fubject to revolutions, paffed from hand to hand, and at length fallen to pieces; but this, fays Daniel, is a kingdom which shall never be destroyed ; a kingdom that Shall not be left to other people; but it shall break to pieces and confume all the kingdoms that were before it; and it Shall Stand for ever. Dan. ii. 44 .- Hail, happy period ! how long wilt thou delay ? Lord Jefus, let thy kingdom come! let it come, though to make way for it, many thrones must totter that are now the fupporters of Antichrift : let it come, though many kingdoms fhould be overturned, and many countries ftream with blood; though we and millions more should be crushed in the grand revolution. See, brethren, the happy refult of all the commotions that are, or have been, on this reftlefs globe : fee to what a glorious end they all tend ! And who would not willingly live a while longer in this world of fin and forrow, and fhare in calamities of war, and all the plagues referved for the latter times, if he may but fee this bleffed period! But if we fhould not be fo happy as to fee it with mortal eyes, fuch of us as die in the Lord shall receive the welcome intelligence of it in heaven, and rejoice in it as much as its proper fubjects on earth .- You will forgive me, if I have dwelt too long upon this new and curious fubject. I shall now proceed with more hafte. Therefore,

3. The event of the prefent war, and the doom of our country and nation, will appear dreadfully uncertain if we confider our national guilt and impenitence.

Let Atheifts and Epicureans fay what they pleafe, it is an eternal truth, which all the world will be made to know at laft, that Jehovah is the ruler of the univerfe; that the fate of kingdoms is in his hands; that

that he is the Sovereign Arbiter of war, and determines victory as he pleafes. It is alfo certain that rewards and punifhments are as effential to his government as they are to all other governments. In the world to come he will reward or punish individuals, according to their perfonal works; and in the prefent world he will reward or punish nations, according to their national work;-in the prefent world, I fay, becaufe it is only in the prefent world they fubfift in a national capacity, and are capable of national rewards and punifhments. Now there is a time, when the tranfgreffors are come to the full, Dan. viii. 23. when the measure of a people's iniquity is filled up, and they are ripe for vengeance. And then the executioners of divine vengeance, the fword, famine, peftilential difeafes, earthquakes, and the like, are turned loofe among them, then the dread commiffion is iffued out, Put ye in the fickle, for the harvest is ripe; come, get ye down; for the prefs is full; the vats overflow; for their wickedness is great. Joel iii. 13. Then all the undertakings of fuch a people are blafted; and even the worft of the heathen (Ezek. vii. 24.) fucceed against them. That nation is thrown off from the hinge on which empire turns, and therefore must fall. The Lord of armies is against them; and by a fecret, but irrefiftible hand, brings on their deftruction.

Now whether that fatal period be arrived, with refpect to us and our nation, I will not determine; nor indeed am I capable : but I am fure it is not evident that it is not come : I am fure our land is full of fin againft the Holy One of Ifrael. On this fubject I have often enlarged; and now, I am afraid, it is a trite difregarded tale. The fins of our land lie heavy upon it : the fins of all ranks and denominations; the fins of paft and prefent generations; fins againft the law and againft the gofpel; fins againft mercies and againft judgments; fins in heart, in language, in practice; fins of all kinds and degrees, and againft all The Crifis.

Serm. 62.

all forts of obligations : Oh ! what a huge heap, what an intolerable burden, do all thefe fins make! The fins of many millions on both fides the Atlantic ! Our body politic is a huge mass of corruption ! the whole head is fick ; and the whole heart faint : from the fole of the foot unto the head there is no foundnefs in it, but all full of wounds, and bruifes, and putrifying fores. Ifa. i. 6. And does not this leave our doom in a dreadful fuspense? Who can tell what will be the fate of fo guilty a people ? Can we indulge high hopes with fuch a load of guilt upon us? Sin lies like a dead weight upon our counfels, our defigns and expeditions; and crushes all of them. What though our enemies be as wicked as ourfelves, with only this exception, that they have not our advantages, and therefore cannot fin with our aggravations? But what if they were in all refpects as bad? It has been no unufual thing for God to employ one guilty nation to execute his vengeance upon another; and when that drudgery is done (which, by the by, is more properly devolved upon a hated nation than upon his people; he has more beneficent and agreeable work for them) I fay, when that drudgery is done, he executes the execu-tioner : just as one among a number of criminals may be appointed to execute the reft; and then he is executed himfelf by fome other hand. Thus God employed the Affyrians and Babylonians to punifh his people, the Jews; and when they had, though undefignedly, done him that fervice, he punifies them in a yet feverer manner. And thus he threatens the Jews by Ezekiel, that he would bring the worft of the Heathen against them : they were good enough to be executioners. So he employs devils, the worft of beings, to execute his vengeance upon finners in hell. And fo in human governments, the refufe of mankind are appointed hangmen.

But though our land be fo full of fin, yet there would be fome ground to hope, could we fee any appearances of a general repentance and reformation. But,

But, alas ! where fhall we find it ? I have not been altogether a heedlefs obferver of the effects of the corrective and vindictive providences of God towards our land, the fword, a threatened famine, and a deadly, raging diftemper.\* "But I have been really flock-ed to observe the issue. I am afraid, that even the people of God are not fo effectually rouzed by thefe warnings as they fhould be. One would think they would be all life and vigour at fuch a time as this: but, alas! I am afraid it is otherwife. I am efpecially afraid that impenitent finners, inftead of being melted into repentance, are hardening more and more like clay in the fun. Alas! I fee and hear no more of ferious concern about eternal things among us, than if we lived in a healthy neighbourhood, and a peaceful, unmolested country. I am afraid the cafe of fome bears a difmal refemblance to that defcribed in Rev. xv. 10, 11. They gnawed their tongues for pain, and blasphemed the God of Heaven, because of their pains and their fores, and repented not of their deeds; no, they are fullenly obftinate to wickedness still.

Brethren, what are we doing? Are we alleep at fuch a time as this, when the judgments of Heaven are around us, and the fate of our country is fo terribly doubtful? For God's fake, for our foul's fake, for our country's fake, let us rouze ourfelves from our fecurity; let us humble ourfelves before God, and cry mightily to him; and who can tell but he may turn away from his fierce anger?—Which leads me to the fecond inference from my text, viz.

II. That when a nation is in fuch a doubtful fituation that no man can know its doom, if there be any hope, it is only in the way of repentance, reformation, and earneft prayer.

This appears the only way of hope on two accounts.

1. National

\* At this time a flux raged in the congregation, and elfewhere, which baffled all the power of medicine, and fwept off fome whole families almost entirely. Serm. 62.

1. National fin has a direct tendency, in its own nature, to weaken and deftroy a nation. It is the deadly difeafe of a body politic which will deftroy it, without the hand of an executioner. It fpreads corruption, injuftice, treachery, difcord, confufion, cowardice, through a nation; and it deftroys public fpirit, the love of our country, unanimity, courage, and all the focial and heroic virtues which naturally tend to ftrengthen, defend and advance a people. Now repentance, reformation and prayer, is the proper cure for this difeafe; it purges out thefe internal principles of death, and implants and cherifhes the oppofite principles of virtue and life. But this is not all; for,

2. Repentance, reformation and prayer, is the only method to turn away the difpleafure of God, and obtain his favour and protection. Sin brings on a people the curfe of a provoked God; and under this they fade and wither away, like a blafted flower, or a tree ftruck by lightning from heaven. But if it be poffible to remove it, and obtain the divine favour, it is only by deep humiliation before him, by a thorough reformation from those fins that provoke him, and by earnest cries for mercy. The light of nature taught the men of Nineveh that this was the only way of hope: and revelation affures us of the very fame thing. It is only to the penitent that the promifes of deliverance are made; and without repentance, we have no pofiible claim to them. Deliverances are generally anfwers to prayer; and therefore without earnest prayer we cannot expect them. National judgments are inflicted for national fins; and therefore reformation from national fins is the only hopeful way to escape them.

Therefore, my brethren, let us betake ourfelves to this only method of hope. Let us deeply humble ourfelves before God; let us cry mightily to him—and let us turn every one from our evil ways : and then, who Vol. III. Ggg can

### The Crifis.

can tell but God will turn and repent, and turn away from this fierce anger, that we perifh not?

But in all my exhortations of this kind, I must remember that repentance and reformation is the duty of fallen creatures; of creatures fo depraved and feeble, that they are not able, of themfelves, fo much as to apply the remedy. If you attempt this work with the pride of imaginary felf-fufficiency, you may be fure difappointment will be the confequence. Therefore remember, that it is the holy Spirit of God alone that is the author of a thorough repentance and effectual reformation. It is he alone that can effectually convince the world of fin. If he be abfent, legiflators may make laws against vice, philosophers may reafon, minifters may preach, nay, confcience may remonstrate, the divine law may prefcribe and threaten, the gofpel may invite and allure; but all will be in vain : all will not produce one true penitent. The ftrongeft arguments, the most melting intreaties, the most alarming denunciations, from God and man, enforced by the highest authority, or by the most compafionate tears, all will have no effect; all will not effectually reclaim one finner, nor gain one fincere profelyte to righteoufnefs: Paul, Apollos, and Cephas, with all their apoftolical abilities, can do nothing to the purpofe without the holy Spirit. Paul may plant, and Apollos water ; but God alone can give the increase. So then, neither is he that planteth any thing, nor he that watereth ; they are both nothing together : but God, who give th the increase (1 Cor. iii. 7.) is all in all. Till the Spirit be poured forth from on high, fays Isaiah, briars and thorns fhall come up upon the land of my people; i. c. Their country shall be laid waste, and be made a mere wilderness of briars and thorns, by the ravages of war : or the people themfelves shall be like briars and thorns, fruitlefs, noxious and troublefome. In this language the prophet Micah defcribes the fame people: the best of them is as a briar; the most upright is fharper than a thorn-hedge. (Micah vii. 4.) Such fhall

Serm. 62.

fhall they continue, until the holy Spirit be poured forth upon them from on high. But when the happy time comes, then the wilderness shall be a fruitful field; then judgment shall dwell in the wilderness, and. righteoufnels shall remain in the fruitful field. This effufion of the Spirit shall put an end to the defolation of war, and eftablish them in the possession of lasting and extensive peace : for, as it is there added, the work of righteoufnefs shall be peace, and the native effect of righteousness shall be quietness and affurance for ever : and my people shall dwell in a peaceable habitation, and in fure dwellings, and in quiet refting-places. (Ifa. xxxii. 13, 18.) You fee, my brethren, of how much importance and neceffity the Spirit is to produce a reformation, and that bleffed peace and fecurity, both perfonal and national, both within and without, which is the effect of it !

And how are we to expect his facred influences? Or in what way may we hope to attain them? The anfwer is, Pray for them : pray frequently, pray fer-vently, "Lord, thy fpirit! O give thy fpirit! that is the bleffing I want; the bleffing which families, and nations, and the whole human race want." Pray in your retirements; pray in your families; pray in focieties appointed for that purpose ; pray in warm ejaculations, pray without ceafing, for this grand, fundamental bleffing. Here what encouragement Chrift has given to prayer in this particular : Afk, and it fball be given you ; feek, and ye shall find ; knock, and it shall be opened unto you.—If ye, being evil, know how to give good gifts unto your children, how much more fhall your heavenly Father give his holy Spirit to them that afk him ! Luke xi. 9-13. Endeavour to repent in this humble, felf-diffident manner, and you may hope it will at least avail to your eternal falvation; and who knows but it may avail alfo to turn away the fierce anger of God from your country and nation ?

# SERMON LXIII.

THE CURSE OF COWARDICE.\*

## JER. Xlviii. 10. Curfed be he that doth the work of the Lord deceitfully; and curfed be he that keepeth back his fword from bl.od.

OTHING can be more agreeable to the God of Peace, than to fee univerfal harmony and benevolence prevail among his creatures: and he has laid them under the ftrongeft obligations to cultivate a pacific temper towards one another, both as individuals and as nations. *Follow peace with all men*, is one of the principal precepts of our holy religion. And the great Prince of Peace has folemnly pronounced, *Bleffed are the peace-makers*.

But when, in this corrupt, difordered flate of things, where the lufts of men are perpetually embroiling the world with wars and fightings, and throwing all into confusion; when ambition and avarice would rob us of our property, for which we have toiled, and on which we fublift; when they would enflave the free-born mind, and compel us meanly to cringe to ufurpation and arbitrary power; when they would tear from our eager grasp the most valuable bleffing of heaven, I mean our religion; when they invade our country, formerly the region of tranquillity, ravage our frontiers, butcher our fellow-fubjects, or confine them in a barbarous captivity in the dens of favages; when our earthly all is ready to be feized by rapacious hands, and even our eternal all

\* Preached to the militia of Hanover County, in Virginia, at a general mufter, May 8, 1758, with a view to raife a company for Captain Samuel Meredith.

all is in danger by the lofs of our religion : when this is the cafe, what is then the will of God? Must peace then be maintained, maintained with our perfidious and cruel invaders? maintained at the expence of property, liberty, life, and every thing dear and valuable? maintained, when it is in our power to vindicate our right, and do ourfelves justice? Is the work of peace then our only business? No; in such a time even the God of Peace proclaims by his providence, "To arms !" Then the fword is, as it were, confecrated to God; and the art of war becomes a part of our religion. Then happy is he that fhall reward our enemies as they have ferved us. Pfalm cxxxvii. 8. Bleffed is the brave foldier : bleffed is the defender of his country, and the deftroyer of its enemics. Bleffed are they who offer themfelves willingly in this fervice, and who faithfully discharge it. But, on the other hand, Cursed is he that doth the work of the Lord deceitfully; and cursed is he that keepeth back his sword from blood.

As to the original reference and meaning of these words, it is fufficient to my purpofe to obferve, that the Moabites, against whom this prophecy was immediately denounced, were a troublefome and reftlefs nation in the neighbourhood of the Jews, who, tho' often fubdued by them, yet upon every occafion ftruggled to recover their power, and renewed their hoftilities. By this, and various other fteps, they were arrived to the highest pitch of national guilt, and ripe for execution. The Babylonians were commissioned for this work of vengeance : and they were bound to execute the commission faithfully, under penalty of a curfe. To them this denunciation was immediately directed, Curfed be he that doth the work of the Lord deceitfully, or negligently ;\* and curfed be he that keepeth back his fword from blood. This is expressed in the form of an imprecation, or an authoritative denunciation of a curfe : and in this form it might be ufed

\* amelos, Septuag.

## The Curfe of Cowardice. Serm. 63-

ufed confiftently with benevolence, by a prophet fpeaking as the mouth of God. But this is not a pattern for our imitation, who are peculiarly obliged, under the gofpel to *Blefs*, and, curfe not, and to pray for all men. However, it may be pronounced even by our lips as a declaration of the righteous curfe of God againft a daftardly refufal to engage in war when it is our duty; or a deceitful, negligent difcharge of that duty, after we have engaged in it. Thefe are the crimes that feem intended in my text : and againft each of thefe the tremendous curfe of Jehovah is ftill in full force in all ages, even under the mild and gentle difpenfation of the gofpel. Cowardice and treachery are now as exectable as ever.

Curfed be he that keepeth back his fword from blood.— This denunciation, like the artillery of heaven, is levelled against the coward who, when God, in the courfe of his providence, calls him to arms, refuses to obey, and confults his own eafe and fafety more than his duty to God and his country.

Curfed be he that doth the work of the Lord deceitfully. —This feems to be levelled againft another fpecies of cowards; fly, hypocritical cowards, who undertake the work of the Lord, that is, take up arms; but they do the work of the Lord deceitfully; that is, they do not faithfully ufe their arms for the purpofes they were taken up. They commence foldiers, not that they may ferve their country, and do their duty to God, but that they may live in eafe, idlenefs, and pleafure, and enrich themfelves at the public expence. Curfed is he that doth the work of the Lord deceitfully, and ferves himfelf under pretence of ferving his country.

You, gentlemen, and others, whom I this day, behold with peculiar pleafure engaged in the caufe of your neglected country, and who have done me the honour of inviting me to this fervice; a fervice which I am fure I fhould perform to your fatisfaction, if my preparations and abilities were proportioned to my benevolence benevolence for you, and my concern for your fuccefs : you are peculiarly interefted in the remarks I have made upon the text. And that I may contribute all in my power both to increafe your number, and direct you to a proper conduct in the honourable character you fuftain, I fhall lay before you a brief view of the prefent circumftances of our country; from which it will appear, that the war in which we are engaged is a duty, or the work of the Lord; and confequently, that we are all obliged, according to our refpective characters, to carry it on with vigour, under penalty of falling under the curfe of God. And then I fhall fhew you what is the deceitful performance of the Lord's work, or unfeafonably keeping back of the fword from blood, which exposes to the curfe.

I. I am to lay before you a brief view of the prefent circumftances of our country, which render the war in which we are engaged the work of the Lord, which confecrate fwords as inftruments of righteoufnefs, and call us to the dreadful, but important duty of fhedding human blood, upon penalty of falling under the tremendous curfe of God.

Need I inform you what barbarities and depredations a mongrel race of Indian favages and French papifts have perpetrated upon our frontiers? How many deferted or demolifhed houfes and plantations ? How wide an extent of country abandoned? How many poor families obliged to fly in confternation, and leave their all behind them? What breaches and feparations between the nearest relations? What painful ruptures of heart from heart? What fhocking difperfions of those once united by the strong-est and most endearing ties? Some lie dead, mangled with favage wounds, confumed to afhes with outrageous flames, or torn and devoured by the beafts of the wildernefs, while their bones lie whitening in the fun, and ferve as tragical memorials of the fatal fpot where they fell. Others have been dragged away

#### The Curfe of Cowardice.

Serm. 63.

way captives, and made the flaves of imperious and cruel favages: others have made their efcape, and live to lament their butchered or captivated friends and relations. In fhort, our frontiers have been drenched with the blood of our fellow-fubjects, thro' the length of a thoufand miles : and new wounds are still opening. We, in these inland parts of the country, are as yet unmolefted, through the unmerited mercy of Heaven .- But let us only glance a thought to the weftern extremities of our body politic; and what melancholy fcenes open to our view! Now, perhaps, while I am fpeaking; now, while you are fecure and unmolested, our fellow-subjects there may be feeling the calamities I am defcribing. Now, perhaps, the favage flouts and whoops of Indians, and the fcreams and groans of fome butchered family, may be mingling their horrors, and circulating their tremendous echoes through the wildernefs of rocks and mountains! Now, perhaps, fome tender, delicate creature may be fuffering an involuntary proftitution to favage luft; and perhaps debauched and murdered by the fame hand ! Now, perhaps, fome miferable Briton or Virginian may be paffing through a tedious process of experiments in the infernal art of torture ! Now fome helplefs children may be torn from the arms of their murdered parents, and dragged away weeping and wringing their hands, to receive their education among barbarians, and to be formed upon the model of a ferocious Indian foul!

And will thefe violences ceafe without a vigorous and timely refiftance from us? Can Indian revenge and thirft for blood be glutted? or can French ambition and avarice be fatisfied? No, we have no method left, but to repel force with force, and to give them blood to drink in their turn, who have drank ours. If we fit ftill and do nothing, or content ourfelves, as, alas! we have hitherto, with feeble, dilatory efforts, we may expect thefe barbarities will not only continue, but that the Indians, headed by the French,

# Serm. 63. The Curfe of Cowardice.

French, will carry their inroads still farther into the country, and reach even unto us. By the defertion of our remote fettlements, the frontiers are approaching every day nearer and nearer to us : and if we cannot ftand our ground now, when we have above an hundred miles of a thick-fettled country between us and the enemy, much lefs fhall we be able, when our ftrength is weakened by fo vaft a lofs of men, arms and riches, and we lie exposed to their immediate incurfions. Some cry, "Let the enemy come down to us, and then we will fight them." But this is the trifling excufe of cowardice or fecurity, and not the language of prudence and fortitude. Those who make this plea, if the enemy fhould take them at their word, and make them fo near a vifit, would be as forward in flight as they are now backward to take up arms.

Such, my brethren, fuch, alas ! is the prefent ftate of our country : it bleeds in a thousand veins ; and without timely remedy, the wound will prove mortal. And in fuch circumftances, is it not our duty in the fight of God; is it not a work to which the Lord loudly calls us, to take up arms for the defence of our country? Certainly it is : and curfed is he who, having no ties fufficiently ftrong to confine him at home, keepeth his fword from blood. The man that can defert the caufe of his country in fuch an exigency; his country, in the bleffings of which he fhared, while in peace and profperity; and which is therefore entitled to his fympathy and affiftance in the day of its diftrefs; that cowardly, ungrateful man fins against God and his country, and deferves the curfe of both. Such a conduct in fuch a conjuncture, is a moral evil, a grofs wickednefs; and expofes the wretch to the heavy curfe of God both in this and the eternal world.

And here I cannot but obferve, that among the various and numberlefs fins under which the country groans, and which muft be looked upon as the caufes Vol. III. H h h of

Serm. 63.

of our public calamities, by every one that believes a divine Providence; a doctrine fo comfortable, and fo effential both in natural and revealed religion; an article in the creed of heathens and Mahometans, as well as Jews and Chriftians ;) I fay, among thefe various fins, cowardice and fecurity are none of the leaft. He that hath determined the bounds of our habitation, hath planted us in a land of liberty and plenty; a land, till lately, unalarmed with the terrors of war, and unftained with human blood : indeed, all things confidered, there are but few fuch happy fpots on our globe. And must it not highly provoke our divine Benefactor, to fee a people thus diflinguished with bleffings fo infenfible of their worth, fo ungrateful for them, and fo unacquainted with their own unworthinefs to receive them? What can be more evidential of their undue apprehenfions of the worth of thefe bleffings, than their being fo little concerned to fecure and recover them ! The generality among us have acted as if their interefts at flake were fo triffing, that it would not be worth while to take pains, or encounter dangers, to preferve them. What greater evidence can be given of ingratitude than a fupine neglect of these blessings, and such a stupidly tame and irrefifting refignation of them into bloody and rapacious hands ! And what can be more evidential of a proud infenfibility of our unworthinefs of fuch bleffings, than our being fo inapprehensive of losing them, even in the most threatening and dangerous circumftances! Our countrymen in general have acted, as if beings of their importance and merit might certainly reft in the quiet, unmolefted poffeffion of their liberty and property, without any one daring to difturb them, and without their doing any thing for their own defence; or as if neither God nor man could ftrip them of their enjoyments. What vain, felf-confident prefumption, what intolerable infolence is this, in a finful nation, a people laden with iniquity, who have forfeited every bleffing, even the ground they

they tread upon, and the air they breathe in; and who live merely by the immerited grace and bounty of God. Is not cowardice and fecurity, or an unwillingness to engage with all our might in defence of our country, in fuch a fituation, an enormous wickednefs in the fight of God, and worthy of his curfe, as well as a fcandalous meannefs in the fight of men, and worthy of public fhame and indignation ? Is it not fit that those who so contemptuously depreciate the rich and undeferved bounties of Heaven, and who fwell fo infolently with a vain conceit of their own importance and worth, fhould be punifhed with the lofs of thefe bleffings! What difcipline can be more feafonable or congruous? May we not fuppofe, that divine Providence has permitted our body politic to fuffer wound after wound, and baffled all our languid efforts, in order to give it fenfibility, and roufe us to exert our ftrength in more vigorous efforts? Has not the curfe of God lain heavy upon our country, because we have done the work of the Lord deceitfully, and kept back our fwords from blood?

And fhall this guilt increase from year to year, till we are entirely crushed with the enormous load? Shall neither the fear of Jehovah's curfe, nor the love of our country, nor even the love of ourfelves, and our own perfonal intereft, conftrain us at length to relieve our ravaged country, and defend the bleffings which God has entrusted to our custody, as well as lent us to enjoy ?-Bleffed be God, and thanks to you, brave foldiers, for what I now fee. I fee you engaged in this good caufe : and may the effectual blefling of Heaven be upon you, instead of the curfe entailed upon cowardice and treachery ! But are there no more to join with you ? what ! none more in this crowd ? None more in Hanover? which I think fhould fhew itfelf worthy of precedence, and exhibit a brave example to other counties: this is what may reafonably be expected, from the number of our militia, the high price of our ftaple commodity, the frequency and varicty

### The Curfe of Cowardice. Serm. 63.

riety of our religious inftructions; and, I may add, from our own former good conduct in fuch an emergency. Hanover had the honour of fending out the first company of volunteers that were raifed in the colony. † And are we degenerated fo foon? Or is our danger less now than immediately after Braddock's defeat? Or are we now inured and hardened to bad news, fo that the calamities of our frontiers, which have been growing every year, have now ceafed to be objects of our compassion ?

I am forry to tell you, that the company now forming is not yet completed, though under officers from among yourfelves, from whom you may expect good ufage; and the encouragement is fo unufually great, and the time of fervice fo fhort. 1 May I not reafonably infift upon it, that the company be made up this very day before we leave this place? Methinks your king, your country, nay, your own interefts com-mand me : and therefore I muft infift upon it.-Oh ! for the all-prevailing force of Demofthenes's oratory -but I recall my wifh, that I may correct it-Oh ! for the influence of the Lord of armies, the God of battles, the Author of true courage, and every heroic virtue, to fire you into patriots and foldiers this moment !--- Ye young and hardy men, whofe very faces feem to fpeak that God and nature formed you for foldiers, who are free from the incumbrance of families depending upon you for fubfiftence, and who are perhaps but of little fervice to fociety while at home, may I not fpeak for you, and declare as your mouth, "Here we are, all ready to abandon our eafe, and rush into the glorious dangers of the field, in defence of our country ?" Ye that love your country, enlift; for honour will follow you in life or death in fuch a caufe. You that love your religion, enlift; for your religion is in danger. Can Protestant Christianity expect

+ Under Captain Averton, immediately after General Braddock's defeat.

t Only till the first of December next,

## Serm. 63. The Curfe of Cowardice.

pect quarters from heathen favages and French papifts? Sure, in fuch an alliance, the powers of hell make a third party. Ye that love your friends and relations, enlift; left ye fee them enflaved or butchered before your eyes. Ye that would catch at money, here is a proper bait for you; ten pounds for a few months fervice, befides the ufual pay of foldiers. I ferioufly make the propofal to you, not only as a fubject of the beft of kings, and a friend to your country, but as *a fervant of the most High Gad*; for I am fully perfuaded, what I am recommending is his will; and difobedience to it may expose you to hiscurfe.

This propofal is not liable to the objections that have been urged against former measures for raising men. You cannot any longer object, " that you are dragged away like flaves againft your wills, while others are without reafon exempted :" for now it is left to your own honour, and you may act as free men. Nor can you object " that you are arbitrarily thruft under the command of foreign, unknown, or difagreeable officers :" for the gentleman that has the immediate command of this company, and his fubordinate officers, are of yourfelves, your neighbours children, and perhaps your old companions. And I hope I may add, you need not object, that you shall be badly used : for Gentlemen-Officers, may I not promise for you, that not one man in your company fhall be treated with cruelty or injuffice, as far as your authority or influence can prevent? May I not be your fecurity, that none but the guilty fhall be punifhed, and they only according to the nature of the offence ? Perhaps fome may object, that fhould they enter the army, their morals would be in danger of infection, and their virtue would be perpetually fhocked with horrid fcenes of vice. This may alfo be a difcouragement to parents to confent to their childrens engaging in fo good a caufe. I am glad to hear this objection, when it is fincere, and not an empty excufe : and I with I could remove it, by giving you an

Serm. 63.

an universal affurance that the army is a school of Religion ; and that foldiers, as they are more expofed to death than other men, are proportionably better prepared for it than others. But, alas ! the reverfe of this is too true; and the contagion of vice and irreligion is perhaps no where ftronger than in the army ; where, one would think, the fupreme tribunal fhould be always in view, and it fhould be their chief care to prepare for eternity, on the flippery brink of which they fland every moment. But, Gentlemen-Officers, I must again appeal to you, that as for this company, you will not willingly allow any form of vice to be practifed in it with impunity; but will always endeavour to recommend and enforce religion and good morals by your example and authority, and to fupprefs the contrary? May I not give the public the fatisfaction of fuch an affurance concerning you, that whatever others do, as for you and your company you will ferve the Lord? Do you not own yourfelves bound to this in honour and duty? Such a conduct, I can affure you, will render you popular among the wife and good; though perhaps it may expose you to the fenfeless contempt of fools, who make a mock of fin, and who efteem it bravery to infult that God, in whose hand their breath is, and whofe are all their ways. Such a conduct will afford you pleafure in the review, when the terrors of the bloody field are fpread around you, and death ftarts up before you in a thoufand fhocking forms. Such a conduct will be a fource of true courage, and render you nobly indifferent about life or death in a good caufe. And let me honeftly warn you, that if you do not maintain fuch a conduct, you will bitterly repent it, either in time or eternity.

But I return to invite others to join with you in this important expedition.—What a crowd of important arguments prefs you on every hand! What can our legiflature do more than they have done to engage you? If fuch unufual encouragement does not not prevail upon you to enlift as volunteers, what remains but that you must be forced to it by authority? For our country must be defended : and if nothing but force can confirain you to take up arms in its defence, then force must be used : perfons of such a fordid, unmanly spirit, are not to expect the usage of freemen .- Think what the paternal care of our fovereign has done for us : and how many millions of money, and thousands of men, our mother-country has furnished for our defence. And shall we do nothing for ourfelves? Great Britain, I own, is interested in our protection : but can she be as much interested as ourfelves ?---Confider what the brave New England-men have done, after fo many mortifications and difappointments, and their treafury fo much exhausted. By the best accounts I have had, the little colony of Maffachufetts-Bay has raifed no lefs than 7000 men, though not larger perhaps than 15 or 20 of those 53 counties contained in Virginia. And fince we have the fame interefts at ftake, fhall we not cheerfully furnish our quota for the public fervice ?---We all admire the bravery and fuccefs of the king of Pruffia: but his fuccefs must be greatly owing to the bravery of his fubjects, as well as his own :--he has almost as many foldiers as fubjects. And while he has almost miraculously stood his ground against fuch fuperior numbers, shall we, with the advantage of numbers on our fide, be perpetually flying before a pitiful enemy, and tamely give up our country to their ravages? Let us ftrenuoufly exert that fuperior

a pitiful enemy, and tamely give up our country to their ravages? Let us ftrenuoufly exert that fuperior force which a gracious Providence has put in our hands: and we may foon expect, through the concurrence of Heaven, that we fhall again enjoy the bleffings of peace. Whatever intelligence our artful enemies may fend, or the cowardly among ourfelves may believe, there is no reafon to conclude that the French regulars upon this continent are half fo many as ours: and as to the *coloni*, or country-militia, we are certainly 20, perhaps 40, to one. Let us then, in the

•

the name of the Lord of Hofts, the God of the armies of Ifrael, let us collect our whole ftrength, and give one decifive blow; and we may humbly hope victory will be ours.

Every one can complain of the bad management of our public undertakings, and lament the general fecurity and inactivity that prevails :--every one can wifh that fomething were effectually done, and that this and that perfon would enlift :- every one can tell what great atchievements he would perform, were it not for this and that, an hundred obstructions in his way. But all this idle complaining, withing, lamenting and boafting, will answer no end. Something must be done! must be done by you! Therefore, inflead of affuming the flate of patriots and heroes at home-to arms! away to the field, and prove your pretenfions fincere. Let the thunder of this imprecation roufe you out of your eafe and fecurity, Curfed be be that doth the work of the Lord deceitfully; and curfed be he that keepeth back his fword from blood. God. fent an angel from heaven to curfe the daftardly inhabitants of Meroz, who refused to take up arms for the defence of their country. (Judges v. 23:) Curfe ye Meroz, faid the angel of the Lord, curfe ye bitterly the inhabitants thereof : bccaufe they came not to the help of the Lord, to the help of the Lord against the mighty. And shall this curfe fall upon Virginia ? No, fly from it by venturing your lives for your country: for this curfe is far more terrible than any thing that can befal you in the field of battle.-But it is not enough for you to undertake this work: you are also obliged faithfully to perform it, as the work of the Lord. And this leads me,

II. To fhew you what is that deceitful performance of the Lord's work, or unfeafonably keeping back the fword from blood, which exposes to his curfe.

If foldiers, inftead of abandoning their eafe and pleafure, and rifquing their lives in defence of their country,

424.

country, fhould unman themfelves with fenfual pleafures and debauchery; if, instead of fearching out the enemy, they keep out of their way, left they should fearch out and find them; if they lie fleeping or rioting in forts and places of fafety, while their country is ravaged, perhaps in their very neigbourhood : when they wafte their courage in broils and duels among themfelves, or in tyranizing over those that are under their command : when they lay themfelves open to falfe alarms, by being credulous to every account that magnifies the force of the enemy: when they are tedious or divided in their confultation, and flow and faint in the execution : when they confult rather what may be most fafe for themselves than most beneficial to their country : when they keep fkirmifhing at a diftance, inftead of making a bold pufh, and bringing the war to a fpeedy iffue by a decifive ftroke : when they are fond of prolonging the war, that they may live and riot the longer at the public expence: when they fell themfelves and their country to the enemy for a bribe : in fhort, when they do not confcientioufly exert all their power to repel the enemy, and protect the flate that employs them, but only feek to ferve themfelves, then they do the work of the Lord deceitfully; and his curfe lights upon them as their heavy doom. I leave others to judge, whether the original of this ugly picture is to be found any where in the univerfe. But as for you of this company, may I not perfume that you will be-have in a nobler manner? Shall not fobriety, public fpirit, courage, fidelity and good discipline, be maintained among you? This I humbly recommend to you; and may God enable you to act accordingly !

Thus far have I addreffed you as foldiers, or at leaft as perfons concerned in your flations to do all in your power to fave your country. But we muft not part thus. It is possible we may never meet more, till we mingle with the affembled universe before the fupreme tribunal: therefore, before I difmis you, I Vol. III. I i muft

Serm. 63.

muft addrefs myfelf to you as finners, and as candidates for eternity. You are concerned to fave your fouls, as well as your country; and fhould you fave or gain a kingdom, or even the whole world, and lofe your fouls, your lofs will be irreparable.

None of you I hope will reply, "I am now a foldier and have nothing more to do with religion :" What ! has a foldier nothing to do with religion ? Is a foldier under no obligations to the God that made him, and that furnifhes him with every bleffing ? Is not a foldier as much exposed to death as other men ? May not a foldier be damned for fin as well as other finners ? And will he be able to dwell with devouring fire and everlafting burnings ? Are thefe things fo ? Can any of you be fo flupid as to think them fo ? If not, you muft own, that even a foldier has as much concern with religion as another. Therefore hear me ferioufly upon this head.

You are about entering into the fchool of vice : for fuch the army has generally been. And are any of you already initiated into any of the mysteries of iniquity there practifed? Muft I fo much as fuppofe that fome of you, who have bravely efpoufed the caufe of your country, are addicted to drunkenness, fwearing, whoredom, or any grofs vice? I cannot now take time to reafon with you for your conviction : it may fuffice to appeal to your own reafon and confcience, Do you act well in indulging these vices? Will you approve of it in the honeft hour of death? Will this conduct prove a fource of courage to you when the arrows of death are flying thick around you, and scores are falling on every side? No, you are selfcondemned; and may I not reafonably hope, you will endeavour to reform what you cannot but condemn? Soldiers, indeed, are too commonly addicted to fuch immoralities; but are they the better foldiers on that account? Can an oath or a debauch infpire them with a rational fortitude against the fears of death? Would not prayer and a life of holinefs bet-

ter

ter answer this purpose? Their courage, if they have any, must be the effect, not of thought, but of the want of thought; it must be a brutal stupidity, or ferocity; but not the rational courage of a man or a Christian.

Some of you, I doubt not, are happily free from these gross vices : and long may you continue fo ! But I must tell you, this negative goodness is not enough to prepare you for death, or to conftitute you true Chriftians. The temper of your minds must be changed by the power of divine grace : and you must be turned from the love and practice of all fin, to the love and practice of univerfal holinefs. You must become humble, broken-hearted penitents, and truc believers in Jefus Chrift. You must be enabled to live righteoully, foberly and godly, in this prefent evil world. This is religion : this is religion that will keep you uncorrupted in the midft of vice and debauchery : this is religion, that will befriend you when cannons roar, and fwords gleam around you, and you are every moment expecting the deadly wound: this is religion that will fupport you in the agonies of death, and affure you of a happy immortality.

But are not fome of you confcious that you are defitute of fuch a religion as this? Then it is high time for you to think on your condition in fober fadnefs. Pray to that powerful and gracious Being, who can form your hearts and lives after this facred model. Oh! pray carneftly, pray frequently, for this bleffing: and ufe all the means of grace in that manner which your circumftances will permit.—Remember alfo, that if you try to prolong your life by a daftardly conduct, your life will lie under the curfe of heaven; and you have little reafon to hope you will ever improve it as a fpace for repentance.—Remember alfo to put your confidence in God; who keeps the thread of your life, and the event of war, in his own hand. Devoutly acknowledge his providence dence in all your ways, and be fenfible of your dependance upon it.

And now, to conclude my addrefs to you, as the mouth of this multitude, and of your countrymen in general, I heartily bid you farewell. Farewell, my dear friends, my brave fellow-fubjects, the guardians of your poor ravaged country. God grant you may return in fafety and honour, and that we may yet welcome you home, crowned with laurels of victory ! Or if any of you fhould lofe your lives in fo good a caufe, may you enjoy a glorious and bleffed immortality in the region of everlafting peace and tranquillity! Methinks I may take upon me to promife you the prayers and good wifhes of thoufands. Thoufands, whom you leave behind, will think of you with affectionate anxiety, will wifh you fuccefs, and con-gratulate your return, or lament your death. Once more I pour out all my heart in another affectionate farewell. May the Lord preferve your going out, and your coming in, from this time forth, and even for evermore. Amen.

Here I thought to have concluded. But I muft take up a few minutes more to ask this crowd, Is there nothing to be done by us who ftay at home, towards the defence of our country, and to promote the fuccefs of the expedition now in hand ? Shall we fin on still impenitent and incorrigible ? Shall we live as if we and our country were felf-dependent, and had nothing to do with the fupreme Ruler of the universe? Can an army of faints or of heroes defend an obnoxious people, ripe for destruction, from the righteous judgment of God? The cause in which these brave men, and our army in general, are engaged, is not fo much their own as ours : divine Providence confiders them not fo much in their private perfonal character as in their public character, as the reprefentatives and guardians of their country; and therefore they will ftand or fall, not fo much according to their own perfonal character, as according to the

Serm. 63. The Curfe of Cowardice.

the public character of the people, whole caufe they have undertaken. Be it known to you, then, their fuccefs depends upon us, even more than upon themfelves. Therefore let us all turn every one from his evil ways. Let the wicked for fake his way, &c. Let us hum-ble ourfelves under the mighty hand of God, which is lifted up over our guilty heads, that we may be exalted in due time. I could venture the reputation of my judgment and veracity, that it will never be well with our country till there be more of the fear and love of God in it, and till the name of Jefus be of more importance among us. I could preferibe a method for our deliverance, which is at once infallible, and also cheap, and fafe, and so far from endan. gering the life of any, that it would fecure the everlafting life of all that comply with it. Ye that complain of the burden of our public taxes ; ye that love eafe, and fhrink from the dangers of war; ye that wifh to fee peace reftored once more; ye that would be happy beyond the grave, and live for ever, attend to my propofal: it is this, a thorough, national reformation. This will do what millions of money and thousands of men, with guns and fwords, and all the dreadful artillery of death, could not do; it will procure us peace again; a lafting, well-eftablifhed peace. We have tried other expedients without this long enough : let us now try this new expedient, the fuccefs of which I dare to warrant. And do not object that fuch a general reformation is beyond your power; for a general reformation must begin with individuals : therefore do you, through the grace of God, act your part; begin at home, and endeavour to reform yourfelves, and those under your influence.

It is a natural inference from what has been faid, that if the defence of our country, in which we can flay but a few years at moft, and from which we muft ere long take our flight, be fo important a duty, then how much more are we obliged to feek a better country, *i. e.* an "heavenly;" and to carry on a vigorous vigorous war against our spiritual enemies, that would rob us of our heavenly inheritance ! therefore, in the name of Jefus, the Captain of our falvation, I invite you all to enlift in the spiritual warfare. Now proclaim eternal war against all fin. Now take to you the whole armour of God; quit you like men, be strong : and, for your encouragement, remember, He that overcometh shall inherit all things; he shall enter into a kingdom that cannot be shaken—cannot be shaken with those stores of public calamities which toss and agitate this results ocean of a world. In that bleffed harbour may we all rest at last !

# END OF THE SERMONS.

# POEMS.\*

### ON THE BIRTH OF JOHN ROGERS DAVIES, THE AUTHOR'S THIRD SON.

HOU little wond'rous miniature of man, L Form'd by unerring Wifdom's perfect plan ; Thou little stranger, from eternal night Emerging into life's immortal light; Thou heir of worlds unknown, thou candidate For an important everlasting state, Where this young embryo shall its pow'rs expand, Enlarging, rip'ning ftill, and never ftand. This glimm'ring fpark of being, juft now ftruck From nothing by the all-creating Rock, To immortality fhall flame and burn, When funs and ftars to native darknefs turn ; Thou shalt the ruins of the worlds furvive, And through the rounds of endless ages live. Now thou art born into an anxious state Of dubious trial for thy future fate : Now thou art lifted in the war of life, The prize immense, and O! severe the strife.

Another birth awaits thee, when the hour Arrives that lands thee on th' eternal fhore; (And O! 'tis near, with winged hafte 'twill come, Thy cradle rocks toward the neighb'ring tomb;) Then fhall immortals fay, "A fon is born," While thee as dead miftaken mortals mourn; From glory then to glory thou fhalt rife, Or fink from deep to deeper miferies; Afcend perfection's everlafting fcale, Or fill defcend from gulph to gulph in hell.

Thou embryo-angel, or thou infant fiend, A being now begun, but ne'er to end, What boding fears a Father's heart torment, Trembling and anxious for the grand event, Left thy young foul fo late by Heav'n beftow'd, Forget her Father, and forget her God!

Left,

\* The following Poems are here retained as a Specimen of the Author's Poetry.

# [ 432 ]

Left, while imprifon'd in this houfe of clay, To tyrant lufts fhe fall an helplefs prey ! And left, defcending flill from bad to worfe, Her immortality fhould prove her curfe!

Maker of fouls! avert fo dire a doom, Or fnatch her back to native nothing's gloom!

# ON THE WORDS OF OUR LORD, LOVEST THOU ME? JOHN XXI. 17.

MY God, the wretch that does not love thy name, To life and being forfeits all his claim; And may he fink to nothing, whence he came ! Or let the yawn of the dire mouth of hell Receive him, with his fellow-fiends to dwell !

O, if my heart does not to thee afpire, If aught with equal fervor I defire, I'm felf-condemn'd, and doom myfelf to fire : Let not my guilty breath profane thine air, Nor groaning earth the monftrous burden bear ; Let clouds, with vengeance big, burft o'er my head, And vollies of red thunder firike me dead ; The fun convert his gentle rays to flames, And blaft the mifcreant with his vengeful beams; The whole creation rife in arms for Thee, To vindicate the rights of thy divinity.

Vile wretch, that dares refufe to love a God, Who form'd me man out of my native clod : Whofe breath the faculty of love infpir'd, And with the heav'nly fpark my bofom fir'd ; Whofe uncreated beauties charm the fight Of gazing angels in the realms of light.

Thy glories, faintly copy'd, round me fhine, Great God! and beam through all thefe works of thine, Proclaiming Thee their Origin divine : Thy grace diffus'd around in thoufand rills, A thoufand worlds with endlefs rapture fills : Thou too, when man to dreadful ruin fell, Helplefs, unpity'd, on the brink of hell, When frowning juffice did the prey demand, And none could refcue from its vengeful hand, Thou, touch'd with pity, didft avert his doom, And gave thy Son a victim in his room ! Nail'd to the crofs the bleeding Saviour hangs, And courts my love with groans and dying pangs.

**0!** I

O! I muft love—nor can the pains and blood Of an incarnate Godhead be withftood !

Yet ah ! in fome dark hour I fcarcely know Whether I love my gracious God, or no : Gloomy fufpicions, painful jealoufies, And anxious doubts in all their horrors rife : I hear the whifp'rings of mifgiving fear, " Thy love is feign'd, thine ardor infincere."— Too true, too true, my trembling foul replies, Elfe whence fo often could thefe languors rife ? Ah ! thefe unruly paffions would not rove Thus wildly were they fir'd with facred love, Nor would the fervors of devotion die So often, and my pow'rs lethargic lie.

And yet, my God, in some bright moment too, Methinks I feel the flame divinely glow : To thee my passions with fuch ardor move, That if I love Thee not, I know not what I love. If I'm deceiv'd in this with empty flow, Then my exiftence is uncertain too; An univerfal fceptic I commence Amidst the glare of brightest evidence, In fpite of reason, and in spite of sense! O! if I love Thee not, as fears fuggeft, Why am I in thine abfence thus diffreft? Whence this strange tumult, this uneasy pain, Till thy fweet finiles compose my foul again? Whence these wild pantings of intense defire? Or why fhould breathing duft fo high afpire? I fee my bufy fellow-worms purfue Created good, and nothing nobler view ; They lavish life away estrang'd from thee, In undisturb'd serene stupidity. And why like them can't I contented play, And eat, and drink, and fleep my hours away? Whence this immenfe ambition in my mind, To fcorn all joys but those of heav'nly kind? Why fhould a worm, an animated clod, Difdain all blifs beneath a boundlefs God? O what but the attractive force of love Thus rais'd my fpirit to the worlds above?

Say, great Omnifcient ! for thou know'fl my heart. Can nature charm me, if thy fmiles depart ? Can riches, pleafures, honours, empires, growns, Or friends delight me, if I feel thy frowns? No; all creation dwindles to a toy, And heav'n itfelf is ftript of ev'ry joy : Vol. III, Kkk

The

The radiant fun is darken'd to my eyes, And ev'ry blooming beauty round me dies.

Thou great Invifible! Thou dear Unknown! Why thus to Thee fhould my affections run, Thus through the objects of my fenfes break, And charms unfeen, and hidden glories feek? Deep in receffes of approachlefs light Thou fitt? the enthron'd beyond my feeble fight; Yet drawn by fome ftrange myftic influence, I love Thee more than all that ftrikes my fenfe, Than all my ears have heard, or eyes have feen, Or all my fancy's livelieft pow'rs can feign.

O! if thy love does not my heart inflame, Why does my foul rejoice at Jefus' name? His name is mufic to my ravifh'd ears, Sweeter than that which charms the heav'nly fpheres; A cheering cordial to my fainting breaft: My hope, my joy, my triumph, and my reft.

I fpring from earth, and heav'n is my abode, When I can fpeak those charming words, "My God." My God! celeftial rapture's in the found : Be Thou but mine, and all the fun rolls round, Without one fecret murmur, I refign; I have enough, may I but call Thee mine.

O! if I love Thee not, why do I choofe, Why love a manfion in thine earthly houfe? The facred morning fhines with heav'nly rays, More bright, more charming than ten thoufand days, Which bids me vifit that delightful place: There would I dwell, and pafs my life away, Till death conveys me to a brighter day.

In all the inftitutions of thy grace For Thee I look, and long to fee thy face : When at thy throne I bow the fuppliant knee, Is pray'r a thoughtlefs, cold formality ? Or can my pray'rs content me without thee ? No; thefe are but the channels of thy grace; Tranfparent glaffes where I fee thy face; I thirft for living waters all in vain, Shouldft Thou thy gracious influence reftrain : The radiant mirrors fhow me nothing fair, Unlefs I fee my God reflected there.

Then peace, my reftlefs and fufpicious heart; And ye, dire boding jealoufies, depart:

I love

# [ 435 ]

I love my God, or elfe I nothing love, And the pure flame ere long fhall blaze above, And in its native element afpire, Without one mift to damp, or cloud t'obfcure the fire.

### A MINISTER'S REFLECTIONS ON THE DEATH OF ONE OF HIS PEOPLE.

OF my dear flock one more is gone T'appear before th' eternal throne, And país the grand decifive teft : "Afhes to afhes, duft to duft :" Surviving friends with tears intruft There till the gen'ral doom to reft.

The foul, difmifs'd from cumbrous clay, Expatiates in eternal day,

And with the Great Jehovah dwells. The dawn of immortality With fcenes unknown fills all the eye.

And wonders vaft and new reveals.

Thus while I'm dreaming life away, Or books and fludies charm the day, My flock is dying one by one; Convey'd beyond my warning voice, To endlefs pains, or endlefs joys; For ever happy or undone.

I too ere long muft yield my breath : My mouth for ever clos'd in death, Shall found the gofpel trump no more : Then, while my charge is in my reach, With fervor let me pray and preach, And eager catch the flying hour !

Almighty grace, my foul infpire, And touch my lips with heav'nly fire! Let faith, and love, and zeal arife! O teach me that divineft art, To reach the confeience, gain the heart, And train immortals for the fkies!

THEEND.

# L I S T

SUBSCRIBERS NAMES.

Α.

A

OL. Thomas Allen, Virginia Major John Allen, ditto Mrs. M. Allen, ditto Mr. Jacob Allemong, jun. ditto James Allen, jun. ditto Benjamin Allen, jun. ditto John Akers, ditto.

### Β.

Col. William Booth, Virginia Major Francis Banks, ditto Capt. Henry Beatty, ditto Dr. Cornelius Baldwin, ditto Mr. Henry Bufh, ditto Quintus Baily, ditto James Bell, ditto Samuel Briely, ditto Mrs. Aggatha Ball, ditto Mr. Richard Baylor, ditto John Brifcoe, ditto Alexander Brown, ditto William Baldwin, ditto William Brittan, ditto Claiborne Barkfdale, ditto Capt. Andrew Baker, ditto, 2 fets Mr. Roger Barter, ditto Vol. III. (a)

Elifha Boudinot, Efq. Newark, New-Jerfey Mr. Leonard Blecker, New-York Jofeph Bufwell, ditto William Buchannan, ditto Ifaac Beers, bookfeller, New-Haven, 50 fets John Bayard, New-Brunfwick, N. Jerfey, 2 fets.

Mrs Mildrea Coles, Virginia Rev. Joseph Caldwell, ditto Mr. Henry Caldwell, ditto John Caldwell, ditto William Caldwell, ditto Capt. Samuel Claytor, ditto Rev. Chriftopher Collins, ditto Mr. John P. Campbell, preacher of the gofpel, ditto William Calhoun, preacher of the gofpel, ditto Giles Cook, ditto Jacob Conchlin, ditto Thomas Curry, ditto Peter Crifman, ditto Abraham Corfon, ditto David Carlifle, ditto Jofeph Colvin, ditto John Colvin, ditto Gersham Clements, ditto Mrs Rachel Cohun, ditto Capt. William Chipley, ditto Mr. James Campbell, ditto Robert Creighton, ditto Hugh Cunningham, ditto Robert Campbell, ditto Daniel Cameron, Shepherd's-Town, ditto

Mr. Nicholas G. Carmer, New-York

Col. James Chryftie, ditto, 2 fets

Mr. Nicholas Cooke, merchant, ditto Robert H. Chapman, S. D. Orange-dale, N. J.

Rev. Elias Cooper, Phillipfburgh, New-York Thomas Converfe, Efq. Washington county, N. Y. D.

Capt. George Dooly, Virginia Col. William Darke, ditto Mr. Nicholas Davis, ditto George Dobbs, ditto Rev. John Dunlap, Cambridge, New-York Mr. Cornelius Decker, New-York Mifs Peggy Duke Mr. Bethuel Dod, A. B. ftudent divinity, Orangedale, New-Jerfey. E. Mr. William Ewing Virginia

Mr. William Ewing, Virginia Ifaac Ecklefton, Efq. Antigua.

### F.

Mr. Alexander Fealy, Virginia.

# G.

Major John Gilkefon, Virginia Richard Gaines, jun. Efq. ditto Mr. John Gorden, ditto James Graham, ditto David Gray, ditto Thomas Griggs, ditto Robert Glafs, ditto John Glod, ditto Jofeph Glafs, ditto William Garrell, ditto

David Gelfton, Efq. New-York Mrs. Mary Gordon, New-Jerfey.

### H.

Col. William Henderfon, Virginia Dr. Robert Henry, ditto Mr. Barnard Hendrick, ditto

John Hill, ditto Solomon Hoge, ditto William Holliday, merchant, ditto James Holliday, merchant, ditto

# A LIST OF SUBSCRIBERS.

William W. Herring, Efq. attorney at law, Virginia Rev. Mofes Hoge, Berkely, ditto, 3 fets
Cap. John Hart, ditto
Col. Mofes Hunter, Martinfburgh, ditto
David Hunter, Efq. ditto
Mr. John Henry, merchant, New-York
John Hopwood, Fayette County, Pennfylvania

Thomas Hicks, New-York Nathaniel Hunt, Middletown, Connecticut.

### I.

Capt. Chriftopher Irvine, Virginia Mr. William Jones, ditto David Johnfton, Berkley, ditto John B. Johnfon, New-York Owen Jones, ditto.

### K.

Mr. James Kerney, Berkley, Virginia John Kearfley, Shepherd's-town, ditto Ifaac L. Kip, New-York.

### L.

Dr. George Lynn, Virginia Francis Lorton, Efq. ditto Mr. Jofiah Le Grand, ditto Jofiah League, ditto Jabez Leftwich, ditto James Larue, ditto John Laney, ditto

Rev. Dr. W. Linn, New-York.

# M. .

Rev. James Mitchel, Virginia Col. William Morton, ditto Littlejoe Morton, Efq. ditto Jacob Morton, Efq. ditto James Morton Efq. ditto

Mr. Jofeph Morton, Virginia Thomas Morton, ditto Rev. Archibald M'Roberts, ditto Mr. Samuel M'Fall, ditto Alexander M'Lardy, ditto William Mathews, ditto Littleberry Mofoby, Efq. ditto Littleberry Mofoby, jun. Efq. ditto Mr. John Montfort, ditto Enoch Martin, ditto Peter M'Murray, ditto James M'Gready, preacher of the gofpel, North-Carolina Samuel Mitchel, Virginia Stephen Mitchel, ditto James Miller, ditto Robert M'Knight, ditto John Morrow, Shepherds-town, ditto Charles Morrow, ditto John Mark, Berkley, ditto Jacob Morton, Efq. New-York Mr. William Mix, ditto Rev. Mr. McDonald, Albany Mr. John M'Laren, New-York Rev. Dr. John Mafon, ditto John M'Keflon, Efq. ditto Mrs. M. S. Morton, ditto Mr. Walter Minto, Princeton, N. Jerfey.

### N.

Mr. Thomas Newell, Virginia Abraham Nifewonger, ditto George North, ditto Amos Nichol, ditto John Neilfon, New-Brunfwick, N. Jerfey Mrs Mary Nichols, New-York New-York Society Library.

### 0.

Mr. Andrew Onderdonk, paper-maker, L. Ifland.

# **P**.

Capt. William Porter, Virginia Mr. Nathaniel Price, ditto Jofeph Parks, Efq. ditto

Mr. Francis Porter, ditto Hugh Porter, ditto John Parks, ditto

John Pintard, Efq. New-York

Mr. Daniel Phœnix, city treafurer, ditto Jonah G. Pierfon, ditto Ralph Phillips, Maidenhead, N. Jerfey John Pool, Raritan Landing, ditto.

### R.

Edmund Read, Efq. Virginia Mr. James Robinfon, ditto William Riddle, ditto Jofeph Riddle, ditto John Rermey, ditto Samuel Rice, ditto Thomas Rutherford, ditto George Riley, ditto James Ronalds, New-York Daniel Roberdeau, Alexandria, Virginia, 12 fets.

# S.

Thomas Spencer, jun. Efq. Virginia Gideon Spencer, Efq. ditto Capt. Francis Smith, ditto Mifs Judith Smith, ditto Mr. Jofiah Smith, ditto

Daniel Scott, ditto

Thomas Scott, ditto Francis Scott, Efq. ditto Mifs Efter Sankey, ditto Mrs. Smith, ditto Mr. Jofeph Stover, merchant, ditto, 12 fets Samuel Slaughter, ditto Capt. James Simrall, ditto Mr. Jonathan Smith, ditto Timothy Sewell, ditto David Sewell, ditto

Meffrs. Sherrard and Alexander, merchants, Winchefter, ditto, 13 fets

Mr. Lewis Stephens, jun. ditto Capt. James Strode, ditto Mr. Robert Snow, New-York Andrew Stockholm, Efq. ditto Mofes Scott, Efq. New-Brunfwick Mifs Sally Scudder, New-Jerfey Richard Stockton, Efq. ditto Mr. Alexander Sheriff, Jamaica James Saidler, New-York Daniel Stanbury, ditto.

# T.

Rev. John Tod, Virginia Mr. Mofes Tredway, ditto William Thompfon, ditto William Talbutt, ditto James Tone, ditto Capt. Thomton Taylor, ditto

Major Magnus Tate, ditto

Mrs Eliza Timberlake, ditto

Mr. William Turnbull, New-York James Tillary, M. D. ditto James Todd, Long-Ifland, ditto Jacob Tallman, A. B. N. Brunfwick, N. Jerfey Cornelius Ten Brook, ditto Thomas Talmage, Pifcataway, ditto.

# V.

James Venable, Efq. Virginia Mr. William Vance, ditto James Vance, ditto James Virell, ditto Henry Vandike, Perth-Amboy.

### W.

Major Robert White, Virginia Capt. James Wilfon, ditto Mr. Henry Weaver, ditto Capt. Joseph Watson, ditto Mr. John White, jun. ditto Robert White, jun. Efq. attorney at law, ditto Capt. Williams, ditto Mr. William Williamfon, preacher of the gofpel, do. Jacob Woodfon, Efq. ditto Dr. William Warfield, ditto Mr. John Walthal, ditto Rev. William Wilfon, for the congregation of Augusta, ditto, 12 fets Mr. Mofes Waddel, preacher of the gofpel and tutor in Hampden, ditto Sydney college, ditto Mr. Joel Ward, ditto Robert Wilcox, ditto Mr. Henry Wanning, New-York William Wilfon, ditto Rev. John Witherspoon, Princeton, New-Jerfey Rev. John Warford, Washington, New-York Meffrs. Weft and Larkin, bookfellers, Bofton, 40 fets Mr. Cornelius P. Wycoff, N. Brunfwick, N. Jerfey

# Y.

Mr. John Young, New-York.

# Date Due



